
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Transport Committee 

Date Wednesday 10 January 2018 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Keith Prince AM (Chairman) 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair) 
Shaun Bailey AM 
Tom Copley AM 
Florence Eshalomi AM 

David Kurten AM 
Joanne McCartney AM 
Steve O'Connell AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
Navin Shah AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chairman of the Committee to deal with the 

business listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Tuesday 2 January 2018 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5526;  
Email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 5526 
 
For media enquiries please contact Alison Bell; Telephone: 020 7983 4228;  
Email: alison.bell@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about individual items please contact the 
author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:alison.bell@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Transport Committee 
Wednesday 10 January 2018 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chairman.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to: 

 
(a) Note the offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  
 
(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 
Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and  

 
(c)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 
which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 
of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 
Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 
action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 

 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 54) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Transport Committee held on 6 December 2017 to be signed by the Chairman as a 
correct record.  
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 11 to 54 are attached for Members and 
officers only but are available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 
 
 

4 Summary List of Actions (Pages 55 - 194) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact Laura Pelling, laura.pelling@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5526 

  
The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from previous meetings of the Committee. 
 
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
mailto:laura.pelling@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

 Appendices 1a and 1b to the report set out on pages 61 to 144 are attached for Members and 
officers only but are available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 
 
 

5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Pages 195 - 204) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Laura Pelling; laura.pelling@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 5526 
 
The Committee is recommended to: 
 
(a) Note the action taken by the Chairman under delegated authority, namely to: 
 

i.     Agree a letter to the Mayor of London in response to Transport for 
London’s consultation on the transformation of Oxford Street set out at 
Appendix 1 to the report; and 
 

ii.     Agree a further response to Transport for London on the Committee’s 
recent bus reports: Driven to distraction: Making London’s buses safer; 
and London’s bus network set out at Appendix 3 to the report; and 

 
(b) Note the response from the Mayor of London in response to the Committee’s 

submission to the transformation of Oxford Street consultation, attached at 
Appendix 2. 

 
 

6 Walking and Cycling at Outer London Junctions (Pages 205 - 256) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Emily Hopkinson; scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4000 
 
The Committee is recommended to agree the report, Hostile streets: walking and 
cycling at outer London junctions. 
 

 The appendix to the report set out on pages 209 to 256 is attached for Members and officers 
only but is available from the following area of the GLA’s website: www.london.gov.uk/mayor-
assembly/london-assembly/transport 
 
 

7 Cycling Infrastructure (Pages 257 - 260) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Richard Berry, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4000 
 
The Committee is recommended to note the report, put questions to invited guests 
on cycling infrastructure and note the discussion. 
 
 
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
mailto:laura.pelling@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

5 
 

8 Transport Committee Work Programme (Pages 261 - 270) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Richard Berry, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4000 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Agree its work programme for the remainder of the 2017/18 Assembly year, 

including the schedule of prospective topics for forthcoming meetings as set 

out at paragraph 4.19 of the report; and 

 

(b) Note the record of its site visit to Clapham Junction Station, as set out at 

Appendix 1; and 
 

(c) Agree to hold an additional meeting on 19 February 2018, primarily to further 

discuss cycling infrastructure with invited guests.  
 
 

9 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for Thursday, 1 February 2018 at 10.00am in 

the Chamber, City Hall. 
 
 

10 Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v1/2017 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 10 January 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

 

 

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Richmond 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM  

Unmesh Desai AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Newham 

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM Member, LFEPA 

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM Member, LB Lambeth 

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM Member, LFEPA 

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Member, LB Redbridge 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Chair, LFEPA; Chair of the London Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough; LFEPA - London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority.   
The appointments to LFEPA reflected above take effect as from 3 April 2017] 

 
3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

 

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5526 

E-mail: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Transport Committee 
Date: Wednesday 6 December 2017 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 

 

 
Present: 
 
Keith Prince AM (Chairman) 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair) 
Shaun Bailey AM 
Tom Copley AM 
David Kurten AM 
Joanne McCartney AM 
Steve O'Connell AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
Dr Onkar Sahota AM 
Navin Shah AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements (Item 1) 

 
1.1 An apology for absence was received from Assembly Member Eshalomi, for whom Assembly 

Member Sahota attended as a substitute Member.  

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 
2.1  Resolved: 
 
 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.  

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport


Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 6 December 2017 

 

 
 

3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 
3.1 Resolved: 
 

That the minutes of the meeting of the Transport Committee held on 8 November 
2017 be signed by the Chairman as a correct record.  

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 

 
That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 
Committee be noted. 

 
 
5   Responses to Reports on Bus Services (Item 5) 

 
5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
5.2 Resolved: 
 

(a) That the responses from the Mayor and Transport for London (TfL) to its 
report, Driven to distraction: Making London’s buses safer, and the summary of 
the response, as set out at Appendices 1 and 2 to the report, be noted. 
 

(b) That the responses from the Mayor and Transport for London (TfL) to its 
report, London’s bus network, and the summary of the response, as set out at 
Appendices 3 and 4 to the report, be noted. 

 
(c) That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation with the Deputy 

Chair and party Group Lead Members, to agree a further response to TfL on the 
Driven to distraction: Making London’s buses safer report and the London’s bus 
network report.  

 
 
6   Door-to-Door Services Update (Item 6) 

 
6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat.  
 
6.2 Resolved: 
 

That the update from Transport for London on progress implementing the 
recommendation of the Committee’s report, Door-to-door transport in London: 
Delivering a user-led service, be noted.  

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 6 December 2017 

 

 
 

7   Pedicabs (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat, as background to 

putting questions to the following invited guests: 

 Sean Conroy, Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London (TfL); 

 Chris Smallwood, Spokesperson, The London Pedicab Operators Association; 

 Kevin Goad, Head of Highways and Public Realm, Westminster City Council; 

 Ros Morgan, Chief Executive, Heart of London Business Alliance; and 

 Michael Faye, Pedicab Rider. 

 

7.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

7.3 During this part of the meeting, the Chairman welcomed pupils from Christchurch Primary 

School in Redbridge to the public gallery. 

 

7.4 During the course of the discussion, Chris Smallwood, London Pedicab Operators Association 

agreed to provide the following: 

 The number of pedicab riders who are also members of the London Pedicab Operators 

Association who have undertaken the National Cycling Standard Level 3 and a pedicab or 

work bike module; and 

 Further details on the publicly available specification standard for pedicabs, and the 

standard that was agreed with TfL previously along with the proposed registration 

scheme agreed with TfL and Westminster City Council. 

 

7.5 Sean Conroy, Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, TfL, agreed to provide: 

 Pedicab collision data for 2016 and 2017; and 

 Data on the number of pedicab riders who have been issued with a community 

protection notice. 

 

7.6 Michael Faye, Pedicab Rider, agreed to provide the Committee with further information on 

pedicabs riders volunteering with Great Ormond Street Hospital to provide excursions to 

patients.  

 

7.7 Resolved: 

 
That the report and the discussion be noted.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 6 December 2017 

 

 
 

8   Cycling infrastructure (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on cycling infrastructure to Andrew Gilligan, the former Cycling 

Commissioner. 

 

8.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 2. 

 

8.3 During the course of the discussion, the former Cycling Commissioner agreed to provide the 

following additional information: 

 The report for the National Infrastructure Commission on cycling once it has been 

finalised; and 

 A list of potential cycling schemes yet to be undertaken by the current administration. 

 

8.4 Resolved: 

 
 That the report and discussion be noted. 

 
 
9   Transport Committee Work Programme (Item 9) 

 
9.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
9.2 Resolved: 
 

(a) That the work programme for the remainder of the 2017/18 Assembly year, 
including the schedule of prospective topics for forthcoming meetings as set 
out at paragraph 4.18 of the report, be noted. 

 
(b) That the February 2018 meeting be used for a discussion with the Deputy 

Mayor for Transport on her recent work and ongoing priorities. 
 
(c) That the record of the site visits to Starship Technologies and the GATEway 

project, as set out at Appendices 1 and 2 to the report, be noted.  

 
 
10   Date of Next Meeting (Item 10) 

 
10.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for Wednesday, 10 January 2018 at 

10.00am, in the Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
11   Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent (Item 11) 

 
11.1 There was no other business. 

Page 8



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 6 December 2017 

 

 
 

 
 
12   Close of Meeting  

 
12.1 The meeting ended at 12.58pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chairman   Date 
 
Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5526; 

Email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 5526 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



 

 

Appendix 1 

 
Transport Committee – Wednesday, 6 December 2017 

 
Transcript of Agenda Item 7 – Pedicabs 

 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Now we come to the interesting part of the Committee, which is our good 

friends opposite.  Can I start, please, by introducing the panel?  Thank you all for turning up today.  First of all, 

Sean Conroy, Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London (TfL); Kevin Goad, Head of 

Highways and Public Realm, Westminster City Council; Ros Morgan, Chief Executive, Heart of London Business 

Alliance; Chris Smallwood, spokesperson for the London Pedicab Operators Association (LPOA); and, finally 

and not least of course, Michael Faye, pedicab driver.  Thank you for coming along.  Thank you all for sparing 

your time. 

 

I will kick off, if that is all right.  This is to everyone, perhaps we will start with you, Sean, and work our way 

around, if that is OK. 

 

What do pedicabs add to London’s transport options?  How many pedicabs are currently operating in London 

and are the numbers increasing?   

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  I will start with the 

numbers.  The reports I received are of about 400 in the West End, but I believe that is probably 

underreporting the numbers because that report is about 18 months old.  Our belief is that there are more than 

400 operating in that area. 

 

What do they bring?  I guess they are a transport option of choice.  There was a study done which looked at 

why people use them and people use them for fun.  It is a different transport choice that is not already out 

there.  I am inclined to believe that.  It is another choice of transport that people can use. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you.   

 

Kevin Goad (Head of Highways and Public Realm, Westminster City Council):  I have not much to add, 

really, Chairman.  400 is the number that we work to, focused around Oxford Street, Regent Street, Bond 

Street - the ORB area, as we call it - Covent Garden, the Strand and Leicester Square.  That is the principal area 

of operation. 

 

What do they bring?  Potentially, a sustainable transport option, colour, vibrancy.  Pedicabs operate very 

successfully in many other cities across the world. 

 

Ros Morgan (Chief Executive, Heart of London Business Alliance):  We have covered the numbers.  The 

number that we are working from at the minute is roughly 1,400 but there is no doubt that those numbers are 

increasing day by day. 

 

In terms of what pedicabs add to the landscape, I am sure Michael and Chris might be able to better answer 

this but, in in my opinion, it has the potential to offer a minor novelty tourist attraction to the area, but not in 

its current format.  It is doing the complete opposite of that right now.  The lack of regulation means that 

pedicabs are damaging our international reputation.  However, if it was regulated and managed in a more 

efficient way, it has the potential to offer this minor attraction to tourists in the area. 

Page 11



 

 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  I agree with most of what 

Ros says.  It is a transport option for short journeys generally around the West End.  There are, I think you said, 

1,400, Ros.  It is more like 300 to 400.  It is not quite 1,400 now.  It has been going since 1998.  It is very safe, 

actually.  As we are aware, there have certainly been no fatalities or serious injuries.  The information has come 

from TfL’s collision reports and so of course there have been collisions but there have been very few major 

ones and generally they are the fault of the other traffic. 

 

Yes, it does add colour and vibrancy to the streetscape and it is another option, but I agree wholeheartedly 

with Ros that it needs to be controlled in some way or other. 

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):    To add to that, I have also worked 

abroad in Europe, where there is light regulation, for example, in Germany, and there it seems to work very 

well, depending on the city and where you work.  Some of them have demarcated areas where the pedicabs 

can sit and wait for customers.  There is even one in Munich in front of the Town Hall, for example.  In Berlin it 

is even more highly regulated and there are commonly agreed areas where the pedicabs can sit and wait.  

Whenever there is a problem, the police talk to a couple of companies and it is spread through social media, 

and generally people then stick to the commonly agreed rules. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Lovely.  Thank you.   

 

Ros Morgan (Chief Executive, Heart of London Business Alliance):  One of the obvious statements to 

make, therefore, is that we do not know the exact numbers and that is part of the problem.  There is no formal 

way of knowing what these numbers are, which is one of the asks that we have been making to the Mayor and 

to Parliament as well. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you very much.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  I want to talk about passenger safety because that is clearly a 

huge concern and it is something that we have consistently picked up in the work, for example, we have done 

on taxi and private hire.  How safe is it to travel in a pedicab in London?  Who would like to go first?  Chris and 

then Michael. 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  The record is that they are 

extremely safe.  TfL’s own -- I was hoping to get another Freedom of Information Act request (FOI) by today, 

but did not quite make it.  The reports I have had over the last ten years have been that, actually, they are very 

safe but, of course, they need to be properly designed.  They need to be specifically designed for carrying 

passengers. 

 

There are a lot of safety aspects that were studied in great detail in the TfL consultation on licensing pedicabs, 

which was in 2006.  This was carried out by an engineer and he was quite happy with the specifications set out.  

I must add that a lot of the pedicabs around do not comply with any of those criteria that were set out.  It 

included things like handholds for the passengers, dual braking systems, passengers facing forward.  There 

were a number of things which I will not go into in detail now. 

 

Now the regulations have changed and you can also have electric-assist pedicabs (EAPCs), which are safer 

because they are faster off the mark and can keep up with the traffic a little bit better than perhaps some can, 

particularly when there are hills.  The regulations have changed and so there can be EAPCs now. 

 

Page 12



 

 

However, a properly constructed pedicab should be perfectly safe.  There are many tens of thousands running 

in the [United] States (US).  As Michael said, they are running all over Europe.  Traffic is generally fairly slow 

moving in central London anyway. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  In saying that they are extremely safe, you are talking about 

the vehicle itself, the pedicab itself, and its roadworthiness and if it is in -- 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Correct, yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  You are not talking about necessarily the individual drivers or 

cyclists? 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  That is another aspect.  

Drivers should certainly have some training.  Again, we worked this out with TfL at the time.  The National 

Cycling Standard Level 3 was a minimum standard that the riders had to achieve with a competences module 

on pedicabs or indeed work bikes, because of course we have a lot of work bikes now in London.  With the 

Cyclists’ Touring Club (CTC) we did a lot of work and we produced a full training course for pedicab and work 

bike riders.  That is still there.  In the company that I used to run - I no longer run the company now - all our 

riders had to go through both of those training elements. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Michael, do you want to come in?  Do we call you a driver or a 

cyclist?  I am not sure what term you prefer to be used. 

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  Officially in legal terms I should be a cyclist because a driver has a motorised 

vehicle.  Let us make that clear. 

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  In Europe, it has been for many years now accepted that bicycles can have 

electric assist - and that includes also making sure that it operates without problems - well before anywhere in 

the United Kingdom (UK) because that was one of the last European countries to accept or change the rules.  

That was only happening maybe two or three years ago.  The UK is in many respects catching up to the rest of 

the world as far as cycling regulation, laws and everything else. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  How safe do you think pedicabs are? 

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  Extremely safe.  I have always said that they are safer than flying because I 

come back into London and looked up the figures.  I saw there were 6,000 or so pedestrians every year getting 

killed or injured on the streets.  There were 50,000 or so people dying from pollution and a lot of that can be 

attributed to cabs on the street which are not electric assist.  They are still pushing out diesel and in many 

cities in Europe diesel has now been banned from the cities, particularly in Berlin, for example. 

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  London in that respect has a bit of catching up to do. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  TfL, do you want to comment? 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  Yes, absolutely.  The 

safety thing for us is the biggest concern and with no regulation there is no standard.  Certainly, as Kevin said 

earlier, the officers from the ORB team are coming across some very good operators but also there is no 

standard.  It is a bit of a mixed bag that they are coming across.  As colleagues on the panel were saying, with 

Page 13



 

 

regulation you can set a safety standard and then you can guarantee what the safety standard of the pedicabs 

you are going to come across will be.  

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  We are going to come on to regulation in detail later in our 

questioning, but, as it is at the moment, Chris and Michael have said it is very safe and that the fleet, as it 

were, is safe.  However, I have seen pedicab cyclists racing each other on the wrong side of the street down 

Regent Street late at night when I was out on a taxi touting visit.  I have seen it with my own eyes and that is 

not safe, is it, for Londoners, surely? 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  No, not at all.  

There are pieces of legislation in place to deal with the antisocial behaviour part, albeit not perfect.  However, 

if we are talking about safety of vehicles, which I believe your original question was, because there is no 

standard, we cannot be sure what we are going to come across.  With a standard, it would be a much better 

and safer option for the potential passengers. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  What safety features would you want?  What specification 

would you like for a new pedicab if it was to be safe and would be licensed? 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  I could not say at 

this stage.  I do not know enough about the build of a pedicab to be able to say what we would like to see.  

The consultation that was referenced earlier may go some way towards it, but we probably have to look at it.  

If regulation was going to come into play, it would be part of the consultation that would need to be put out 

to the public. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Chris, do you want to answer - you started a bit earlier - what 

specifications would make pedicabs safer? 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Yes.  I would just like to 

qualify what I said.  The safety of a pedicab is down to the rider and down to the pedicab.  In my experience, I 

ran a pedicab business for 15 years and we never had a serious accident because the riders were trained and 

because the bikes were fit for purpose.  Yes, they have to be specifically designed for carrying passengers, they 

need a safety belt, they need a full lighting system, they need indicators and brake lights, as I said earlier, 

handholds, a bar that goes behind the rider, the rider always at the front, wheels that are strong enough to 

carry the weight that a pedicab will carry, and a maximum of three passengers who must be seated at all times.  

As I said, this was really well worked out. 

 

In fact, I have talked to the British Standards Institution (BSI), which put a proposal together which we put to 

both TfL and the Department for Transport (DfT) to say that the BSI would be happy to set a standard for a 

pedicab.  The BSI would be a good organisation to do it.  We actually got a Minister’s approval certificate for 

an electric-assist pedicab because they would not do an approval certificate for a non-motorised one.  As an 

exercise, we did that and it passed with flying colours.  It would be with the Driver and Vehicle Licensing 

Agency (DVLA), I think; anyway, whoever does the vehicle standards.  We have a Minister’s approval certificate 

for it.  They were pretty rigorous.  They looked at all the seatbelt mountings and all that sort of stuff.  Yes, the 

pedicab has to be fit for purpose and specifically designed and made, and of course maintained. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  It is possible to have that sort of standard built in that could 

be universally adopted? 

 

Page 14



 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  For sure.  A dual braking 

system, an independent braking system on the front and the back, and various other small aspects of the 

design so that essentially, if it is ridden properly - in the same way as a car, if a car is driven properly - it is 

pretty safe. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Maybe I could bring in Westminster about the issue of driver 

conduct and also the fact that they do not have DVLA checks done on these drivers, which goes back to Ros’s 

point on reputational risk for London as well.  What does Westminster want to see around drivers and what 

checks and so on should be in place? 

 

Kevin Goad (Head of Highways and Public Realm, Westminster City Council):  Just building on that, if 

it is a vehicle carrying people, it needs to be safe, it needs to be regulated, it needs to be annually inspected 

with a Ministry of Transport test (MOT), for want of a better way of describing it.  The same checks should 

apply to the individuals operating these devices or pedicabs.  You do not appoint a door supervisor anymore to 

stand guard on a pub or a club; they have to be regulated, they have to be checked, they have to be 

competent individuals with sound backgrounds.  By imposing those sorts of requirements, then you will drive 

out or drive away those riders who perhaps are not behaving in a way that is a conducive to common decency 

but, more importantly, is giving the pedicab industry a bad name.  You have to apply those checks to the 

physical device itself and to the individuals and the appropriate training. 

 

Extending that, you also have to consider the suitability of London’s roads and where these pedicabs should 

operate.  Pedicabs in Westminster often ride down pedestrianised roads.  It is not appropriate.  In fairness to 

pedicab riders, cyclists ride down pedestrianised roads.  There has to be an accepted code of practice that is 

signed up to by any local authority and the pedicab industry that says, “We will not tolerate this sort of 

behaviour from our own riders and members”.  This is something that we can manage and it is something that 

we can actually support in the right way, but we have to go through a process of recognising the suitability of 

the device, the suitability of the rider and the appropriateness of where you do your business, before we get on 

to the consumer side, which I am sure you will come to later in terms of your questioning. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Lovely.  Ros, did you want to comment on this at all? 

 

Ros Morgan (Chief Executive, Heart of London Business Alliance):  Yes.  In answer to the question “are 

they safe”, who knows?  I do not believe in self-assessment, especially whenever you are taking other people’s 

lives into your hands.  For me, our concern as a coalition is the danger of these vehicles and the danger that 

they can present not just to the passengers, pedestrians and road users but to the drivers themselves.  London 

is like nowhere else and so we really cannot compare in terms of whether it is safe or not to cycle with 

pedestrians.  We just need to look at the facts and the figures that we have in front of us. 

 

I have a serious concern in terms of no Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) checks.  I certainly would not be 

riding on any pedicab without that. 

 

Then you have this conduct and behaviour.  I do support voluntary codes of conduct and I have been involved 

in them for all sorts of other initiatives and industries, but they only work if everybody follows that code.  

Unfortunately, there are plenty of people willing to go against any code of conduct.  Even if we did have a 

code of conduct for the majority, I believe that there is still a need for management and enforcement.  Who is 

it that can be held to account if we do not have a record and we do not have rules or standards to follow?  The 

powers available to our police and to the council are weak.  Without a proper licensing regime, the worst, most 

dangerous repeat offenders cannot be banned from operating. 

 

Page 15



 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Thank you, Chairman.  My starting question is to Chris and others may want to come in.  It 

is about the training course that you mentioned.  The first question is: is it mandatory? 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Unfortunately, nothing is 

mandatory at the moment.  When I was running a company and there was a successor who took over, no rider 

could register with us without passing both the National Cycling Standard Level 3 and the pedicab module.  

They also had to provide identification (ID) and all that sort of stuff.  No, it is not mandatory. 

 

We had two of our staff trained up as instructors.  They were qualified by the CTC to do the training course 

and to issue the certificates at the end of it.  It was all we could do and that is all that is currently available as 

well.  It was a very effective training course.  We had what we called ‘rider support’ out every night and so we 

also had some monitoring on the streets if someone behaved badly. 

 

I completely understand what you said, Ros.  The problem is that at the moment there is nothing to lose at all.  

There is no regulation.  There is some enforcement but essentially no one has anything to lose.  That is the 

problem. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Do you have any figures in terms of how many of the drivers are currently trained drivers 

who have gone through the course with the numbers you have? 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  I cannot answer that, but I 

might be able to get the answer for you.  I am not an executive member of the LPOA.  Essentially, they have 

asked me to be their spokesperson because of course I have been through the entire process -- 

 

Navin Shah AM:  If you can, both from the total numbers of drivers you have and how many are actually -- 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Sure.  As far as I am aware, 

there are around 200 within the companies within the LPOA.  What I cannot tell you is how many of those 

have been trained to this National Cycling Standard Level 3.  Again, the problem is that if it is not a 

requirement, which it should be, then people will probably not go through that expense.  As I am sure has 

come across, I have been campaigning to get -- 

 

Navin Shah AM:  What is the cost? 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  There is a cost in running a 

training course and having a trained instructor and it is the time involved.  Everything has a cost.  However, it 

is a totally necessary cost, I have always thought, and it was a very successful programme, yes. 

 

I am sure we will come along later on to the regulation stuff but there has been an absolutely enormous 

amount of work done on this and I am sorry to say that absolutely none of it has been taken up.  I had a recent 

thing with the (previous) Transport Committee at the Greater London Authority (GLA), actually, and 

Val Shawcross [CBE, Deputy Mayor for Transport and former Chair of the Transport Committee] came back to 

me.  I am probably going off your question a little bit but, essentially, everyone has washed their hands of it 

and put it in the hands of the DfT, but the DfT has done nothing for five years.  That is the problem. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Something needs to happen quickly on this. 

 

Page 16



 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Absolutely.  Yes, absolutely.  

Perhaps when we get on to that, I can at least -- 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Sure. 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Thanks. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  On two or three occasions it was good to hear that you said that pedicabs are very safe and 

there have only been some minor incidents.  Looking at some of the incidents in the report that you have, it is 

worrying in terms of safety of vehicles as well as passengers from various incidents.  They are of a serious 

nature.  I do not know how many of them there are and that is what my next question is.  Do you have an 

annual record or some recording and monitoring system of safety incidents of vehicles as well as personal 

injuries and what do you do about them? 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  In the company I ran, which 

I have not run for over five years now, of course we had it.  We kept records of it.  There were very few 

personal injuries, if any; I think one small one, a broken arm, I believe.  Of course, TfL also holds this data.  I 

am sorry that I do not have the right up-to-date data and I cannot remember the precise report, but most of 

the incidents were minor and most of those were caused by other vehicles. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Would you be able to send to the Committee -- 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Yes, when I get there, yes. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  -- some information about what the minor incidents are, what they actually entail and the 

level of breakdown of vehicles that happen as well, which could lead to serious or more incidents, yes? 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Absolutely, yes, and I am 

sure you will -- 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  Yes, sorry, just to 

step in, I have ten years’ worth of data from 2005 to 2015.  There were 58 collisions if we are talking 

principally about collisions, which you might be, of which six were classed as serious.  In 2015, which is the last 

year - apologies for being a couple of years out of date but I will send the Committee the last two years’ worth 

of data - in 2015 there were just three slights and no serious.  In terms of numbers it is low, but I guess you 

have to then think about proportions of pedicabs in comparison to other vehicles. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Ros, you wanted to come in? 

 

Ros Morgan (Chief Executive, Heart of London Business Alliance):  We need to be careful not just to 

look at reported incidents.  My concern is with the unreported incidents, which sometimes, I assume, could be 

much more serious.  Recent news and conversations have demonstrated that that is not necessarily an 

assumption but a likelihood.  Definitely from the camera footage and the video footage that we have taken 

and some of the conversations that we have had over the years, serious assaults are likely to have happened 

but are likely to have gone unreported.  That, for me, is of more concern to some extent.  With the minor 

incidents and the vehicle impacts and things like that, we can look at that and we can come up with the 

standards and we can fix that.  My concern is how we monitor, how we know the numbers, how we know who 

these drivers are.  Have they been DBS checked?  Should there be any misconduct of a serious kind, how do 

we ban them?  As Chris has said, there is nothing to lose.  Right now, there is nothing to stop that person or 

Page 17



 

 

those individuals continuing to go out and assaulting, potentially, individuals and continuing to do that on a 

daily basis.  We do not know.  We do not have the facts.  There is no way of recording that currently. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Thank you.  That is very useful critical information we have from you.  Sean, if I can move 

on to you, in 2005, my notes say here, the Transport Committee recommended that the Metropolitan Police 

Service (MPS) should improve the information it collects on cab-related crime to ensure a greater 

understanding of whether offences are committed by licensed taxis, private hire vehicles and pedicabs.  Where 

are we on that 12 years on?  Do you know?  Are you able to tell us? 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  Details of offences? 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Yes, criminal offences. 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  I know that the ORB 

team - a team that sits within the Westminster Borough police - does collect and does disseminate the figures 

out.  I understand that Deputy Mayor went out with them.  I think it was last year.  I do not have the figures to 

hand, but they certainly do collect them. 

 

A lot of the legislation they use is around the antisocial behaviour aspects and it is about issuing Community 

Protection Notices (CPNs) and things like that, which take, in terms of building up evidence, quite a long time.  

It starts with a verbal warning and then their written warning.  They have collated this, but I suspect that the 

final numbers in terms of individuals who have been issued with a CPN will be quite low in comparison to the 

initial conversation between a police officer and a pedicab rider. 

 

I can get figures from the last few operations and they do collect them, but I do not have them to hand. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Thank you, Chairman. 

 

Kevin Goad (Head of Highways and Public Realm, Westminster City Council):  Can I just add?  I did 

some digging last night before the Committee and between January 2016 and January 2017 there were 47 

CPN warnings given to pedicab drivers in the ORB area, which resulted in seven CPNs being formally issued.  

The evidence gathering process is a very time-consuming and resource-intensive process and often, with the 

issues that are being faced in terms of reported incidents, when you arrive, there is no one to talk to.  

Amplified noise is a particular issue for Westminster and its residents.  If you are blaring a stereo out of the 

back of a pedicab, which does happen, you have to have someone reporting it formally to impose an 

Environmental Protection Act 1990 (EPA) Noise Notice, and the pedicab driver will have disappeared.  A 

dispersal notice lasts 48 hours.  It takes time to process a dispersal notice.  The Control of Pollution Act says 

after 9.00pm no noise; they will come back tomorrow.  There are all of these things. 

 

The powers to enforce the behaviours that we do not want to see on the streets are not there.  If you do not 

have an MOT, if you do not license your vehicle, it is a massive fine or a custodial sentence. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you.   

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  If I could just add to that, I 

accept that there is an enormous amount of problems but the problems stem partly from the difficulties for the 

police.  We have done a lot of work with the MPS on this over the years that have indeed worked very well 

with them in the past.  Essentially, the problem they have is one of identification.  They cannot identify the 

vehicles and they cannot identify the riders. 

Page 18



 

 

 

The third thing, if we are being relatively simplistic at this stage about it, is that there is no rank space and so 

the pedicabs do congregate sometimes at inappropriate places.  This was recognised very clearly by Martin Low 

[former City Transport Advisor, Westminster City Council], the predecessor at Westminster -- 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  We are going to come on to parking and ranking in a moment. 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Yes.  With regard to 

disorderly behaviour, the police have a real problem with this and so that is definitely something that needs to 

be resolved. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you. 

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  I would just like to say at this stage that is very important to deal with the 

facts that we do have, rather than conjecture or propaganda, because the industry has been subject to a lot of 

propaganda or fear tactics.  There have been many things like, let us say, unfair harassment by certain 

authorities, maybe because there are a few riders who are tarnishing the industry for the rest of us, but most of 

the people out there are good guys and good girls as well.  Women do it as well.  They want to provide a good 

service and they do it because it is fun.  That is the reason why there should be some regulation.  In other 

places where I have worked, we are going to come back to the ranks later, but that is a place where the bikes 

or the pedicabs can congregate.  Therefore, in those areas they would be easier to control with spot checks.  

That way benefits both people.  The pedicabs get space and the council or the police then have a very clear 

space or area where they know the bikes are going to be.  It makes it easier for everybody. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  We are going to come on to parking and regulation a bit later.  Thank you.  

That was helpful.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Bringing us back to safety, I understand that there are a few quite big pedicab 

companies that rent out pedicabs to riders or drivers for about £100 a week.  Is that correct? 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Approximately. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  What I am wondering is, if there are safety issues in this particular business model, we 

are hearing from everyone very strongly that regulation is the solution and we are coming onto regulation later 

and it is really good to see everyone across the panel from all the positions thinking that that is a positive 

solution.  However, I am just wondering, if this business model provides issues in terms of driver wellbeing and 

also safety because, if these bikes are being rented out, who does the maintenance?  Is it the person riding the 

bike or is it the company that rents out the bike? 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  In our case, we employed 

two fulltime qualified mechanics and their job was to do a full service.  I think it was every week or ten days or 

something like that.  They were always on hand when the bikes went out so that, if there were any problems, 

they were there to fix them.  More importantly than that, the riders had to sign a check sheet and they had to 

go through a number of key checks for the vehicle and they had to sign that they had done those checks.  I 

can say that there was some resistance to that initially, but it became absolute practice because the last thing 

they wanted to find was a puncture when they were out there or something that had gone wrong with the 

vehicle.  We almost never had to get a vehicle back because they were well-maintained, firstly, and, secondly, 

because the rider took the responsibility to check the bike before they went out and signed for it. 

 

Page 19



 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  That is a company that is taking safety seriously.  Are there some companies that are 

just renting out bikes without providing that service? 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Without a doubt. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  That is a safety risk that would be fixed by regulation? 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Yes. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Then what about for the riders?  Michael, maybe you would like to come in on this.  If 

you are needing to pay the rent on your pedicab for the week, how many hours, typically, are you working and 

do you think that that has an impact on your safety and wellbeing? 

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  It really depends on the season of the year.  In the summer, when it is busy, 

you would go out and work more hours, maybe five days a week, typically.  In the winter, it might be two or 

three days per week, mostly, say, weekends.  Would it impact the rider’s safety?  Generally, most riders are 

responsible for themselves.  They have to take care of their bikes because, if the bike is not in good   

condition-- it is a tool.  If the tool is not working, they cannot earn money.  The biggest complaint of any rider, 

especially if they are working for a company, is, “Hey, boss or whatever, my bike is not working.  Can you get it 

fixed as soon as possible?”  It is in the interests of everybody to have a working bike.  It is our tool. 

 

As far as working hours, most people regulate their own working hours because, if it is busy, you can work 

longer, eight hours, and do a full day.  If it is not so busy, then you do two or three and then you go home. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  If you are paying a fixed cost to rent the bike each week, are you able to earn enough 

money to pay the rent and keep food on the table? 

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  Again, it depends on the time of year.  Again, it is very season-based work.  

In the summer, you definitely have more chance of doing that.  There are some riders who are more   

customer-friendly and others who are not suited to the job at all.  The ones who are not able to do that 

generally leave and so there will be a turnover.  Then, yes, certainly in the winter, it is more difficult to cover 

that rent and there may be some weeks where maybe you are working just to cover the rent and maybe have 

enough for yourself.  There are weeks or months even when you do not earn that much and so you have to do 

something else or take your savings from the good months.  It is like that. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Just a quick question to Sean.  Are you aware of something that happened in 

September 2014 when the MPS seized nine pedicabs because they had been fitted with motors to make them 

go faster?  Is that something that you know about? 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  I had heard very 

briefly before coming here about the motors, which were dealt with and, from what I understand, very quickly 

removed from any other pedicabs that had had them. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Yes.  That was three years ago.  Are there any ongoing checks or investigations to make 

sure that there is no further occurrence of that?  That is something that is incredibly dangerous if the pedicabs 

have been fitted with motors.  The owners of two of the pedicabs were fined £200 and seven of the others 

were summonsed to court, so obviously that is something that is illegal.  What is anybody doing to make sure 

Page 20



 

 

that that does not happen again or that, if it is happening, the people who are doing that are caught and those 

pedicabs which have been fitted with motors, if there are any, are immediately taken out of service? 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  It is one of the 

things that the dedicated teams and the ORB team would look out for, as would ordinary officers.  It is 

knowing that a motor, not electric but a motor, would then change the classification of a vehicle and therefore 

it would be subject to a lot of other things, which is what happened to these ones.  Yes, it is almost part of a 

business-as-usual check that would happen if an officer comes across a vehicle that they believe has a motor. 

 

David Kurten AM:  The issue would be with people pretending that they are still pedicabs when actually they 

are motorised vehicles.  That is something that is we want to make sure never happens.  Yes, Chris? 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  David, I wonder if I could 

just clarify.  A pedicab with a motor fitted in 2014 was totally illegal because then it would not have fallen 

under the electric-assisted pedicab regulations.  They were doubly illegal because they had motors on them 

that were 1 kilowatt and you could just twist and go.  They had to go.  We worked and had a campaign with 

the police and Westminster Council on that because they were not acceptable at all.  However, it was last year 

or the year before.  The UK had changed the regulations to harmonise with the European regulations so now 

you can have what is called an EAPC, which has a maximum motor output of 250 watts.  It has to have what is 

called a pedelec control on it and so you have to be pedalling and it is purely as an assist to start off and as an 

assist to going up a hill.  That does add to the safety and that is not classed as a motor vehicle.  That is still an 

EAPC.  Clearly, some people had decided that you can put any size of motor on it or whatever.  I just wanted to 

clarify that as a proper EAPC that is in accordance with the regulations.  It is a very helpful thing and does 

enhance a pedicab significantly, but not with a 1-kilowatt unit.  I just wanted to clarify that. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Thank you.   

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  I would just like to add that.  A couple of years ago as well there was a 

business consortium of electric bike makers who had been lobbying the European Parliament for a change in 

the regulation because they saw that this 250-watt pedal assist or electric motor rule or regulation was set 

years ago, long before this electric pedal assist became popular.  They have been saying it should be 500 watts.  

In some countries - in Switzerland, in Austria - it is 350 watts.  In Finland it is 1,000 watts and in the US 750 

watts.  Every country has their own recommendation or guideline as to what a pedal-assisted bicycle is.  

Certainly, for a pedicab carrying up to three people, it could be a couple of hundred kilowatts, I would say 250 

watts.  There should be some new classification for rickshaws maybe up to 500 watts.  There are certain motor 

manufacturers maybe you could speak to who have built motors where there is continuous 250-watt power but 

then, when you need it starting off, it does go up to, say, 1,000 watts.  There are a couple of manufacturers 

that do that and they are in operation in many countries around Europe.  That could be a possibility for the 

future. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Thank you. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Lovely.  Thank you.  Moving on now to parking and congestion, we have 

covered some of it already.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Good morning.  I am going to address my first comments to Kevin, if you do not mind.  

How can we tackle the problem of pedicabs blocking streets and pathways?  Is it a problem? 

 

Page 21



 

 

Kevin Goad (Head of Highways and Public Realm, Westminster City Council):  It depends on the 

location and the activity.  If you are in the West End in the summer, as Michael was saying, it is busy and there 

are potentially lots of customers.  If you are all queueing your bikes on one lane of Oxford Street or two lanes 

of Oxford Street, you are going to create problems.  At the end of the day, it is a police power to move these 

bikes on; it is not a local authority power.  We can ask, we can encourage, we can support and, if you are 

blocking the public highway, we can take some power, but if you turn up, what is a rider going to do?  They 

are going to ride off.  All you do by turning up is to displace the problem. 

 

What you need are the powers to issue fines, as you do with a parking offence, and we do not do it anymore 

but even immobilise the vehicle and permanently remove it from the street if it is a persistent offender.  Our 

powers are limited.  When vehicles like cars are parked and there is no driver in them, you can remove them if 

you choose to.  A pedicab will ride off if they are behaving inappropriately and that is the challenge.            

On-the-spot fines would be one way of dealing with it.  Providing facilities, kerbside space, permitting where 

pedicabs could actually rank in approved areas would be one way of dealing with it, but, again, you are talking 

about competing requirements for the kerbside with residents, businesses, servicing, taxis.  It is a difficult 

balancing act. 

 

Until we have a regulated approach to the pedicab services, the debate about where they can rank or not rank 

is academic because, at the end of the day, if you are plying for business, you are going to go where the 

business actually is. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Michael, the same question to you: what do you think could be done to help with this 

problem of pedicabs blocking the public highway? 

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  Yes, providing safe spaces for them to congregate because at the moment 

the only possible way is to work -- officially, we are told to keep riding and riding and for eight hours a day 

that is pretty much impossible.  At some point, you have to stop for a drink or a coffee or go to the toilet.  In 

previous years there have being many cases where riders cannot do that and they would be harassed, told to 

move on or issued fines for many silly things.  That could all be avoided and save a lot of paperwork and hassle 

for everybody if they simply had a safe space.  It can either be through mutual agreement and save money or 

another option would be, if there is any kind of fees involved in this licensing thing, that could be perhaps 

used to pay for these spaces as part of any kind of agreement that allows the riders then to use these spaces in 

the city so that it pays for itself. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Ros, earlier, you made a comment that you see pedicabs as a tourist attraction and not a 

serious part of our travel infrastructure, but are there particular places you think they would be less intrusive 

and more useful as a tourist product?  Is there something you would like to see them? 

 

Ros Morgan (Chief Executive, Heart of London Business Alliance):    We just need to be sensible.  There 

is no doubt about it.  If you walk into any busy street with lots of visitors, especially near theatres and casinos, 

we have the example of the Hippodrome where we have major problems there, with lots of people coming and 

going through Leicester Square.  Of course, that is where the pedicabs then arrive in groups and it is blocking 

the streets.  It is blocking the highway for the public to get through.  It is also blocking the route for our taxis 

to get through and our delivery vehicles to get through.  I believe that they are incredibly disruptive on a day-

to-day basis because they do not have any regulation and there is not anywhere for them maybe to officially 

and formally park.  I would call them a novelty vehicle and not only are they causing disruption with blockage, 

but they also have an impact on pollution.  While they are blocking the area, it is causing other vehicle traffic 

to slow down or become idle, which has an impact and we already know that that has an impact especially in 

Page 22



 

 

the West End.  In my opinion, pedicabs should be subject to the same parking and waiting restrictions as 

private hire vehicles. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  That might be right but there is a whole different thing – and regulation we will come on 

to later - this is a wider question to everyone.  In what part of any of your planning are pedicabs included?  If 

they are a novelty, some people do like them.  We are pedestrianising Oxford Street.  In a largely 

pedestrianised area, they may offer more access than a motorised cab, for instance.  Has that been factored 

into any planning that is going forward around Oxford Street in particular? 

 

Ros Morgan (Chief Executive, Heart of London Business Alliance):  All of those things have been taken 

into consideration for Oxford Street.  If I look at the area that I cover, it includes Piccadilly and Leicester 

Square.  If we use that as an example, definitely, Leicester Square in reality relatively speaking is small and so, 

in an area like that, I do not believe that there would be a suitable space.  I do know as part of the Oxford 

Street plans there is lots of discussion and conversation about if and where these cycles might be parked.  

However, there is one thing that the majority of people are agreeing on: they should not be allowed onto 

pavements.  Pavements should be for pedestrians. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Yes, I am pretty sure, but the point I am edging to, from an environmental point of view, 

from an access point of view, over this last 250 metres - not even a last mile - they may be a way of replacing 

motorised cabs, which come with of all kinds of different problems all of their own.  Of course, if they were 

regulated, but, again, we will come on to that. 

 

At this point - and I would like to include TfL in this and Chris as well - who administers the regulation there 

is?  I know that pedicabs are not regulated but, as a council, for instance, or as TfL, there seems to be a suite 

of things that are done.  Would it be useful if there was one set of people who looked after mainly what goes 

on with pedicabs?  You were saying you cannot move them on.  You are in charge of the road infrastructure.  It 

just seems to me that half of the chaos with pedicabs is chaos with the regulation.  Nobody is in charge of all 

of it. 

 

Kevin Goad (Head of Highways and Public Realm, Westminster City Council):  Sorry, I do not think that 

is right.  You have powers as a local authority to manage your highways, obstructions and suchlike, but if a 

cyclist or pedicab rider moves on, what can you do about it?  Michael is right but cycling around is not 

practical. 

 

Is it for an individual local authority to control the regulation of a fare-paying means of transport, which in the 

case of pedicabs it is?  I do not think it is.  TfL as a broader authority licenses and regulates private and black 

cab hire.  Outside of London pedicabs are regulated.  Why are we still having the conversation ten years later?  

It is no criticism of the GLA or TfL or local authorities.  We saw the Minister two weeks ago and it has been 

kicked into a committee for discussion.  There needs to be some traction on this for local authorities, for 

businesses and, more importantly, for the pedicab industry and those riders who are trying to earn an honest 

living by doing the right things.  It is not the regulation.  It is the lack of regulation on a London-wide basis for 

this type of transport.  It works, as Michael was saying, in Europe.  It works in South America.  Why not in 

London? 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Again, we will come on to regulation, but you are really saying we need to regulate the 

safety of the bikes and also the riders as well? 

 

Page 23



 

 

Kevin Goad (Head of Highways and Public Realm, Westminster City Council):  You would not get into 

a black cab with the driver who has not been trained, does not have a licence, does not have a vehicle that has 

been checked every year and is not charging an agreed rate of fare for one, two, three or four passengers. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  We are going to come on to regulation next, but if we can stick to parking 

and congestion at the moment, please. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  I have a slightly different angle, again.  I’ll direct it at TfL.  Do you have any data for the 

impact of pedicabs on congestion? 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  Absolutely.  We rely 

quite often on driver incident reports.  That is effectively bus drivers identifying issues that they are coming 

across and, principally, the issues, unsurprisingly, are around Regent Street, Shaftesbury Avenue, Oxford Street 

and Westminster Bridge. 

 

Interestingly, though, between 2010 and 2013 there were 89 incidents of a bus driver reporting this, but it has 

dropped hugely in the last two years and that is not because there are less of them.  What is happening, from 

speaking to colleagues in buses, is that actually bus drivers are expecting them to be there and expecting them 

to be in bus stops.  As much as it is a problem with vehicles being on the pavement, for which there is a very 

old piece of legislation that the police can use and disperse with identification problems there, we regularly see 

them in bus stops and not dispersing them.  Then what you have is an issue with people getting on and off 

buses, having to do it within the carriageway because you have pedicabs in the bus stop.  Quite often bus 

stops are situated where no one else will park in them and so it is quite a handy place for them to be and they 

are always in good locations.  That is a common occurrence that bus drivers are facing and as a result our 

passengers on buses are facing as well. 

 

From a congestion point of view, we suffer from parking and also just from bus drivers saying that they are 

holding them up as well, but, as I said, reports are dropping off because it is almost expected in certain areas. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Just one last question to wrap up.  Did you say you had a dedicated team that looks at 

the issues around pedicabs or did have that wrong? 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  Yes, there is a 

Westminster borough team called the ORB team - that is for Oxford Street, Regent Street and Bond Street - 

that has a wealth of knowledge around the things they can use to deal with the antisocial part of pedicab 

riders.  They do not really have an effective means to deal with safety, but they can deal with antisocial stuff.  

As someone mentioned earlier, it is incredibly resource intensive to build up the level of evidence required.  As 

Kevin referred to earlier in terms of what is called a CPN is that eventually it takes a long time.  As colleagues 

have said, with better regulation, hopefully we could encourage better behaviour. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Michael, did you want to come in? 

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  Yes, I just wanted to add that certainly in other European cities both bicycles 

and pedicabs do operate in pedestrianised areas without causing a problem.  They are not going super-fast in 

those areas.  They are expected to go slower than walking pace.  In places which are super-busy in the middle 

of town, maybe the bikes would be restricted after a certain time so that they can only go maybe after 9.00pm 

or 10.00pm until 7.00am or 8.00am the next morning because then those pedestrian (areas) are less 

populated. 

 

Page 24



 

 

In other cases, on the issue of one-way streets, it is a lot more common in Europe where you have contra 

[flow] lanes on many one-way roads where bikes and pedicabs can go against the flow of traffic because they 

are not very big, 1 metre or 1.2 metres.  You cannot compare it to a car.  That does ease a lot of the problems.  

Generally, when there is any kind of law or regulation, it is going with the flow or the consensus of what the 

people are doing and what they want.  If you can see that a lot of bikes are making shortcuts through one-way 

streets when they should not, maybe you should put a contra flow through that area and that would then solve 

the problems for everyone. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  When you talk about these pedestrian areas where pedicabs and bikes can go, are they 

cycle lanes there or just a flat open pedestrian area? 

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  In some cases there are cycle lanes, but in many cases, it is simply that they 

go wherever they want.  There is no cycle lane; it is just kind of expected that pedestrians and bikes are in the 

same class and it is very unlikely that someone is going to die when they are hit by a bicycle or a pedicab.  It is 

highly unlikely.  Maybe there will be light regulation saying that they would be at, like I say, walking pace or a 

slow tempo.  There would be a sign there to warn people of that.  If someone is not paying attention, maybe 

they get a fine or be stopped. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  This goes back to a comment that Ros made about London being unique.  You are talking 

about cultures that are more cycling cultures than London, I would imagine.  I would ask TfL this: do you feel 

you have the space on the roads to perform those sorts of contra flows in places?  I say in the West End 

because it looks like to me around Regent Street and Piccadilly that traffic is increasingly being pushed out.  

Could that traffic be replaced by this sort of scheme? 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  I could not answer 

across the network and TfL looks after only 5% of the roads.  The majority of the roads we are talking are 

borough roads.  It is quite a big statement to say yes.  I could not answer that. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Maybe I should direct it to Kevin, then. 

 

Kevin Goad (Head of Highways and Public Realm, Westminster City Council):  The answer is that it 

would be inappropriate to speculate on the impact of removing traffic from some of the key arterial routes to 

facilitate pedicabs.  If you are -- 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Not to facilitate pedicabs.  People seem to be removing traffic anyway.  That seems to be 

a general direction and so I am not talking about facilitating pedicabs.  I am saying once that traffic has gone 

or as a replacement and cycling in general rather than pedicabs in particular. 

 

Kevin Goad (Head of Highways and Public Realm, Westminster City Council):  I would argue from a 

borough that the Cycle Superhighways (CSs) that have gone into Westminster have created more congestion 

since they have gone in.  If you use Vauxhall Bridge Road, it is a car park for 45 minutes most times of the day.  

TfL has developed a very sensitive traffic modelling tool, which we have used very well in Oxford Street and 

you can judge the impact of traffic changes or scheme changes on the broader network.  The problem with 

congestion within London is a combination of TfL as a strategic authority and the local boroughs to plan, and 

something Westminster does or the City of London does or Southwark does can have massive implications for 

the TfL network in Bexley, Bromley and elsewhere.  We just have to be sensitive to that. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Thank you for that, Chairman. 

 

Page 25



 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Just very briefly going back to antisocial parking, shall we say, you talked about 

sanctioning against antisocial parking.  We do not have any experience of these wonderful vehicle modes down 

in Croydon.  Perhaps we should have.  Perhaps we will now. 

 

Talking with Kevin probably more so and Sean, local authorities and TfL are not slow to sanction antisocial 

parking.  They buzz around on mopeds and slap fines all over the shop.  If you are saying that pedicabs are 

parked up and causing blockages and parking illegally, why are you not - with respect to these guys - slapping 

fixed penalty notices (FPNs) and fines and God knows what on them, or do they just clear off when they see 

you coming? 

 

Kevin Goad (Head of Highways and Public Realm, Westminster City Council):  What is the frame of 

reference to pursue them for the fine?  There is no vehicle ID number; there is no registration plate; there is no 

address; there is no identity of the driver.  If Michael was wearing “certified pedicab licensed rider” and he was 

parked illegally, I would have something to actually issue him with a ticket: his home address.  Pardon the 

reference to regulation but -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  We are going to move on to that, yes.  I know that, yes. 

 

Kevin Goad (Head of Highways and Public Realm, Westminster City Council):  -- until you regulate the 

ability, there is nothing that TfL or Westminster can do, other than move it on, seize it if it is a particular 

problem or deal with it as an obstruction. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  If they are obstructing, your guys will go along and at the moment - and we will get on 

to it - you have no sanction as such and the fellows or girls will just cycle off and then they will come back. 

 

Kevin Goad (Head of Highways and Public Realm, Westminster City Council):  The first action is to 

move on, hopefully with agreement, but, as Sean said, compiling a case to take any form of legal action with 

the powers that we have, which are limited -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Yes, which we are going to move on to.  Thank you.  Thanks for that.   

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  I was just going to say that 

it is important to get some sort of perspective on this.  In a lot of this I know we are talking about pedicabs, 

but is it pedicabs that are causing all of this congestion?  We are all around London all the time.  All sorts of 

other vehicles cause -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I know that, yes. 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Yes.  This is an issue.  The 

ranks issue and inappropriate parking has been discussed in enormous detail with TfL and with Westminster 

City Council, but not with these two gentlemen; this is before their time.  It is absurd that we are at this 

position now because, in 2008, Martin Low [former City Transport Advisor, Westminster City Council] had 

signed permission for pedicab ranks, the road signs, and all the signage approval from the DfT.  We will come 

on to the regulation, but we had something in place which was agreed with TfL, Westminster Council and the 

MPS.  That was a decade ago.  We will come back to that, but it is -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Thank you. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you.  I want to move now to touting and pricing.   

Page 26



 

 

 

David Kurten AM:  Yes, thank you, Chairman.  There have been concerns about some of the fares that 

pedicabs have been charging their customers, particularly tourists who might be in London for the first day and 

do not know what is going on.  We hear cases like one tourist being charged over £200 for a one-mile journey 

and £600 for a 30-minute journey.  What needs to be done to eliminate fare abuse?  Who would like to 

answer?   

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Obviously, that is totally 

unacceptable.  The way it should be done is that there should be a fare guideline in the pedicab and the fare 

should be properly agreed prior to the start of the journey.  This has been an issue which is raised and must be 

addressed.  Again, with ID, should something like this happen, then of course there would be some sort of 

recourse.  However, at the moment, you are quite right. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Did anyone else want to comment?   

 

Ros Morgan (Chief Executive, Heart of London Business Alliance):  Just to echo that, we have lots of 

camera footage of pedicab drivers charging complete rip-off fares, whether they are taking passengers on long 

routes or, instead of £15, halfway down the road they have decided it is £50.  For tourists, for whom perhaps 

English is not their first language and who may be in an area that they are unfamiliar with, that really does 

damage our reputation as a tourist destination.  It is really easy.  You have set fares.  There are examples of this 

all around the world and all around the country.  You have set fares, the fares are transparent and they are 

there in front of you, or it is one fare regardless of where you might be going within a certain radius.  It is as 

easy as that.  However, again, how do you enforce that unless we have some kind of regulation? 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Very briefly on that, the 

legislation under which pedicabs operate says that they have to charge separate and distinct fares.  We always 

have a system where it would be X amount per person per mile.  Of course, if you are taking three people, it is 

a lot more work than if you are taking one.  Under the legislation which still exists, they have to charge per 

person for any journey. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Is that the 1869 Metropolitan Public Carriage Act? 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  That is right, yes. 

 

David Kurten AM:  That is enforceable, is it? 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Absolutely. 

 

David Kurten AM:  If a pedicab now does not give a separate and distinct fare, then that is enforceable under 

the law? 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Yes.  That is right.  That 

could be enforced. 

 

David Kurten AM:  There is no price guide, though, is there, and so they can set whatever they want for the 

separate and distinct fares?  Is that correct? 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  We used to have a rule.  I 

think it was about £3 per person per mile or something. 

Page 27



 

 

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  No, it is recommended at about £5 per person per mile.  Yes, according to 

inflation now, it must be about £7.50 at least, I would say, per mile. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Per person? 

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  Yes.  In other places, they have price lists and so people can see that on the 

bike and it may be by destination from the town hall or whatever to this place or that place.  They will have a 

list and the visitors and tourists can see what they are going to be charged.  Then, of course, there is always 

this trader mentality.  Let us be honest.  It can depend on the weight of the person.  There are lots of different 

factors that people take into account.  That is why they should only be guidelines, I would say, because it is 

like any business.  Even in a supermarket or shop, no price is absolutely fixed until you walk out of that shop.  

Until you accept that price and pay it, it is not accepted and you do not have to -- 

 

It is the same with a pedicab.  People and tourists should be agreeing upfront what the price is and maybe 

through tourism, for example, in Berlin, in a lot of the tourist books like Lonely Planet and Rough Guide, there 

will be articles in there and there will be the price per hour so that the tourists know when they land in that 

city, “OK, these are the bikes.  They are available.  That is what an hour should cost”, for example.  Working 

with the tourist board or other places, this can definitely help to self-regulate the business when people know 

what the price is. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Ros, did you want to come in? 

 

Ros Morgan (Chief Executive, Heart of London Business Alliance):  It is very encouraging to hear that 

there is lots of good practice out there.  We also need to learn from what has been successful in London.  With 

the black cabs now, very few transactions are done through cash-in-hand.  I imagine that the majority of the 

pedicab transactions are cash-in-hand.  Of course, I encourage people to work and to want to work, but we 

need to make sure that income is being declared as well with no tax avoidance.  I would like to see through the 

process that we do move to a system which relies less on cash and more on electronic transactions because the 

black cabs have demonstrated that that is a successful way forward. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Just to pick up on the pricing, you mentioned that in some cases a price list would be 

good.  Are the pedicabs obliged under the 1869 Act to put up a price list?  They are not obliged to do that?  If 

they do not and they just make up a price at the end, they are actually legally allowed at the moment not to 

specify a price at the beginning and just charge at the end?  Is that correct? 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Yes.  Under any sort of 

regulation, however it was done, there would be some guidelines which would have to be on the pedicab very 

clearly saying, “It is this amount per person per mile”. 

 

David Kurten AM:  That is something that needs to be done and it is not the case at the moment -- 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Absolutely, yes. 

 

David Kurten AM:  -- which is where the problem is particularly for tourists, who - as you say, Ros - may 

come to London and not know English very well and so they are very vulnerable in that situation. 

 

What does TfL do and what can TfL do at the moment to make sure there is not any fare abuse like this £600 

for a 30-minute journey?  Is there anything you can do? 

Page 28



 

 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  Not really, no, not 

without any appropriate legislation.  That is the problem and we are well aware that the people who could use 

pedicabs - tourists or people who are out - are vulnerable to being charged far too much. 

 

David Kurten AM:  I do appreciate your honesty and that really just shows that it is a very urgent situation 

and that we need some similar new legislation and regulation on this.  Thank you, Chairman. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  We have been focusing on pedicabs because that is what this meeting was set up to 

look at, but there are bicycle taxis operating in London like Pedal Me, where the prices are completely 

competitive with minicab prices and the pricing is done through the Pedal Me app.  You can download it and 

book a ride. 

 

Has anyone thought about producing an app for pedicab riders to use to do their pricing with or is that 

something that would have to follow on after regulation?   

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  A few companies and even cities have tried that or are in the process of 

trying it.  The main problem is at the moment that you are on a pedal bike and you do not have an engine.  

How do you power your phone the whole time to run the app?  It was tried.  You would have had that app 

constant running the background and draining power.  It just was not practical from that point of view.  In a 

motorised vehicle, it is practical and it works.  Maybe there is another way around that in the future, but I am 

not aware of anyone who has found that solution yet. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Perhaps it works people if people have EAPCs.  Maybe they can keep them more 

charged up or something but -- 

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  Yes, if you had a lot of larger electric battery, for example, maybe that is a 

possibility. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  TfL, are you aware of organisations like Pedal Me? 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  I have heard of it.  I 

am not that familiar with the pricing structure. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Perhaps I will make an introduction after the meeting because it does seem -- 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  Please do. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  We have heard that bicycle taxis are a novelty ride, but what Pedal Me is showing is 

that these can be a really useful part of our transport system.  Given that we have a Mayor who is trying to 

tackle air pollution, having bicycle-driven transport is potentially a really good thing for London.  When we get 

on to regulation, I am sure we will be able to discuss how we can sort all of the problems we have been talking 

about already. 

 

Kevin Goad (Head of Highways and Public Realm, Westminster City Council):  Could I just come in?  I 

am not aware of that particular app, but you are seeing an increase - and TfL is very aware of this as well - of 

dockless cycle hire schemes, which are app- or keycode-driven.  They are rivals to the fixed, docked Santander 

scheme.  We will have the same problem as local authorities when 200 bikes appear on your streets overnight.  

You can go and pick them up, you can download the app, you can hire them against a schedule of fees.  

Page 29



 

 

However, they cause obstructions, they could be dumped anywhere, and there are no facilities to rank them or 

bring them together.  TfL drives around collecting their bikes and relocating them every night. 

 

We are starting to see a similar issue emerging on dockless cycle hire.  TfL has already drafted a code of 

practice and, as with pedicabs, there is really good engagement to try to develop a protocol and a voluntary 

scheme to make this work, but it presents another example of the lack of regulation potentially creating 

further challenges.  I completely support the sustainability/different modes of transport/air pollution agenda, 

but people falling over bikes on roads in Soho is not safe. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I absolutely agree with you but, with the dockless bike hire, because TfL acted very 

fast on the first oBikes that came in and were just dumped, the companies that are now operating are working 

very closely with local authorities before they are able to operate.  They have a memorandum of 

understanding. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  I am sorry, but we are wandering well off pricing here.  We are doing pricing, 

but we can maybe come back to it under regulation? 

 

Ros Morgan (Chief Executive, Heart of London Business Alliance):  Can I just say one thing before we 

move on?  I would be concerned if we were considering pedicabs as a major transport solution.  We have 

enough transport solutions to consider and I would encourage walking as an alternative to pedicabs. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Lovely.  Thank you.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  On regulation, from the answers you have given so far, some of my questions have 

been answered, but, if I could just sum up briefly, all of you are in favour of regulation.  Is it correct that all of 

you agree that the current statutory powers you have are insufficient?  Is that fair? 

 

Ros Morgan (Chief Executive, Heart of London Business Alliance):  Yes. 

 

Kevin Goad (Head of Highways and Public Realm, Westminster City Council):  Yes. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  If we were to regulate, what sort of regulation should it be?  For the vehicles 

themselves, Chris, you said that the BSI has looked at a standard? 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Yes, they came up with 

proposal - which I sent to both TfL and DfT - to prepare what is called a publicly available specification (PAS) 

standard for pedicabs, which, as I understand it, is still there.  It is not cheap, but it will set a standard, which is 

probably not massively different to the standard that we agreed with TfL ten years ago.  Yes, that can be done. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Thank you.  If I could ask Sean, is a standard of vehicle what you have been looking 

at?  Also, Michael talked about other cities.  Do they have standards of vehicles as well? 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  Yes, I believe so.  

Principally, for us, the safety of the passenger is paramount and at the minute there is no guarantee of what 

kind of pedicab that you or I could go into.  Without regulation, for us, the most important thing around it is to 

guarantee that a vehicle meets a set standard which is safe and meets an International Organization for 

Standardization (ISO) standard or an equivalent.  That is really important with driver identification so that, 

should something happen, a passenger has got the means by which to know the driver and that the vehicle is 

safe. 

Page 30



 

 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  If you like, that vehicle then would be issued with an ID number or plate number? 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  Yes, there is a whole 

host of means by which vehicles are licensed and regulated that could help from an enforcement perspective 

and, most importantly, from a passenger safety perspective. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Thank you.  Michael, you wanted to come in? 

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  Yes.  Rewind.  What were you saying before? 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  About whether other cities have standards on pedicabs? 

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  Yes, I was saying that the responsibility should begin with the 

manufacturers.  A lot of the rickshaws are European-made in either England, Germany or Denmark.  They seem 

to make up the build market.  Generally, the bikes made in Europe are of good build quality.  If there is a poor 

build quality, it will be the ones coming from China as cheap imports. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  We would want alignment with the European Union (EU)? 

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  We are responsible enough.  There are bikes made here as well in the UK 

anyway.  Then what they do there as well is they have a type of MOT.  Certainly, in Germany it is every five 

years.  The bike then needs to go in for a check to make sure it is still structurally safe and then they get a tick 

and then that is it.  They carry on.  It is very light.  It does not need to be every year because that costs money 

for everyone. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  There are standards on the vehicles’ maintenance or whatever? 

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  Yes. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Then, on rider training, Chris, you talked about National [Cycling] Standard Level 3.  

Do members of your organisation have to ensure that their riders get that level? 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Everyone had to have it.  

The CTC trained an instructor and so that was done and then we worked out with the CTC a work bike module 

to add on to the National Cycling Standard Level 3.  The idea of that was that it would cover pedicabs and 

work bikes because there are a lot of trishaws, if you like, that are going around the streets delivering goods 

and all that sort of stuff.  We thought with the CTC at that time that that was a sensible thing to do.  Of 

course, the CTC is a national cycling body. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Yes.  TfL, would that satisfy your need for regulation of drivers themselves? 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  Absolutely. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Criminal Records Bureau (CRB) checks - or DBS checks as they are now - and 

presumably insurance as well. 

 

Kevin Goad (Head of Highways and Public Realm, Westminster City Council):  Can I just add?  This is a 

form of passenger transport.  It should be regulated the same way as every other form of passenger transport 

Page 31



 

 

for insurance, safety, the wellbeing of the driver, the condition of the vehicle, annual inspections.  I would not 

go as far as road tax necessarily, but it is a form of passenger transport and it must be regulated in the way 

that you or TfL would expect it to be. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Yes.  I am just going through those things.  They are the things you would need.  

Then, Sean, if I can ask you, outside London pedicabs are regulated in the same way as taxis.  Is that the same 

regulation you are asking for?  Is TfL asking for any extra regulation of pedicabs in London? 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  You cannot within 

London class them as the same and so it would not be the same.  Outside of London they are classed as taxis, 

whereas within London you cannot.  It would have to be a new regulatory scheme. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Are there any divergences from the taxi legislation that you have been looking at 

for pedicabs? 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  It would need to be 

pedicab specific. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  It would be, OK.   

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  I do not know how much 

the Committee knows about the background to this, but the current legislation under which they operate has 

been tried and tested many times.  Then there has been a number of Bills put before Parliament, either London 

Local Authority (LLA) or TfL Bills - two of those - and there was the Road Safety Bill, the Local Transport Bill 

and the GLA Bill.  It is quite extraordinary that we are here today, having had all that lot put through. 

 

The reason they did not go through in any of those instances was because there was an awful lot of wool being 

pulled over an awful lot of eyes and the people who were tabling these pieces of legislation were trying to get 

rid of pedicabs, believe me.  That is why we fought so hard with the LLA Bills and Members of Parliament 

(MPs) or Members of the House of Lords fought on our behalf in Government Bills.  In each and every case, 

they have been fatal to the pedicab industry because very often they have been driven by the taxi drivers.  It is 

important to say that. 

 

Subsequent to that, there were a number of plans which we worked on with, as I said earlier, the police, TfL 

and Westminster City Council.  I had no less than 50 meetings with Westminster Council on this with Martin 

[Low, former City Transport Advisor, Westminster City Council] and a great number with TfL.  We worked this 

out with a wide coalition of people.  It was the police; it was TfL; it was the TfL lawyers; the Westminster City 

Council lawyers.  We got to the point of agreeing a very broad and a very -- it was a relatively light touch but 

nevertheless robust.  We agreed this with all the lawyers and then, when the final structure of this registration 

scheme, as it was called, came out, it was unrecognisable as the document that we had agreed.  In 2012 this 

was all left to the DfT and, “No, we are not going to do anything because the DfT is going to be tabling some 

legislation in a Government Bill”.  Nothing has happened whatsoever and my information is that it is nowhere 

near close to their radar. 

 

I sent a document, which was essentially based on a registration scheme that we had agreed with TfL and 

Westminster Council and the police a long time ago - in fact, in 2008 - and we also got Counsel opinion on this 

at our expense, which describes quite clearly how to give the police some powers to act against people who 

cannot be identified.  That is the key thing. 

 

Page 32



 

 

The Transport Committee - or Val Shawcross [CBE, Deputy Mayor for Transport and former Chair of the 

Transport Committee] - did come back to me on this to say essentially that this was a matter for the DfT and 

that they would not do anything, but the Mayor does have a responsibility for the safety of passengers and the 

people on the streets. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Can I ask if you could send us that?  That would be helpful. 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  Yes, of course.  I must add 

that the London Assembly Transport Committee did a report back in 2005.  I do not know whether people have 

seen that, but this started the process and so it is been extremely frustrating for everybody.  I understand that 

many people here have not been involved in this for a long time.  Pedicabs are vilified and quite rightly so in 

many respects, but the private hire industry was in chaos before the Private Hire Act came in.  I agree there 

needs to be some regulation, but if it is a sledgehammer it will crack the nut.  That is the difficulty with it. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Sorry, can I just interrupt just for one second?  I will just interrupt because we 

have Christchurch Primary School.  They have just walked in.  I would like to say hello to you guys from the 

great Borough of Redbridge.  I am the Assembly Member for Havering and Redbridge.  It is lovely to see you 

guys.  We are talking at the moment about pedicabs, which are the cycles in and around Oxford Street and 

other areas and then, after that, we are going to move on to talk with the former Cycling ‘Czar’ [Andrew 

Gilligan [former Cycling Commissioner] who has come to see us and we will be talking about all things to do 

with bicycles and also the CSs and the quiet routes.  It is lovely to see you.  Thanks very much for coming in.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Sean, can I ask you?  What is TfL doing to persuade the DfT to bring this legislation 

forward. 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  We have worked 

very closely with Westminster and we would welcome support from you in terms of trying to progress this.  We 

have met I do not know how many times with the Secretary of State and his colleagues to try to push the 

regulation of pedicabs, unsurprisingly.  I have mentioned it many times and so -- 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Are you hopeful? 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  I am always hopeful. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Kevin is shaking his head there next to you. 

 

Kevin Goad (Head of Highways and Public Realm, Westminster City Council):  We work very closely 

with TfL on this particular issue and with the pedicab industry and our business partners as well.  We have 

lobbied and lobbied and lobbied.  The DfT was trying to, from memory, slip it into an Aviation Act, but then 

there was the snap election and so it disappeared off the books. 

 

We met the Minister [of State at the Department for Transport], [Rt. Hon] John Hayes [MP], about two weeks 

ago and his civil servants.  We put the case forward and provided the evidence base, similar your own pack.  

We were advised there was a committee looking at licensing and regulation generally and the committee 

chairman had agreed to slip this one onto the end of it for a conversation.  Then we had the pushback about 

parliamentary time, primary legislation and secondary legislation. 

 

We are not hopeful, but we are continuing to work with colleagues and push the DfT for some action. 

 

Page 33



 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Given that and given the Brexit work and the legislative timetable that is going 

through, why have you not pushed to institute a code of practice?  If you agreed, that could be a code of 

practice. 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  That is right.  This was a 

registration scheme.  I am sure that the Mayor’s Office or the London Assembly must be able to introduce it.  If 

they can ban inappropriate pictures on the sides of buses and in Tube stations like the “Beach Body Ready” 

thing, surely they can -- 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  They may not have the power to ban it but, if there is a code of practice, riders will 

have to be licensed, have photo ID, have suggested fares, have vehicle checks, have a badge, and the proviso 

is that you only get into a pedicab if it has a licence attached to it. 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  The problem is that it has 

been all or nothing.  I have been at meetings where officers in both TfL and Westminster have been absolutely 

quaking about the taxis.  They are under enormous pressure from the taxi fraternity.  There have been some 

quite interesting altercations on that.  However, if there was a will, there is definitely a way to introduce 

something that would, I believe, work. 

 

The police were very keen on this, by the way, because it would mean that they could then distinguish 

between people who were on the registration scheme and who had signed the code of conduct and those who 

had not.  That helped them massively in terms of enforcement because they could then use the MPS Act 1829, 

which is what they can use to distrain, and they can quite lawfully do that if they are unable to identify who is 

on a pedicab and the pedicab.  There is an extract from the Counsel opinion in this.  The police were very keen 

on that. 

 

I do not think anyone here has been involved for quite so long and so I am not casting any aspersions on 

anybody here, but I am sure everyone would agree that it is absolutely absurd that this has been going on 

really since 2003.  We started 1998 but 2003 was when the High Court case was won and that was the point it 

started to go nuts.  Prior to that we were saying to Ken Livingstone [former Mayor of London] at the time, 

“Come on.  We need to do something about this”.  There has not been any resistance to doing it but -- 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  You are saying that TfL is running scared? 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  I have been in meetings 

where TfL has been very worried.  Mary Dowdy was not happy about it and Martin Low was under a lot of 

pressure from the taxi drivers.  Look, we know taxi drivers robustly defend their business but between TfL, the 

police and Westminster City Council, to set something up or at least start something would just make so much 

sense because at the moment there is misinformation.  As we have heard today, there is a lot of fear being put 

into people’s minds, but the reality is that nearly all of that can be sorted out quite quickly with something like 

a registration scheme.   

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  Adding to what Chris was saying there, in Munich, for example, there is a 

voluntary registration, a similar thing to the cycle registration scheme - I do not know what it is called - in 

London.  There, all the riders who tick all the boxes, who have their MOT, insurance and registration, can pick 

up this sticker and put it on their bike.  The police can visibly then see, “The rider has everything, it has been 

checked and we will leave them alone and concentrate on the ones that do not have the sticker”.  That is 

voluntary.  It basically just means that if the riders do not want to get hassled or have their time wasted, they 

have the sticker.  It saves everybody time.   

Page 34



 

 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  The debate seems to have moved on from where it was a few years ago when 

people were talking about banning.  Ros, your organisation at that stage was saying, “Ban”.  Is that what your 

organisation is saying now?  Have you moved on? 

 

Ros Morgan (Chief Executive, Heart of London Business Alliance):  Although I said earlier that London 

has its own specific needs, if we do look across the world we should learn lessons.  Banning has not been as 

successful as perhaps people think it is going to be when they set out on that route so instead for us it really is 

about primary legislation.  A [voluntary] licensing approach would be a good interim solution, as long as it is 

just the interim solution.  With the Mayor’s support and TfL’s support joining us, we should continue to 

actively push for legislation in this Parliament.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  I will come back to you, Sean, as well.  Is that code of practice something you are 

prepared to look at, do you think? 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  Absolutely.  The 

thing with voluntary regulation is that it will raise standards in certain areas.  It is the individuals who do not 

sign up to it who are a concern, and then we are back into the inconsistent safety of vehicles.  Fundamentally, I 

agree with Ros.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  The alternative is doing nothing, is it not? 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  Absolutely.  It is a 

step in the right direction but, really, we would agree with the primary legislation/regulation route.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  I have two questions.  First, I know the Mayor has asked, for example, for private 

hire vehicles to have a limit on the number of licences that are issued because of congestion concerns.  Is that 

something you would support on pedicabs?  Given that they tend to work in a very small area, should they be 

issued with X number of licenses if a scheme does come into place?   

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  Based on experience, I can see generally there is a high turnover.  A lot of 

people come in for work in the summer, maybe seasonally, and so limiting it does not really make sense.  How 

it works in Germany is that they get a trader’s licence and they can work then anywhere in Germany.  That 

seems to work.  The numbers do not seem to shoot up or go down, they seem to be maintained, and I would 

say you could put that down to market forces.  It is similar to how it works in London.  When the economy was 

great there were a lot more bikes, a few years ago.  Now there are a lot less.  In that way, the economy 

self-regulates, like it does in any market.   

 

In places where they have set limits on the number of licences, like in Amsterdam, it sets the system up for 

abuse by the companies or the people who issue the licences.  For example, they would issue them to a set 

number of companies and the companies can then charge astronomical prices to rent a bike because they hold 

the monopoly on the business, basically.  You have to be very careful about any kind of restriction because, 

like I say, it is very seasonal or short-term.  People may do it for a couple of years.  It is self-regulated for the 

most part.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Sean, do you have any comment on that? 

 

Sean Conroy (Senior Policing and Partnerships Manager, Transport for London):  It would be useful 

to know - we have all said 400 - exactly how many vehicles we are talking about first before we start talking 

Page 35



 

 

about limiting numbers.  I take your point about it being seasonal, but it would be good to know total numbers 

before we even think about setting a limit.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  My final question is about accessibility.  We pride ourselves in London on being a 

very accessible city on the whole for people have mobility problems or disabilities.  Is there anything on the 

horizon with pedicabs that would make them more accessible? 

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  Certainly there is.  There are active groups who have campaigned both in 

Denmark and Germany at the moment.  Denmark was the first.  It was a state-sponsored scheme where you 

have pedicabs picking up people who are maybe disabled or have mobility problems.  They may be visiting 

them in their nursing homes and then taking them out for the day because they may not be able to get into a 

cab.  That has been operating in Germany as well for the last year or two.  There is definitely scope there for 

that kind of co-operation between the state and pedicabs because if you are an old person getting a bit of 

fresh air and a bit of sunlight, being out and about and seeing the city when you normally could not because 

you are not able to cycle any more, you can see it brings a lot of pleasure to a lot of people.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Could you regulate to have an accessible pedicab? 

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  Most definitely.  In Denmark, they have a very low entry to the pedicab, a 

low step, so there is no problem getting in.  You can pretty much just fall in.  Then there are other ones that 

have steps but generally the ones they use for the mobility purposes are easily accessible with a very, very 

small step between the floor and the actual seat.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Thank you.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Just a quick point to say that I have had an offer on Twitter from Wes Streeting MP to do 

us a Ten-Minute Rule Bill on pedicabs.   

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Wow, fantastic. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  That sounds very good.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  There we go.   

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  One of my MPs, then.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Indeed.   

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Very good.  Thank you.   

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  One last thing.  All I would 

ask the authorities, having worked with the authorities for a long time, is that when the time does come for 

tabling legislation about pedicabs it would be wonderful if we could be included in that discussion.  One of the 

problems in the past has been that we have been faced with something and we have found out by mistake, or 

by research, that the piece of legislation is fatal because of this.   

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  It does not work, yes.   

 

Page 36



 

 

Chris Smallwood (Spokesperson, London Pedicab Operators Association):  It has to be something that 

works.  We would be very happy to work with TfL, Westminster and the DfT - the police are very important as 

well - to get something that is going to be effective.  That is what everyone wants. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  You are right.  The worst thing we could do is have legislation that just does 

not work.   

 

Michael Faye (Pedicab Rider):  I just wanted to add that there is already a scheme here in London.  A 

couple of riders have informally organised something with Great Ormond Street [Hospital] and they take 

children out.  I can put you in touch with the rider if you ever need that, or you could get in contact directly 

with Great Ormond Street and they will be able to point you in the right direction.   

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Yes, that would be useful.  Thank you.   

 

Thank you so much for all your time, guys.  It has been really interesting, very informative and very useful 

having the guys from the pedicab industry here.  Your knowledge of other cities has been invaluable.  Thanks 

also to the different authorities, Ros [Morgan], Kevin [Goad] and Sean [Conroy].  I appreciate all your help.  

Thank you very much indeed.   

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 38



 

 

Appendix 2 

 
Transport Committee – Wednesday, 6 December 2017 

 
Transcript of Agenda Item 8 – Cycling Infrastructure 

 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  It now gives me great pleasure to welcome Andrew [Gilligan], a man I worked 

with a few years ago when he was the Cycling Czar.  He is not any more.  His title is ‘Cycling Czar emeritus’ or 

something, in the Latin.  We are now going to do a section on all sorts of things to do with cycling.  Thank you 

very much for coming along.   

 

I am going to kick off with the first question and it goes like this.  You have been critical of recent delays in 

getting cycling infrastructure built.  What do you think has gone wrong? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  It is weak political leadership.  The key condition for 

cycling improvements to happen is strong political leadership.  We have seen that in the Mini-Hollands in 

Waltham Forest and in Enfield, which are the only schemes to have seen anything really happening on the 

ground in the last 19 months.  We have not seen that from City Hall.  There does not seem to be any real 

willingness to make decisions that significantly alter the status quo on the roads.   

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Secondly, is borough capacity still a problem for delivering schemes and what 

are your views on plans for Cycle Superhighway (CS) 4 and CS9? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  Broadly, borough capacity was always the most serious 

problem we faced.  Not very many boroughs are both willing and capable.  Some boroughs were willing but not 

capable.  Some were capable but not willing.  Only about five or six of the 33 [boroughs] were both.  It is very 

noticeable that in the borough-led schemes, with the exception of the Mini-Holland boroughs, almost nothing 

has been achieved.   

 

In the Quietways programme, for instance, Transport for London (TfL) said there were supposed to be seven 

routes complete by 2017.  We have three weeks to go now and only one route is complete.  Some routes have 

not even started.  Most of the meaningful improvements proposed under the Quietways programme appear to 

have been dropped, things like the segregated lane on South Lambeth Road, a ramp being installed on a 

bridge that had steps in the Olympic Park, filtering in Hackney, filtering in Southwark and filtering in Lambeth.  

They have all been dropped.  That is partly due to a lack of leadership in City Hall and it is also partly due to a 

lack of real political will in most boroughs.   

 

The Quietways programme was always the one I was most worried about when I was Cycling Commissioner, but 

it is even more worrying now.  It essentially seems to be more or less moribund.  If you look at the TfL 

Quietway consultation website, there has not been a borough-led Quietway consultation on any scheme since 

February and there are no active consultations at the moment.  It is difficult to know what is happening, but it 

does not look like very much.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  I was just going to say that you have publicly praised CS4, have you not? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  I praised CS9.  That is the only proposal of the seven or 

eight put forward since the election that has the potential to deliver anything serious for cycling.  It is a good 

scheme.  What we have seen since the election is a number of proposals.  We have seen proposals at 

Page 39



 

 

Camberwell Green and we have seen proposals at Fiveways in Croydon that basically make no change 

whatever, as far as I can see, to the status quo, maybe slightly prettifying the pavement.  We have seen 

proposals at Lambeth Bridge and Waterloo IMAX that have benefits and disbenefits for cyclists.  At Lambeth 

Bridge the benefits slightly outweigh the disbenefits.  At Waterloo, it is the other way around.  We are seeing a 

quite significant narrowing of the road at Waterloo.  We are seeing cyclists brought into pretty dangerous 

movements there under the new proposals.  We have seen two superhighway proposals and, as I say, CS9 is the 

only one really that meets the standards of the previous administration and it is the only one that has not been 

watered down from the proposals we were working on.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  I am going to come to one of the previous administration’s ones in a minute.  You are in 

favour of CS9.  What is your position on the backlash against the proposed route through Chiswick?  What is 

your view on that? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  My view is that a backlash is inevitable whenever a 

meaningful scheme is proposed.  Cycling schemes nearly always have substantial majority support.  We found 

in our schemes 60% support for the least popular, which was CS11, and 85% or 90% support for the most 

popular, which were the East-West and North-South.  We did find that cycling schemes always create a lot of 

noise, but we also found that noise was not the same as numbers when the results came back of consultations 

and, in a few cases, independent opinion polls.  We found that the opponents were in a small minority.  I hope 

that will be the case here as well.  It is interesting, the level of backlash that there has been against CS9.  It is a 

sign that it is a good scheme because it does make a change to the status quo.  The reason why -- 

 

Tom Copley AM:  It is interesting that you think a good scheme has had a lot of backlash.   

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  That is not the definition of a good scheme but it is the 

nearly inevitable consequence of a good scheme.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  You seem to be saying that the definition of a good scheme is that it creates a lot of -- 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  No, I just said that it is not the definition of a good 

scheme.  It is the inevitable consequence of a good scheme.  Any change to the status quo, as I said, is going 

to produce opposition but our experience with the East-West and North-South Superhighways and all the 

others was that the opposition tended to be a pretty small minority.  How this administration has dealt with the 

likelihood of backlash is mostly by not proposing anything meaningful.  That pretty much avoids it.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  You acknowledge therefore that making progress on schemes like this is difficult? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  Yes, absolutely, but it is possible with political will, 

which is what is lacking at the moment here.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Also it demonstrates how important it is to get things right, which brings me to CS1.  Why 

did you sign off on CS1 when it clearly was not up to standard, particularly around Seven Sisters?  You have 

this whole area where the Cycle Superhighway goes onto a very busy pavement.   

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  It was a compromise, inevitably.  It was assessed as the 

quickest and most convenient route parallel to the A10.  Cycling along the parallel streets beside the A10 was 

faster than any scheme we could have put in on the A10 because there were fewer traffic lights.  The proposals 

included substantial changes, some of which have not been implemented, unfortunately, under the new 

administration.  It is one of the schemes that has not been finished under the new administration.   

Page 40



 

 

 

Tom Copley AM:  It is one where the proposals were not right in the first place.  Do you think this 

demonstrates the importance of taking the time to listen to people and get these schemes right, rather than 

having to make changes later on? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  On the whole, the complaint about our schemes was 

not of the nature of the one you have made.  The complaint about our schemes was that they were too good, 

in a sense, that they gave too much to cyclists and took too much road space away from motorists.  Certainly 

there was no opposition to CS1 from the road lobby.  There was substantial opposition, if you remember, to 

the East-West, North-South, CS11 and CS2, and those are very good schemes.   

 

The lesson for me is that you need to consult and you need to build as much consensus as possible but you 

need to recognise too that for some people, for some opponents, you are never going to be able to persuade 

them.  You cannot achieve unanimity on schemes.  In the end, you have to decide.  Our most sophisticated 

opponents were not frontal.  Their main weapon was the filibuster.  They would give us the impression that 

they might be able to be won over if we had a longer consultation or we did this, that and the other, but we 

learned in the end that no consultation could ever be long enough.  We had very substantial periods of 

consultation but for a lot of people, no consultation could ever be long enough.  You have to consult, you 

have to build as much consensus as possible, but in the end, you have to decide.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  As you have acknowledged, this is a difficult process.   

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  Yes, but I just do not feel much progress is being made 

on it.  We left the new administration with nine TfL-led schemes designed up and publicly consulted on, all of 

them approved with large majorities and public consultation.  As I say, the smallest was 60%.  Of those nine, all 

came to a halt for the first nine months.  Then at the beginning of this year, one restarted.  Then another one 

was restarted during the year and then a third one - the North-South superhighway extension, I think - has 

restarted about three weeks ago.  The other six have either been cancelled or remain in limbo.  We have not 

seen any progress on some major schemes.  We have not yet, for instance, had a decision on CS11. It is a 

relatively modest scheme that involves the closure of some gates to a park but 21 months after the 

consultation closed the Mayor still has not made a decision on it.  That is a symptom of the general lack of 

energy that there is in the programme now.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  It is interesting hearing your perspective that in boroughs 

there are still challenges.  You are saying it is political leadership but is there not a challenge that cycling still is 

not in TfL’s DNA?  It is just something on the side, an add-on, “We ought to think about that”.  How can the 

new Cycling and Walking Commissioner try to change that whole approach within TfL? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  To work with as a bureaucracy, TfL was a lot better 

than, for instance, Whitehall.  They were quite responsive when they realised it was something the Mayor 

actually wanted to do.  They produced some fantastic schemes and they did them really well.  The schemes we 

delivered on the road are some of the best or perhaps the best in Britain.  You are right that if they do not 

think there is much political commitment and interest then they lose interest.  There has been a relaxation.   

 

There is also always constant pressure to do things badly, constant pressure to compromise in ways that make 

schemes worth less than they should be or worth nothing, and part of the Cycling Commissioner’s job - part of 

my job when I was Cycling Commissioner - is to prevent that.  Again, I was quite successful in preventing quite 

a lot of that.  Not everything.  Not everything we did was perfect.  That is what needs to happen now.  

Ultimately, if a strong enough political steer is given from the Mayor, TfL will do it.  That was my experience.  

Page 41



 

 

They sometimes took their time to come around and you have to have arguments sometimes but on the whole 

they will do it.  They produced some pretty good schemes.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  They will only do it if there is a strong political steer?  It is not 

built into how they approach everything? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  If you cut TfL open you will probably find a bus in its 

heart, or an Underground train possibly but I think a bus.  A lot of people took the view that, for instance, a 

rise in the number of people using buses is automatically a good thing and a declining number of people using 

buses is automatically a bad thing.  Of course, it is a bad thing if they are using cars instead, but it is not a bad 

thing if they are using bicycles instead because it is more sustainable, it is cheaper, it is better for them and all 

that kind of thing.  That was part of the mentality we had to counter at TfL.  As I say, I had my moments with 

them, but I was thrilled with the quality of the work they did and what they produced on the ground.  It could 

not have happened without the vast commitment of dozens - at one point hundreds - of people in TfL who 

really did work hard.  It is perfectly possible.  TfL will do what the Mayor wants. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  The current Mayor’s agenda is around cycling and walking, the 

Healthy Streets programme that he wants throughout.  Do you think they are going to have an uphill challenge 

trying to get that throughout every aspect of TfL? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  I can see a couple of problems with Healthy Streets.  It 

is actually cycling, walking and buses.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  And motorcycles as well.   

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  Yes.  Buses seem to have made an entry to Healthy 

Streets.  I am not quite sure how buses are a healthy mode of transport, really.  If you look at, say, Kilburn High 

Road or something, which is full of not-very-full buses pumping out lots of rather nasty exhaust fumes, it does 

not look particularly healthy to me.  Buses are in there in Healthy Streets.   

 

I am concerned about three things.  First, the potential for conflict between some of the healthy or allegedly 

healthy modes themselves.  Certainly, in my time, regular attempts were made to stop cycling schemes on the 

grounds that they caused delay to bus passengers.  Our approach was to try to balance that rather than to say 

that cycling schemes cannot happen.  There is not even complete unity of interest between cycling and 

walking, as we have seen on Oxford Street, for instance, and my worry about Healthy Streets is that where the 

interests of cycling and walking are deemed to conflict then the decision will come down against cycling, as it 

has in Oxford Street.   

 

Healthy Streets declared objectives are to reduce dependence on motorised transport, to clean up the 

environment and to increase people’s health.  There is a very clearly successful policy instrument in cycling that 

does those things, the Cycle Superhighway.  We have seen huge rises in the number of people cycling.  We 

have seen a big modal shift in cycling.  We have seen significant increases in the capacity of roads, given those 

cycle lanes.  The overall capacity, of course, not the capacity for motor vehicles but the capacity for moving 

people.   

 

We have a policy instrument in cycling with a proven record, both here and abroad, of swiftly and massively 

increasing the number of journeys made by healthy and sustainable modes.  I cannot think of any equivalent 

for walking that could have the same effect so quickly.  The policy instruments available - things like wider 

pavements, ease of pedestrian crossings and lower-traffic streets - are smaller and more incremental.  They do 

Page 42



 

 

not have the same game-changing potential that a superhighway has for cyclists.  That is also a concern of 

mine about Healthy Streets, but perhaps that is the point.  Perhaps the fact that walking infrastructure does 

not represent so big a change to the status quo is what makes it attractive to the Mayor.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Just to expand on a point you have made there, seeking to expand walking and cycling, 

you seem to be suggesting that you could be expanding walking at the cost of cycling.  Is that your position? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  What we tried to do was balance the interests of the 

two groups.  There were very significant benefits for walking and pedestrians in all of our schemes.  In the 

East-West superhighway, for instance, there were 23 new pedestrian crossings and there were improvements to 

dozens of others meaning you did not have to wait in the middle of the road anymore, you could cross in one 

go.  I cannot remember the exact figure but there was a very substantial amount of new pedestrian space as 

well.  We tried to balance improvements for walking and cycling.  We did not see it as a contest between the 

two.   

 

The same approach could have been adopted by the current administration in Oxford Street, for instance.  

Oxford Street is a wide street.  There is enough room there, I think, for a cycle track as well as more than ample 

pedestrian space, but it has been decided not to have a cycle track.  The interests of cycling have been barely 

considered in the consultation.  They get three sentences.  There is a promise of a route on parallel streets but 

they cannot even say which streets it is going to be on, let alone what kind of a route it is going to be.  My 

understanding is that it is going to be the existing London Cycle Network route in New Cavendish Street, which 

is about half a mile north of Oxford Street and is not a realistic alternative to Oxford Street at all.  That is my 

concern.  It is possible to balance the two, which we did quite successfully, certainly with the approval of most 

pedestrians’ groups.  I am not sure that balance is being achieved in Healthy Streets at the moment.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  In an earlier session I asked a question about why Oxford Street had not considered the 

use of pedicab and cycle routes in general.  While I might agree with your position, do you think that is the 

case because businesses are less interested in cycle lanes?  Cycling is a serious part of our infrastructure for 

travel but Oxford Street’s focus is business.   

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  In Oxford Street, the New West End Company’s vision 

of London is basically an outdoor shopping mall.  It is basically Westfield without a roof on.  I do not think that 

is all there is to London.  It is not just a retail centre.  It is a place for all sorts of people to do all sorts of things.  

It is interesting in terms of businesses that there is quite a lot of business opposition to Oxford Street.  If you 

look at the business responses to the first consultation, the in-principle consultation done earlier this year or 

last year, the majority of businesses around Oxford Street are against pedestrianisation.  That is not necessarily 

because they support cycling, of course, but it does show it is not quite as clear-cut as everyone thinks.   

 

Traditionally, business has been quite hostile to cycling.  We saw a lot of opposition from businesses in 

Waltham Forest to the Mini-Holland schemes we did there.  That opposition has substantially vanished, not 

entirely but very substantially vanished, as they now see that what happened in Waltham Forest is what 

happened everywhere, that cycling infrastructure has been improved.  It is dramatically good for business.  We 

have seen, for the first time in years, there are no vacant shops on Orford Road, which was one of the first 

areas that we did as part of the Mini-Holland scheme in Walthamstow.  We have seen the business-owner who 

led the opposition to the Mini-Holland scheme, whom I last saw carrying a golden coffin at the opening of the 

Mini-Holland in 2015, opening a pavement café because of the improved environment we have in Orford Road 

now.  Cycling is extremely good for business.  When we put schemes in, people see that.   

Page 43



 

 

 

There was another scheme in Herne Hill, not one of ours, a very controversial semi-pedestrianisation of that 

road in front of the station, if you know that, removing through traffic from it.  There was massive controversy 

over that.  All the businesses were up in arms against it.  Now you go on the website for the Herne Hill Society 

and you find something saying, “We cannot imagine why we opposed it.  It has transformed Herne Hill”.  You 

have to make the case by doing and they are not doing anything.  That is the problem.  Once you make the 

case by doing, once you actually do it, people see what a good thing, what a profoundly good thing, what a 

wonderful thing for our city it is.  You just have to do it.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Just a very last question.  Do you think the Mayor has the right idea around walking and 

cycling but is using the wrong -- 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  He says the right things but I do not see any evidence 

at all, none, of the will to put words into action.  The only test that matters is action on the ground.  There 

have been lots of promises and statements about encouraging cycling.  There has been next to no action.  

Healthy Streets has a couple of unresolved contradictions in it that need to be resolved and that is another 

thing I am concerned about.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Thank you, Chair.  Thank you.   

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  All right, moving on to Quietways now.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  In terms of words and actions, is the Mayor not doubling the cycling budget? 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  But has he spent it? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  If you are not putting forward any schemes to spend 

the money on, you are not doubling the budget at all.  All you are doing is announcing that you are doubling 

it.  So far, no schemes have been put forward to spend the money on.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  On Quietways, you did not finish a single Quietway when you were Cycling Commissioner.  

In fact, you described the Quietways programme on your watch as a failure.  Earlier you talked about the need 

for strong political leadership.  Where was the strong political leadership there, on your watch? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  The difficulty with the Quietways programme was that 

it runs almost entirely on borough roads and, as I said before, most of the boroughs lack the political 

leadership necessary.  A handful did not.  We did in fact deliver one Quietway route, Quietway 1, and we had 

the political leadership necessary there from the boroughs concerned, but it was quite difficult to get the 

boroughs to do anything serious on their roads.  Even a proposal for filtering or removing a bit of parking could 

be derailed by a handful of objections from residents and that is what tended to happen.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  That was your role as Commissioner, to bring these actors together and get results.   

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  We managed that on the Mini-Hollands, we managed it 

on the Superhighways, we managed it on the junctions, we managed it on lorries and we managed it to a little 

extent on Quietways but nothing like the extent I wanted.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  How successful do you think the two Quietways that are open have been? 

 

Page 44



 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  Quietway 1 is pretty good.  It is filtered.  In fact, it is 

one I use regularly itself.  It goes to Greenwich, where I live.  I came on it this morning.  It seemed pretty busy.  

It is not perfect.  There are still areas that should have been done and have not and it is still not perfectly 

signposted, in my view, but it works, broadly, very well and it shows what the Quietways could be.   

 

Quietway 2 - you are referring to the one that goes from Bloomsbury to Walthamstow - is really no more than 

a rebranding of an existing London Cycle Network route.  All they have done is taken down the London Cycle 

Network signs and put up Quietway signs and called it a new route.  There are no significant changes, as far as 

I can see, and as I said, the changes that we were proposing, including filtering in Hackney, Middleton Road 

and around London Fields, were dropped by Hackney Council.  That happened after my time but in the end, it 

is up to the boroughs.  They are their roads.  Having said that, we probably could have got a bit more done on 

the Quietways than has happened since. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  What about good practice from other cities, either in the UK or internationally?  What can 

we learn when it comes to the design and operation of things like the Quietways? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  There is a lot to learn from good practice in other cities 

in Europe.  The approach there is not really a Quietway approach.  My feeling about the Quietway programme, 

and I came to this feeling last year, is that it should be cancelled.  It is essentially a waste of money without 

any real political will in most of the boroughs.  We should not try to do things that cannot be done.  The 

money should instead be diverted to that handful of boroughs, those five or six, which have both the capability 

and the willingness to do things.   

 

My feeling is that we should take a lesson from the best practice in continental Europe and proceed mainly 

with routes on main roads.  We should stop trying to do routes on side streets that are never going to happen 

to a serious standard.  We should stop trying to pretend that local councils want to do this and we should just 

concentrate on the main roads where we have more control.  That is what I would have done if I had stayed in 

office.  I would have cancelled the Quietways programme and reallocated the borough money to the handful of 

boroughs that actually want to do something serious, such as the Mini-Holland boroughs, Camden, Hackney 

and a few others.  I would have put more effort into building further routes on main roads.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Is this not partly as well about how the person in your role interacts with the boroughs, as 

in persuading and influencing people in the boroughs? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  If that is the test then clearly progress has been even 

more disappointing since the election than before it.  Literally nothing has happened.  All the proposed 

improvements that we were proceeding with - the segregated track on South Lambeth Road, the so-called H10 

bridge at Hackney Wick and the ramping of that, the filtering in Southwark, Lambeth and Croydon - have 

gone.  Ultimately, we did not have plenipotentiary powers over the roads of Lambeth and Croydon.  We could 

only do as much as the councillors in Lambeth and Croydon were willing to let us do.  That turned out to be 

almost nothing, frankly.  It did not take much to spook them.   

 

The political sensitivity should probably have lessened in the last 18 months or so.  It is fairly clear that Labour 

is going to do fairly well in the local elections coming up.  They do not really need to worry about losing 

control of councils, losing seats or losing votes as much as they perhaps did in our time, but I have not seen 

any great change in the willingness of councils to do anything serious.  We have seen an awful lot of pictures 

of bicycles painted on roads, I am afraid.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  It is a shame we do not have London Councils here to defend themselves. 

Page 45



 

 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you.  Now to look at outer London, Onkar.   

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Thank you.  Andrew, TfL identified that outer London had the greatest potential for 

growth in cycling.  They published an analysis in 2016 that showed that 55% of potential cycle trips were in 

outer London.  Only 5% of potential cycle trips are in outer London currently, compared to 9% in inner London 

and 14% of central London.  Why did the last administration ignore outer London? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  We put a great deal of effort into outer London.  The 

Mini-Hollands programme, as I said, has been very successful.  It has delivered serious cycle infrastructure in 

two of the three boroughs.  Kingston is not doing quite as well but it has still delivered cycle infrastructure on 

the Portsmouth Road, for instance.  It does show what you can do when you have a genuinely committed 

council in Enfield and Waltham Forest with a political leader who is prepared to take the flack and ride through 

it to the sunlit uplands.  We are pretty much there in Walthamstow Village now.  We have been through the 

flack.  Nobody now would go back on what was done.  We are getting there in other parts of Waltham Forest.  

We are seeing a segregated track being installed on Lee Bridge Road as we speak and we are seeing segregated 

tracks on the A105 in Enfield, a scheme that had considerable public opposition but, as it got 60% support in 

the consultation, was pushed through by the determination of the Council’s political leadership there.  

Inasmuch as we are examining the last administration, which I do not suppose we are, we did rather a lot for 

south London.   

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Analysis shows that these trips have not gone up in outer London.  It sounds like, 

listening to you, Andrew, everything that went well was due to the last administration and whatever has gone 

badly is due to the boroughs.  That cannot be right.   

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  Broadly, if you look at what was delivered -- 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  I am asking what was delivered in outer London.  It was not very good.   

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  I disagree strongly with that.  We are seeing some 

spectacularly good schemes being delivered in outer London, in Waltham Forest, in Enfield and to some extent 

in Kingston.  We had a whole series of what were called ‘better junctions’ as well, 33 of those, and several of 

those were in outer London although they seem to have been deleted -- 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Were there any lessons to be learnt from the Mini-Hollands? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  Genuinely, the lesson I take is that any meaningful cycle 

scheme generates opposition.  You have to take account of that opposition, you have to consult, you have to 

be as consensual as you can be, and you have to change schemes where reasonable objections are raised.  

However, in the end you have to decide that this is worth doing, that it will create a better place for everyone 

and the opposition will go away when people will realise that.  That is, indeed, what we have seen in 

Walthamstow, the earliest of the schemes.  The first of the Mini-Holland schemes in Walthamstow opened in 

2015.  We have been through that whole cycle.  We have been through the cycle of big opposition, 

demonstrations and court action.  We have been though the cycle of implementation.  Now we are in the cycle 

of acceptance and liking of the scheme.  As I say, very few people in Walthamstow Village would now want to 

go back to the way it was before. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  What do you think we need to do to increase the amount of cycling journeys in outer 

London? 

Page 46



 

 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  We need to do the same things that have worked so 

well in inner London.  We do need to build segregated routes.  We need to make town centres more hospitable 

for cycling.  There were a number of schemes which we allocated funds for.  We allocated funds for Ealing 

town centre, Twickenham town centre and Wimbledon, not just as part of the Mini-Hollands.  Again, those 

schemes seem to have disappeared from the radar.  I am not clear what has happened to those schemes, but I 

hope they can be revived. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  I do not know what has happened to them, but we certainly know there has not been 

any analysis done of what the impacts of these were.  This is just your comments.  I know TfL has not done any 

critique itself.   

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  There has been analysis of the impacts of the         

Mini-Holland scheme in Walthamstow on buses, which was quite small. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Who was it done by? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  By the council. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  TfL has not done any investigation. 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  There has been analysis of the impact on businesses in 

Walthamstow, which has again been very positive.  There has been analysis of the schemes that we delivered in 

central and inner London by TfL itself, and just last week by an independent panel of experts.  That is all very 

favourable.  The result of the superhighway build, for instance, is a 55% increase in cyclists in the first six 

months alone.  There are significantly raised levels of cycling in central London generally.  Cycling in central 

London has grown by far more than the trend percentage.  It is going to be those forms that part of this 

analysis. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  I understand the focus has been on inner London, I accept that.  The criticism I am 

making is that all the focus has been on inner London and not enough on outer London where the most 

potential is for cycling journeys. 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  We were strongly focused on outer London.  We had a 

whole series of programmes that I have described to you to do that.  Some of those programmes have 

continued and have borne fruit, as I described.  Others appear to have been abandoned by the new 

administration.   

 

Navin Shah AM:  Representing two outer London boroughs and looking across London, I, to be honest, did 

not see much being done to promote cycling in outer London boroughs under your watch.  Mini-Hollands were 

largely purely dependent upon bidding rounds.  If they were, as you say, the right solution for promoting 

cycling in outer London boroughs why were they left to bidding rounds and not really promoted.  Most 

boroughs would welcome a proper strategic approach to cycling initiatives.  Why was it not done? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  If we are examining the record of the past 

administration rather than the record of the current administration as I thought, all I can say is that we did 

allocate substantial amounts of money for any outer London borough that wanted to do anything ambitious.  

Large amounts of money were given to those boroughs, not just the three Mini-Holland boroughs.  Those 

schemes seem to have vanished off the radar.  The interesting question is:  what is happening in outer London 

Page 47



 

 

now?  What is happening in outer London now is really on a par with what is happening in inner and central 

London, which is not very much. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  I disagree with your comment that monies were available.  I know from my own experience 

boroughs have indicated they wanted Mini-Hollands, but the funds were not available.  Given outer London 

boroughs are, and will be, facing unprecedented growth around town centre areas - where you have major 

opportunity areas and densification areas - and in other parts as well there will be a huge amount of housing 

and other regeneration growth.  It is the perfect opportunity, and there is a need, to promote cycling.  You 

heard figures from Onkar as to what the situation is.  What is your message?  What needs doing?  It should 

have started long ago but that has passed.  Let us look to the future.  What is the right approach to promote 

cycling to meet growth projections? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  The Mayor needs to go ahead with the schemes we 

proposed in outer London centres, such as Twickenham, Ealing, Wimbledon and Romford.  I hope he does.  

Ultimately all those schemes depend not just on the willingness of the Mayor but on the willingness of the 

local council to countenance significant changes for safe cycling on their roads which, bluntly, is not always 

there. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  I want to pick up on some of the comments you made earlier about boroughs not 

having capacity.  When you were in charge, did you and TfL think about whether you could add extra capacity 

to boroughs, or was it something where you thought TfL should take more of a role and do more of that in-

house, going into the boroughs themselves? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  By the end of the Quietway programme I concluded we 

need to take control of the Quietways.  The boroughs have to give consent at every stage of the process to 

what is happening on their roads.  However, I did not think a lot of them were capable of delivering it.  The 

essential problem was not capacity.  The essential problem was really will and that most of the boroughs were 

not willing to countenance any significant change to the status quo on their roads.  Until that problem can be 

overcome, as I said to you before, there is not much point in proceeding with the Quietways programme. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  I am going to ask about Mini-Hollands.  I represent Enfield and now have a ‘super-

duper’ cycle highway at the end of my road.  It was very painful whilst it was being built.  It struck me that the 

length of time it took is perhaps something TfL should have more direct control of.  Enfield was extremely 

willing and doing it very well, with lots of opposition.  They are quite new for many councils.  They are 

managing their own contractors, which is quite technical and difficult.  It is that capacity in boroughs I am 

asking about. 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  Enfield has done really well on the Mini-Hollands.  They 

probably had the slowest of the starts of the three Mini-Holland boroughs because there was more opposition 

in Enfield than anywhere else.  However, once they decided to get the bit between their teeth they were really 

good and did it.  We will see the fruits of that.  It has not been finished entirely.  Only sections of it have been 

opened so it is still very new and we are in an earlier stage of the controversy/construction/acceptance curve 

that we have seen in Waltham Forest.  Once we get to the later stages I am sure we will see what we saw in 

Waltham Forest.  I strongly praise the council leadership, particularly Daniel Anderson [Cabinet Member for 

Environment, Enfield Council] who had to put up with a lot more flak over that than I did over anything I was 

responsible for delivering directly. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  He has withstood it.  Originally the Conservative Opposition Councillors as well 

signed the pact and the joint bid.  Then when it started they quickly stopped. 

Page 48



 

 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  That is right; they backed out. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Did you get the feeling that was for political reasons or for genuine concerns? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  I had a lot of conversations with the former 

Conservative Member of Parliament (MP) for Enfield Southgate, David Burrowes, who wanted to make an 

election issue out of this.  It did not work for him and he lost his seat.  That is one of the things I find.  The 

Labour MP for Walthamstow was re-elected with 80% of the vote, the highest ever share of the vote.  These 

things are popular, people want them.  I remember the objectors to the A105 scheme saying it was only going 

to benefit 1% of the population and was massively unpopular.  The consultation result came back 60% in 

favour.  If it had only benefitted 1% of the population, the percentage of people in Enfield who cycled at that 

point, then it would not have had that level of support.  People recognised what it was doing for the whole 

neighbourhood, how it was lifting the whole neighbourhood and how it was making the whole neighbourhood 

better for everyone who went there.  The lesson for me, from the Mini-Holland experience in Enfield and our 

experience in central and inner London, is that you should not be afraid.  These things are popular and you 

should do them. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  They are painful while they are happening. 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  They are painful while they are happening, but they are 

not vote-losers. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  For the record the spending was significantly more in inner London than outer 

London, but I am not going to beat you up about that.  It was £74 million in inner London, £18 million on the 

Mini-Hollands and £9 million spent between the two.   

 

While we are still on outer London and this issue of opposition, seeing the opposition the new Mayor is 

experiencing in Chiswick - people literally praying not to have a Cycle Superhighway - do you think there is 

something that could be done differently with the messaging about these kinds of changes to our streets that 

you would do differently if you were in the position you were in now? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  At the beginning the new administration did suggest 

there was something wrong with the messaging we had and that was why we had the opposition we did.  They 

must have come to realise with Chiswick that the opposition is generated by meaningful change.  It is 

ultimately what you do, not how you sell it, which creates the opposition.  You could call it anything you 

wanted.  You could sugar coat it as much as you wanted but there will always be people who will be against 

removing road space from cars and giving it to pedestrians and cyclists, however you dress it up.  We did quite 

well to overcome some of the opposition we had.  We had a whole series of techniques that, in retrospect, 

seemed to work quite well. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Such as? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  We enlisted lots of business, for instance, to support 

the East-West and North-South Superhighways.  Whenever somebody produced a business to oppose it we 

produced three or four to support it.  That was done as much by an independent group called CyclingWorks as 

us and the fantastic work they did.  We commissioned a professional opinion poll by YouGov to show they 

were popular.  That took a lot of wind out of the opposition sails.  We did consult very extensively.  We had a 

roughly two-year period of consultation with stakeholders, local authorities, the Royal Parks and people like 

Page 49



 

 

that, followed by a ten-and-a-half-week public consultation.  That is significantly longer - almost double - the 

length of the public consultation they have had on CS9, for instance.  Therefore, if anything, the new 

administration has been less consultative than we were on controversial schemes.   

 

After the consultation, we did take account of reasonable objections.  For instance, some people objected that 

the delays induced by the scheme on the highway coming into Tower Hill in the morning were too great.  We 

agreed with that and we changed the scheme to reduce those delays.  In the end, the proof of the pudding is 

in the delivery.  We did deliver quite a large number of quite good schemes.  The new administration has to 

realise that there is no way of making meaningful change to the status quo on the roads and making that 

acceptable to everyone.  It will nearly always, as we have found, have significant majority support, but it will 

never have unanimous support and it will never be unopposed.  Opposition is not something to be feared; it is 

absolutely inevitable.  There are a whole series of ways you can overcome it.   

 

We did a couple of other things, just to recap very quickly on what we did.  We looked at the schemes in a 

very, very granular way.  For instance, when we had removed parking on the road itself we looked at whether 

we could re-provide it around the corner.  We looked at how busses would work when there was going to be a 

delay for busses caused by that particular scheme.  We looked at what we could do further down the route to 

mitigate that, put in a new bus lane or something to speed it up there, even if it slowed down where it hit the 

superhighway; that kind of thing.  We did a huge amount of really quite granular work looking in detail at 

objections that were raised on every scheme.  That again helped us achieve what we achieved, which was quite 

substantial. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Do you think there is anything that the current administration should be doing to get 

TfL moving faster, or do you think it is political delay? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  Ultimately you have to have a Mayor who believes in 

cycling and who wants to do it.  I do not see any evidence that the current Mayor really does.  He wants to talk 

about it, but he does not want to do it.  He does not want to make any decisions that might upset anybody.   

 

We see that the CS11 is the classic case in point.  That went out to consultation in February 2016 and closed 

on 20 March 2016, 21 months ago, nearly.  It came back with 62% supporting the consultation, but it was 

strongly opposed by a campaign that, as the consultation shows, represented only a fairly small number of 

people.  Since that time, for the whole of the 21 months, the Mayor has declined to make a decision on even 

some relatively modest things.  It basically consists of a gyratory scheme, which he has approved, at Swiss 

Cottage, and then closing some gates into Regent’s Park to stop it being a rat-run for traffic, and a couple of 

bits of segregation in Portland Place.  That is pretty much all, but we still have not had -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  You are saying, “Make decisions”? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  Make decisions.  Just get on and do it.  The slogan of 

the Walking and Cycling Commissioner’s previous employer was, “Just do it”.  “Make the case by doing.”  That 

is what Janette Sadik-Khan, [former] Transport Commissioner in New York, also said.  “Make the case by 

doing.”  The more you build these things the more you will show that the objections are unfounded and they 

are unequivocally good things for London. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I am going to move us on to targets because that is one way that we can drive change 

forward.  The Mayor’s Transport Strategy is emphasising a healthy-streets approach.  There is a whole checklist 

that they go through, and what is interesting is that there are critical issues, which are safety issues, where a 

street cannot pass the healthy-streets check unless they pass those critical safety issues.  That seems like a 

Page 50



 

 

positive thing.  It also takes on board the needs of pedestrians as well as cyclists, whereas the previous 

checklists were entirely around cycling.   

 

The Mayor has several targets.  There is one where he wants 80% of journeys to be made by walking, cycling 

and public transport by 2041, which is pretty ambitious.  There is going to have to be a lot of people getting 

out of their cars, a lot more people cycling, and a lot more people using public transport, and walking, and 

doing each of those three different activities.  How helpful do you think the Mayor’s proposed target of 70% 

of people living within 400 metres of a safe, high-quality cycle route by 2041 is? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  Almost entirely unhelpful.  It is so far away he cannot 

be held to account for that.  He is not going to be Mayor in 2041.  On the whole we did not in fact set targets, 

but if you are going to set targets they should be crunchy targets that you can achieve and be held 

accountable for during your mayoralty.  Actually, the Mayor did set a target in his election manifesto; he 

promised to treble the length of segregated lanes, that is, to 36 miles.  We built 12 miles.  That seems like a 

target that he might have some chance, or he might have had some chance of meeting, and that is what he 

said before the election.  If you are going to set targets, set really quite specific targets that you can do in your 

own time.  Promising something in 2041 is like Clement Attlee [former British Prime Minister] or someone 

turning up having won the 1945 election and saying, “I am definitely going to give you a National Health 

Service by 1970”.  Just get on and do it. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  What about mode-share targets?  Do you think there should be targets around how 

many people are cycling and how many people are walking? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  On the whole, no.  Again, we did not have a         

mode-share target because I thought it was inevitably a bit arbitrary.  How do you arrive at it?  4% or 5%?  

Why 4%?  Why not 4.5%?  Why not 5%?  It is also a moving target, given how the use of other modes is 

increasing.  I would not have a mode-share target.  As I said, I would have a target saying, “Build X amount by 

year X”.  Again, we are running out of time to build anything by the end of this term, but maybe if he is re-

elected, “Build X amount by 2024”. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  That works for linear routes, and linear routes are really useful and important, in 

particular the ones that go right out into outer London.  For something like Mini-Holland, which is absolutely 

transformative on an area-wide level, it does not really fit with a “build X meters of cycle lane per year” type of 

target. 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  You can do.  You could, for instance, say, “We will filter 

X number of roads”, or, “We will make X number of shopping areas better”, or, “We will see X new retail 

businesses open thanks to this”.  In a much smaller area like a borough it might be possible to come up with a 

numerical target.  “We will see X-thousand people walking and cycling.  More people walking and cycling by 

year X”, but the years need to be soon.  The years need to be within a term for which you can be held 

accountable.  Anything with a timescale of -- what is it, 30 years nearly? 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Twenty-something. 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  24 years, is it not?  Anything with a timetable of 24 

years in the future is worthless. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you. 

 

Page 51



 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  I want to just get back to cycle parking.  Under this Committee I did a report about 

eight years ago and I found that safety of cycling on the roads was an issue and a barrier for people, but 

actually having somewhere secure to park and secure your cycle was one of the major barriers as well.  From 

your time can you say whether TfL are good or not at forecasting and addressing the need for cycle parking in 

London? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  We had a programme to deliver 80,000 cycle parking 

spaces, and we delivered about 74,000; therefore, we succeeded in that.  I still had some concerns with that, 

whether they were being delivered in the right places.  You will often see -- again, this is mostly down to the 

boroughs.  It is their streets it has to be done on; they have to agree where to put this new parking.  You do 

often see cycle stands put in places where nobody is using them.  Anyone who cycles Quietway 1 knows there 

is a bit by South Bermondsey Station where three or four cycle stands have been plonked in the middle of a 

path, in the middle of absolutely nowhere, next to absolutely nothing.  I have never seen a single bike ever 

attached to any of those stands any time I have cycled past.  Nonetheless they no doubt fulfil some 

bureaucrat’s quota.  They go towards our 80,000 cycle parking spaces.   

 

There is a severe shortage of cycle-parking spaces still in the West End and at railway stations.  That is 

something that needed to be addressed.  I hope the new Crossrail stations will have adequate cycle parking.  

We certainly did quite a lot of work with Crossrail to make sure that is the case.  I am not across where that has 

got to now. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  I do not know whether you have, but in the just recently published London Plan the 

Mayor set out minimum space standards for cycle parking, which look pretty ambitious. 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  Parking developments.  No, they are pretty good.  Yes.  

That and CS9 are roughly the only good things he has done.  I just hope it is delivered.  Again, it is important 

to have somewhere to park where you live, but having somewhere to park where you go at the other end is 

important as well. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Yes.  Looking at the London Plan, it does seem to be very specific on business or 

leisure use as to how many spaces you can have.  Of course, the London Plan is there and local authorities will 

have to be in conformity with that.  That is quite a step forward.  Can I ask: what lessons did you learn about 

cycle parking in people’s homes?  That is another thing that my report highlighted, actually.  When we are 

talking about increasing density of living in London within particular local authorities and estates the chance 

that people have front or back gardens to keep cycles and cycle lockers is low.  How you can purpose-build 

developments to cater for this? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  That is right; lots of people do not have room to keep 

their bikes at home anymore, because their homes are smaller and their homes are more crowded.  We 

recognise that, and we funded councils to do cycle lockers, which you do see proliferating now on the streets, 

and I see them everywhere now.  Again, that is part of our 80,000 spaces and that was a success of our policy.  

That is something that councils can actually do quite easily, although even there sometimes they are reluctant 

to take away even a single parking space.  On the whole they can kind of scrunch up their courage to do that. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  The Mayor controls TfL stations; therefore, he has some direct control as to what 

happens in those car parks or in immediate locations.  Can I ask: with National Rail did you find that they were 

willing to look at cycle parking or did they look at it as taking away car -- 

 

Page 52



 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  No, not especially.  We had the common experience of 

everyone who has any dealings with the railways.  There is something in the railway DNA that requires them to 

make simple things complicated.  We spent literally years talking to them about using completely unused space 

under Waterloo Station for a massive cycle hub, which would have been brilliant.  There is nothing going on 

under Waterloo Station.  It used to be the Eurostar catering area, but it has not been the Eurostar catering area 

for about 20 years.  I took a walk around with a helpful gentleman in a hardhat, and there are enormous 

amounts of space that are not being touched.  We had endless meetings, and endless discussions, and never 

got anywhere.  That was typical of our interactions with Network Rail and the railways generally. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  That is an area that the Mayor needs to push on.  Yes. 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  It could be a relatively quick win, but it involves the 

railways, where nothing is quick. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Fine.  Are you aware of any good practice from other UK or international cities 

about cycle parking that we should be looking at here? 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  I am doing a report for the National Infrastructure 

Commission on Oxford and Cambridge.  Cambridge has a rather excellent cycle parking facility at its station, 

the largest in the UK; it is almost Dutch, and multi storeys.  It is basically a multi-storey car park for bikes, and 

it is really good.  We could probably do with a few of those here.   

 

Again, I had a long discussion, I remember, with Network Rail and Bexley Council about creating something 

similar, on a slightly smaller scale but similar, at Abbey Wood to serve the Crossrail Station there and to allow 

people who lived in Thamesmead to cycle to the station instead of having to wait for a bus.  Thamesmead 

actually has quite a good network of cycle paths.  Paradoxically, if you go there and cycle round it is actually 

quite good internally.  It is a bit more difficult to get across [Harrow] Manor Way to get to the station, but 

those things could be fixed.  Again, little or no progress has been made on that, I am afraid.  It came across the 

usual railway problems. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Great.  Thank you very much indeed. 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  Thank you. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  We appreciate your time. 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  I will send you a list of the schemes that should have 

happened and have not, if I may. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Yes, that would be helpful. 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  Thank you. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you very much.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Your report on Oxford and Cambridge would be useful as well. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Yes, if we can get that. 

 

Page 53



 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  It will be out pretty soon.  It has been done. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  If you do not mind sharing that, we would be grateful. 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  It is just being shared with all the stakeholders this 

week. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Yes.  Thank you. 

 

Andrew Gilligan (Former Cycling Commissioner):  Thank you.  Thank you very much. 

Page 54



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 10 January 2018 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the actions arising from previous meetings of the Transport Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendation  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous 

meetings of the Committee. 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 6 December 2017  

Item Topic Status For Action by 

5. 

 

 

 

 

 

7. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Responses to Reports on Bus Services 

Authority was delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members, to agree a further response to TfL on 

the Driven to distraction: Making London’s buses safer 

report and the London’s bus network report. 

 

Pedicabs 

Transport for London to provide the Committee with: 

 Pedicab collision data for 2016 and 2017; and 

 Data on the number of pedicab riders who have 

been issued with a community protection notice. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Completed. The 

response is set out at 

Agenda item 5. 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing (the 

Chairman wrote to 

guests on 13 

December 2017 to 

request this 

information be 

submitted to the 

Committee) 

 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

 

 

 

 

Sean Conroy, 

TfL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55

Agenda Item 4



        

Item Topic Status For Action by 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

London Pedicab Operators Association to provide the 

Committee with: 
 

 The number of pedicab riders who are also members 

of the London Pedicab Operators Association who 

have undertaken the National Cycling Standard Level 

3 and a pedicab or work bike module; and 

 Further details on the publicly available specification 

standard for pedicabs, and the standard that was 

agreed with TfL previously along with the proposed 

registration scheme agreed with TfL and 

Westminster City Council. 

 

Michael Faye, Pedicab Rider, agreed to provide the 

Committee with further information on pedicabs riders 

volunteering with Great Ormand Street Hospital to 

provide excursions to patients. 

 

Cycling Infrastructure 

The former Cycling Commissioner agreed to provide the 

Committee with the following: 

 The report for the National Infrastructure 

Commissioner on cycling once it has been finalised; 

and 

 A list of potential cycling schemes yet to be 

undertaken by the current administration. 

Proposals for a 

registration scheme for 

pedicabs and 

corresponding 

information at 

Appendices 1a, b 

and c. Details on a BSI 

Standard have not yet 

been received by the 

Committee.  

 

 

 

  

 

 

Ongoing 

The second part of this 

request is attached at 

Appendix 2. The 

report of the NIC has 

yet to be published.  

Chris 

Smallwood, 

London Pedicab 

Operators 

Association 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Michael Faye, 

Pedicab 

 

 

Andrew Gilligan 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 8 November 2017  

Item Topic Status For Action by 

3. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Motorcycle Safety 

Director of Transport Strategy, TfL, to provide the 

following: 

 An update on the actions within the Motorcycle 

Safety Action Plan;  

 Confirmation of the Healthy Streets Budget and any 

specific sums within that programme for specific 

issues such as Bike Safe; 

 Examples of monitoring work undertaken following 

improvements to junctions as part of the Healthy 

Streets Programme and any notable outcomes, 

including any adverse impacts; and  

 

Ongoing (the 

Chairman wrote to 

guests on 16 

November 2017 to 

request this 

information be 

submitted to the 

Committee) 

 

 

 

Director of 

Transport 

Strategy, TfL 

 

Page 56



        

Item Topic Status For Action by 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
6. 
 
 

 

9. 

 Further information, if available, on the number of 

collisions between cyclists or pedestrians and 

motorcyclist in bike lanes. 

The Policy Adviser, Motorcycle Industry Association, 

agreed to provide the Committee with additional 

information regarding the electric standard offer 

previously considered by TfL. 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the final report of the 

investigation into motorcycle safety. 

 

Cycling Infrastructure 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

any related site visits. 

 

London Underground Rolling Stock 

The Deputy Mayor for Transport to provide the 

following: 

 Further information about how the decision to 

cancel the World Class Capacity programme was 

communicated to relevant parties including the TfL 

Board and to undertake a review of what 

information the TfL Board receives in order to fulfil 

its obligations;  

 Details of any further discussion with the 

Government regarding the future of the Silvertown 

Tunnel and any associated air quality monitoring; 

and 

 Update the Budget and Performance Committee at 

the meeting in January 2018 with further analysis 

on the change in tube passenger numbers and the 

impact on forecasts in the Business Plan.  

 

The Director of Strategy and Service Development, TfL, 

to provide the following: 

 An outline of the planned changes to the Northern 

line and the Jubilee line as part of the Tube 

modernisation programme, including the frequency 

of trains and future timetable enhancements, 

following the decision to cancel the World Class 

Capacity programme;  

 

 

Completed  
Attached at  
Appendix 3 

 

 
Ongoing. The report is 
expected to be 
published in the New 
Year. 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

Ongoing (the 

Chairman wrote to 

guests on 16 

November to request 

this information be 

submitted to the 

Committee) 

An update from the 

Deputy Mayor for 

Transport on the 

Silvertown Tunnel is 

attached at    

Appendix 4. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 57



        

Item Topic Status For Action by 

 Clarification on the future of contracts for radio 

and CCTV equipment following the decision to 

cancel the World Class Capacity programme; and 

 Further information on whether the ageing 

population outside London may be part of the 

cause of the 2% drop in passenger numbers. 

 

 

 

 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 10 October 2017  

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Future Transport 

Professor Alan McKinnon to provide the Committee 

with a calculation of the estimated number of droids 

that would be required in order to reduce road 

congestion in London by 1%. 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the final report of the 

investigation into Future Transport. 

 

Closed. Professor 

McKinnon has advised 

the Committee that it 

is not possible to 

provide this estimate. 

Ongoing. This report is 

expected to be 

published in the New 

Year.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 12 September 2017  

Item Topic Status For Action by 

8. 

 

 

 

 

 

10. 

 

 

 

 

Outer London Junctions 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the final report of the Outer 

London Junctions rapporteurship. 

 

 

Work Programme 

That a visit to a National Rail station to consider 

accessibility issues for disabled people be agreed and 

that authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the details of the visit 

Completed. This 

delegation was not 

used. Instead, the 

report is listed on the 

agenda at Item 6 for 

the Committee’s 

consideration 

 

Completed  

The visit to Clapham 

Junction took place on 

24 November 2017. A 

summary note is set 

out at Agenda item 8. 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

 

 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

 

 

Page 58



        

Item Topic Status For Action by 

11. Future Transport 

Professor Maria Kamargianni, UCL, agreed to provide 

the Committee with the survey undertaken by UCL on 

mobility as a service for London. 

 

Ongoing (the 

Chairman wrote to the 

guest on 22 September 

2017) 

Professor Maria 
Kamargianni, 
UCL 

 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 18 July 2017  

Item Topic Status For Action by 

4. Mayor’s Transport Strategy 

Transport Commissioner to provide the following: 

 The feasibility study considering the potential need 

and impact of congestion charging for private hire 

vehicles; 

 Supporting information and evidence which has 

been published alongside the Transport Strategy, 

notably data on numbers and types of vehicles on 

the road network; and 

 Details of TfL’s response to the Chris Gibb report 

on the Southern Rail Network and TfL’s response 

to the South Eastern trains consultation by Geoff 

Hobbs, Head of Transport Planning, Transport for 

London. 

Ongoing (officers 

requested an update 

on 20 November 2017) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Transport 

Commissioner  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Additional actions for noting 

 Letter to Deputy Mayor on Local Implementation Plan (LIP) and Taxicard Funding 

Following consultation with party Group Lead Members and the Deputy Chair, the Chairman sent a 

letter on behalf of the Committee to the Deputy Mayor for Transport on 13 December 2017, asking 

for clarification on proposed funding changes to LIP and Taxicard funding. The letter is attached at 

Appendix 5. A response was received on 14 December 2017, attached at Appendix 6 and 

Appendix 6a.  

 Ten Minute Rule Bill – Pedicabs 

Following consultation with party Group Lead Members and the Deputy Chair, and following the 

Committee’s meeting on 6 December 2017 which was used to discuss pedicabs, the Chairman sent a 

letter on behalf of the Committee to Wes Streeting MP on 15 December 2017 in response to his 

proposal of a ten minute rule bill. The letter is attached at Appendix 7.  

 

 

Page 59



        

3. Legal Implications  
 
3.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 
  

 
4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

Appendices 1a, b, and c – Further information on proposals for a registration scheme for pedicabs 

Appendix 2 – Response from Andrew Gilligan 

Appendix 3 – Response from MCIA 

Appendix 4 – Response from Deputy Mayor for Transport, dated 30 November 2017 

Appendix 5 – LIP and Taxicard funding letter to Deputy Mayor for Transport, dated 13 December 2017 

Appendix 6 – Response from Deputy Mayor for Transport on LIP funding, dated 14 December 2017 

Appendix 6a – Appended letter from Deputy Mayor for Transport 

Appendix 7 – Letter to Wes Streeting MP, dated 15 December 2017 

 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: MDA 855 (Rail accessibility site visit), 872 (Oxford Street Consultation), 874 

(Letter to TfL on Committee’s bus reports). 

 

Contact Officer:  Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone:  020 7983 5526 

E-mail:   laura.pelling@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 60

mailto:laura.pelling@london.gov.uk


Consultation on the 
Licensing of Pedicabs 

Public Carriage Office

Transport for LondonMAYOR OF LONDON

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 01   1 21/6/06   15:33:32

28 June 2006

Page 61

lpelling
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1a



PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 02   2 21/6/06   15:33:33

Page 62



1.	 Introduction

2.	 Background

3.	 Making	a	submission

4.	 Overview	of	the	proposals

5.	 Rider	licensing	

6.	 Area	of	operation

7.	 Vehicle	licensing	

8.	 Pedicab	ranks

9.	 Fares	

10.	 Cost	of	licensing

11.	 Conclusions

Annex	A	 Consultation	list

Annex	B	 TfL	consultation	policy	statement

Annex	C	 Proposed	conditions	of	fitness	for	pedicabs

Annex	D	 Proposed	rider	licensing	requirements

Annex	E	 Proposed	vehicle	licensing	requirements

Annex	F	 Presentation	of	a	pedicab	for	licensing	

Annex	G	 Regulatory	impact	assessment	

Annex	H	 Aide	memoir

Annex	I	 Identification	of	the	central	London	Congeston	Charging	area

		

Further	copies	of	this	document	can	be	obtained	from	the	PCO	website:	www.tfl.gov.uk/pedicabs 

Contents

 1

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 01   1 21/6/06   15:33:33

email:	pedicabs@pco.org.uk	or	by	telephone	to	020 7126 1966	(Fax	020	7126	1933).	

Page 63



	1.1	 This	document	proposes	a	form	of	licensing	
for	pedicabs,	their	owners	and	their	riders	
in	London.		It	is	a	consultation	document	
and	comments	are	invited	from	all	those	
who	have	an	interest	in	this	activity.	The	
procedure	for	responding	is	set	out	in	
section	3.

1.2	 In	the	light	of	the	Better	Regulation	
Taskforce	report,	the	Public	Carriage	Office	
(PCO)	expects	to	be	reviewing	the	legislative	
requirements	in	respect	of	taxi	and	taxi	
driver	licensing	with	a	view	to	simplifying	
and	reducing	the	burden	on	licensees.		This	
consultation	document	reflects	the	current	
taxi	licensing	regime	but	the	PCO	would	
in	time	apply	any	rationalisation	of	the	
regulations	to	both	motor	hackney	carriages	
(MHCs)	and	pedicabs.

1.0 Introduction

2

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 02   2 21/6/06   15:33:37

Page 64



�

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 03   3 21/6/06   15:33:41

Page 65



�

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 04   4 21/6/06   15:33:50

Page 66



2.1	 Pedicabs	(sometimes	referred	to	as	cycle	
rickshaws)	are	pedal-powered	cycles	
(typically	with	three	or	four	wheels)	used	
for	the	purpose	of	carrying	fare-paying	
passengers.		They	are	a	relatively	new	
feature	of	the	London	street	scene	having	
been	in	evidence	for	about	7	years.		It	is	
thought	that	there	are	around	300	pedicabs	
in	London	working	predominantly	in	the	
West	End	around	the	theatres	and	Covent	
Garden,	although	some	are	found	in	other	
parts	of	the	capital.

2.2	 As	a	result	of	a	court	judgment	in	20031		
pedicabs	have	been	regarded	as	stage	
carriages	and	consequently	excluded	from	
the	definition	of	hackney	carriages	(taxis).		
This	has	meant	that	they	are	not	subject	to	
any	of	the	licensing	legislation	that	applies	
to	other	forms	of	public	transport	used	for	
hire	and	reward.		

2.3	 The	London	Local	Authorities	and	Transport	
for	London	Bill	(2005)	proposed	a	form	
of	registration	and	other	regulations	for	
pedicabs	in	London.		This	part	of	the	Bill	was	
unsuccessful	and	the	proposals	within	this	
consultation	are	intended	to	address	the	
areas	of	concern.

2.4	 Concern	has	been	expressed	about:

	 •	 the	safety	of	pedicabs	and	their		
	 riders,	and,

	 •	 the	inability	of	Transport	for	London			
	 (TfL)	and	local	authorities	to	take	effective		
	 enforcement	action	against	those		
	 pedicab	riders	who	contravene	traffic		
	 and	parking	regulations.

2.0 Background

2.5	 The	PCO	aims	to	achieve	better	regulation	
and	traffic	management	through	a	fair	
licensing	system	which	enables	effective	
enforcement.		This	will	give	structure	to	
a	form	of	public	transport	which	is	not	at	
present	regulated.		

2.6	 Acting	on	recent	legal	advice,	TfL	is	now	of	
the	view	that	the	legal	judgment	of	2003	
was	based	on	incomplete	evidence	in	that	
account	was	not	taken	of	the	Transport	
Act	1985	(paragraph	16,	Schedule	1)	which	
effectively	abolished	the	term	‘stage	
carriage’.		TfL	is	advised	that	pedicabs	
should	be	regarded	as	hackney	carriages	and	
should	be	subject	to	the	legal	provisions	
relevant	to	those	vehicles,	including	a	
requirement	for	them	to	be	licensed.			
A	declaratory	judgment	is	being	sought	from	
the	High	Court	to	clarify	this	matter.	

2.7	 As	pedicabs	are	not	motor	vehicles	
(although	some	have	a	degree	of	mechanical	
assistance)	they	are	not	seen	as	falling	within	
the	definition	of	a	private	hire	vehicle	(mini	
cab).		As	they	do	not	run	on	a	prescribed	
route,	have	regular	stopping	places	or	run	to	
a	timetable,	they	are	not	regarded	as	public	
service	vehicles	(buses).	

2.8	 The	pedicabs	that	are	the	subject	of	this	
consultation	document	are	those	which	
are	made	available	with	a	rider	for	the	
purpose	of	carrying	passengers	for	payment.		
Pedicabs	used	for	the	carriage	of	goods,	or	
which	do	not	otherwise	carry	passengers	
for	payment,	are	not	believed	to	fall	within	
the	definition	of	a	hackney	carriage,	are	not	
currently	being	considered	for	licensing	and	
are	not	the	subject	of	this	consultation.	

	1	Oddy	v	Bugbugs	Ltd	[2003]	EWHC	2865.

�

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 05   5 21/6/06   15:33:51

Page 67



3.0 Making a submission

3.1	 This	consultation	document	addresses	how	
it	is	proposed	by	TfL	that	pedicabs	would	
have	hackney	carriage	legislation	applied	to	
them	in	the	event	that	a	judicial	decision	
confirmed	that	this	was	appropriate.	

3.2	 The	proposals	cover	the	licensing	of	both	
pedicab	riders	and	vehicles.

3.3	 The	document	is	being	sent	initially	to	
the	organisations	and	individuals	listed	
at	Annex	A.		Comments	from	other	
interested	organisations	or	individuals	are	
also	welcome.		The	PCO	will	welcome	
suggestions	as	to	other	organisations	that	
should	see	it.

3.4	 Consultation	responses	must	be	sent	in	
writing	by	Wednesday	27	September	2006	
for	the	attention	of	Richard	Hodges	at	the	
PCO.		They	can	be	sent	by	post,	fax	or		
e-mail	to:

	 Pedicab Consultation, 
Public Carriage Office, 
1� Penton Street, 
London, N1 9PU 
Fax number: 020 7126 19�� 
E-mail: pedicabs@pco.org.uk

	 If	you	are	responding	by	post,	please	submit	
two	copies	of	your	response.

	 If	you	are	responding	as	a	representative	
organisation,	please	include	in	your		
response	some	background	information	
about	your	organisation	and	the	people	that	
you	represent.

3.5	 Consultees	are	asked	to	make	clear	which	
part	of	the	consultation	document	their	
comments	refer	to	by	reference	to	the	
paragraph	numbers	used	in	this	document.	

3.6	 The	PCO	will	give	full	consideration	to	
all	responses	to	this	consultation.		The	
decision	on	whether	to	proceed	with	the	
licensing	of	pedicabs	will	be	informed	by	
these	responses,	along	with	a	range	of	
other	factors.		A	summary	of	the	comments	
received	will	be	published	on	the	TfL	web-
site	at	the	end	of	the	consultation	period.	

3.7	 The	Freedom	of	Information	Act	2000	
requires	public	authorities	to	disclose	
information	they	hold	if	it	is	requested.		
This	includes	information	contained	in	
responses	to	public	consultations.		If	you	
ask	for	your	response	to	be	kept	confidential	
this	will	only	be	possible	if	it	is	consistent	
with	TfL’s	obligations	under	the	Freedom	of	
Information	Act.	

3.8	 Enquiries	about	the	contents	of	this	
consultation	document	may	be	made	to	
Richard	Hodges,	Pedicab	Project	Officer,	on	
telephone	020	7126	1966.

3.9	 Further	copies	of	this	consultation	
document	can	be	obtained	via	the		
Transport	for	London	website:	

	 www.tfl.gov.uk/pedicabs	or	by		
email: pedicabs@pco.org.uk or	

	 What happens next?

3.10	 The	responses	to	this	consultation	will	be	
considered	by	Transport	for	London	(TfL),	
who	will	make	an	announcement	about	the	
implementation	of	any	changes.		TfL	would	
plan	to	make	such	decisions	within	a	period	
of	three	months	from	the	end	of	the	public	
consultation	exercise.		It	is	then	proposed		
to	initiate	a	second,	brief,	consultation	
on	the	specific	changes	proposed	to	the	
London	Cab	Order	1934	to	accommodate	
pedicab	licensing.

6

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 06   6 21/6/06   15:33:53

telephone	to	020 7126 1966	or		
fax 020 7126 19��.

Page 68



7

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 07   7 21/6/06   15:33:57

Page 69



8

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 08   8 21/6/06   15:34:03

Page 70



4.0 Overview of the proposals

4.1	 Hackney	carriages,	normally	referred	to	
as	taxis	(and	sometimes	as	“black	cabs”)	
and	their	drivers	are	regulated	by	the	PCO	
on	behalf	of	Transport	for	London.		The	
principal	regulations	are	contained	in	the	
London	Cab	Order	1934	made	under	the	
Metropolitan	Public	Carriage	Act	1869.		
Applying	the	same	regulations	to	pedicabs	
would	require	both	vehicles	and	riders	to		
be	licensed.

4.2	 In	summary,	licensing	assesses	the		
‘fitness’	of	both	vehicles	and	riders	on	the	
following	aspects:

	 Vehicles:

	 •	 suitability	for	the	role;	and,

	 •	 condition	of	the	vehicle.

	 Riders:

	 •	 age;

	 •	 character;

	 •	 medical	fitness;

	 •	 topographical	skills	(an	appropriate		 	
	 Knowledge	of	London	assessment);	and,

	 •	 driving	/	riding	ability.

	 This	consultation	document	also	addresses:

	 •	 the	means	of	identifying	licensed	vehicles		
	 and	riders;

	 •	 requirements	relating	to	those	who	own		
	 licensed	vehicles;

	 •	 ranks;	and,

	 •	 fares.

4.3	 In	the	event	that	pedicabs	are	found	by	
the	High	Court	to	be	hackney	carriages,	
no	pedicab	would	be	permitted	to	carry	
passengers	for	hire	and	reward	unless	
licensed	and	ridden	by	a	licensed	pedicab	
rider.		Licensed	pedicabs	would	be	
permitted	to	ply	for	hire	on	the	street	
and	at	designated	ranks.		Fares	could	
be	regulated	by	TfL.		This	will	place	
requirements	upon	the	rider,	the	vehicle	
and	the	owner	of	the	vehicle.		Each	of	these	
aspects	is	considered	in	the	paragraphs		
that	follow.

4.4	 These	proposals	will	require	changes		
to	the	London	Cab	Order	1934	which		
will	be	considered	following	this	
consultation	exercise.	

4.5	 Throughout	this	document	distinction	is	
drawn	between	motor	hackney	carriages	
(MHCs)	and	pedal-powered	hackney	
carriages	(pedicabs).		Both	would,	subject	
to	the	declaratory	judgment	referred	to	

subject	to	the	regulations	(amended	as	
necessary)	relating	to	taxis.

9

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 09   9 21/6/06   15:34:04

in	paragraph	2.6,	constitute	taxis	and	be	

Page 71



5.0 Rider licensing 

5.1	 Rider	requirements	would	be	met	by	a	rider	
licensing	scheme	operated	by	the	PCO.			
The	proposed	requirements	are	presented	
in	detail	in	Annex	D,	whilst	the	principal	
issues	arising	are	discussed	in	this	section.

5.2	 The	purpose	of	these	requirements	is	
to	ensure	that	any	licence	issued	fulfils	
the	requirements	already	in	place	for	taxi	
driver	licensing.		Some	requirements	have	
been	modified	to	ensure	that	they	are	
appropriate	to	the	pedicab	industry.	

5.3	 A	pedicab	rider	licence	will	be	required	in	
order	to	ply	for	hire	with	a	pedicab.		Those	
wishing	to	become	pedicab	riders	will	be	
required	to	apply	for	a	licence	and	meet	
the	required	conditions.	Applicants	will	
be	required	to	demonstrate	that	they	are	
eligible	to	work	in	the	UK.		

5.4	 The	licence	will	be	valid	for	a	period	of		
three	years.2			

 Competence

5.5	 Evidence	will	be	required	that	a	rider	is	
competent	to	handle	a	pedicab.	This	
could	be	achieved	by	a	requirement	that	
the	applicant	has	achieved	CTC	(National	
Standard	for	Cycle	Training)	Level	3	and	
has	demonstrated	this	competence	on	a	
pedicab.		This	independent	qualification	is	
the	nearest	equivalent	to	a	motor	vehicle	
driving	licence,	and	demonstrates	that	a	
pedicab	rider	has	completed	a	competence-
based	qualification	that	is	relevant	to	the	
type	of	vehicle	being	ridden.		

	 The	PCO	has	the	following	options:

	 •	 require	the	CTC	(National	Standard	for		
	 Cycle	Training)	Level	3	and	demonstration		
	 of	this	competence	on	a	pedicab;

	 •	 require	a	more	demanding	achievement,		
	 such	as	a	full	DVLA	motor	cycle	licence,	or

	 •	 do	nothing	and	assume	that	pedicab	
	 riders	understand	road	traffic	regulations		
	 and	are	capable	of	riding	safely	in	central		
	 London	traffic.

	 The	PCO	is	minded	to	adopt	the		
first	option.

	 Views	are	invited	on	the	level	of	cycling	
competence	necessary.

 Age

5.6	 The	present	requirement	for	taxis	is	that	
a	driver	must	be	at	least	21	years	old.		
This	is	considered	to	be	an	age	at	which	
a	driver	has	experience	and	is	capable	of	
the	responsibility	of	moving	passengers	in	
London	traffic.		Comments	are	invited	on	
whether	a	similar	age	should	be	required	for	
pedicab	riders.

 Character

5.7	 The	PCO	intends	to	require	evidence	
of	an	applicant’s	character,	including	
information	on	convictions,	cautions	and	
any	outstanding	charges.	This	requirement	
is	equivalent	to	that	for	other	driver	licences	
issued	by	the	PCO,	ie	taxi	and	private	hire	
drivers.	A	conviction	will	not	automatically	
disqualify	an	applicant	from	holding	a	
licence.	Consideration	will	be	given	to	the	
type	of	offence(s),	if	any,	and	the	date(s)	
when	they	occurred.		

	2	The	length	of	licence	is	set	by	section	8(7)	of	the	Metropolitan	Public	Carriage	Act	1869.

10

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 010   10 21/6/06   15:34:04

Page 72



	 The	PCO	has	the	following	options:

	 •	 do	nothing	and	expect	that	pedicab	riders		
	 are	all	of	good	repute;	

	 •	 require	a	Criminal	Records	Bureau	(CRB)	
	 check	with	a	standard	disclosure;	or,

	 •	 use	the	existing	established	method	
	
	 Records	Bureau	(CRB)	check	with	an		 	
	 enhanced	disclosure,	recognising		 	
	 that	a	pedicab	rider	may	have	contact	with		
	 vulnerable	people.

	 The	PCO	is	minded	to	require	the	third	
option	with	enhanced	disclosure,	as	past	
offences	have	demonstrated	that,	even	if	
there	is	reduced	information	available	for	
some	riders	(such	as	overseas	applicants),	
a	reduced	level	of	security	checks	will	
increase	risk.		This	will	require	overseas	
criminal	history	checks	if	the	applicant	
has	lived	in	a	country	other	than	the	UK	
for	one	or	more	continuous	periods	of	3	
months	during	the	last	3	years.		TfL	will	
require	a	Certificate	of	Good	Conduct	from	
their	embassy,	which	must	be	an	extract	
from	the	judicial	record	or	equivalent	
document	issued	by	a	competent	judicial	
or	administrative	authority	for	the	relevant	
country.		This	will	be	required	in	addition	to	
the	CRB	check.

	 At	present,	it	takes	between	four	and	six	
weeks	to	receive	the	results	of	a	CRB	check.		
The	PCO	cannot	influence	this	timescale.			
A	pedicab	rider	licence	will	only	be	issued	
on	receipt	of	a	satisfactory	CRB	report.

11

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 011   11 21/6/06   15:34:10

for	taxi	and	private	hire	drivers	of	a	Criminal			

Page 73



12

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 012   12 21/6/06   15:34:18

Page 74



5.0 Rider licensing (continued)

 Topographical Knowledge

5.8	 The	PCO	is	considering	whether	a	
topographical	knowledge	test	appropriate	
to	pedicabs	and	their	operating	area	would	
be	beneficial.		This	would	be	to	the	benefit	
of	passengers	as	a	rider	with	knowledge	
would	take	a	more	efficient	route	which	
may	affect	the	fare	charged.		A	rider	without	
detailed	knowledge	may	take	a	journey	
which	is	longer	in	both	distance	and	time.	

	 The	PCO	has	the	following	options:

	 •	 to	monitor	the	operation	of	pedicabs		
	 and	consider	the	need	for	a	knowledge		
	 requirement	at	a	later	date;	

	 •	 to	make	a	commitment	to	introduce	a		
	 knowledge	based	competency	test	within		
	 the	first	rider	licensing	period.		This		 	
	 accepts	that	existing	pedicab	riders	have		
	 a	basic	knowledge	of	central	London	but		
	 that	this	needs	to	be	demonstrated	by		
	 new	applicants;	or,	

	 •	 in	the	light	of	the	proposed	limited	area		
	 of	licensing	(section	6),	and	the	transient		
	 nature	of	pedicab	riders,	to	require	no		
	 specific	topographical	testing.

	 The	PCO	is	minded	to	adopt	the		
third	option.

 Medical Fitness

5.9	 The	PCO	is	also	considering	the	need	for	a	
medical	fitness	standard	for	pedicab	riders.		
The	standards	which	are	applied	to	taxi	and	
PHV	drivers	take	into	account	the	vehicle	
that	they	are	controlling.		The	pedicab	is	

very	different	in	weight,	speed	and	in	its	
ability	to	continue	moving	if	the	rider	is	
incapacitated:	the	design	and	low	speed	of	
a	pedicab	should	contribute	to	a	relatively	
quick	stop	with	little	or	no	damage.				

	 The	PCO	has	identified	the		
following	options:

	 •	 accept	that	a	pedicab	rider,	if	capable	of		
	 operating	the	vehicle,	is	acceptably	fit	and		
	 will	not	require	a	medical	examination;	

	 •	 require	a	declaration	from	the	applicant		
	 that	they	are	not	suffering	from	a	medical		
	 condition	that	could	affect	the	safe		 	
	 control	of	the	vehicle;

	 •	 require	confirmation	from	his	General		
	 Practitioner	that	there	is	no		 	 	
	 medical	condition	likely	to	impair	his			
	 ability	to	perform	defined	duties		 	
	 as	a	pedicab	rider;	or,

	 •	 require	a	medical	examination	comparable		
	 to	that	required	for	taxi	and	PHV	drivers		
	 taking	into	account	the	differences	of	the		
	 pedicab	vehicle.

	 Comment	is	invited	on	what	medical		
standards	would	be	appropriate.

 Disciplinary Procedures

5.10	 Existing	disciplinary	procedures	for	London	
taxi	drivers	would	apply	to	pedicab	riders,	
including	provision	for	suspension	or	
revocation	of	the	licence	in	the	event	of	a	
misdemeanour,	and	for	appeals	in	the		
event	of	refusal,	suspension	or	revocation	
of	a	licence.3	

3	Disciplinary	procedures	set	by	article	19	of	the	London	Cab	Order	1934.

1�

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 013   13 21/6/06   15:34:19

Page 75



6.0 Area of operation

6.1	 The	PCO	is	minded	to	license	pedicab	
riders	for	a	specified	area	of	operation	only.		
This	would	be	comparable	to	suburban	
taxi	drivers,	who	can	pick	up	passengers	
only	in	their	specified	area	as	they	only	
have	the	knowledge	qualification	for	that	
area,	though	they	can	take	the	passengers	
elsewhere.	In	addition,	whilst	MHC	drivers	
cannot	refuse	fares	and	must	undertake	any	
requested	journeys	of	less	than	12	miles,	it	
would	be	unrealistic	to	expect	pedicabs	to	
go	beyond	significantly	smaller	limits	due	
to	the	physical	demands	on	the	rider.	There	
must	be	an	assurance	that	the	passenger(s)	
will	be	safely	delivered	to	their	destination	
with	no	risk	that	they	might	effectively	
be	ejected	from	the	pedicab	because	the	
driver	is	tired	or	unable	to	continue.		For	
visitors	to	London	and	vulnerable	people,	
this	could	result	in	them	being	stranded	
in	an	unfamiliar	or	unsafe	location	with	
no	alternative	safe	form	of	transport	to	
continue	their	journey.		

6.2	 At	present,	there	is	no	control	of	the	areas	
in	which	pedicabs	operate,	but	in	practice	
they	tend	to	work	within	a	half-mile	radius	
of	Leicester	Square	Underground	Station,	
including	Piccadilly	Circus,	Covent	Garden,	
Soho,	Shaftesbury	Avenue	and	Charing	
Cross.		There	are	also	individual	trips	to	
specific	destinations	such	as	Euston	and	
Waterloo	stations,	Oxford	Street,	the	Royal	
Festival	Hall	and	the	British	Museum.		These	
current	‘boundaries’	are	self-imposed	or	
defined	by	the	availability	and	requirements	
of	customers.

6.3	 In	defining	the	area(s)	of	operation	there	are	
a	number	of	options,	including:

	 •	 no	limit	at	all;

	 •	 the	area	known	as	the	Central	London		
	 congestion	charging	zone	(as	at	31	March		
	 2006).	This	would	be	easier	to	identify		
	 than	a	radius.	This	is	the	area	identified	in		
	 Annex	I;	or,		

	 •	 a	simple	radius	around	Charing	Cross.		
	 The	boundary	could	be	defined	by	named		
	 roads.		A	half-mile	radius	would	include		
	 such	places	as	Somerset	House,	Covent		
	 Garden,	Horse	Guards	Parade	but	not		
	 Soho	Square	or	the	lower	end	of		 	
	 Tottenham	Court	Road.	A	three-quarter		
	 -mile	or	one-mile	radius	would	include		
	 other	destinations	such	as	Waterloo			
	 Station,	Oxford	Circus	and	the		
	 British	Museum.

	 The	PCO	is	minded	to	adopt	a	half-mile	
radius	around	Charing	Cross	with	the	
boundary	identified	by	named	roads.	

6.4	 Comments	are	invited	on	the	proposals	to	
limit	the	area	of	operation	of	pedicabs.

6.5	 The	PCO	would	also	consider	licensing	
riders	for	other	sectors,	the	limits	of	which	
would	be	detailed	in	consultation	with	the	
local	authority	concerned.	The	PCO	would	
consider	and	welcome	comments	on	these	
and	other	possibilities.		There	will	be	a	
requirement	to	ensure	that	any	area	chosen	
is	appropriate	to	the	physical	limitations	of	
the	pedicab	rider.

	 Pedicabs	could	be	licensed	to	operate:

	 •	 within	a	named	London	borough	outside		
	 the	identified	central	zone;	

	 •	 within	a	specified	area	within	a		
	 London	Borough;

	 •	 within	an	existing	hackney	carriage		 	
	 suburban	sector;	

1�

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 014   14 21/6/06   15:34:23

Page 76



	 •	 along	a	specified	route	or	corridor;	or,

	 •	 within	a	specified	radius	(eg	half	a	mile)		
	 of	a	specified	town	centre	or		
	 tourist	attraction.

	 The	PCO	is	minded	to	adopt	the	last	of	
these	options.

	 Comments	are	invited	on	the	proposals	to	
introduce	additional	areas	of	licensing.

1�

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 015   15 21/6/06   15:34:25

Page 77



7.0 Vehicle licensing

7.1	 Vehicle	requirements	will	be	met	by	a	
licensing	scheme	operated	by	or	on	behalf	
of	the	PCO.	The	proposed	requirements	
are	presented	in	detail	in	Annexes	C	and	
E,	whilst	the	principal	issues	arising	are	
discussed	in	this	section.

	 Pedicab owners, operators  
and proprietors

7.2	 ‘Operator’	or	‘proprietor’	are	other	terms	
used	in	the	relevant	legislation	to	describe	
the	owner	of	the	pedicab.	

7.3	 The	proprietor	of	a	pedicab	will	be	required	
to	apply	for	a	licence	for	the	vehicle,	and	
will	be	required	to	ensure	that	all	his/her	
licensed	pedicabs	meet	the	licensing	
requirements	at	all	times.		

7.4	 The	proprietor	will	also	be	required	to	
insure	and	maintain	the	vehicle.		

7.5	 If	the	vehicle	is	used	by	riders	other	than	
themselves,	proprietors	will	be	required	to	
record	the	details	of	those	riders	together	
with	the	relevant	dates	and	times	that	the	
vehicles	are	used.		

7.6	 Proprietors	will	also	be	required	to	
complete	a	Criminal	Records	Bureau	(CRB)	
enhanced	check	as	they	will	control	the	use	
of	pedicabs	and	so	should	meet	the	same	
standards	of	character.	This	requirement	is	
consistent	with	that	for	MHC	proprietors.	

7.7	 The	proprietor	may	have	responsibility	for	
offences	relating	to	that	pedicab	and	will	
be	required	to	provide	the	PCO	and/or	the	
relevant	authorities	with	details	of	the	rider	
when	requested.		This	requirement	is	also	
consistent	with	that	for	MHC	proprietors.		

7.8	 It	would	be	the	responsibility	of	the	owner	
to	have	the	vehicle	licensed	whether	or	not	
that	person	was	the	rider.		

7.9	 The	licensing	period	for	a	vehicle	will	be	
one	year.4		A	licence	and	identifying	plate	
will	be	issued:	both	items	would	remain	
the	property	of	TfL	and	would	have	to	be	
returned	when	expired.	The	plate	or	other	
identifier	will	have	a	unique	number	and	be	
affixed	to	the	rear	of	the	vehicle.	

7.10	 The	details	required	in	an	application	for	a	
pedicab	licence	are	given	in	Annex	F.

 Suitability of the vehicle for the role

7.11	 Taxis	are	required	to	comply	with	
Conditions	of	Fitness5	which	specify	certain	
technical	requirements	to	ensure	that	the	
cab	is	fit	for	purpose.	Pedicabs	will	similarly	
be	required	to	meet	a	minimum	standard	
and	be	maintained	to	that	standard	
throughout	the	licensing	period.		The	PCO	
is	aware	that	accidents,	that	could	have	
been	prevented	by	design,	have	occurred	in	
the	past	involving	pedicabs	and,	in	licensing	
them,	the	PCO	will	wish	to	be	assured	that	
they	are	as	structurally	and	mechanically	
safe	as	such	vehicles	can	be.		

7.12	 Pedicabs	will,	therefore,	be	required	to	
comply	with	Conditions	of	Fitness	specific	
to	them.		The	proposed	Pedicab	Conditions	
of	Fitness	are	detailed	in	Annex	C	and	
consultees	are	invited	to	comment	on	
them.		The	PCO	will	particularly	welcome	
responses	from	pedicab	manufacturers.	

4	The	length	of	licence	is	set	by	section	6(4)	of	the	Metropolitan	Public	Carriage	Act	1869.
5	Cabs	presented	for	licensing	are	required	to	meet	the	conditions	of	fitness	as	set	by	article	7(3)(a)	of	the	London	Cab		
	 Order	1934.

16

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 016   16 21/6/06   15:34:25

Page 78



7.13	 The	pedicab	should	be	of	a	design	which	
has	the	rider	in	the	front	or	forward	position	
and	the	passengers	seated	to	the	rear.		
Pedicabs	that	have	the	passengers	in	the	
forward	position	are	considered	to	restrict	
rider	visibility,	especially	when	a	canopy	is	
raised,	and	to	place	passengers	in	a	more	
vulnerable	position.

7.14	 The	proposed	overall	dimensions	for	
pedicabs	are	based	on	vehicles	currently	in	
use	in	London.		It	is	necessary	to	specify	
maximum	dimensions	for	traffic	control,	
and	to	help	specify	the	requirements	and	
potential	sites	for	pedicab	ranks	and	the	
number	of	pedicabs	that	can	wait	at	those	
ranks.		The	PCO	will	welcome	comments	
on	the	proposed	dimensions	of	pedicabs.

7.15	 The	PCO	is	minded	to	license	pedicabs	for	
a	maximum	of	2	passengers.6	

7.16	 As	with	other	taxis,	pedicabs	will	not	
be	permitted	to	carry	any	signs	or	
advertisements	which	have	not	been	
approved	by	the	Licensing	Authority.7	

 Condition of the vehicle

7.17	 The	PCO	is	considering	the	most	
appropriate	method	of	carrying	out	vehicle	
inspections,	and	will	welcome	comments	
and	proposals	in	response	to	this	
consultation.		The	content	of	the	inspection	
would	be	similar	in	each	of	the	proposals.

6	Note	that	pedicab	fares	will	be	for	the	vehicle,	not	per	
		 passenger	(Paragraph	9.5).
7	Requirements	for	advertisements	is	set	by	article	14(l)	of		
	 the	London	Cab	Order	1934.

17

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 017   17 21/6/06   15:34:32

Page 79



18

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 018   18 21/6/06   15:34:38

Page 80



7.0 Vehicle licensing (continued)

7.18	 Inspections	could	be	carried	out	either:

	 •	 by	examiners	at	TfL	premises,	or	at	the		
	 premises	of	TfL’s	service	provider;	or,

	 •	 by	examiners	at	the	proprietor’s	premises.

	 The	PCO	will	identify	the	preferred	
procedure	after	considering	responses	to		
this	consultation.

7.19	 The	PCO	has	the	following	options	for	
ensuring	the	condition	of	vehicles.

	 •	 One	licensing	inspection	for	each		 	
	 pedicab	each	year	with	random,		
	 on-street	compliance	inspections.		
	 This	is	comparable	to	the	present	taxi		
	 regime,	and	is	expected	to	deliver	good		
	 regulatory	control	at	a	total	estimated		
	 cost	of	£28,500	per	annum,	(£95	per		
	 vehicle)	excluding	the	licence	plate.

	 •	 Two	licensing	inspections	a	year	with	a		
	 reduced	level	of	compliance	inspections.			
	 This	option	is	expected	to	increase	costs		
	 to	approximately	£42,000	per	annum		
	 (£140	per	vehicle)	excluding	licence	plates.	

	 •	 One	licensing	inspection	each	year	with		
	 reduced	random,	on-street,	compliance		
	 inspections.	This	would	reduce	costs		
	 to	the	pedicab	industry	but	would	also		
	 reduce	the	effectiveness	of	regulation.			
	 The	estimated	cost	of	this	option	would		
	 be	£22,500	per	annum	(£75	per	vehicle)		
	 excluding	licence	plates.

 The	PCO	is	minded	to	adopt	the		
first	option.

7.20	 Ongoing	routine	compliance	enforcement	is	
expected	to	be	based	on	a	random	sample	
of	a	minimum	of	30%	of	pedicabs	each	year.		
Analysis	of	the	results	of	this	sample	will	
help	target	owners	or	proprietors	for	more	
detailed	inspections	where	necessary.

 Identification and licence plate location 

7.21	 Effective	arrangements	must	be	in	place		
to	identify	vehicles	in	use	as	pedicabs.		
It	is	expected	that	this	will	be	achieved		
by	licence	plates	or	other	identifier	attached	
to	the	rear	of	the	vehicle	and	in	the		
passenger	compartment.		

7.22	 As	pedicabs	have	no	form	of	registration	
plate	it	is	necessary	for	the	rear	licence	
plate	to	be	placed	centrally	on	the	pedicab	
so	that	it	is	clearly	visible	to	other	road	
users	and	enforcement	cameras,	and	
readable	from	a	reasonable	distance.			
The	style	of	the	plate	will	be	different	to	
that	of	MHCs.

7.23	 There	should	also	be	a	small	licence	
number	plate	fixed	in	a	position	within	
the	passenger	area	so	that	passengers	can	
identify	the	pedicab	from	their	seat.		In	
addition,	there	will	be	a	requirement	to	
display	insurance	details	and	a	fare	chart.		
Difficulty	may	be	anticipated	in	adequately	
protecting	these	notices	from	the	weather:	
responses	will	be	welcome	on	these	
requirements	and	on	the	best	method		
of	meeting	them.	

 Costs

7.24	 The	cost	of	a	one	year	licence	for	a	pedicab	
is	not	yet	finalised.		An	indication	of		
costs	is	given	in	section	10	but	this	is	
expected	to	be	comparable	to	other	
licences	issued	by	the	PCO,	at	present	
around	£100.00	per	annum.

19

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 019   19 21/6/06   15:34:39

Page 81



8.0 Pedicab ranks  

8.1	 As	pedicabs	are	to	be	licensed,	there	will	be	
a	need	to	appoint	ranks,	so	that	there	are	
dedicated	places	where	they	can	ply	for	hire	
whilst	stationary.		

8.2	 Ranks	will	be	established	using	the	present	
PCO	procedures	to	accommodate	pedicabs	
waiting	for	hire.		It	is	expected	that	these	
will	be	specifically	for	pedicabs,	in	order	to	
assist	passengers	in	identifying	the	type	of	
vehicle	they	wish	to	hire,	and	to	help	reduce	
the	congestion	and	obstruction	that	is	at	
present	associated	with	pedicabs.		

8.3	 In	the	City	of	London,	ranks	are	designated	
by	the	City	Police.		The	PCO	will	initiate	
appropriate	discussions	with	the	City	Police.	

8.4	 As	pedicabs	work	predominantly	in	
the	evening	and	at	night,	there	is	the	
opportunity	to	operate	ranks	at	certain	
times	only.		This	will	help	to	reduce	the	
effects	of	those	ranks	on	traffic	flow	at	
other	times	of	the	day.		

8.5	 As	is	customary	with	taxi	ranks,	the	ranks	
for	pedicabs	will	be	appointed	only	after	the	
PCO	has	consulted	with	the	relevant	local/
highway	authority.

8.6	 A	condition	may	be	placed	on	the	licence	of	
pedicab	riders	to	prevent	them	from	parking	
on	existing	taxi	ranks	that	were	designated	
with	motorised	hackney	carriages	in	mind.		

8.7	 Comments	are	invited	on	whether	
motorised	hackney	carriages	and	pedicabs	
should	share	the	same	ranks	or	whether	
each	should	have	their	own	separate	ranks.

8.8	 The	PCO	is	minded	to	designate	existing	
ranks	for	MHCs	only,	and	to	designate		
new	ranks	specifically	for	either	pedicabs		
or	MHCs.

20

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 020   20 21/6/06   15:34:44

Page 82



21

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 021   21 21/6/06   15:34:45

Page 83



22

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 022   22 21/6/06   15:34:52

Page 84



9.0 Fares

	9.1	 Taxi	fares	in	London	are	regulated	by	the	
PCO.		Pedicab	fares	are	not	regulated	at	
present:	the	fare	is	agreed	by	the	rider	
and	passenger(s)	in	advance.		Separate	
fares	are	charged	for	each	passenger	–	the	
pedicab	is	not	hired	as	a	whole.		This	
method	of	charging	arises	from	the	previous	
interpretation	of	the	law	suggesting	that	
if	pedicabs	charged	in	this	way	they	could	
be	defined	as	stage	carriages	and	thereby	
be	excluded	from	the	hackney	carriage	
definition.		If	pedicabs	can	no	longer	
be	classed	as	stage	carriages	and	are	to	
become	licensed	then	this	method	of	
payment	is	no	longer	relevant.	

9.2	 There	is	a	range	of	opinions	on	the	present	
level	of	pedicab	fares.		Some	consider	them	
reasonable	as	the	pedicab	is	a	novel	and	
fun	form	of	travel.		Others	consider	them	
excessive	in	comparison	with	taxi	fares	for	
the	same	journey.		

9.3	 Comments	are	invited	on	the	introduction	
of	regulated	fares	for	pedicabs.		The	system	
adopted	would	need	to	take	account	
of	simplicity,	accuracy	and	variations	in	
vehicles	and	environment.		For	taxis,	the	
London	Cab	Order	1934	requires	fares	to	be	
displayed	in	order	to	inform	passengers	in	
advance	of	the	cost	of	their	journey.	

9.4	 It	would	be	difficult	to	introduce	metered	
fares	based	on	distance	due	to	the	cost	
and	technical	difficulties	in	fitting	meters	to	
pedicabs.8	The	available	options	are	that	the	
PCO	sets	fares	using	one	of	the	following	
methods.

	 •	 Set	specific	fares	for	the	most	popular		

	 journeys,	with	a	published	fare	chart			
	 displayed	on	the	pedicab.	This	would		
	 be	straightforward	in	principle	but		
	 many	journeys	will	not	match	the		 	
	 examples	specified.	

	 •	 Specify	a	simple	time-based	fare		 	
	 structure.	Both	rider	and	passenger(s)		
	 would	be	able	to	identify	the	time	from		
	 start	to	end	of	hire.	The	fare	can	then	be		
	 read	from	a	simple	fare	chart;

	 •	 Set	zonal	fares	based	on	the	number	of		
	 zones	the	journey	passes	through;

	 •	 Set	fixed	fares	regardless	of	time	or		 	
	 distance,	and	taking	account	of	the		 	
	 restricted	area	of	operation;	or,	

	 •	 Do	nothing,	and	leave	riders	and		 	
	 passengers	to	negotiate	fares,	as		
	 self-regulation	will	limit	or	expand	the		
	 number	of	customers	relevant	to	the		
	 fares	charged.

9.5	 Comments	are	invited	on	the	method	of	
charging	which	should	be	adopted.

9.6	 The	PCO	is	minded	to	set	a	standard	fare	
for	all	journeys	which	would	be	per	vehicle,	
not	per	passenger.

8			Introduction	of	meters	to	pedicabs	would	be	problematic	as:
•	 tyre	sizes	are	not	constant,	and	so	measurement	of	mileage	would	be	unreliable;	
•	 there	is	no	digital	pulse	available	to	trigger	a	meter;
•	 any	electronics	on	the	pedicab	would	be	exposed	to	the	elements;
•	 it	would	be	difficult	to	mount	the	meter	in	a	position	visible	to	both	rider	and	passengers;
•	 the	additional	cost	involved,	and
•	 the	lack	of	a	suitable	product	on	the	market,	and	the	time	needed	to	develop	a	suitable	product	for	such	a	small	market.

2�

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 023   23 21/6/06   15:34:53

Page 85



10. Cost of licensing 

10.1	 The	following	paragraphs	consider	the	
costs	of	introducing	the	proposed	pedicab	
licensing	scheme	in	London.	

10.2	 Adequate	insurance	to	cover	third-party	
liabilities9		will	be	a	requirement	of	pedicab	
licensing	but,	as	it	is	understood	that	most	
pedicab	proprietors	already	have	such	
insurance,	its	cost	has	not	been	included		
in	this	assessment.	

10.3	 TfL	has	a	statutory	responsibility	to	recover	
all	licensing	costs	through	the	licence	fees.		
The	proposed	cost	of	an	annual	vehicle	
licence	is	£100,	including	the	cost	of	the	
application,	examination	for	compliance,	
grant	of	licence	and	production	of	the	
vehicle	identification	plate.

10.4	 The	cost	of	a	3-year	rider	licence	is	
expected	to	be	£185	including	the	cost	of	
the	CRB	check	(if	required).		The	applicant	
would	also	incur	a	charge	for	the	external	
medical	examination	which	is	expected	to	
be	£60,	should	this	be	required.		

10.5	 The	table	below	gives	an	estimate	of	annual	
licensing	costs	for	individual	vehicles	and	
riders,	with	an	estimated	total	cost	to	the	
industry	assuming	300	vehicles	and	riders.10	

10.6	 This	is	a	total	annual	cost,	excluding	any	
medical	cost,	to	the	industry	of	£48,500,	
equivalent	to	£161.67	per	vehicle	and	rider.	
This	gives	a	weekly	cost	over	52	weeks	of	
£3.11	(£1.92	to	the	proprietor	and	£1.19	
to	the	rider),	though	pedicab	operations	
tend	to	be	focused	in	the	tourist	season.		
These	costs	do	not	include	insurance	and	
maintenance.

9	 Article	8	of	the	London	Cab	Order	1934	requires	insurance	“complying	with	Part	II	of	the	Road	Traffic	Act	1930	as	amended		
	 by	any	subsequent	Act”.	These	provisions	have	been	superseded	on	several	occasions	and	are	now	replaced	by	Part	VI	of			
	 the	Road	Traffic	Act	1988.	Due	to	the	wording	of	the	Cab	Order	these	provisions	apply	to	all	taxis	irrespective	of	whether		
	 they	are	motorised	or	not.
10	 In	practice	it	is	likely	that	there	will	be	more	riders	than	vehicles,	but	these	figures	are	given	for	illustrative	purposes	only.

Vehicle 
approval and 
inspection fee

Compliance 
cost

Plate 
production 
cost

Rider 
licensing

CRB check Medical 
examination

Cost per 
vehicle/rider

£65 £30 £5 £149 £36 £60	approx

Industry £19,500 £9,000 £1,500 £44,700 £10,800 £18,000

Period of 
licence

1	year 1	year 1	year 3	year 3	year 3	year

Total industry 
cost per annum

£19,500 £9,000 £1,500 £14,900 £3,600 £6,000

Licence cost £100	per	year £185	for	3	years

2�

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 024   24 21/6/06   15:34:56

Page 86



10.7	 The	total	cost	to	the	industry,	£48,500,	
represents	costs	incurred	by	the	PCO	in	
respect	of:

	 •	 administration	and	conduct	of		
	 vehicle	inspections;

	 •	 administration	and	issue	of	pedicab		 	
	 licence	and	plate;

	 •	 administration	and	assessment	of		
	 rider	applications;

	 •	 rider	CRB	check;

	 •	 appeals	process;	and,

	 •	 rider	and	vehicle	compliance	activity.

2�

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 025   25 21/6/06   15:34:59

Page 87



11. Conclusions

11.1	 This	document	has	set	out	proposals	for	a	
pedicab	licensing	system	for	London.		It	is	a	
consultation	document	and	responses	are	
invited	from	interested	parties	as	set	out	in	
section	3.		

11.2	 It	is	considered	that	licensing	will	benefit	
the	pedicab	industry	and	pedicab	users	
in	London.		The	Regulatory	Impact	
Assessment	(Appendix	G)	identifies	the	
benefits	that	would	be	expected	to	accrue	
to	all	stakeholders.

11.3	 The	responses	to	this	consultation	will	
help	to	develop	a	system	that	achieves	
maximum	benefits	to	all	parties.

	

26

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 026   26 21/6/06   15:35:03

Page 88



27

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 027   27 21/6/06   15:35:04

Page 89



Annex A Consultation list

Alexander	Anteliz	(Pedicab	Operator)

All	London	Local	Authorities

All	London	Magistrates	Courts

Association	of	British	Insurers

Association	of	London	Government

Association	of	Magisterial	Officers

Bio	Bikes

Bugbugs	(Pedicab	Operator)

Cab	Chat

Cab	Driver

Cab	Trade	News

Call	Sign

Chauffeur	&	Executive	Association		
(sub	group	of	LPHCA)

Children	and	Adults	(MENCAP)

City	of	London	Ltd

City	of	London	Police	(Commissioner)

Confederation	of	Passenger	Transport	UK

Consumers	Association

CTC	Greg	Woodford	

Deafblind	UK

DfT

Disability	Rights	Commission

Disabled	Persons	Transport	Advisory	Committee	
(DPTAC)

Driver	Guides	Association

Equal	Opportunities	Commission

Federation	of	Private	Hire	Vehicles											

Film	Unit	Drivers	Guild

GLA	Assembly	Members

GMB	Professional	Drivers	Branch

GMB	Union

Greater	London	Action	on	Disability

Greater	London	Magistrates	Court	Association

Greg	Woodford,	Cycle	Training	Officer

Gregory	Dabrowla	(Pedicab	Operator)

Helen	Mcilwaine		
-	Local	Government	Northern	Ireland	

Help	The	Aged

Home	Office	PSTU

House	of	Commons	Transport	Select	Committee

Joint	Committee	on	Mobility	for	Blind	and	
Partially	Sighted	People

Joint	Committee	on	Mobility	for	Disabled	People	
(JCMD)													

Kristof	Draskoczy	(Pedicab	Operator)

Lambeth	Minicab	Forum

Licensed	Private	Hire	Car	Association	(LPHCA)

Licensed	Taxi	Drivers’	Association

London	Accessible	Transport	Alliance

London	Cab	Drivers’	Club	Ltd

London	Development	Agency

London	Fire	Service

London	Members	of	Parliament

London	Mobility	Unit																						

London	Motor	Cabs	Proprietors’	Association

London	Pedicabs	(Pedicab	Operator)

London	Private	Hire	Board

London	Rickshaws	(Pedicab	Operator)

London	Suburban	Drivers	Coalition	(LSDC)

London	Taxi	Times

London	Tourist	Board

28

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 028   28 21/6/06   15:35:05

Page 90



London	TravelWatch	(formerly	LTUC)

Magistrates	Association

Metropolitan	Police

	 -	Commissioner

	 -	Project	Sapphire

	 -	TOCU

	 -	Clubs	and	Vice

National	Private	Hire	Association

National	Union	of	Students

Nippy	Bikes	(Pedicab	Operator)

Owner	Drivers’	Society

Pedal	Media	Ltd	(Pedicab	Operator)

Private	Hire	&	Courier

Private	Hire	Car	Association	(PHCA)

Private	Hire	News

Promobikes	Ltd	(Pedicab	Operator)

Ray	Miller	-	Local	Government	Cambridge

Regulatory	Impact	Unit

Robin	Marshal	(Pedicab	Operator)

Rolling	Gallery	(Pedicab	Operator)

Royal	Association	for	Disability	and	Rehabilitation

Royal	National	Institute	for	the	Deaf

Royal	Parks	Police																												

Royal	Society	for	Mentally	Handicapped

SCOPE

Simon	Noall	(Pedicab	Operator)

Small	Business	Service

Society	of	London	Theatre	

Society	of	Professional	Licensed	Taxi	Drivers

Suzy	Lamplugh	Trust

Taxi

Taxi	Globe/NTG	Magazine

Taxi	News

Taxi	Talk

Taxi	Today

TaxiCab	News

TGWU

The	Badge

Tower	Hamlets	Customers	Services

Tower	Hamlets	Race	Equality

Transport	&	General	Workers	Union

Transport	for	London	Board	Members

Transport	for	London

	 -	TPED

	 -	TECO								

	 -	Congestion	Charging	Unit

	 -	Cycling	Centre	of	Excellence

	 -	Equality	and	Inclusion

	 -	London	Underground

	 -	Bus	Priority	Team

Visit	London	(formerly	London	Tourist	Board)

Westminster	Society

Yellow	Pedicabs	Ltd	(Pedicab	Operator)

Zero	Emissions	Real	Options	Ltd		
(Pedicab	Operator)

29

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 029   29 21/6/06   15:35:05

Page 91



Annex B TfL consultation policy statement

Consultation	helps	TfL	to	make	better-informed	
decisions	and	makes	us	accountable	to	the	
public.	It	is	important	to	each	of	the	individual	
businesses.	All	staff	have	a	role	to	play.	

Framework

We	will	comply	with	our	legal	obligations	to	
consult,	including	duties	to	consult	on	best	value	
reviews,	private	hire	licensing,	applications	for	
Transport	&	Works	Act	orders,	changes	to	local	
bus	services,	granting	of	London	service	permits	
and	traffic	orders.

We	will	go	beyond	our	legal	obligations	where	the	
following	three	tests	are	met:

•	 it	will	help	us	to	make	better-informed		 	
decisions	and	become	more	accountable			
to	the	public;

•	 it	is	practical	and	affordable;	and,	

•	 we	have	learnt	what	we	can	learn	from		 	
research,	complaints	and	suggestions.

In	doing	so,	we	will	consider	two	options:

•	 carrying	out	consultations	not	required		 	
by	law.	This	may	involve	going	beyond		 	
the	minimum	requirements	set	out	in		 	
relevant	legislation	by	consulting	more		 	
widely	or	at	additional	stages.	Or	it	may		 	
mean	consulting	on	projects	where	we		 	
have	no	obligation	to	consult	at	all;	and,

•	 meeting	the	public.	For	example,	we	
will	attend	regular	liaison	meetings		
with	London	boroughs,	local	forums,		 	
residents’	associations	and	user	groups.		 	
We	will	maintain	a	continuous	dialogue		
with	the	London	Transport	Users	Committee.	
And	we	will	arrange	open	public	meetings,	
surgeries	and	discussions	with	schools.

Public consultations

Consultations	-	statutory	or	otherwise	-	provide	
us	with	opportunities	to	advocate	what	we	
believe	to	be	right	and	to	listen	to	responses	
from	the	public.	We	will	adhere	to	the		
following	principles.	

Principle 1: Focused and timely

We	should	only	consult	if	we	have	a	clear	
purpose	and	an	open	mind.

•	 we	will	set	specific	objectives	for		 	 	
each	consultation	exercise,	considering		 	
alternative	approaches	such	as		
market	research.	

•	 we	will	seek	public	input	into	the	design		 	
of	options	as	well	as	consulting	on		 	
specific	proposals.

Principle 2: Accessible and targeted

People	directly	affected	by	a	proposal	should	
have	a	right	to	know	about	it	and	an	opportunity	
to	have	their	say.	If	we	fail	to	target	our	audience	
and	develop	appropriate	communication	
materials	and	techniques	we	risk	swamping	
familiar	stakeholders,	while	leaving	the	‘silent	
majority’	and	socially	excluded	groups	without	a	
voice.

•	 we	will	identify	our	target	audiences	and	
appropriate	communication	channels	when	
setting	consultation	objectives;	

•	 we	will	seek	to	explain	why	the	issue		
is	important;	

•	 we	will	use	appropriate	and	accessible	
language	and	formats;	and,	

•	 we	will	give	consultees	the	name	of	someone	
they	can	talk	to.

�0

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 030   30 21/6/06   15:35:05

Page 92



Principle 3: Informative and accountable

If	we	tell	the	public	everything	they	need	to	know,	
they	are	more	likely	to	feel	we	are	accountable	
to	them	and	their	responses	should	be	more	
helpful.

•	 we	will	provide	full	explanations	of	options	and	
proposals	in	plain	language;	

•	 we	will	set	out	clearly	the	previous	stages	in	
the	process	and	what	decisions	have	already	
been	taken;	and,	

•	 we	will	provide	feedback	on	the	consultation,	
explaining	what	we	have	decided	and	why,	and	
saying	what	happens	next.

Principle 4: Timed appropriately

A	common	criticism	of	public	service	
consultations	is	that	we	do	not	give	stakeholder	
groups	enough	time	to	co-ordinate	the	views	of	
their	members	before	they	respond.	The	public	
are	generally	happy	with	shorter	timescales.	
Except	in	circumstances	beyond	our	control:

•	 we	will	give	consultees	a	minimum	of	two	
months	to	respond	to	major	consultations;	
and,	

•	 on	more	minor	local	ones	we	will	give	
stakeholder	groups	a	minimum	of	five	weeks	to	
respond,	and	individual	members	of	the	public	
at	least	three	weeks.

Principle 5: Honest and fair

The	public	will	be	justly	critical	of	us	if	we	appear	
to	favour	particular	options	and	interests	without	
good	reason	or	to	be	withholding	key	information	
in	any	consultation	process.	At	worst	we	may	lay	
ourselves	open	to	costly	legal	action.

•	 we	will	ensure	that	what	we	say	in	our	
proposals	and	feedback	is	accurate	and	
balanced,	while	explaining	it	where		
appropriate	in	the	context	of	the	Mayor’s	
Transport	Strategy;	and,	

•	 we	will	test	any	changes	we	have	introduced,	
involving	the	public	wherever	possible,	and,	if	
we	feel	we	have	got	things	wrong,	admit	and	
rectify	our	mistakes.

Consultation toolkit

The	toolkit	offers	guidance	on	how	to	put	these	
principles	into	practice,	how	to	use	complaints,	
suggestions	and	research,	how	to	consult	the	
public,	how	to	provide	them	with	feedback,	and	
who	you	can	go	to	for	help.

Training

Relevant	managers	and	staff	will	be	offered	
training	in	consultation	and	given	an	opportunity	
to	comment	on	the	toolkit.

Evaluation

Performance	against	this	policy	will	be	evaluated.

�1

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 031   31 21/6/06   15:35:05

Page 93



Annex C Proposed conditions of fitness for pedicabs

Recognising	that	pedicabs	are	expected	to	be	
regarded	as	taxis,	these	draft	Conditions	of	
Fitness	for	Pedicabs	are	based	on	the	existing	
Conditions	of	Fitness	for	motor	hackney	carriages	
(MHCs)	in	London	with	appropriate	modifications.		
The	final	document	may	be	published	as	an	
Annex	to	the	Conditions	of	Fitness	for	MHCs.

Transport for London Public Carriage Office
Conditions of Fitness for Pedicabs

Part 1	 Procedure	to	be	followed	by			 	
manufacturers	and	owners	of	pedicabs	
for	use	in	London.	

1.	 New	types	of	pedicab	

2.	 Presentation	for	vehicle	licence	

3.	 General

Part 2 Conditions	of	Fitness 

4.	 General	construction	

5.	 Wheel	configuration	

6.	 Additional	fittings

7.	 Lighting	

8.	 Steering	

9.	 Tyres	

10.	 Wheel	and	tyre	protection

11.	 Brakes	

12.	 Electrical	equipment	

13.	 Body

14.	 Canopy	or	roof

15.	 Passenger	seating

16.	 Rider’s	area	and	controls.

17.	 Fare	table,	certificate	of	insurance	and	
small	identification	plate

18.	 Floor	covering	

19.	 Audible	warning	device	

20.	 Maintenance

Part 3	 Directions

21.	 Advertisements	

22.	 Badges/Emblems	

23.	 Additional	advisory	requirements	not	
forming	part	of	inspection

Notes

a)	 In	these	Conditions	the	“Licensing	
Authority”	means	Transport	for	London	
which	will	exercise	the	duties	imposed	by	
the	London	Cab	Order	1934	as	amended	
by	the	Greater	London	Authority	Act	
1999.	

b)	 The	term	“approved”	in	the	Conditions	
of	Fitness	refers	to	approval	by	the	
PCO	Head	of	Vehicle	Inspections	and	
Standards.	

c)	 Transport	for	London’s	Conditions	of	
Fitness	in	Part	2	and	Directions	in	Part	
3	are	laid	down	or	made	in	accordance	
with	the	terms	of	paragraphs	7	and	14	
respectively	of	the	London	Cab	Order	
1934,	as	amended.	

d)	 The	Conditions	of	Fitness	in	Part	2	
operate	from	the	commencement	of	
pedicab	licensing.		Vehicles	that	meet	
these	conditions	remain	subject	to	the	
conditions	while	the	vehicle	is	licensed	
unless	specific	amendments	to	the	
Conditions	of	Fitness	for	Pedicabs	
identify	retrospective	requirements.

e)	 The	Directions	in	Part	3	apply	to	all	
licensed	vehicles.	

�2

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 032   32 21/6/06   15:35:05

Page 94



Construction and licensing of pedicabs  
in London

In	accordance	with	the	provisions	of	paragraph	
7	of	the	London	Cab	Order,	1934,	in	pursuance	
of	the	Metropolitan	Public	Carriage	Act	1869,	
no	vehicle	shall	be	licensed	as	a	cab	unless	it	
is	fit	for	public	service	and	conforms	to	the	
requirements	in	this	booklet.		Where	legislation	
identified	within	these	Conditions	of	Fitness	
is	amended	then	those	amendments	are	
automatically	incorporated	in	these	Conditions.

Issued	by:
The	Public	Carriage	Office	
15	Penton	Street	
London,	N1	9PU

Part 1		 Procedure to be followed by 
manufacturers and owners of pedicabs 
for use in London.

1. New types of pedicab 

a)	 Before	constructing	any	new	type	of	
pedicab,	manufacturers	are	advised	to	
study	the	Conditions	of	Fitness	set	out	in	
Part	2	of	this	booklet.		Where	the	design	
or	concept	of	the	proposed	vehicle	is	
significantly	different	from	those	set	out	
here,	the	manufacturer	should	send	to	
the	PCO	Head	of	Vehicle	Inspections	
and	Standards	dimensioned	drawings	
or	blueprints,	together	with	detailed	
specifications	of	the	proposed	cycle,	
for	advice	as	to	its	general	suitability	
for	public	service	in	London.		It	is	also	
advisable	to	arrange	for	a	preliminary	
inspection.		The	address	is:		

	 Public Carriage Office 
1� Penton Street 
London N1 9PU

b)	 In	any	case,	application	for	the	approval	

in	advance	of	licensing	of	a	pedicab	must	
be	made	in	writing	to	the	Public	Carriage	
Office,	and	must	be	accompanied	by	
dimensioned	drawings	or	blueprints,	
together	with	detailed	specifications	and	
any	particulars	required	by	the	Head	of	
Vehicle	Inspections	and	Standards.	

2. Presentation for vehicle licence 

a)	 Before	a	pedicab	licence	can	be	issued,	
the	vehicle	must	be	presented	at	such	
passing	station	or	other	place	that	
Transport	for	London	may	direct	and	any	
previous	licence	and	licence	plate	must	
be	returned.

b)	 A	licence	will	be	issued	for	a	specified	
maximum	number	of	passengers,		
based	on	the	size	of	the	passenger		
area	and	seating.

3. General

a)	 Even	where	the	conditions	set	out	in	
this	booklet	have	been	complied	with,	
approval	will	be	withheld	if	the	Licensing	
Authority	is	of	the	opinion	that	a	vehicle	
is	unsuitable	for	public	use.	

b)	 Although	the	Licensing	Authority	may	
extend	its	approval	of	any	particular	
type	of	pedicab	to	all	other	pedicabs	
conforming	to	the	design	of	that	type,	he	
may	withdraw	such	general	approval	if,	in	
his	opinion,	any	unsuitable	features	arise.	

c)	 It	is	accepted	that	the	nature	of	pedicabs,	
and	in	particular	the	differences	between	
them	and	standard	bicycles,	may	
make	it	impractical	to	comply	with	all	
of	the	requirements	of	the	standards	
and	regulations	referred	to	below.		
Allowances	will	therefore	be	made	for	
situations	identified	below	where	it	is	not	
practical	to	comply.

��

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 033   33 21/6/06   15:35:05

Page 95



Annex C Proposed conditions of fitness for pedicabs
  (continued)

Part 2 Conditions of fitness

N.B.			 The	following	requirements	apply	to	all	
vehicles	licensed	in	London,	including	
those	that	have	been	modified	after		
first	licensing.	

4. General construction 

	 Every	new	and	existing	type	of	pedicab	
must	comply	where	practicable	with	the	
requirements	of:	

a)	 BS	EN	14766	2005	or	equivalent;		

b)	 The	Pedal	Cycle	(Construction	and	Use)	
Regulations	1983;	and,

c)	 The	Pedal	Bicycle	(Safety)	Regulations	
2003	will	apply	to	pedicabs	regardless	of	
seat	height	and	classification	as	a	bicycle.	

5. Wheel configuration

	 Pedicabs	will	be	so	constructed	that	they	
will	have	a	minimum	of	three	wheels,	at	
least	two	at	the	rear	and	one	at	the	front.		
This	will	apply	to	all	pedicabs	unless	
the	Head	of	Vehicle	Inspections	and	
Standards	grants	specific	exemption.	

6. Additional fittings

	 No	fittings,	other	than	those	approved,	
may	be	attached	to	or	carried	on	the	
inside	or	outside	of	the	vehicle.

7. Lighting

	 Pedicabs	must	comply	with	the	Road	
Vehicles	Lighting	Regulations	1989	and	
must	be	fitted	with:

a)	 a	minimum	of	one	obligatory	front	
position	lamp,	(as	identified	in	schedule	
2	of	the	lighting	regulations).		Two	front	
position	lamps	will	be	required	if	the	
pedicab	has	four	or	more	wheels.

b)	 a	minimum	of	two	obligatory	rear	
position	lamps,	(as	identified	in	schedule	
10	of	the	lighting	regulations).

c)	 a	minimum	of	two	obligatory	rear	retro	
reflectors,	(as	identified	in	schedule	18	of	
the	above	regulations).

d)	 a	minimum	of	two	additional	stop	
lamps,	(as	identified	in	schedule	12	of	
the	lighting	regulations).		Illumination	
of	the	stop	lamps	may	be	switched	by	
the	operation	of	either	or	both	braking	
systems,	a	decelerometer	switch	or	
another	automatic	means;	and,

e)	 directional	indicators	(identified	as	
‘optional	direction	indicators’	in	schedule	
7	of	the	lighting	regulations)	must	be	
fitted.	The	visibility	requirements	of	
schedule	7	part	3	must	be	met.

Note:		 the	above	requirements	may	exceed	the	
minimum	requirements	for	pedal	cycles.		

8. Steering 

	 The	driving	position	must	be	the	
forwardmost	position	on	the	pedicab	
unless	granted	specific	exemption	by	
the	Head	of	Vehicle	Inspections	and	
Standards.		The	steering	when	turned	
to	full	lock	in	either	direction	must	not	
affect	the	stability	of	the	vehicle	when	
turning.

9. Tyres 

	 All	tyres	must	comply	with	the		
following	requirements:

a)	 the	tread	pattern	should	be	clearly	visible	
over	the	whole	tread	area,	around	the	
entire	circumference	and	across	the	
whole	breadth	of	the	tread.

��

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 034   34 21/6/06   15:35:06

Page 96



b)	 there	should	be	no	exposed	cords;	and,

c)	 the	load	ratings	of	all	tyres	must	be	
suitable	for	the	pedicab	when	fully	
loaded.	Where	a	tyre	does	not	display	
a	maximum	load	weight,	then	the	tyre	
manufacturer’s	technical	information	
must	be	presented.

10. Wheel and tyre protection

a)	 All	wheels	(including	the	tyre	and	brake	
mechanism)	that	are	in	the	vicinity	of	the	
passenger	compartment	must	be	covered	
for	the	protection	of	passengers	or	their	
clothing.		It	must	not	be	possible	for	
passengers	or	their	clothing	to	touch	any	
part	that	may	rotate	whilst	riding	on	the	
vehicle.	

11. Brakes 

a)	 Braking	systems	used	on	pedicabs	must	
comply	where	practicable	with	the	
requirements	of	BS	EN	14766	2005,	
the	Pedal	Cycle	(Construction	and	Use)	
Regulations	1983	and	relevant	EU	
Directives.11			

b)	 The	braking	system	must	be	at	least	50%	
efficient	at	all	times,	with	or	without	
passengers.	

12. Electrical equipment 

	 Any	electrical	installation	to	the	pedicab,	
including	the	battery	and	switches		
must	be:

a)	 adequately	insulated;

b)	 suitably	protected	from	contact	by	
passengers;

c)	 suitably	fused;

d)	 securely	fitted;	and	

e)	 permanently	wired.

	 Any	electrical	equipment	fitted	must	be	
maintained	in	good	condition	and	fully	
functional.		Any	battery	fitted	must	be	of	
a	type	that	will	not	leak.

13. Body 

a)	 The	overall	size	of	the	pedicab	will	not	
exceed	1250mm	in	width	(excluding	rear	
view	mirror)	or	2650mm	in	length.

b)	 There	must	be	at	least	one	mirror	fitted	
to	the	offside	of	the	vehicle	in	order	to	
monitor	other	road	users.		A	nearside	
mirror	will	also	be	permitted	in	order	to	
monitor	the	view	to	the	nearside.

c)	 The	outer	edge	of	any	entrance	to	the	
floor	of	the	passenger	compartment	
should	not	exceed	38cm	above	ground	
level	when	the	vehicle	is	unladen.		It	
should	be	fitted	with	non-slip	high	
visibility	(yellow)	markings.		These	
markings	should	be	secure	at	all	times	
and	must	not	present	a	trip	hazard.	

d)	 Holds	or	handles	to	aid	passenger	access	
or	egress	should	be	clearly	identified	with	
high	visibility	(yellow)	markings.

11	The	minimum	requirements	for	brakes	is	set	by	regulation	7	of	the	Pedal	Cycle	(Construction	and	Use)	Regulations	1983.		
	 This	section	requires	two	independent	braking	systems	front	and	rear.

��

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 035   35 21/6/06   15:35:06

Page 97



14. Canopy or roof

a)	 Any	canopy	or	roof,	when	fitted,	must	
remain	fixed	in	position	until	required	
to	be	raised	or	lowered.		This	should	
be	achieved	by	means	of	a	locking	
mechanism	to	secure	the	canopy	or		
roof	in	the	raised	or	lowered	position		
as	required.

b)	 Visibility	from	the	passenger	
compartment	must	not	be	restricted	by	
the	design	of	the	pedicab.		If	the	canopy	
or	roof	restricts	vision	then	it	must	
incorporate	a	clear	panel	to	the	rear	no	
smaller	than	600mm	wide	by	200mm	
high.		If	vision	is	restricted	to	the	sides	
then	clear	panels,	not	less	than	200mm	
square,	should	be	incorporated	in	the	
sides.		Any	canopy	or	curtain	to	the	front	
must	be	predominantly	clear.

c)	 Where	the	design	of	the	canopy	or	roof	
does	not	allow	for	windows	or	clear	
panels	of	this	size	then	consideration	
will	be	given	to	a	specific	exemption	
by	the	Head	of	Vehicle	Inspections	and	
Standards.	

15. Passenger Seating

a)	 The	rear	seat	dimensions	must	be	
adequate	to	accommodate	one	or	two	
adult	passengers,	based	on	a	width	of	
450mm	per	passenger.	Passenger	seating	
must	be	forward	facing.

b)	 Every	pedicab	presented	for	licensing	
must	be	fitted	with	seatbelts	which	are	
adequate	to	retain	the	passenger	in	the	
vehicle	and	which	bear	an	EC	or	BSI	mark.	

16. Rider’s area and controls.

a)	 The	rider’s	controls	and	surrounding	
area	must	be	so	designed	that	the	rider	
has	adequate	room,	can	easily	reach	and	
quickly	operate	the	controls	and	give	
hand	signals	when	required.	

b)	 The	position	of	the	rider’s	seat	must	not	
be	such	that	it	restricts	access	or	egress	
to	the	passenger	compartment.	

17. Fare chart, certificate of insurance 
and small identification plate 

	 The	fare	chart	(if	required),	certificate	
of	insurance	and	interior	identification	
plate	must	be	displayed	within	the	view	
of	passengers	and	should	remain	static	
when	the	canopy	or	roof	is	raised		
or	lowered.	

18. Floor covering 

	 The	flooring	of	the	passenger	
compartment	must	be	of	a	non-slip	
material	which	can	be	easily	cleaned.	

19. Audible warning device 

	 Pedicabs	will	be	required	to	have	a	
warning	bell	fitted	complying	with	
the	requirements	of	the	Consumer	
Protection,	Pedal	Bicycles	(Safety)	
Regulations	2003.	

20. Maintenance

	 Pedicabs	and	all	their	fittings,	
advertisements	etc.	must	be	maintained	
to	standards	that	meet	these	Conditions	
of	Fitness	for	pedicabs	throughout	
the	validity	of	the	licence.		The	vehicle	
must	be	kept	clean	and	in	good	order	

Annex C Proposed conditions of fitness for pedicabs
  (continued)

�6

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 036   36 21/6/06   15:35:06

Page 98



at	all	times.		Pedicabs	will	at	all	times	
be	subject	to	test	and	inspection	and,	
should	it	be	found	that	a	vehicle	is	not	
properly	maintained	or	in	good	working	
order,	a	notice	will	be	served	on	the	
owner	prohibiting	its	use	until	the	defect	
has	been	rectified	and	the	vehicle	has	
been	reinspected.

Part 3  Directions 

21. Advertisements 

a)	 Suitable	advertisements	may	be	allowed	
on	the	exterior	or	interior	of	pedicabs	
subject	to	the	approval	of	the	Licensing	
Authority.		All	materials	used	in	the	
manufacture	of,	and	for	the	purpose	of	
fixing,	advertisements	to	the	pedicab	
must	be	approved.	

b)	 Advertisements	will	not	be	approved	
for	use	unless	they	comply	with	the	
Consolidated	Guidelines	for	advertising	
on	licensed	London	taxis.	

22. Badges/Emblems 

a)	 In	addition	to	advertisements	displayed	in	
accordance	with	the	previous	paragraph,	
vehicles	may	display	the	official	badge	
or	emblem	of	organisations	which	
provide	emergency	vehicle	repair	and/or	
recovery	services	or	membership	of	
which	indicates	that	the	rider	possesses	
professional	skills/qualifications	which	
enhance	the	pedicab	service	provided	to	
the	public.		

b)	 Badges	may	be	affixed	to	the	front	of	the	
vehicle	only	and	in	such	a	manner	as	not	
to	be	detrimental	to	the	operation	of	the	
vehicle,	or	likely	to	cause	injury	to	any	
person,	or	to	detract	from	any	authorised	
sign	which	the	vehicle	may	be	required		
to	display.	

c)	 No	advertisement,	badge	or	emblem,	
including	the	stick-on	type	is	to	be	
exhibited	other	than	is	provided	for	in	the	
directions	contained	in	these	paragraphs.	

23. Additional advisory features not 
forming part of inspection 

	 Passenger	compartment

a)	 The	vertical	distance	between	the	
highest	part	of	the	floor	in	the	passenger	
compartment	and	the	underside	of	any	
canopy	or	roof	(when	locked	in	the	raised	
position)	should	be	not	less	than	1.3	
metres.		

b)	 The	materials	used	to	form	the	passenger	
seat	should	be	waterproof	so	that	they	
will	not	absorb	or	retain	water.		Seats	
must	be	constructed	of	a	suitable	fire	
resistant	material	to	BS	5852	part	1	1979	
or	equivalent.

		

	

�7

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 037   37 21/6/06   15:35:06

Page 99



Annex D Proposed rider licensing requirements

1.	 A	licence	will	be	required	for	a	pedicab	
rider	to	ply	for	hire.		The	following	details	
set	out	what	will	be	required	to	obtain	a	
licence	which,	if	issued	under	the	London	
Cab	Order	1934,	will	be	to	a	named	
individual	who	is	the	licensee.		

2.	 Driver	licences	issued	under	the	London	
Cab	Order	1934	are	effective	for	3	years,	
which	will	also	apply	to	pedicab	riders.		

3.	 The	purpose	of	these	requirements	is	
to	ensure	that	any	licence	issued	fulfils	
the	requirements	already	in	place	for	taxi	
driver	and	private	hire	driver	licensing.		
Some	requirements	have	been	modified	
to	ensure	that	they	are	appropriate	to	the	
pedicab	industry.	

4.	 Applicants	would	obtain	an	Application	
Pack	from	the	PCO.		The	application		
form	will	require	information	on	the	
applicant	including:	

	 •	 personal	details	including	name,		 	
	 address,	gender,	age,	date	and	country		
	 of	birth	and	a	contact	telephone		
	 number.	This	is	required	for		 	
	 communication	between	the	PCO		
	 and	the	rider	licence	holder.	Previous		
	 addresses	may	be	required	if	the	period		
	 of	residence	at	the	present	address		
	 is	short.	

	 •	 rider	competence.		Evidence	will	be		
	 required	that	the	applicant	has	achieved		
	 a	suitable	standard.12	

	 •	 details	of	any	previous	applications		
	 to	the	PCO,	in	order	to	reduce	the		
	 possibility	of	multiple	records	for		
	 an	applicant;

	 •	 character	history,	including		 	
	 information	on	convictions,	cautions		
	 and	any	outstanding	charges;13			

	 •	 photographs	for	the	rider’s	licence	and		
	 the	licensing	records;	and,

	 •	 method	of	payment	details.		Standard		
	 information	to	enable	the	payment	of		
	 an	appropriate	fee.

5.	 Riders	are	required	to	be	at	least	21	years	
of	age.14			

6.	 The	PCO	is	considering	whether	a	
Knowledge	of	London	test	appropriate	to	
pedicabs	and	their	operating	area	would	
be	beneficial. 			

7.	 The	PCO	is	also	considering	the	need		
for	a	medical	fitness	standard	for		
pedicab	riders.

�8

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 038   38 21/6/06   15:35:06

15

16

		12	Paragraph	5.5.
		13	Paragraph	5.7.
		14	See	also	paragraph	5.6.
		15	Paragraph	5.8.
		16	Paragrapgh	5.9.

Page 100



1.	 A	pedicab	vehicle	licence	will	last	for	one	
year	if	licensed	under	the	London	Cab	
Order	1934.		The	licence	and	identifying	
plate	would	be	issued	and	the	plate	
affixed	to	the	rear	of	the	vehicle.		The	
plate	will	have	a	unique	number.		Both	
items	would	remain	the	property	of	TfL	
and	would	be	returned	when	expired.	

2.	 A	vehicle	would	be	licensed	by	its		
owner,	whether	owner-rider	or	proprietor.		
A	proprietor	owns	or	represents	a		
company	which	rents	licensed	vehicles	to	
licensed	riders.	

3.	 The	owner	of	a	pedicab	will	complete	
an	application	pack	obtained	from	the	
PCO.		This	will	require	the	following	
information:	

	 •	 personal	details,	name,	address	
		 and	contact	telephone	number.	All	
	 pedicab	licences	will	be	registered	to	an		
	 owner.	If	the	application	is	on	behalf	of	
	 a	company,	the	applicant	will	be		 	
	 required	to	state	their	position	in	the		
	 company	and	to	confirm	that	they	are		
	 authorised	to	make	the	application;	

	 •	 pedicab	details,	frame	number,	make,		
	 model	and	colour.		This	information		
	 is	required	to	identify	a	vehicle.		The		
	 frame	number	is	equivalent	to	the			
	 chassis	or	vehicle	identification	number		
	 on	a	motor	vehicle.		As	pedicabs	do		
	 not	have	a	registration	number	then	the		
	 frame	number	will	be	used	with	the		
	 PCO	licence	number	to	individually		
	 identify	the	vehicle;		

	 •	 address	at	which	pedicab	will	be	kept.			
	 The	address	of	the	owner	may	differ		
	 from	the	address	at	which	the	pedicab		
	 is	kept.		The	PCO	may	from	time	to		
	 time	require	to	inspect	a	pedicab	and		
	 will	therefore	need	to	know	the		 	
	 location	where	it	is	kept;

	 •	 method	of	payment	details.		Standard		
	 information	to	enable	the	payment	of		
	 an	appropriate	fee;	and,

	 •	 there	will	also	be	a	declaration	that	the		
	 information	given	is	correct	and	true.

4.	 The	pedicab	owner	will	be	required	
to	maintain	records	of	who	uses	each	
pedicab	and	for	what	periods.		The	
owner	will	have	responsibility	for	any	
offences	relating	to	that	pedicab	and	will	
be	required	to	provide	the	PCO	and	the	
relevant	authorities	with	details	of	the	
rider	when	requested.

5.	 The	cost	of	a	licence	for	a	pedicab,	which	
is	expected	to	be	for	one	year,	is	not	yet	
finalised.		An	indication	of	costs	is	given	
in	the	regulatory	impact	assessment	but	
is	expected	to	be	equivalent	to	other	
licenses	issued	by	the	PCO,	at	present	
around	£100.00	for	the	year.

	

	

Annex E Proposed vehicle licensing requirements

�9

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 039   39 21/6/06   15:35:07

Page 101



Annex F Presentation of a pedicab for licensing 

1.	 Once	the	application	for	the	pedicab	
vehicle	licence	has	been	submitted	and	
accepted,	the	vehicle	will	be	presented	
for	inspection	and,	if	accepted,	the	
licence	will	be	issued.		

2.	 The	location	of	the	inspection	will	be	as	
directed	by	the	PCO.		This	may	be	one	or	
more	sites	selected	by	the	PCO,	or	may	
be	the	premises	of	the	licensee.18			

3.	 The	inspection	will	consist	of	an	
examination	of	the	vehicle	against	the	
Conditions	of	Fitness	for	Pedicabs	(Annex	
C).		It	is	expected	to	consist	of	the	
following	elements:

	 •	 confirmation	that	the	pedicab		
	 is	of	a	type	that	meets	the		
	 described	configuration;

	 •	 an	inspection	to	confirm	that	all	the		
	 requirements	of	the	Conditions	of		
	 Fitness	for	Pedicabs	are	met;

	 •	 an	inspection	to	determine	that	the		
	 vehicle	is	free	from	defects;	and,

	 •	 confirmation	that	the	vehicle	has		 	
	 appropriate	insurance.

4.	 If	a	pedicab	fails	the	inspection,	the	
reasons	for	the	failure	will	be	confirmed	
in	writing	and	a	date	for	re-inspection	of	
the	failed	items	will	be	given.		A	pedicab	
will	be	re-inspected	once	at	no	additional	
charge.		A	re-inspection	must	take	
place	within	21	days:	otherwise	a	new	
inspection	will	be	required.	

5.	 If	a	pedicab	fails	the	inspection	a	
second	time	then	a	further	appointment	
will	need	to	be	applied	for	with	an	
appropriate	charge	for	the	inspection	
only.		This	approach	is	consistent	with	
other	vehicles	licensed	by	the	PCO.

6.	 The	brake	test	applied	to	pedicabs	
is	expected	to	be	measured	by	a	
deceleration	meter.		The	figure	of	50%	
performance	(identified	in	the	Conditions	
of	Fitness	for	Pedicabs)	is	equivalent	to	
the	performance	of	main	braking	systems	
of	other	vehicles	licensed	by	the	PCO.

	

18	See	paragraph	7.18.	

�0

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 040   40 21/6/06   15:35:07

Page 102



Annex G Regulatory impact assessment

 Overview

1.	 This	assessment	estimates	the	benefits	
and	costs	of	licensing	pedicabs	using	
the	London	Cab	Order	1934	and	
accompanying	regulations.		The	existing	
Order	does	not	specifically	encompass	
pedicabs,	their	owners	or	riders	and	will	
therefore	require	amendment.		

2.	 The	purpose	of	these	changes	is:

	 •	 to	give	pedicab	passengers	in	London		
	 comparable	protection	to	taxi	and		
	 private	hire	passengers	against		 	
	 offences,	as	far	as	rider	and	proprietor/	
	 owner	regulations	allow,	and	

	 •	 to	enable	regulation	of	the	vehicle		
	 design	in	order	to	improve	the	overall		
	 safety	and	operation	of	pedicabs	as	far		
	 as	is	practicable	with	this	type	of		 	
	 vehicle	in	the	London	environment.

3.	 The	London	Cab	Order	1934	sets	
requirements	for	the	licensing	of	taxi	
drivers	and	vehicles.		It	permits	the	
granting	of	licences,	provides	for	the	
setting	of	fees	and	makes	provision	
for	refunds	in	certain	circumstances.		
The	order	confirms	that	it	is	the	owner	
or	proprietor	who	is	responsible	for	
obtaining	a	vehicle	licence.		Proposals	
for	the	licensing	of	pedicab	riders	
and	vehicles	are	presented	in	this	
consultation	document,	together	with	
proposed	Conditions	of	Fitness	which	a	
pedicab	must	meet	before	issue	of		
a	licence.	

4.	 The	alterations	to	the	Order	are	expected	
to	be	introduced	on	one	given	day.	There	
may	be	requirements	for	temporary	
rider	licences	and/or	vehicle	licences.		
There	may	also	be	a	requirement	for	
an	appropriate	form	of	topographical	
knowledge	testing.	

 Benefits

5.	 The	benefits	of	licensing	pedicabs	and	
their	riders	will	accrue	to:

	 •	 the	public	and	tourists	who		
	 use	pedicabs;

	 •	 the	owners	and	proprietors	of		
	 pedicab	businesses;

	 •	 TfL	(including	the	PCO)	and	other		 	
	 regulatory	and	enforcement	bodies;		
	 and,

	 •	 other	road	users.		

These	benefits	fall	broadly	into	the	
following	categories:

	 •	 passenger	and	road	safety;

	 •	 industry	standards	and	public		 	
	 perception;	and,

	 •	 enforcement.

6.	 The	proposed	licensing	scheme	will	
bring	benefits	which	some	pedicab	
associations	have	sought	to	achieve	
through	a	code	of	practice	for	pedicab	
operators	and	a	code	of	conduct	for	
pedicab	riders.		The	licensing	scheme	
covers	the	areas	that	these	voluntary	
requirements	address.		

�1

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 041   41 21/6/06   15:35:07

Page 103



Annex G Regulatory impact assessment 
 (continued)

 Passenger safety 

7.	 Licensing	is	expected	to	improve	
passenger	safety	by	bringing	order	to	a	
service	that	is	at	present	unregulated	and	
in	particular	by	the	following	means:

	 •	 Pedicab	riders	will	be	licensed		 	
	 taking	into	account	their	competence,		
	 character	and	health	to	reduce	any	risk		
	 to	passengers.		This	may	include	a		
	 check	on	any	convictions;

	 •	 All	pedicabs	will	be	inspected	and			
	 confirmed	as	mechanically	sound	and		
	 suitable	for	use	as	a	pedicab	before		
	 issue	of	a	licence;

	 •	 Licensed	pedicabs	will	be	positively		
	 identifiable	via	a	licence	plate	issued	by		
	 the	PCO;

	 •	 Pedicab	riders	will	be	positively		 	
	 identifiable	through	the	vehicle	licence		
	 plate	and	by	the	records	maintained	by		
	 the	operator;	and,

	 •	 Pedicabs	will	be	subject	to	interim		
	 inspections	within	the	licensing	period.

 Industry standards and public 
perception 

8.	 Whilst	some	pedicab	operators	have	
regulated	themselves	to	work	to	a	
set	of	standards,	there	are	no	formal	
requirements	and	it	can	be	difficult	for	
those	who	conform	to	these	standards	
to	compete	against	others	who	do	not.		
The	proposed	licensing	system	will	
require	all	pedicabs	to	operate	to	the	
same	standards.		This	will	improve	public	
perception	of	pedicabs	which	are	seen	
by	many	to	be	a	fun	and	novel	form	of	

transport.		It	is	expected	that	licensing	
will	also:

	 •	 encourage	vehicle	manufactures	to		
	 improve	vehicle	standards;

	 •	 improve	the	availability	of	insurance	to		
	 pedicab	operators	and	riders;	

	 •	 improve	public	awareness	of	the		 	
	 limitations	of	pedicabs	as	to	distance		
	 and	passenger	safety;	and,	

	 •	 clearly	identify	their	area	of	operation		
	 so	that	the	public	and	other	service		
	 providers	understand	the	limitation	of		
	 the	pedicab	service.

 Enforcement 

9.	 The	identification	of	unlicensed	pedicabs	
will	become	more	efficient	as	a	result	of:	

	 •	 the	licence	plate	affixed	to	the	rear	of		
	 all	licensed	vehicles;	and,

	 •	 the	recording	of	proprietor	and	rider		
	 details	on	a	central	database.

10.	 These	provisions	will	also	enable	any	
offending	licensed	vehicle,	owner	or		
rider	to	be	traced	through	the	licence	
plate	number.

 Effects on business 

11.	 London’s	pedicab	industry	including	
riders,	proprietors	and	manufacturers	
would	all	be	affected	by	the	introduction	
of	pedicab	licensing.		The	effect	is	
expected	to	be	comparable	to	that	in	
similar	activities	such	as	the	taxi	and	
private	hire	trades.

�2

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 042   42 21/6/06   15:35:07

Page 104



12.	 Estimates	of	the	size	of	the	pedicab	
industry	in	London	have	been	derived	
with	the	London	Pedicab	Operators	
Association	(LPOA).		It	is	considered	that	
there	are	250-300	pedicabs	operating		
in	London,	some	owned	by	the	rider	but	
many	rented	to	individual	riders	by		
an	operator.

 Implications for pedicab owners  
and proprietors

13.	 An	owner	or	proprietor	is	required	to	
ensure	that	all	licensed	pedicabs	meet	
the	licensing	requirements	at	all	times.		
Owners	and	proprietors	may	also	be	
required	to	complete	a	Criminal	Records	
Bureau	(CRB)	enhanced	check	as	they	
will	control	the	use	of	pedicabs	and	
so	should	meet	the	same	standards	
of	character.		This	is	equivalent	to	the	
requirements	of	taxi	proprietors.

14.	 An	owner	or	proprietor	of	a	pedicab	will	
also	be	required	to	maintain	a	record	
of	riders	and	their	use	of	individual	
pedicabs	by	date	and	time.		This	will	
enable	identification	of	the	rider	of	a	
pedicab	at	any	time,	and	equivalent	to	
the	requirements	of	taxi	proprietors.

 Regulatory impact on vehicle 

15.	 The	proposed	Conditions	of	Fitness	for	
pedicabs	will	help	the	industry	develop	
pedicabs	that	are	most	suitable	for	their	
purpose.		The	comments	of	all	sections	
of	the	pedicab	industry	are	sought	in	this	
consultation	exercise	in	order	to	ensure	
that	all	requirements	are	taken		
into	account.

 Cost of licensing 

16.	 The	costs	of	introducing	the	proposed	
pedicab	licensing	scheme	in	London	are	
considered	in	section	10	above.

17.	 TfL	has	a	statutory	responsibility	to	
recover	the	entire	pedicab	licensing	costs	
through	the	licence	fees.		The	cost	of	the	
annual	vehicle	licence	is	proposed	to	be	
£100.

18.	 The	cost	of	a	rider	licence	is	expected	
to	be	£185	for	a	three	year	period.		The	
applicant	would	in	addition	incur	a	charge	
for	the	external	medical	examination	
which	is	expected	to	be	£60,	should	this	
be	required.

19.	 This	is	a	total	annual	cost	to	the	industry	
of	£48,500	(excluding	any	medical	costs),	
equivalent	to	£161.67	per	vehicle	and	
rider.		This	gives	a	weekly	cost	over	52	
weeks	of	£3.11,	of	which	£1.92	arises	
to	the	proprietor	and	£1.19	to	the	rider.		
These	costs	do	not	include	insurance	and	
maintenance.

20.	 The	total	cost	to	the	industry	of	£48,500	
represents	expenditure	incurred	by	the	
PCO	in	respect	of:

	 •	 administration	and	conduct	of	vehicle		
	 inspections;	

	 •	 administration	and	issue	of	pedicab		
	 licences	and	plates;

	 •	 administration	and	assessment	of	rider		
	 applications;

	 •	 rider	CRB	checks;	

	 •	 appeals	procedure;	and,

	 •	 rider	and	vehicle	compliance		 	
	 enforcement.

��

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 043   43 21/6/06   15:35:07

Page 105



Annex G Regulatory impact assessment 
 (continued)

21.	 It	is	generally	accepted	that	licensing	will	
benefit	the	pedicab	industry	in	London.		
The	responses	to	this	consultation	
document	will	be	used	to	develop	the	
proposals	to	ensure	that	these	benefits	
are	maximised.

 Risk reduction

22.	 The	present	lack	of	regulation	and	very	
limited	controls	on	pedicabs	in	London	is	
considered	to	pose	unnecessary	risks	to	
users	and	to	the	public	at	large.		Whilst	
most	pedicabs	are	understood	to	be	
insured,	there	is	no	check	on	this.		

23.	 The	pedicab	trade	in	London	has	worked	
to	achieve	a	degree	of	self-regulation	
through	an	operators’	association	and	
by	introducing	voluntary	standards.		It	is	
expected	that	licensing	will:

	 •	 improve	safety	for	passengers	through		
	 rider	licensing;	

	 •	 improve	the	standards	of	vehicles,	

	 •	 ensure	proper	identification	of	pedicab		
	 riders,	vehicles	and	operators	through		
	 the	licensing	register;	

	 •	 assist	the	police	and	traffic	authorities		
	 in	maintaining	proper	road	behaviour	by		
	 pedicabs;	and,

	 •	 ensure	that	vehicles	are	properly		 	
	 insured.	

24.	 These	changes	will	act	to	reduce	risks	
within	the	pedicab	industry.		

��

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 044   44 21/6/06   15:35:07

Page 106



This	document	in	its	entirety	forms	the	
consultation	document	and	any	part	of	it	may	
be	referred	to	in	a	response.		Comments	are	
specifically	invited	on	the	following	points	from	
the	main	document,	but	comment	need	not	be	
limited	to	these.

 Rider licensing 

5.5		 Rider	competence

5.7		 Character

5.8		 Topographical	knowledge

5.9		 Medical	fitness

 Area of operation

6.3		 Defining	the	areas

6.5		 Other	sectors	or	areas

 Vehicle inspection 

7.18			 Inspecting	the	vehicle
&	7.19

 Fares

9.5	 Method	of	fare	charge

Annex H Aide memoir

��

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 045   45 21/6/06   15:35:08

Page 107



Annex I

An	area	of	operation	has	been	identified	within	
this	document	as	the	Central	London	congestion	
charging	zone	(as	at	31	March	2006).	

For	the	purpose	of	identifying	this	zone		
relevant	to	this	document,	it	is	the	area	inside	
and	excluding	the	following	roads	and	any		
short	connecting	roads	(clockwise	from		
Vauxhall	Bridge):

•	 Vauxhall	Bridge	Road

•	 Bressenden	Place

•	 Lower	Grosvenor	Place

•	 Grosvenor	Place

•	 Duke	of	Wellington	Place

•	 Hyde	Park	Corner

•	 Park	Lane

•	 Marble	Arch

•	 Old	Marylebone	Road

•	 Marylebone	Road

•	 Euston	Road

•	 Grays	Inn	Road

•	 Swinton	Street

•	 Penton	Rise

•	 Penton	Ville	Road

•	 Goswell	Street

•	 Wakley	Street

•	 City	Road

•	 Old	Street

•	 Great	Eastern	Street

•	 Commercial	Street

•	 White	Chapel	High	Street

•	 Mansell	Street

•	 Mans	Yard

•	 Minories

•	 Tower	Bridge	Approach

•	 Tower	Bridge

•	 Tower	Bridge	Road

•	 Old	Kent	Road

•	 New	Kent	Road

•	 Elephant	and	Castle

•	 Newington	Butts

•	 Kennington	Lane

•	 Vauxhall	Bridge

�6

PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 046   46 21/6/06   15:35:08

Page 108



PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 047   47 21/6/06   15:35:08

Page 109



PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 047   47 21/6/06   15:35:08

Page 110



PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 047   47 21/6/06   15:35:08

Page 111



PCO Pedicab Consulation Doc A4 048   48 21/6/06   15:35:08

Page 112



Page 113

lpelling_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1b



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 144



Pedicabs in London 
 

The Issue 
 

To introduce myself, I was part of the group who first introduced pedicabs into London in 1998 and 

as such have been involved in the many vicissitudes of the developing industry over the years. 

 

Pedicabs have become a feature of central London since 1998, adding colour and vibrancy to the 

streetscape, carrying passengers on relatively short, safe, emission-free journeys around this 

dynamic entertainment area, and it is evident that pedicabs have proved to be very popular with the 

public. 

 

However, the lack of any regulation has lead increasingly to elements of the industry operating 

without insurance, training or indeed putting into place any of the measures the public should be 

able to expect of fit and proper businesses in the transport sector. Lack of accountability has also 

made enforcement by the police for traffic offences very difficult. Rip-off fares, and anti-social 

behaviour, have coloured the reputation of the entire industry and clearly raises public safety issues. 

This needs to be addressed urgently for the benefit of all stakeholders. 

 

This paper proposes the introduction of a Registration Scheme for the industry on the basis of the 

current legal status and modus operandi of pedicabs, which we believe would be relatively quick, 

economic and straightforward. More detail is set out below, but essentially this would facilitate 

identification of all elements of the industry – operators, riders and pedicabs, and introduce 

accountability to the public, the police and the authorities. With a clear distinction between those 

Registered and those not Registered we have set out the means by which, through enforcement, a 

‘carrot and stick’ approach would benefit those Registered and become a significant disadvantage 

for those not Registered. 

 

 

Background 
 

In 2003 Pedicabs were defined in the High Court (R(oao Oddy) v Bugbugs Ltd) as Stage Carriages 

under S4 of the Metropolitan Public Carriage Act 1869. As such pedicabs can ply-for-hire in any 

street or place in Greater London, but are not subject to any Regulation. Leave to appeal the 

decision was not granted. This remains the authoritative judgement.  

 

In 2006, Transport for London (TfL) applied to the Administrative Court to seek a Declaration to 

overturn the above decision, re-define pedicabs as Hackney Carriages, and then if successful, to 

license pedicabs as Hackney Carriages. In tandem with this The Public Carriage Office (PCO) 

launched a Public Consultation on The Licensing of Pedicabs (copy attached) and the subsequent 

responses were broadly positive in favour of licensing (copy attached). The PCO (TfL) later 

abandoned this strategy together with the litigation on which it was based. 

 

In 2009 Westminster City Council (WCC) and TfL in collaboration with the London Pedicab 

Operators’ Association (LPOA), formulated a Registration Scheme around the last LLA & TfL 

Bill. We believe that this straightforward Registration Scheme would have been effective and 

economic to set up. Considering the relatively small number of pedicabs compared to licensed taxis 

and private hire vehicles, and the limited scope of operation, this would certainly have been 

appropriate at least in the short term, perhaps initially as a pilot. 

 

The above scheme was entitled Registration Scheme for Pedicab Operators and Pedicabs 

Approved by the Mayor, which was agreed between WCC, TfL the Met Police and the LPOA, all 

of whom were confident that this initiative was lawful and would be effective.  

 

Page 145

lpelling_2
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1c



As part of the Registration Scheme WCC (and TfL) undertook to install the essential pedicab 

stands (ranks) at appropriate points on the highway, for those registered under the Scheme. 

This initiative was abandoned for reasons that remain unclear. 

 

In 2014 The Law Commission made recommendations that pedicabs could be brought under 

existing Taxi legislation. However, the stated aim of the previous Mayor was to then use this 

recommendation, once legislation had been amended, to ban pedicabs on the basis that pedicabs 

could not comply with the Standards set for Taxis (Hackney Carriages). 

 

Pedicab Clauses have been tabled in a number of government Bills (Road Safety (2005), Local 

Transport (2007), GLA (2007)) and Private Bills (two LLA & TfL Bills) in parliament, none of 

which have been accepted by either House. 

 

Summary 

In summary, despite numerous attempts through litigation and legislation, nothing whatsoever has 

been achieved to control pedicabs since 1998 even though it’s been the stated aim of the DfT, all 

the London authorities, the Met Police and the London Pedicab Operators’ Association (LPOA) to 

support the necessary Regulation of pedicabs.  

 

Clearly a fresh and pragmatic approach needs to be taken to move this issue forwards for the benefit 

of London.  

 

In order to introduce a Licensing Scheme for pedicabs new legislation will be required. This will 

take time, and is very likely to meet with robust challenges along the way. 

 

Proposal for the Future 
 

Under Part 1V Chapter 1 "Transport Functions of the Authority” of The Greater London 

Authority Act 1999 there is a general transport duty under S141 (1), which states:  

The Mayor shall develop and implement policies for the promotion and encouragement of safe, 

integrated, efficient and economic transport facilities and services to, from and within Greater 

London 

 

The Mayor clearly has the authority and indeed the duty to introduce measures that would make a 

real difference to the image, reputation, overall safety and accountability of the pedicab industry.  

 

The Registration Scheme Approved by the Mayor devised in 2009 mentioned above (Appendix 

1, with TfL as the Registrar) would not require a legislative framework since this is not a Licensing 

Scheme and therefore no ‘licence’ would be granted, although if set up properly it would in effect 

mimic a formal licensing framework. Please also see the Rider Agreement (Code of Conduct)  

(appendix 11) 

 

The criteria for registering pedicabs, riders and operators were discussed in detail between TfL, 

WCC, the Met Police and the LPOA therefore much of the work has already been undertaken by 

the key stakeholders. The provision of pedicab stands is also a crucial requirement if the control of 

pedicabs is to be successful. 

 

Accountability 

 

The Met Police are frustrated in their duty, due to the lack of accountability of the industry and the 

difficulties of identifying and therefore taking effective enforcement action against pedicab riders. 

The Registration Scheme would provide the basis for distinguishing between those Registered and 

those not Registered. 

 

Those Registered, identified and therefore complying with the Scheme (riders, pedicabs, operators) 

would provide a high degree of certainty for the authorities that the Standards set out have been Page 146



achieved. This is crucial and it is entirely reasonable because it’s so important that those working on 

the streets of London are known and accountable to the authorities and the public, to ensure as 

much as is possible public safety. Enforcement of road traffic Regulations and the prevention of 

crime and disorder would also be facilitated for the police. 

 

The Key to the success of a Registration Scheme - Enforcement 
 

Clearly there must be a ‘carrot and a stick’ to make a Registration Scheme effective – ie as with a 

statutory licensing scheme, there must be a real incentive and benefit to enrol and comply with the 

Scheme and a big disadvantage in not doing so. The following is based on Advice received from 

senior Counsel. 

 

Those not Registered on the Scheme would be in a very different position to those Registered, in 

that the authorities would have no certainty about the identity of the unregistered riders, operators 

or who owns the pedicab. Moreover, the authorities would have no idea whether or not they comply 

with other criteria set out in the Scheme (the status quo today) – eg insurance, rider training etc 

(Appendices 1 and 11). 

 

If an offence is committed (road traffic or other) then the police could use the Metropolitan Police 

Act 1839 (MPA) to seize (distrain) the pedicabs of those not Registered. 

 

The distraining involves seizing the pedicab and holding it until (often several weeks later) the rider 

is either convicted (and pays any fine) or is acquitted. Having the pedicab off the road in that way 

causes considerable inconvenience (and financial loss) to the companies which own the pedicabs 

and rent them to the riders, for which the police need not offer compensation. 

The police can rely on section 68 of the MPA as the legal basis for seizing. It states that: 

“Whenever any person having charge of any horse, cart, carriage, or boat, or any other animal or 

thing, shall be taken into the custody of any constable under the provisions of this Act, it shall be 

lawful for any constable to take charge of such horse, cart, carriage, or boat, or such other animal 

or thing, and to deposit the same in some place of safe custody, as a security for payment of any 

penalty to which the person having had charge thereof may become liable, and for payment of any 

expenses which may have been necessarily incurred for taking charge of and keeping the same; [...]” 

The power to seize is thus given in order to provide security for payment of any penalties. It is not 

there for any other purpose. Nor can it be used for any other purpose. It cannot, for example, be 

used as a mechanism simply to remove pedicabs from the street for some ulterior reason. 

It is also a power, which (the police being a ‘public authority’ within the meaning of the Human 

Rights Act 1998) must be exercised compatibly with Convention rights including, of relevance 

here, Article 1 Protocol 1 of the European Convention on Human Rights: 

“Every natural or legal person is entitled to the peaceful enjoyment of his possessions. No one shall 

be deprived of his possessions except in the public interest and subject to the conditions provided 

for by law and by the general principles of international law.   The preceding provisions shall not, 

however, in any way impair the right of a State to enforce such laws as it deems necessary to 

control the use of property in accordance with the general interest or to secure the payment of 

taxes or other contributions or penalties.” 

The case law of the ECtHR has established that interference with property ‘in the public interest’ 

must be according to law, necessary and proportionate if it is to be lawful. 

The police would need to be able to justify seizing by reference to the purpose for which the MPA 

gives them that power – namely in order to secure payment of penalties.  

Operators (Registered) which own pedicabs would be subject to checks which means that there is 

no good reason for the police to doubt that they could and would pay any fines; and they carry ID 

documents etc. Likewise, the pedicabs in question would be clearly identified as belonging to Page 147



reputable and registered operators such that the police would have no difficulty tracing riders and 

holding them to account even without them carrying their own ID. That is in contrast to the position 

of those other riders / operators (not Registered) some of which may well not carry proper ID, or 

be properly traceable (such that it might be reasonable of the police to conclude that seizing was 

necessary and proportionate in the case of those other riders. 

The point could be made even clearer with a Registration Scheme in place. The proposal is for 

riders and pedicabs covered by the Scheme to be clearly identifiable in a way which would confirm 

to the police (or other relevant officials) that their ID (including address etc) was clear and had been 

checked and confirmed by TfL  The process could also (by way of additional comfort on safety and 

other matters) confirm things such as training, insurance, quality of pedicab, etc. 

It would be up to riders / operators not registered on the Scheme either to take their chances with 

seizing, or to find some other way of persuading the police not to seize their pedicabs, perhaps by 

developing their own Scheme, which is very unlikely. 

 

Mechanism 

 

TfL could set up the Registration Scheme economically using few resources. Application software 

(which can be demonstrated) is available and could be made available to TfL enabling TfL to 

Register comprehensive data on riders, pedicabs and operators of pedicabs. The data in the system 

can be shared with the Met Police in a timely manner, thus providing full accountability of those 

Registered. 

 

Our understanding is that the Registration Scheme would not impose legal liabilities on TfL 

because it would simply be a means of identification for enforcement purposes and not an official 

licensing scheme. The fact that there are conditions for Registration is a matter for the participants 

to submit authentic information. If any information or documents provided turn out to be incorrect 

or fraudulent (and they have signed that it is genuine) then any legal liabilities would remain with 

the Applicant. 

 

 

Benefits of a Registration Scheme in Summary 
 

Safety – pedicabs have had an excellent safety record for over 18 years – Registration can only 

further enhance this record. 

 

Accountability and Enforcement – clear and unique identification of all pedicabs, riders and 

operators for enforcement purposes. The very fact that there is identification would curb poor 

behaviour and assist in the removal of the rogues using the mechanism outlined above. 

 

Environmental -  emission-free transport in congested and polluted inner city areas. The proposal to 

close Oxford Street and other roads to motor vehicles would be a good opportunity for pedicabs to 

transport those with mobility difficulties or large shopping bags. 

 

Employment – real employment opportunities with many positive outputs.  

 

Security – pedicabs have a ‘presence’ at street level, which enhances public safety + riders often 

provide directions and other information to pedestrians. 

 

Image – Registration would raise the standards, image and reputation of the industry very 

significantly, which would be commensurate with the status of London as a world-class city. 

 

Pedicab Ranks – essential and would resolve any issues about inappropriate stopping and parking 

 

Page 148



Electrically Assisted Pedal Cycle Regulations have recently been amended, and now permit a 

pedicab to be fitted with a 250W electric motor. This provides assistance to riders on set-off and on 

uphill gradients, mitigating the slowing of other traffic. 

 

Fares – there have been reports that rip-off fares have been charged for pedicab journeys. We are 

confident that, as with other criteria, instances of this, if reported, will result in removal of the 

culprits from the Scheme. 

 

Conclusion 
 

The issue of pedicabs has exercised all stakeholders for over 18 years, yet absolutely nothing has 

been achieved apart from allowing parts of the industry to adopt minimum standards of operation, 

which is highly undesirable for the safety of the public and the image and reputation of London. 

 

The consequences of the lack of regulation are starkly evident today. As primarily a London issue 

we are asking the Mayor to review the powers of his office to establish whether or not there is any 

encumbrance preventing the introduction by TfL of a Registration Scheme for pedicabs. 

Considering the fact that TfL and WCC proposed such a Scheme in 2009, and were content to do 

so, this is the most pragmatic option currently available. 

 

Now is therefore the time for a new and pragmatic approach for the benefit of London and all 

stakeholders. 

 

 

Chris Smallwood 

September 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 149



 

Appendix 1 

Transport for London 

 

Registration Scheme for Pedicab 

Operators and Pedicabs approved by the 

Mayor 
 

 

PREAMBLE: 

 

This Scheme has been established by Transport for London for the purposes of registering Pedicab 

Ooperators who operate their business in the Greater London and for registering their Pedicabs. It 

also makes provision about the registration of Pedicab Riders. 

 

This is a scheme approved by the Mayor of London. Under existing case law, Pedicabs are classified 

as “stage carriages” and can ply-for-hire in any street or place in Greater London, under the 

Metropolitan Public Carriage Act 1869 and consequentially no statutory registration or licensing 

scheme applies to them.  

 
1 Definitions 

In this Scheme— 

“the Riders’ Code” means the agreed Code of Conduct for Pedicab Riders from time to 
time updated by TfL (see Appendix 11); 

“Applicant” means an Operator or Owner-rider making an application for registration 
under this Scheme; 

“TfL” means Transport for London; 

 “Operator” means— 

(a) an Owner-rider; or 

(b) any other person who carries on a business which consists, in whole or in 
part, of— 

(i) the ownership of Pedicabs; 

(ii) the letting out of Pedicabs to riders for use as a Pedicab for immediate 
hire;  or 

(iii) taking bookings for the use of Pedicabs by passengers 

“Owner-rider” means a person who owns a Pedicab and carries on a business which 
consists, in whole or in part, of making the Pedicab available for the purpose of 
carrying passengers; 

“Pedicab” means a cycle constructed or adapted— 

(a) to seat one or more passengers; and 
Page 150



(b) for the purpose of being made available with a drivrider in the course of a 
business for the purpose of carrying passengers; 

“Pedicab Competencies Module” means the module produced by the Cyclists’ Touring 
Club (CTC) and appended to this Code, which sets out training, riding and 
customer care requirements  

“Registered Rider” means a Rider who is registered as a Rider of an Operator under 
paragraph 6 (rider registration) of this Scheme; 

“Relevant Fee” means the fee payable per pedicab on making an application under 
paragraph 4(3) of this Scheme; 

“Registered Operator” means an Operator registered under paragraph 2 (Operator 
registration) of this Scheme; 

“Registration Plate” means a registration plate on which is displayed a registration 
number and which complies with TfL’s requirements; 

“the Safety Check” means a safety check of Pedicabs complying with a documented 
procedure agreed by TfL and concerning lights, indicators, safety belts, tyres, 
spokes, brakes, gears and frame; 

“Serious Contravention” means when a rider is observed contravening the following 
parking or moving traffic controls; parking in a bus lane, on a bus stop clearway or 
on zig-zag markings that relate to a pedestrian crossing, or disobeying a red light, 
travelling along a one-way street in the wrong direction; or when a rider is convicted 
of a moving traffic offence; 

2 Operator Registration 

(1) The TfL shall register an Operator if an application is made under paragraph 4 
(applications) of this Scheme and the conditions of sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) are met 
and (subject to paragraph 10(3) (enforcement) of this Scheme) TfL shall keep the 
Operator registered if the conditions of sub-paragraph (3) and (4) below are met. 

(2) The condition of this sub-paragraph is that the Relevant Fee is paid to TfL. 

(3) The conditions of this sub-paragraph are that— 

(a) the Operator has in place third party public liability insurance (with minimum cover 
of £5,000,000 for any one event) to cover all Pedicabs that are— 

(i) owned by the Operator; and  

(ii) ridden by him or her or his or her Registered Riders (or prospective 
Registered Riders); and 

(iii) used or to be used for carrying passengers for hire or reward; 

(b) all the Operator’s Registered Riders have signed and agreed to the Riders’ Code; 

(c) the Operator has taken reasonable steps to ensure that his or her Registered 
Riders understand the Riders’ Code; 

(d) the Operator (in the case of an Owner-rider) and all the Operator’s Registered 
Riders— 

(i) meet and are trained to the National Cycling Standard Level 3; and 

(ii) have passed the Cyclists Touring Club’s Pedicab Competencies Module 
(latest draft attached once the Module is established) and have agreed to 
comply with the standards set out in it; and  

Page 151



(iii) have been tested by an instructor qualified to train to the standards required 
to meet National Cycling Standard  Level 3 and the Pedicab Competencies 
Module.; and 

(iv) have received training in all aspects of Pedicab riding and customer care. 

(4) The condition of this sub-paragraph is that the Operator keeps and maintains training 
records for his or her Registered Riders including records relating to the National Cycling 
Standard Level 3 and the Pedicab Competencies Module. 

3 Pedicab Registration 

(1) TfL shall register a Pedicab owned by a Registered Operator if an application is made 
under this Scheme in relation to the Pedicab and the conditions of sub-paragraphs (2) 
and (3) below are met and (subject to paragraph 10(3) (enforcement) of this Scheme) 
the TfL shall keep the Pedicab registered if the condition of sub-paragraph (3) is met. 

(2) The condition of this sub-paragraph is that the Relevant Fee is paid to the TfL 

(3) The condition of this sub-paragraph is that the Pedicab complies with the Pedal Cycles 
(Construction and Use) Regulations 1983 and any other statutory requirement relating 
to the construction and use of the Pedicab. 

(4) On registering a Pedicab under this paragraph, TfL shall provide the applicant with a 
Registration Plate for the Pedicab, unless the applicant has a Registration Plate that 
meets TfL’s requirements.  

4 Applications for Operator and Pedicab registration 

(1) An application under paragraph 2 (operator and owner-rider registration) or 3 (Pedicab 
registration) of this Scheme may be made by an Operator or a person who intends to be 
an Operator. 

(2) Applications shall be made in the form and manner prescribed by TfL and shall include— 

(a) the name, address and telephone number of the Operator or proposed Operator; 

(b) (in the case of an application under paragraph 2 (operator registration)), details of 
3rd party liability insurance. 

(3) Applications shall be accompanied by a fee to meet the reasonable cost of administering 
applications under this paragraph and in the case of an application under paragraph 3 
(Pedicab registration) to meet the reasonable cost of the provision of a registration plate, 
if it is provided by TfL 

(4) The Metropolitan Police Service shall carry out a Polica National Computer Check (PNC) 
on riders and operator personnel. 

5 Changes in application details 

Registered Operators shall inform the TfL of any changes in the details set out in paragraph 
4(2) of this Scheme. 

6 Rider registration 

(1) A Registered Operator shall keep and maintain a register of every individual who rides 
the Operator’s Pedicabs and shall make it available to Transport for London and the 
Police on request. 

(2) The register shall contain the following information in respect of each of the individuals 
registered under sub-paragraph (1)— 

(a) his or her full name, address, and telephone number; 
Page 152



(b) his or her date of birth; 

(c) the name of his or her next of kin; 

(d) his or her email address; 

(e) a medical statement from a GP confirming that the individual is fit and healthy;,  

(f) a declaration by the rider listing any unspent criminal convictions; and  

(g) a copy of a passport, driving licence or other form of  identification of a type 
acceptable to TfL, but which shall include at least two forms of photo ID and a 
contact address. 

(3) A Registered Operator shall remove a Registered Rider from his or her register of riders 
if— 

(a) required to do so by TfL because of a failure on the part of the rider to comply 
with the Rider’s’ Code in respect of a Serious Contravention which resulted in an 
undisputed Penalty Charge Notice; or 

(b) if TfL or the Operator are satisfied that the Rider has failed to comply with the 
Rider’s’ Code. 

(4) An Operator shall inform TfLof any occasion where a Registered Rider is removed from 
the Operator’s register of riders under sub-paragraph (3)(b) above. 

(5) No individual under the age of 18 may be registered under this paragraph. 

(6) An Operator shall not under this paragraph register an individual who he knows has been 
removed from a register by any Operator under sub-paragraph (3) above unless he has 
the consent of TfL to do so. 

7 Pedicab construction 

(1) Registered Operators shall ensure that their Pedicabs are— 

(a) are specifically designed for carrying passengers and manufactured, maintained 
in compliance with the Pedal Cycles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1983.; 
and 

(b) clean; and 

(c) maintained regularly and roadworthy at all times 

(2) The pedicabs must have the following items fitted and maintained in full working order: 

(a) hard-wired lighting from a battery with rear red running lights, brake lights, one 
white front light and indicators (which must be visible from the front rear and side 
of the pedicab; 

(b) two independent braking systems, including one rear hydraulic brake; 

(c)  a safety lap belt, which must be able to hold all passengers sitting in the pedicab; 

(d) reflectorised material to make it clearly visible to other road users. 

(3)The pedicabs must be designed in such a way that the rider must sit in front of the 
passengers, who should be forward facing, with a bar in between the rider and the 
passengers to help the passengers get in and out of the pedicab.  

 
Page 153



Registered Operators shall keep records of all maintenance carried out on each of their Pedicabs. 

8 Pedicab use 

(1) A registered Operator shall require that all his or her Registered Riders complete a Safety 
Check prior to commencing work for each shift and to maintain records of Safety Checks. 

(2) A registered Operator shall monitor the behaviour of his or her Registered Riders whilst 
in charge of their Pedicabs in public places. 

(3) A Registered Operator shall have in place a disciplinary procedure clearly setting out the 
criteria under which a rider will be penalised or dismissed.   

(4) A registered Operator shall keep operational records to ensure that, TfL or a Police 
Officer can identify who was riding a Pedicab at any particular time 

(5) A registered Operator shall ensure that— 

(a) a Registration Plate is displayed on all registered Pedicabs at all times when they 
are  on the highway; 

(b) the name, address and telephone number and contact details of the Operator is 
are displayed on or in the Pedicab in a manner approved by TfL 

(c) Registered Riders can be identified by the display of a form of identification 
approved by TfL; (ID tag with rider details and photo of rider)) 

(d) only his or her Registered Riders ride his or her Pedicabs.; 

(e) Registered Riders never allow more than the manufacturers’ recommended 
maximum number of passengers, or more than 3 passengers, to be carried in 
their pedicabs at any one time. 

9 General 

(1) Registered Operators shall not do anything that would harm the reputation of other 
registered Operators.  

(2) Registered Operators shall have a procedure for dealing with lost property. 

(3) Registered Operators shall keep written records of all incidents and accidents involving 
their registered Pedicabs. 

10 Enforcement 

(1) On reasonable request by an employee of TfL, a registered Operator shall provide 
documentation proving compliance with the following paragraphs of this Scheme— 

(a) paragraph 2(2)(a) (third party public liability insurance); 

(b) paragraph 2(2)(c) (compliance with riding standards); 

(c) paragraph 3(2)(a) (compliance with construction and use regulations); 

(d) paragraph 4(2)(a) (name, address and telephone number of Operator); 

(e) paragraph 6 (Rider registration);  

(f) paragraph 8(1) (completion of Safety Checks); 

(g) paragraph 8(2) (monitoring of riders); 

(h) paragraph 8(3) (disciplinary procedure to be in place);  Page 154



(i) paragraph 8(4) (operational records); and 

(j) paragraph 9(3) (written records of incidents and accidents). 

(2) An employee of TfL may at all reasonable times inspect— 

(a) a Pedicab for the purpose of determining whether it complies with paragraph 7 of 
this Scheme (Pedicab construction); 

(b) the register of riders kept under paragraph 6 for the purpose of ensuring 
compliance with this Scheme.  

(3) If TfL is satisfied that a Registered Operator or Rider has failed to comply with any 
provision of this Scheme, TfL may, depending on the severity of the failure or the number 
of previous failures— 

(a) issue a written warning to the Registered Operator or Rider; 

(b) suspend the registration of the Registered Operator or Rider for a period up to [6] 
months; 

(c) revoke the registration of the Registered Operator or Rider; 

(4) TfL may pass details collected as a result of paragraphs 10 (1), (2) and (3) to a Police 
Officer.. 

Appendix 11 

Rider Agreement 

I hereby certify that in the course of my activities as a Pedicab Rider I will comply with the 

following TfL Code of Conduct as follows: 

General 

1.  I will— 

 

a) take all reasonable measures to ensure the safety of my passengers, other road users and 

myself at all times and take all reasonable measures to avoid accidents and incidents; 

b) abide by the rules as set out in the Highway Code at all times; 

c) at no time be under the influence of alcohol or any drug including prescription drugs that 

may affect my judgement or ability to control my pedicab; 

d) ensure that my passengers are offered the safety belt/lap belt before all journeys and 

encourage them to use it; 

e) charge separate and distinct fares for each passenger that I carry on a specific journey, and 

agree my fare with passengers (per person) prior to embarking on a journey and not to 

charge or demand more. I will also provide a receipt at the end of the journey if requested 

to do so, using receipts issued by the Operator, which include the Operator’s contact 

details; 

f) take all reasonable measures to ensure that all items belonging to passengers are stowed 

and that scarves, coats, or any other items are safely contained and stowed within the 

pedicab; 

g) not solicit or tout for business eg bell ringing or shouting; 

h) not overload my pedicab i.e. I will only take passengers if they can be properly seated in 

my pedicab – maximum 3 passengers – NO sitting on laps; 

i) be courteous and considerate to other road users, pedestrians, taxi drivers, the police and 

passengers at all times; 

j) not cause an obstruction to other vehicles or pedestrians especially around fire exits from 

buildings e.g. theatres; 

k) carry my ID tag at all times when riding and ensure it is clearly visible; Page 155



l) carry out the prescribed Safety Checks on my Pedicab each time I take out my pedicab; 

m) assist any other pedicab rider (regardless of company) if they are experiencing difficulties 

or are in danger of assault; 

n) not become involved in racing, dangerous, reckless or furious riding of any kind; 

o) hand in any lost property to the Operator; 

p) ensure that my passengers arrive at their destination safely and that I will take particular 

care of the vulnerable; 

q) not smoke or use a mobile phone or personal stereo whilst riding; 

r) not ride in pedestrian areas (unless specifically permitted) or on the pavement; 

s) not take any action that might damage the reputation of the pedicab industry; 

t) report and document any accident or incident immediately or within 24 hours to the 

Operator. 

u) Not carry or use any sound system on my pedicab 

 

 

Traffic Management  

 

2. I will comply with all road traffic regulations when riding my Pedicab. 

 

3. That means, for example, that I will not— 

a) park in any bus lane 

b) park in any bus stop clearway 

c) park or stop on zig-zag markings that relate to a pedestrian crossing 

d) park on a Red Route 

e) disobey a red traffic light 

f) cycle along a one way street in the wrong direction 

g) ride or park on the footway or pavement 

 

4. I further understand that: 

a) I can pick up or set down passengers at any point on the highway for as long as is necessary 

except at zig-zag lines that relate to a pedestrian crossing or where any danger to the public 

would arise; 

b) I can park only at points on the highway (including single or double yellow lines) where 

no obstruction is caused to pedestrians, vehicles or other road users, either by me or 

collectively with other pedicabs (This may change if Pedicab Stands are provided) 

c) I will remain with my pedicab at all times except where I can legally park and leave and 

lock up my pedicab; 

d) all road traffic regulations applicable to cyclists apply to pedicabs. 

e) Where the TfL has advised me of specific locations at which I may not park / stand my 

pedicab I agree not to do so 

Data Protection 

5. I hereby agree that any of the above information may be submitted to the police or the London 

Authorities for prevention of crime and disorder purposes only.  

 

Medical Statement 

6. I hereby confirm that I am physically fit and do not suffer from any condition which might affect 

my ability top safely ride and carry passengers on a pedicab 

 

Criminal Record Statement 

7. I hereby certify that I do not have any unspent criminal convictions and that I am not awaiting 

trial for any offence. If this is not the case you must provide full details in writing. I authorise the 

police to carry out a Police National Computer (PNC) check or if not British a Police International 

Computer Check. I will inform TfL if I am convicted of any crime in the future whilst I continue to 

be a pedicab rider.  

I further authorise the police to inform TfL of any incident involving me whilst I’m in charge of a 

pedicab. Page 156



 

Annual Rider Registration Fee 

8. I agree to pay a non-refundable Registration Fee of £XX per annum 

 

I hereby certify that all the above information provided is true and correct 

Name     Signature    Date 
 

 

Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 158



Summary 
 
The cycling infrastructure delivered by the last mayor has proved successful, quickly 
and cheaply increasing key roads' people-moving capacity and helping cause substantial 
increases in healthy, sustainable travel. 
 
However, what was Britain's most active cycling infrastructure programme has now 
stagnated. Most of the designed, modelled and consulted-on projects we left the new 
mayor have been stalled or cancelled. The few which proceed lack energy and vigour. 
The only exceptions are in the mini-Holland boroughs of Enfield and Waltham Forest, 
where there is strong political leadership. 
 
The mayor's own leadership has been weak. The only test that matters is action on the 
ground. But though there have been many promises and statements about encouraging 
cycling, there has been no action, and no evidence so far of the political will needed to 
turn words into action.  
 
Most new infrastructure schemes proposed since the election have been substantially 
watered down from the versions being worked on by us. With only one exception, CS9, 
they will deliver little of benefit for cycling and some will harm it. In the only scheme to 
which there appears any real mayoral commitment, the pedestrianisation of Oxford 
Street, cycling is to be banned.  
 
In the "Healthy Streets" initiative more broadly, there are unresolved conflicts between 
the interests of buses, cycling and walking which may, as in Oxford Street, end up being 
resolved against cycling. Finally, moves to make heavy lorries safer have been delayed. 
 
Time is now running out to deliver any meaningful improvements for cycling in this 
mayoral term.  
 
1. The cycle infrastructure installed under the last mayor is working  
 
1.1 There are only three ways to meet growing demand for travel in London: by building 
more roads, which is politically and physically impossible; by building more railways, 
which can be almost as difficult and certainly takes decades; or, much the easiest way, 
by making better use of the roads we already have.  
 
1.2 The segregated cycle superhighways installed under the last administration have 
succeeded in this last aim, increasing the people-moving capacity of key roads quickly 
and at low cost. Only a fortnight after their opening, the superhighway roads were 
already carrying 5 per cent more people in the same space than they were before.1 
During the rush hour the Blackfriars Bridge track, which takes up about 20 per cent of 
the roadspace, now carries 70 per cent of all traffic on the bridge2 and (counting 
passengers in buses) about 45 per cent of all people travelling on the road. The 
Embankment track, which takes up one lane of this four-lane road, now carries more 
traffic in rush hour than the other three lanes put together.  
 
1.3 The cycle lanes have caused a sharp rise in the number of people cycling, both on the 
routes themselves and apparently more widely. By November 2016, five months after 
they opened, the number of cyclists using the roads they run on had risen by 55 per cent 

                                                        
1 http://content.tfl.gov.uk/pic-161130-07-cycle-quietways.pdf, p15 
2 Ibid 
 

Appendix 2 

Page 159



over pre-construction levels. At the peaks the north-south route is used by 26 cyclists a 
minute and the east-west by 20 a minute.3 By the final quarter of 2016, cycling in central 
London as a whole had risen by 7.2 per cent compared to the same quarter the previous 
year - substantially above the trend.4 Over the same period, motor traffic in central 
London fell by 4.5 per cent.5 By contrast, motor traffic continued to rise in London as a 
whole.6 
 
1.4 As we predicted, the superhighways have reduced capacity for motor vehicles and 
disbenefited motorists, though in most cases not dramatically, once the construction 
was finished. No policy is ever perfect for everyone and we as policymakers had to 
weigh the schemes' benefits and disbenefits. We took the judgment that their benefits 
(increasing the roads' overall capacity, promoting sustainable, healthy travel and saving 
lives) greatly outweighed their disbenefits (making some journeys by car, taxi or van 
longer than before).   
 
1.5 We nonetheless worked hard to mitigate the disbenefits to other users, particularly 
bus passengers. If a bus's journey time was increased where it met the superhighway, 
we put in priority measures elsewhere on the same route to speed it up. We changed the 
designs of most schemes to take account of objections. A recent independent report for 
TfL concluded that the long-term impact of cycle superhighways on traffic speeds "may 
be negligible."7 
 
2. Sadiq Khan recognised the programme's success and promised to speed it up 
 
2.1 In his election campaign, Sadiq promised to "accelerate the progress we've made [on 
cycling] in London over the last few years"8 and signed a pledge to "triple" (to 36 miles) 
the extent of segregated lanes completed under Boris Johnson.9 Last December, he 
promised to "spend a record £154m a year over the next five years" to "deliver more 
joined-up cycling infrastructure right across the city."10 Announcing his draft transport 
strategy, he promised an "unprecedented focus on walking and cycling."11 
 
2.2 Val Shawcross, the deputy mayor for transport, promised in November 2016 that 
"making cycling safer and easier will be a significantly higher priority for Sadiq than it 
was for the previous administration."12  

                                                        
3 Ibid, p16 
4 content.tfl.gov.uk/tlrn-performance-report-q4-2016-17.pdf, p17 
 
5 Ibid, p16  (a reduction from 76.3 to 72.9 index points) 
6 Ibid, p16 (an increase from 93.1 to 93.5 index points)  
7 http://content.tfl.gov.uk/understanding-and-managing-congestion-2017.pdf 
8 https://www.britishcycling.org.uk/campaigning/article/20160211-campaigning-
news-Khan-vows-to-increase-London-s-spending-on-cycling-0 
9 http://signforcycling.org/#ourVision 
10 https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/mayor-secures-record-
investment-in-cycling 
11 https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/fairer-greener-healthier-more-
prosperous-city 
12 https://www.theguardian.com/environment/bike-blog/2016/nov/22/how-sadiq-
khan-aims-to-become-londons-most-cycle-friendly-mayor 

Page 160



 
3. However, the opposite has happened, with most TfL and borough-led schemes slowed, 
stopped, watered down or cancelled  
 
NB - A full list of schemes is at Appendix A. 
 
(a) TfL-led schemes which had been through public consultation before the election 
 
3.1 The new administration inherited from us nine TfL-led schemes (superhighways and 
Better Junctions) at advanced stages of implementation. All had been designed and 
traffic-modelled. All had been through formal public consultation, receiving the support 
of substantial majorities. All except one should have started building in 2016. Most 
should have been finished, or almost finished, by now. 
 
3.2 For the first nine months of Sadiq's term, work on all these schemes came to a halt. 
Work on six of the nine has still not resumed. Nineteen months on, they are either 
formally cancelled or remain in limbo. On some, it is now nearly three years since public 
consultation ended.    
 
3.3 Of the nine schemes, only three with little or no roadspace reallocation have been 
allowed to proceed. Two are extensions to already-open superhighways, and one is a 
junction scheme. However, progress has been very slow. The extension to the north-
south superhighway, a short scheme running mainly on side streets, only started 
building three weeks ago. None of the three is finished. 
 
3.4 Among the six stalled projects, perhaps the clearest test for the mayor will be the 
(also relatively modest) Cycle Superhighway 11 proposal to close gates to Regent's Park, 
making it harder to use as a traffic rat-run. It received 60% support at public 
consultation. However, nearly two years after the consultation closed, the mayor has 
still not made a decision.  
 
(b) TfL-led schemes at an earlier stage of preparation 

3.5 Sadiq has held a number of consultations on cycle schemes and major junctions 
which were being prepared by us, but had not been put to public consultation by the 
time we left office. None has yet been approved for building. Given the reluctance to 
start work on earlier, consented schemes, there must be doubt whether they will ever 
happen.  

3.6 With one exception, Cycle Superhighway 9, the proposals fall below, often far below, 
the standards of our administration and represent a significant watering down of the 
plans we prepared for these sites.   

3.7 Even the consultation version of CS9, though still an excellent scheme, has been 
shortened by 40 per cent over our plans. The other superhighway to have been 
consulted on, CS4, has been mutilated - shortened by around 80 per cent, no longer 
reaching any major destination and cut into two unconnected pieces, separated by the 
(untouched) Surrey Quays gyratory. A scheme on the A4 will replace sections of 
segregated cycle track with shared space.  

3.8 The proposals for Camberwell Green, Baker Street and Fiveways (Croydon) offer 
nothing of value for cyclists and make no meaningful change to the car-dominated status 

Page 161



quo. In the proposals for Waterloo Imax and Nine Elms Lane, disbenefits for cyclists 
outweigh the benefits. At Lambeth Bridge the balance is marginally the other way.  

3.9 Seven of the most important schemes in our "Better Junctions" programme13 may 
have been cancelled altogether. They are Bow Roundabout, King's Cross, Marble Arch, St 
Paul's Gyratory, Borough High Street/ Tooley Street, Great Portland Street and 
Woolwich Road. They do not appear on the map or list of sites issued with the 
relaunched and renamed "Safer Junctions" programme in April 2017.14  

3.10 The new programme claims to be tackling more junctions - but on close 
examination they tend to be less busy ones (often intersections with minor side streets), 
or are junctions where work has already been completed by us, or are mere promises to 
conduct "new safety studies to identify possible solutions."15 

3.11 Another Better Junction left off the new April 2017 map, Kew Bridge, has been 
consulted on with the CS9 proposal, though no decision has yet been made to proceed. 
Work on another junction missing from the map, Old Street, is said to be starting next 
year. 

(c) Borough-led schemes: Quietways and Central London Grid 
 
3.12 Quietways and the Grid are routes on low-traffic back streets, joined by segregated 
stretches on main roads where necessary for directness. 
 
3.13 TfL states that "seven Quietways are due to be complete by 2017"16 but with the 
exception of one route (Q1) delivered under the previous mayoralty, no route is 
complete and almost nothing of value has been achieved. 
 
3.14 Nearly all the main improvements planned under the previous administration - 
including filtering in Hackney (Q2), Camberwell (Q7) and Dulwich (Q7), a segregated 
lane on part of South Lambeth Road (Q5), adding a ramp to a bridge which currently has 
steps (Q6), segregation on Sussex Gardens (Grid) - have been dropped under Sadiq.   
 
3.15 The programme now appears moribund. According to TfL's consultation website, 
which is supposed to collate them, there are currently no active consultations on any 
Quietway or Grid scheme and the most recent borough consultation ended in 
February.17 (There have also been a couple of consultations in 2017 for Quietway-
related schemes on TfL roads; there may also have been some borough consultations 
not shown on the TfL site.)  
 
3.16 Q1 aside, the programme has consisted largely of rebadging existing 1990s-era 
London Cycle Network routes and claiming them as new routes. Sometimes Quietway 

                                                        
13 https://lcc.org.uk/pages/tfls-better-junctions-scheme 
14 https://tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/safer-junctions-map-2017.pdf 
15 https://tfl.gov.uk/info-for/media/press-releases/2017/april/new-roads-targeted-in-
updated-safer-junctions-programme 
16 https://tfl.gov.uk/travel-information/improvements-and-projects/central-london-
cycling-grid 
17 https://consultations.tfl.gov.uk/cycling/grid-and-quietways-consultations-by-
borough/ 

Page 162



signs have been painted on busy, wholly unsuitable roads which were never part of our 
plans. For instance, Waterloo Bridge was designated a "quietway."18  
 
3.17 The problem is not just lack of impetus and political will at City Hall but also in the 
boroughs on whose roads these routes mostly run. Most boroughs have been unwilling 
to allow any meaningful change to their roads. Even tiny numbers of objections (as few 
as 15 in one case) have been enough to derail schemes. A few boroughs are willing but 
lack the capacity. Only a handful - perhaps five or six of the 33 - have both capacity and 
willingness.  
 
3.18 It is strongly recommended that the Quietway programme be cancelled and the 
money diverted to the handful of boroughs which are willing to do something serious 
for cycling.  
 
(d) Borough-led schemes: Mini-Hollands and Stratford 
 
3.19 The mini-Holland schemes in Enfield and Waltham Forest, and Newham's gyratory 
removal project in Stratford, are the only points of light in a bleak picture. Dramatic 
progress continues in Enfield and Waltham Forest with main road segregated routes 
opening this year on both the A105 and Lea Bridge Road. Smaller schemes are also 
proceeding. The third mini-Holland borough, Kingston, is not doing as well. In Stratford, 
work has begun on the removal of the gyratory.  
 
3.20 The success of these programmes underlines the paramount importance of 
committed political leadership. However, I have been receiving reports that mini-
Holland boroughs may not receive all the money they were promised by us and may not 
be able to complete all their programmes.  
 
(e) Liveable Neighbourhoods 
 
3.21 City Hall claimed last month to have chosen "the first round of winners of a new 
multi-million pound funding programme"19 to promote walking and cycling, the 
Liveable Neighbourhoods programme. On closer examination, this turns out to involve 
only £1.25m (not "multi-millions") given to allow the boroughs to "develop their 
proposals further." Some of the proposals appear to repeat work done by us.  
 
(f) Money 
 
3.22 The claim of "record" £154m a year spending on cycling is not consistent with the 
TfL business plan. This states that new capital investment on the roads (which has to 
cover a lot more than cycling) is in fact falling by 17% this year and next, to £123m. 
Given the general lack of activity on cycling, it seems unlikely that much money at all can 
have been spent in the past year.  
 
4. There is further evidence that the mayor does not regard cycling as a priority  
 
4.1 The cycling job was almost the last in the administration to be filled and was vacant 
for more than nine months. My successor, Will Norman, is not, as I was, a mayoral 
adviser but a middle-ranking employee of TfL. It is notable that, unlike his predecessor, 

                                                        
18 https://twitter.com/Frazer_Oades/status/885865118323671040 
19 https://tfl.gov.uk/info-for/media/press-releases/2017/november/boroughs-secure-
liveable-neighbourhoods-fundi 

Page 163



Sadiq tends not to appear at launches or events involving cycling, leaving them to Val or 
Will.  
 
4.2 Freedom of Information responses reveal that apart from some activity in the last 
days of the former mayor TfL has spent no money whatever on promoting the new cycle 
superhighways, which is unprecedented for a major new infrastructure project.20  
 
4.3 In the most important road scheme to be put forward by this mayor, the 
pedestrianisation of Oxford Street, cycling is not even an afterthought. The eastern end 
of the street, in particular, is a busy cycle route used by more than 5,000 cyclists a day.  
However, cycling on Oxford Street is to be banned. Cycling is given only three sentences 
in the pedestrianisation consultation materials: a vague promise of alternative parallel 
routes on a street, to a timescale, and to a standard as yet unspecified. East of Oxford 
Circus, there is in fact no nearby parallel street.  
 
5. The increased emphasis on walking should not come at the expense of cycling  
 
5.1 Our approach was to balance walking and cycling. Most of our schemes included 
major benefits for pedestrians - indeed most beneficiaries of the mini-Hollands, for 
instance, are pedestrians. The schemes were strongly supported by pedestrian groups. 
However, I fear that walking and cycling are now being set against each other.  
 
5.2 In Oxford Street, walking and cycling have been treated as incompatible and 
conflicting. They are not. There is plenty of room on Oxford Street for both greatly 
increased pedestrian space, and a bike track. On Broad Walk, Hyde Park, cycling money 
has been spent to worsen conditions for cyclists, supposedly to benefit pedestrians 
(though the changes have not, in fact, done so.)21 
 
5.3 In his first interview, Will Norman said that pedestrians had been "neglected" and 
"ignored" and that “given the statistics around pedestrian fatalities, that is something 
that has to change.”22 In fact, by distance travelled, the pedestrian KSI rate is almost two-
thirds lower than the cycling KSI rate.23 In London, pedestrian KSIs have fallen faster 
than cycling KSIs.24 This, no doubt, is in part because pedestrians have not been 
neglected or ignored. They already and rightly have segregated infrastructure on almost 
every street in London. In our term, massive investment was made in London’s 
pedestrian space, both within the cycling programme and outside it.  

5.4 If we did focus on cycling more than in the past, this was because it was cycling 
which had previously been neglected and ignored. A few years of relative focus and 
attention under the last mayor cannot make up for decades of neglect. Any implication 
that it can, that cyclists have had their quota of policymakers’ interest, and the light 
must now shine elsewhere, is worrying.  

                                                        
20 https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/transparency/freedom-of-information/foi-request-
detail?referenceId=FOI-0531-1718 
21 https://www.standard.co.uk/news/london/row-erupts-over-plans-to-build-speed-
bumps-on-popular-cycle-route-in-hyde-park-a3484936.html 
22 https://www.standard.co.uk/news/london/bike-czar-insists-london-is-safe-for-
cyclists-despite-three-deaths-in-a-week-a3469346.html 
23 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/533
293/rrcgb-main-results-2015.pdf 
24 https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/road-safety 

Page 164



6. It is not clear whether "Healthy Streets" really means anything, but cycling could help 
give it meaning 

6.1 Several new proposals, such as Camberwell Green, are explicitly badged as "part of 
the Healthy Streets programme"25 despite doing little or nothing for cycling or walking. 
In these schemes, at least, Healthy Streets amounts to little more than the status quo 
with nicer paving slabs.  

6.2 If you want to improve people’s health, increase active travel, reduce motorised 
travel and clean up the environment (the Healthy Streets policy’s stated objectives), 
investing in cycling can do more, more quickly, than any other mode. In cycling there 
exists a policy instrument – the segregated track – with a proven record, here and 
abroad, of bringing about substantial shift to healthy, sustainable travel. I can think of no 
equivalent for walking which could have the same effect, so quickly. The policy 
instruments available – wider pavements, easier pedestrian crossings, lower-traffic 
streets – do not represent the same game-changing improvement that a superhighway 
represents for a cyclist.  

6.3 Walking is only feasible for much shorter distances than most Londoners want to 
travel. Cycling is feasible for longer trips, and therefore for a greater proportion of trips 
which are currently taken by motorised modes. It is also feasible for some freight or 
delivery trips as well as passenger trips. 

7.  There is no way to make meaningful change to the status quo acceptable to everyone 
 
7.1 The mayor has stated that "what I do not want is for there to be confrontation" about 
cycling schemes.26 At face value this appears to rules out anything serious for his 
mayoral term. Schemes which make a meaningful change to the status quo will nearly 
always have majority support, but will never be unopposed; and much of that 
opposition will be highly confrontational.  
 
7.2 We learned, in the end, that noise was not the same as numbers. London has the 
country's lowest levels of car use. Most Londoners want and would benefit from less 
motor traffic. Our cycle schemes invariably won between 60 and 85 per cent support in 
our consultations, or in independent opinion polls. Many of these supporters were not 
themselves cyclists but were people who recognised the schemes' broader benefits. 
Once schemes were done, and everyone could see the benefits, even the opposition that 
there was tended to melt away.  
 
7.3 You should, and we did, consult extensively, build as much consensus as possible, 
work to mitigate schemes' effects on other road users, and change schemes to take 
account of reasonable objections while not sacrificing their benefits. But you should also 
be aware that much opposition can never be placated, however hard you try. You can, of 
course, avoid opposition by not proposing anything meaningful for cycling, which with 
one exception appears to be the current approach.  
 
7.4 It is notable that on the only scheme so far where meaningful change has been 
proposed by the new regime, CS9, there is opposition just as intense as there was to any 
scheme proposed by us. It is notable, too, that the new team's approach is, if anything, 

                                                        
25 https://consultations.tfl.gov.uk/roads/camberwell-green/ 
26 MQT, 18.1.17 

Page 165



less consultative than ours: the public consultation on CS9 (5 weeks)  lasted only about 
half as long as our consultation on the east-west and north-south superhighways.  
 
7.5 If the new administration is searching for some formula which can make cycling 
schemes acceptable to everyone, they will waste a lot of time (as, in fact, did we) finding 
that this municipal Philosopher's Stone does not exist.  
 
8. Further moves to make heavy lorries safer have been delayed 

8.1 In the election, Sadiq promised to ensure that “the safest lorry types become the 
norm on London’s streets as soon as possible.”27 Last year, he announced the launch of a 
“new” and “ground-breaking” scheme to star-rate lorries and remove the most 
dangerous ones from the streets, saying he was “not prepared to stand by.”28 Later 
stages of this scheme – due from 2024 – are indeed groundbreaking.  

8.2 However, scrutiny of the groundbreaking scheme reveals that what it actually 
amounts to is a three-year delay to a safety plan that was already in train. In January 
2016, we proposed29 to require the fitting of a window in the lower half of the 
passenger-side door, allowing the driver to see a cyclist alongside them. It got 82 per 
cent support in the consultation and would have been delivered this year.30 However, 
the last sentence of Sadiq’s press release revealed that it had been scrapped.  

8.3 City Hall now claims the windows initiative would have had “little impact on cyclist 
safety.” This claim is directly contradicted by TfL’s own research which assessed the 
window proposal as having the “greatest effect” of any possible modification on “the 
ability of the driver to see the zones to the nearside of the vehicle”and would have 
created “the opportunity to avoid some of the collisions” that kill and maim cyclists. 
Even in collisions which are not avoided, it would have created “the opportunity to stop 
the vehicle before the victim is subsequently run over by the wheels.” 31 The first action 
of any kind proposed by Sadiq will not now be until 2020.  

9. If any targets are set, they need to be ones for which the mayor can be held accountable 

9.1 Sadiq's target of "70% of Londoners living within 400m of a high-quality cycle route 
by 2041" is worth little. He will not be mayor in 2041 and the target will be long 
forgotten. He should instead be held to targets over his mayoral term - including the 
promise he made to "treble" the length of protected cycle route (see above).  

                                                        
27 http://lcc.org.uk/articles/good-news-sadiq-khan-backs-sign-for-cycling 
28 https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/new-measures-to-rid-london-
of-dangerous-lorries 
29 https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/plan-for-extra-windows-to-
make-lorries-safer 
30 https://consultations.tfl.gov.uk/roads/safer-lorries/ 
31 http://content.tfl.gov.uk/assessing-drect-vision-in-hgvs-technical.pdf, p126, p11 

Page 166

http://lcc.org.uk/articles/good-news-sadiq-khan-backs-sign-for-cycling
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/new-measures-to-rid-london-of-dangerous-lorries
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/new-measures-to-rid-london-of-dangerous-lorries
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/plan-for-extra-windows-to-make-lorries-safer
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/plan-for-extra-windows-to-make-lorries-safer
https://consultations.tfl.gov.uk/roads/safer-lorries/
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/assessing-drect-vision-in-hgvs-technical.pdf


APPENDIX   
 
Status of cycling projects inherited by Sadiq Khan 
 
TfL schemes which had been approved in public consultation and were due to start 
building in the second half of 2016. Brackets show when consultation closed and level of 
public support.   
 
Old Street roundabout (35 months ago - 87%): Not started. Val Shawcross said in Nov 
2016 that scheme would begin in 2017.32 TfL now claims it will begin in winter 
2018/19.33 
 
Cycle Superhighway 1 – Ball’s Pond Road segregated track (33 months ago - 65%): Not 
started. In May the then Mayor issued a mayoral decision ordering TfL to begin work on 
it by October 2016.34 However, nothing has happened. 
 
East-West Superhighway, Birdcage Walk and Spur Road (26 months ago - 80%): Started 
in Feb 2017, 8 months late, not yet finished.  
 
Westminster Bridge roundabout and segregated tracks across bridge (24 months ago -
74%): Roundabout work started May 2017, 10 months late, not yet finished. Tracks on 
bridge have not started.  

East-West Superhighway extension Paddington- Acton via A40 (21 months ago- 71%): 
Cancelled.  

Cycle Superhighway 11 Swiss Cottage- Portland Place (21 months ago - 60%): No decision 
on superhighway. Swiss Cottage gyratory element approved, but work not started.  

North-South Superhighway extension Farringdon St- Kings Cross (21 months ago - 70%): 
Back street section started November 2017, 13 months late. Main road section has not 
started.  

Highbury Corner (21 months ago - 67%): No decision. 

Hammersmith Broadway (21 months ago - 79%): No decision. Now "subject to the 
outcome of the CS9 consultation."  

Projects which were in planning stages in May 2016 but had not yet been consulted on 

Cycle Superhighway 9 (Olympia- Hounslow): A shortened version, running only from 
Olympia to Brentford, was consulted on in September-October 2017. No decision yet.  

Cycle Superhighway 4 (London Bridge- Woolwich): Shortened in December 2016 to run 
only from Tower Bridge to Greenwich. Shortened again in early 2017 to end about half a 
mile short of Greenwich, then further reduced to exclude the Surrey Quays gyratory. 
Consultation on the remaining 20 per cent of the route (two unconnected sections 

                                                        
32 https://www.theguardian.com/environment/bike-blog/2016/nov/22/how-sadiq-
khan-aims-to-become-londons-most-cycle-friendly-mayor 
33 https://tfl.gov.uk/travel-information/improvements-and-projects/old-street-
roundabout 
34 https://www.london.gov.uk/decisions/md1659-apex-junction-improvements 

Page 167



separated by the gyratory) held Oct-Nov 2017. However Southwark Council, one of 
whose roads it runs on, is opposed, so seems unlikely to happen.  

Other Better Junction schemes not mentioned above 

In April 2017 the previous mayor's "Better Junctions" scheme was renamed the "Safer 
Junctions" scheme and a new map was issued of the junctions to be tackled. The 
following "Better Junctions" were missing from the new map: Borough High St/ Tooley 
St, Bow Roundabout, Great Portland Street, Kings Cross, Marble Arch, St Paul's Gyratory, 
Surrey Quays, Woolwich Road. Kew Bridge was also missing, but has been consulted on 
as part of CS9 (no decision yet).  

Consultations were held on two Better Junction schemes in 2017: Waterloo Imax and 
Lambeth Bridge. No decisions have been made on either scheme.  

 

Page 168



 

  
Motor Cycle Industry Association Ltd, 1 Rye Hill Office Park,  Birmingham Road, Allesley, Coventry  CV5 9AB. www.mcia.co.uk   

 

Response to the public consultation on the draft for the  
London Mayor’s Transport Strategy 

 
Motor Cycle Industry Association (MCIA) 

 
 

1.  Summary of Response. 
 

 The Motorcycle Industry Association (MCIA) welcomes the Mayor’s draft MTS and in 
general applauds its ambitious long term general vision for road transport in London. 

 MCIA questions whether the draft MTS goals can be easily, or even fully, realised unless 
Powered Two Wheelers (PTW – motorcycles, scooters and mopeds) are included within 
the MTS as part of the overall transport strategy to reduce pollution and congestion, 
alongside walking, cycling and public transport. It is this aspect which is missing from the 
‘challenge’ in Chapter one and overall ‘vision’ in Chapter two. 

 MCIA sets out the case for PTW use and its positive role in both transport and society. 
 MCIA contends that a positive step change in PTW safety can only be achieved by the 

final MTS recognising the positive role of PTWs in transport policy and subsequently 
unlocking much needed investment in reducing casualties and rider vulnerability in order 
to support this recognition. 

 MCIA embraces the Mayor’s long term ambitions for zero emission road transport and 
sets out the steps needed to achieve this with regard to PTWs. However, MCIA will not 
continue to support the charging of pre Euro III PTWs under the Mayor’s revised 
proposals to extend ULEZ beyond the Central area to encompass all of inner London, 
given the much higher proportion of PTW commuters who will be affected. 

 MCIA strongly welcomes specific proposals within the MTS ‘Focus on Motorcycling 
Safety’, but proposes that the introduction to this section revises language which talks 
about reducing reliance on PTW use alongside car use, offers more progressive 
terminology and embraces the ‘Safe Systems’ approach as part of the Mayor’s ‘Vision 
Zero’ policy. 

 MCIA proposes that the final MTS adopts the principles contained within the Motor Cycle 
Industry Association / National Police Chiefs’ Council / Highways England ‘Motorcycle 
Safety and Transport Policy Framework’ (MSTP) as they relate to both PTW safety and 
the role of PTWs in transport policy. 

 MCIA proposes that the Mayor works positively with industry to develop long term 
sustainable solutions to PTW enabled crime and PTW theft. 

 . 
 

2. Introduction 
 
The Motor Cycle Industry Association (MCIA) is pleased to respond to the consultation on the 
draft Mayor’s Transport Strategy for London (MTS).  
 
The MCIA is the trade body for the supply side of the UK motorcycle industry, representing the 
manufacturers and importers of Powered Two-Wheeled vehicles (PTWs) and the suppliers of 
associated goods and services. The UK motorcycle industry was estimated in 2015 to 
contribute in excess of £7billion to the UK economy and employs over 55,000 people in over 
5,000 businesses. There are approximately 1.4million regular motorcycle users in the UK. 

Page 169

lpelling_3
Typewritten Text
Appendix 3



 

 
In 2016, the London and Home Counties market for new PTWs stood at 35,307 units, with over 
100,000 daily PTW users. Home Counties figures are included due to the proportion of PTWs 
that are used to commute into London. This was a 9% increase over 2015.  
 
The two key market segments that were behind this increase were scooters and ‘naked’ PTWs. 
Both these sectors are dominated by 125cc PTWs which rose by 15 and 17 percent 
respectively. This clearly illustrates the increase of interest in PTWs for use as transport.  
 
In 2017, the new PTW market has fallen back. The main factors behind this appear to be 
related to early-year availability of new Euro IV models and in more recent months a knock-on 
effect from a large rise in PTW theft. This issue is commented upon later in this response. 
 
MCIA welcomes the draft MTS. This is a strategy that contains interesting scope and proposals 
against a backdrop of a developing public policy environment in the UK, the EU and in many 
other countries which is aimed towards a zero-emission future for road transport. This could set 
London ‘ahead of the curve’ as strategies to reduce carbon and other emissions are pursued 
world-wide. These are aims we broadly support – provided the role of PTWs is included. 
 
We welcome the detailed proposals in the section entitled ‘Focus on Motorcycle Safety, but 
MCIA is concerned to note that within this section, the MTS proposes to reduce reliance on 
PTW use, putting PTWs in the same category as cars. We also offer proposals in relation to the 
‘Vision Zero’ approach that the Mayor wishes to adopt. 
 
The draft MTS clearly sets out the challenges facing London as the population increases and 
pressure on public transport continues to mount. In broad terms, MCIA supports the proposed 
general thrust towards shifting citizen mobility towards zero emission non-car modes, but 
questions whether the proposed arrangements would merely result in yet more pressure on 
public transport services, given that the only alternatives to the car that are recognised outside 
public transport are walking and cycling. This is a particularly crucial point given the projected 
increase of 1.2 million additional people working in the capital by 2041. 
 
This is where the MTS makes the important and perhaps fundamental omission from its thinking 
– the role of Powered Two Wheelers as a transport mode which can help realise the Mayor’s 
goals.  
 
This omission applies throughout the Draft MTS which means that merely answering the 
individual consultation questions in a standalone way would result in a large amount of 
repetition. We have therefore sought to link this response to specific policies and proposals that 
need immediate attention as the final MTS is drafted. We have also provided an appendix which 
offers summary answers to the questions posed in the consultation that are relevant to PTWs.  
 
MCIA is keen to support the Mayor’s vision for London, but feels that this can only be fully 
realised if all non-car private transport modes are taken into account when planning for the 
future. MCIA therefore calls for the Mayor to fulfil his pre-election pledge to properly include 
PTWs in his transport strategy. This will enable actions to support the use of this mode as 
commuter transport, significantly strengthen the MTS, create a step change in PTW safety and 
offer the public wider choice as the Mayor’s vision is implemented.  
 
 

Page 170



 

3. The role of PTWs in London 
 
Prior to his election, the Mayor said the following in a letter to the Motorcycle Action Group 
(MAG): 
 

“As Mayor, I’ll work with the motorcycling community to make sure that riders’ rights and 
interests are taken on board as an integral part of the transport mix in the city. It’s clear 
motorbikes and scooters generate far less pollution, save time and money for the rider - 
and don’t create congestion. It’s absolutely right for us to enable powered two wheelers to 
play their part in delivering a less congested road network.” 

 
MCIA welcomed the Mayor’s position in this statement. It helped to generate confidence among 
London’s many thousands of regular PTW users and the businesses that support them, that his 
administration would take account of PTWs. The Mayor’s statement clearly states that PTWs 
would form a part of his policy for reducing traffic congestion. The MTS is clearly where this 
commitment should be translated into policy, so it is surprising to see that PTWs are only fully 
dealt with in the context of safety and are otherwise absent in the draft MTS.  
 
PTW can make a more significant contribution than they already do to addressing London’s 
transport and traffic problems. This is because they offer real benefits in terms of reduced 
congestion, improved air quality and an affordable transport solution for those who could not 
otherwise be able to easily travel for work or study. They are also an extremely flexible form of 
transport and offer a practical solution to those who work irregular hours, or who live where 
public transport links are indirect, costly and where cycling does not offer a viable solution.  
 
PTWs offer characteristics that contribute to fulfilling wider public policy requirements in the 
social, economic, educational, mobility and environmental area.  
 
A 2011 study by Transport and Mobility Leuven (Belgium) showed that a modal shift of 10% 
from private cars to motorcycles reduced lost vehicle hours in congestion on a trunk road by 
63% for everybody using that route (i.e. not just the motorcyclists).  A modal shift of 25% (one 
quarter of all cars replaced by motorcycles) eliminated congestion altogether.  Another study 
published in 2011 by Pierre Kopp showed that the 36% increase in motorcycle traffic in Paris 
between 2000 and 2007 accounted for a net benefit of €168million. So, not only are there 
significant benefits to the individual of changing to motorcycles in terms of reduced journey 
times, but the reduced congestion is beneficial to both society, business and the public purse. 
 
It is therefore essential for safety that in line with the Mayor’s pre-election commitment, PTW 
use is added to the ‘walking, cycling and public transport’ paradigm of alternative transport in 
the final MTS, to create a new paradigm of ‘walking, two wheeled transport and public 
transport’. This would offer the car using public an exciting, flexible and versatile 0-30 mile 
range of commuter options (bicycle to e-bike to ePTW to smaller capacity PTWs etc.). The 
benefits in terms of opportunities to develop complementary safety policies are clear and the 
MTS as a whole would be significantly strengthened. 
 
The realisation of this action will offer significant opportunities to reduce PTW rider vulnerability 
and improve safety above and beyond what TfL is already pursuing in a positive way. This is 
because, as a fully recognised form of commuter transport, PTWs would benefit from a greater 
proportion of available investment on safety and infrastructure issues, so leading to reduced 
casualties and reduced rider vulnerability. At the same time, a long-standing inequality between 

Page 171



 

PTW users and those who use other forms of alterative transport will be addressed and 
opportunities for achieving the Mayor’s wider policy aims will be realised. Such an approach 
would allow the development of initiatives that could reduce PTW rider vulnerability and help 
develop a safer and more ‘visible’ environment for riders of all types of two wheelers. 
 
The Motor Cycle Industry Association (MCIA) in partnership with Highways England and the 
National Police Chiefs Council (NPCC) launched the third edition of the Motorcycle Safety & 
Transport Policy (MSTP) Framework in November 2016. This is a strategic document, but one 
which also serves as a detailed strategy to improve PTW safety though ensuring that PTW use 
is recognised in transport policy.   
 
This is where the MSTP differs in a creative and holistic way from previous motorcycle safety 
strategies. PTWs are now being seen as a mode of transport which carries several societal 
benefits in the area of mobility, accessibility, access to work and social inclusion. This gives an 
opportunity to pursue changes to policy which can see a safer environment for PTW use and 
offer vulnerable road users full policy attention. MCIA contends that the lack of proper attention 
to PTWs in London’s transport policy has augmented many of London’s road transport 
problems. The Mayor therefore has a great opportunity to correct this situation in the final MTS. 
 
A virtuous circle would be created as recognition of PTWs as part of a congestion reduction 
strategy leads to greater safety investment (as has been done for cycling), which leads to 
reduced casualties and enhanced opportunities to reduce traffic congestion through the use of 
PTWs. 
 

4. Focus on Motorcycling Safety (Proposal 11 and introduction on P66) 
 
Proposal 11 
We strongly welcome proposal 11, including the development of the London Standard for 
motorcycle training (page 67). The specifics of proposal 11 require little additional comment. 
The industry stands ready to work with Transport for London in realising them. Indeed, industry 
welcomes the existing partnership with TfL on current aspects of road safety delivery.  
 
Introduction to Focus on Motorcycling Safety 
We note that safety issues are often cited as a reason to discourage the use of motorcycles, 
but, as has been seen with cycling, policy integration leads to investment and greater interest in 
safety measures, which in turn reduces casualties.  
 
MCIA contends that a lack of investment in PTW safety, accessibility and security due to a 
desire to not encourage PTW use, has resulted in far higher levels of PTW rider vulnerability 
than should be the case.  
 
As such, MCIA feels that opening the ‘Focus on Motorcycling Safety’ with a statement desiring a 
reduction in reliance on PTW use (along with car use), sets a negative tone in what is otherwise 
a section of the draft MTS that industry welcomes. It also contradicts the Mayor’s pre-election 
pledge to “enable powered two wheelers to play their part in delivering a less congested road 
network”.  
 
MCIA offers a proposed redraft of this introductory section. This includes a more sustainable 
approach to Vision Zero, which is commented upon in more detail in section 5 below. 
Proposed revised text (P66) 

Page 172



 

The Healthy Streets Approach means progressively reducing reliance on higher polluting 
private vehicles for personal travel by providing Londoners with more opportunities for 
walking, cycling, using public transport and also commuter powered two wheelers (PTW), 
including zero emission PTWs. We will work with the PTW industry and other stakeholders 
to develop the existing role of PTWs in London and as we move towards the Mayors goals 
for zero emission transport, develop initiatives to ensure the PTW fleet evolves towards 
zero emission as product becomes available on the market place. 
 
PTWs can also play a more significant role in low-impact freight and servicing trips, 
especially where these vehicles replace trips by lorry or van and are made by low and 
ultra-low emission PTW. 
 
PTW journeys should be safe. PTW users are disproportionately represented in fatal and 
serious injury collisions: 540 PTW users were killed or seriously injured in 2015, 
representing 26 per cent of all those killed or seriously injured (KSIs) on London’s streets, 
despite representing only 2 per cent of traffic. Of even greater concern is the rise in the 
number of these collisions (up by 3 per cent from 2014 to 2015), while the number of those 
involving other vulnerable road users reduced.  
 
Adopting Vision Zero for road danger along the ‘Safe Systems Approach’ lines recognised 
by the 2010 United Nations' Global Plan for Road Safety, will mean including specific 
actions to make PTW journeys safer. The Mayor will also adopt the key principles that are 
set out within the Motor Cycle Industry Association / National Police Chiefs’ Council / 
Highways England Motorcycle Safety and Transport Policy Framework (MSTP) as they 
relate to both PTW safety and the role of PTWs in the Mayor’s transport strategy. 

 
5. Vision Zero (Policy 2 and Proposal 10) 

 
MCIA has significant concern with the Draft MTS’s focus on the ‘Vision Zero’ philosophy. 
Although the aims of Vision Zero – zero deaths and serious injuries -  are laudable and in 
principle supported by the MCIA, this is not a concept that is rooted in practical reality all the 
time we have movements of people and goods on the highway - which by necessity will 
continue to interact with each other.  
 
For example, in order for the Mayor to achieve true Vision Zero as a final goal, then the use of 
bicycles will need to be curtailed.  
 
The Industry, police and Highways England instead firmly rooted its MSTP document within the 
principles of the ‘Safe Systems’ approach.  
 
Adopting the Safe System Approach is a commitment to the principles which puts safety at the 
heart of planning, design and engineering without sacrificing other operational requirements. It 
recognises the limitations of the human body and sets safety as a precondition for satisfactory 
road use. 
 
The focus is on the prevention of fatalities and serious injuries rather than simply on collisions; 
enforcing the belief that saving lives is possible, and any loss of life is unacceptable. Human life, 
rather than the vehicle, is positioned at the heart of the system; the assumption is made that all 
road traffic deaths and serious injuries are predictable and preventable. 
 

Page 173



 

The safe systems approach is based upon the notion that: 
 We can never entirely eradicate road collisions because there will always be a degree of 

human error; 
 When collisions do occur the human body is inherently vulnerable to death or injury; and 
 Because of this, we should manage our infrastructure, vehicles and speeds to reduce 

crash energies to levels that can be tolerated by the human body. 
 
The 2010 United Nations' Global Plan for Road Safety promotes a ‘five pillar’ strategic approach 
for managing road safety and creating a truly safe system: 

 Pillar 1: Road Safety Management 
 Pillar 2: Safer Roads and Mobility 
 Pillar 3: Safer Vehicles 
 Pillar 4: Safer Road Users 
 Pillar 5: Post Crash Response 

 
In the instance of motorcycle safety, the key areas are rider behaviour, other road user 
behaviour, road and infrastructure design and maintenance and finally the vehicle itself.  
Addressing these areas is intended to reduce the likelihood of one of these components of the 
system failing and in turn reducing the consequences to the individual of that failure.  A failure to 
address all of the safe system pillars could lead to an avoidable incident, an example being 
aquaplaning, whereby if the rider is suitably trained, the tyres have sufficient tread depth, the 
speed has been reduced due to the knowledge of the risks of standing water and the drainage 
of the roads is adequate, then the risk of aquaplaning and the likely consequences of 
aquaplaning are both very small; however, if one of those factors is failing, then the potential for 
a catastrophic incident is high.  
 
Clearly, it will not always be possible to prevent a collision from occurring, the Safe System 
acknowledges this, but by ensuring a holistic approach, rather than considering each element in 
isolation, the likelihood of death or serious injury should be minimised. 
 
MCIA would propose that as the Mayor considers his approach to implementing Vision Zero, he 
does this in a manner which adopts the Safe Systems approach and evolves his overall 
philosophy towards this approach. 
 
 

6. PTW Enabled Crime (proposal 13) 
 
MCIA welcomes the Mayor’s commitment to reverse the rise in PTW theft. Industry stands 
ready to support action to reduce, what is in the main, PTW enabled crime. 
 
PTW enabled crime is a specific problem which has wider-reaching implications for society at a 
number of levels. The individual owner suffers financial loss, reduced mobility, which can in turn 
affect their ability to work and enjoy recreation time. It affects society, contributing to the overall 
levels of crime and specifically reducing the quality of life for those communities affected directly 
by PTW enabled crime. PTW theft operates from the level of the opportunist thief through to 
organised crime gangs where the thefts form part of a wider criminal network. 
 

Page 174



 

PTWs are more vulnerable to theft than cars simply because they can be more easily removed, 
secreted, broken up and disposed of. The recovery rate of stolen motorcycles and scooters is 
very low in comparison to cars and larger vehicles. 
 
The increase in PTW theft seen in London during 2016, surging dramatically in percentage 
terms during the summer of 2017 represents a significant shift in the nature of the problem of 
PTW enabled crime. The main machines of choice for the thief are scooter type models, though 
the theft or ‘bikejacking’ of high end, high value motorcycles has also become a major issue. 
 
Historically, organised criminals stole PTWs to export or to break for parts to export or sell on 
line.  The PTW industry’s MASTER Scheme has done much to tackle this problem and serves 
as a powerful example of how an industry can work together on a common problem that seems 
to be damaging customer confidence and negatively impacting on the market place. 
 
The increase in this type of crime in and around London is a completely different type of 
criminality and this trend goes far beyond being a motorcycling issue.  The current trends are for 
smaller PTWs to be taken simply to provide a tool to commit other crimes.  The intrinsic value of 
the bike is therefore largely irrelevant: the motorcycles and scooters are being taken simply for 
the functionality that they provide. 
 
The ‘functionality’ of the small two-wheel PTW is further enhanced for the criminal due to a 
wider socio/political environment that can make it controversial for the police to pursue 
vulnerable road user suspects, and the ability of PTWs to get through traffic and even cross 
country.  In other words, these small PTWs are the perfect enabling tool for street robbery. 
Motorcyclists are therefore becoming a sector of transport users that is being specifically 
targeted by criminal gangs – even if the rider has taken steps to enhance the on-board security 
of their PTW. 
 
We welcome the Mayor’s interest and concern about PTW theft and PTW enabled crime. But 
we would stress that the issue is about multiple matters, some of which have been addressed 
by PTW manufacturers, such as greater use of immobilisers, tougher steering locks and other 
optional on-board security products that have been made available to riders. Clearly, the issue 
is about multiple factors, not just on-board machine security and we invite him to engage 
industry when developing a sustainable way forward. As a first step, the MTS should recognise 
the positive role that PTWs play in transport and invest in protecting users of the mode – as is 
being currently done for cycling. 
 
Solutions to the problem are far more complex than at first may be thought. MCIA is working 
with the Home Office and the wider motorcycle industry and community in order to develop a 
sustainable approach to this urgent issue.  
 
MCIA stands ready to work with the Mayor and TfL on addressing motorcycle theft and would 
welcome an early meeting directly with him to discuss the matter further.  
 

7. Emerging Technologies and PTWs (Policies 5 and 6) 
 
As mentioned in the introduction above, the MCIA welcomes the Mayor’s ambition to move 
towards full transport decarbonisation. Although the vision has an ambitious timetable, this 
helps to focus minds, particularly as London is not alone in seeking zero emission road 
transport to a mid-21st century timetable. 

Page 175



 

 
The motorcycle industry has not stood still in this area. Indeed, electric powered two wheelers, 
ePTWs have been readily available on the market for far longer than alternative powered cars 
and formed the bulk of the UK electric vehicle market until the Government introduced a plug in 
grant for cars. MCIA urged Government to extend this grant to ePTWs at the time, but the long 
delay before the PTW grant was launched in 2015 did have the effect of suppressing the ePTW 
market, despite the large purchase price differences between eCars and ePTWs.  
 
Technology has also moved in leaps and bounds, particularly in the area of batteries, which has 
extended the range of early ePTW models. Technical regulation has also ensured a robust 
product, fully in line with European ‘norms’.  
 
Major manufacturers are engaged in the long term development of the ePTW market and 
Government grant eligible product is available on the UK market. However, this is an 
evolutionary process involving continuing technological development. It will be some years 
before an ePTW mass market is created. Incentivisation of this future market is therefore 
essential and the final MTS needs to address how London will move ePTW incentivisation up a 
gear from the already available central Government grant. Initiatives in the area of plug in 
infrastructure and potentially, ePTW hire schemes should be considered as part of the MTS. 
The Mayor should also commit to working with the industry on developing the ePTW policy area 
as part of the MTS. 
 
This could result in a significant trigger for the commercialisation of the ePTW market, enable a 
progressive move to ePTWs which will support the Mayor’s long term plans. 
 
However, ePTW market development will rely on a range of factors, not least, technological 
development and if the correct transport public policy ‘levers’ are put in place - both in the UK 
and Europe.  It is essential that the Mayor fully supports the principle of PTWs as alternative 
transport with positive benefits in the MTS from day one. As this will create the conditions for 
future ePTW market development. 
 
TfL Electric Bike Partnership Opportunities 
The Mayor will also need to carefully consider how he moves forward with his plans for so called 
‘e-bikes’. MCIA has a number of concerns about how the matter has progressed thus far. MCIA 
noted a communication from TfL on September 13th 2017 which called for expressions interests 
to take part in opportunities for e-bike development, as a way to encourage the greater uptake 
of cycling. We also noted a TfL presentation from August 31st which discussed a range of 
initiatives under consideration.  
 
MCIA has significant concern about how this initiative is being both developed and presented. 
Much of our concern revolves around the potential for this initiative to lead to a rise in the illegal 
use of e-bikes which have top speed and power which places them within the PTW classes of 
vehicle. TfL’s proposals do not make it clear that a legal e-bike has a top speed of 16mph and a 
maximum power output of no more than 250watts.  
 
Faster and more powerful e-bikes are in fact PTWs of the moped (AM) or up 125cc (A1) classes 
(these are often known as speed, or power-pedelecs and a large number of models are 
externally identical in looks to legal e-bikes). But, in order to ride them legally, riders need to 
hold appropriate licences and wear a safety helmet. The machines themselves need to be 
insured, licenced and carry a DVLA registration, showing a number plate on the vehicle.  

Page 176



 

 
Unfortunately, there is still a wide availability of product which does not conform to the above 
regulations. Those who market and sell electric two wheel products have an obligation to 
correctly identify e-bikes and ePTWs (be they pedelecs or styled like a traditional PTW scooter 
etc).  
 
None of the matters above are reflected in TfL’s ‘expression of interest’. This urgently needs 
amending in order to make it clear that the machine specification that will be covered in the 
initiative is limited to legal e-bikes.  
 
MCIA is also concerned that the PTW sector was not included when this initiative was being 
planned. The MCIA has worked closely with the Bicycle Association to develop the correct 
legislative framework for e-Bikes versus ‘speed’ or ‘power’ Pedelecs (actually PTWs) and led 
the two-wheel sector’s liaison with the DfT on the matter. This work resulted in regulatory 
clarification by the Government. Additionally, there are MCIA member companies which are 
involved in the production of e-bike products. It is therefore unfortunate that MCIA were not 
included in TfL’s ‘call‘ for expressions of interest.  
 
Given MCIA’s significant involvement and experience in the development of e-bike/ePTW 
standards and its work to create a legislative environment for these zero emission products to 
develop, we are ideally placed to advise and support the Mayor going forward as he seeks to 
develop the role of electric two wheeled product. We seek the opportunity to do so.  
 
Lower Polluting PTWs as a Zero Emission ‘enabler’.(Policies 5 and 6) 
The realisation of the above potential goal for zero emission PTWs relies on the Mayor fulfilling 
his pre-election pledge to support PTW use in his policies. This will make the environment much 
easier for the development of zero emission PTWs, given that the issues affecting rider 
vulnerability and use casualties are not related to PTW propulsion methods.  
 
The Mayor must acknowledge that as a zero-congesting form of transport, traditional commuter 
PTWs already contribute to reduced pollution. Fleet averages for Co2 and other pollutants are 
already proportionally much lower than the private car fleet. 
 
Therefore, PTWs are already part of the ‘toolkit’ of transport which is helping towards the 
Mayor’s goals for transport and pollution in London. Supporting commuter PTW use now, will 
enable a much faster transition to ePTW zero emission product as the market in this area 
develops and subsequently a greater chance for the Mayor to realise his wider goals. 
 

8. Road User Charging (Proposals 18 and 19) 
 
MCIA welcomes the current PTW exemption from the Congestion Charge and calls for this to 
continue. 
 
MCIA supports the general principle of policies to improve air quality. Furthermore, we agree 
that road transport as a whole has a role to play in meeting the necessary reduction of pollution 
of all types.  
 
As has been often mentioned, diesel engines are by far the worse culprits in regard to nitrous 
oxide (NOx) emissions from road transport.  London has a large number of vehicles with diesel 
engines on the road and bringing those up to the highest standards would improve air quality 

Page 177



 

dramatically, especially in locations such as Oxford Street where nearly all motor vehicles are 
using diesel engines. Motorcycles do not use diesel fuel. 
 
Original ULEZ proposals 
Regarding the evolving nature of the proposed Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ), MCIA 
welcomed the Euro III and later exemption for PTWs under the originally proposed central zone 
ULEZ (2015). This was because it was estimated at the time that this would exempt around 80-
90% of all PTWs.  
 
TfL’s Environmental Impact Assessment in its 2015 consultation on ULEZ, noted that 
motorcycling’s contribution to NOx emissions is projected to be only 5t per annum of a total of 
687t per annum from road transport in 2020.  This is projected to reduce by 31% without any 
further intervention. PTWs, whatever their age, do not contribute to congestion and mile for mile 
pollution in real time traffic will always be lower than a private car. 
 
We therefore find that charging pre Euro III motorcycles £12.50 per day in line with cars and 
vans to be wholly disproportionate.   
 
The aim of the ULEZ should be to encourage a switch to lower polluting forms of transport – 
across the entire age range of vehicles on the road. It should not disproportionately discriminate 
against one class of older vehicle, such as pre-Euro III motorcycles, as the £12.50 proposal 
does.  
 
Proposals to Extend the ULEZ Zone 
Unfortunately, the proposed extension of the ULEZ zone to the whole of inner London creates a 
different situation which encompasses a much higher proportion of commuter PTW riders than 
in the central zone.  
 
A large proportion of these riders rely on their PTW to provide essential cost effective daily 
transport for what can be lower paying jobs and for whom public transport, walking and cycling 
are not realistic options.  
 
Given the intrinsic congestion and environmental benefits of all kinds of PTWs whatever their 
age, MCIA cannot support PTWs being subject to a charge in this much larger proposed zone. 
We would welcome the opportunity to discuss this matter further with TfL.  
 

9. MTS Implementation (Policies 23 and 24, plus proposal 9) 
A fundamental omission within the implementation plan, as set out in Figure 55 on page 271, is 
the absence of measures in relation to PTWs.  
 
This calls into question the Mayor’s commitment to delivering even the matters that are set out 
in Proposal 9. MCIA calls for the implementation plan to be amended accordingly, also taking 
into account the role of PTWs in other areas of the draft MTS as outlined in this response.  
 
The same should apply to Policy 23, so that boroughs also create local implementation plans 
which fully include both the role of PTWs in transport planning and the need to improve 
accessibility, improve safety and reduce rider vulnerability. 
 
Motor Cycle Industry Association.  September 2017. 
 

Page 178



 

Appendix One: MCIA Summary Answers to Specific Consultation Questions 
 
CONSULTATION QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 1 –THE CHALLENGE 
1) London faces a number of growing challenges to the sustainability of its transport system. To re-
examine the way people move about the city in the context of these challenges, it is important that they 
have been correctly identified. 
 – Please provide your views on the challenges outlined in the strategy, and describe any others you 
think should be considered 
 
The challenges are reasonably identified, though MCIA does feel that in terms of individual mobility, it 
must be accepted that not all journeys can or will be possible to be made by walking, cycling and public 
transport on their own. Motorised transport will always be an option that people need and want – 
though increasing proportions of that transport powered by non internal combustion engined means is 
a technological direction of travel that needs to be taken. 
 
As serious and fundamental omission from this chapter is the role of powered two wheelers. Individual 
mobility by PTWs (electric models as they become more available) is matter covered in this response 
(Sections 1-3 above). We seriously question whether the Mayor can achieve his goals if he does not 
include PTWs within his plans - as he pledged to do before he was elected. 
 
CONSULTATION QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 2 – THE VISION 
2) The Mayor’s vision is to create a future London that is not only home to more people, but is a better 
place for all of those people to live and work in. The aim is that, by 2041, 80 per cent of Londoners’ trips 
will be made on foot, by cycle or using public transport.  
– To what extent do you support or oppose this proposed vision and its central aim? 
 
The role of PTWs is missing from the vision. This is commented upon in sections 1-3 of this paper.  
 
3) To support this vision, the strategy proposes to pursue the following further aims: 
• by 2041, for all Londoners to do at least the 20 minutes of active travel they need to stay healthy each 
day 
• for no one to be killed in, or by, a London bus by 2030, and for deaths and serious injuries from all 
road collisions to be eliminated from our streets by 2041  
• for all buses to be zero emission by 2037, for all new road vehicles driven in London to be zero 
emission by 2040, and for London’s entire transport system to be zero emission by 2050 
• by 2041, to reduce traffic volumes by about 6 million 
vehicle kilometres per day, including reductions in freight traffic at peak times, to help keep streets 
operating efficiently for essential business and the public 
• to open Crossrail 2 by 2033 • to create a London suburban metro by the late 2020s, with suburban rail 
services being devolved to the Mayor 
• to improve the overall accessibility of the transport system including, by 2041, halving the average 
additional time taken to make a public transport journey on the step-free network compared with the 
full network 
• to apply the principles of good growth 
– To what extent do you agree or disagree with the aims set out in this chapter? 
 

Page 179



 

These aims are broadly supported by MCIA, but we question whether they can be realised unless PTW 
use is included in the Mayor’s plans.  
 
With regard to safety, we believe that the Vision Zero approach should be applied using the Safer 
Systems principle. This is commented upon in more depth in section 5 of this paper. 
 
CONSULTATION QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 3 – HEALTHY STREETS AND HEALTHY PEOPLE 
4) Policy 1 and proposals 1-8 set out the Mayor’s draft plans for improving walking and cycling 
environments (see pages 46 to 58). 
– To what extent do you agree or disagree that these plans would achieve an improved environment for 
walking and cycling? Please also describe any other measures you think should be included. 
 
MCIA agrees that these plans will create an improved environment for cyclists. We also urge the Mayor 
to include measures to support the use of and reduce the vulnerability of PTW riders, by including PTWs 
in his core approach to alternative transport modes.  
 
5) Policy 2 and proposals 9-11 set out the Mayor’s draft plans to reduce road danger and improve 
personal safety and security (see pages 62 to 67). 
– To what extent do you agree or disagree that these plans would reduce road danger and improve 
personal safety and security? Please also describe any other measures you think should be included. 
 
With regard to Policy 2 and proposal 10, we believe that the Vision Zero approach should be applied 
using the Safer Systems principle. This is commented upon in section 5 of this paper 
 
We support Proposal 11, in particular 9d – the ‘London Standard’ for motorcycle training. 
 
We support the individual measures within Proposal 11, but feel that the introduction of ‘Focus on: 
Motorcycling Safety’ sets an unfortunate negative tone. 
 
Further more detailed comments are offered in section 4 of this response 
 
6) Policy 3 and proposals 12-14 set out the Mayor’s draft plans to ensure that crime and the fear of 
crime remain low on London’s streets and transport system (see pages 68 to 69). 
– To what extent do you agree or disagree that these plans would ensure that crime and the fear of 
crime remain low on London’s streets and transport system? Please also describe any other measures 
you think should be included. 
 
MCIA agrees with Proposal 13 and welcomes the Mayor’s interest in the important issue of motorcycle 
enabled crime. We comment more fully on this in section 6 of this response. 
 
7) Policy 4 and proposals 15-17 set out the Mayor’s draft plans to prioritise space-efficient modes of 
transport to tackle congestion and improve the efficiency of streets for essential traffic, including freight 
(see pages 70 to 78). 
– To what extent do you agree or disagree that these plans would tackle congestion and improve the 
efficiency of streets? Please also describe any other measures you think should be included 
 

Page 180



 

MCIA supports the principle behind Policy 4, but only if it includes the role of PTWs in reducing 
congestion. We feel that the policy is both incomplete and cannot be fully realised unless this omission 
is addressed in the final MTS (see sections 1-3 above) 
 
8) Proposals 18 and 19 set out the Mayor’s proposed approach to road user charging (see pages 81 to 
83). 
– To what extent do you agree or disagree with this proposed approach to road user charges? Please 
also describe any other measures you think should be included. 
 
Please refer to section 8 of this response.  
 
In summary, MCIA welcomes the current PTW exemption from the Congestion Charge and calls for this 
to continue. 
 
With regard to ULEZ, MCIA welcomed the Euro III and later exemption for PTWs under the originally 
proposed central zone ULEZ, as it was estimated that this would exempt up to 80% of all PTWs. MCIA 
also felt that those older machines which would be subject to the daily charge, should not be subject to 
the same charge as non-exempt cars, given the contribution of all PTWs to reduced congestion.  
 
The proposed extension of the ULEZ zone to the whole of inner London creates a different situation 
which encompasses a much higher percentage of PTW riders than in the central zone.  
 
A large proportion of these riders rely on their PTW to provide cost effective daily transport for what can 
be lower paying jobs and for whom public transport, walking and cycling are not realistic options.  
 
Given the intrinsic congestion and environmental benefits of all kinds of PTWs whatever their age, we 
cannot support PTWs being subject to a charge in this much larger proposed zone.  
 
9) Proposals 20 and 21 set out the Mayor’s proposed approach to localised traffic reduction strategies 
(see page 83). 
– To what extent do you agree or disagree with this approach? Please also describe any other measures 
you think should be included. 
 
Boroughs should create local implementation plans which fully include both the role of PTWs in 
transport planning and the need to improve safety and reduce rider vulnerability. PTWs should be 
exempt from any borough-based road user charges. 
 
We are concerned that under proposal 21, a patchwork of measures, which apply to similar vehicles in a 
different way, could emerge. This would have the effect of creating confusion, uncertainty and a 
perceived ‘hostile’ environment to many legitimate road users. This makes the proposal a finely 
balanced and sensitive matter and we would welcome the opportunity to discuss this further with TfL 
 
10) Policies 5 and 6 and proposals 22-40 set out the Mayor’s draft plans to reduce emissions from road 
and rail transport, and other sources, to help London become a zero carbon city (see pages 86 to 103). 

Page 181



 

– To what extent do you agree or disagree that these plans would help London become a zero carbon 
city? Please also describe any other measures you think should be included. 
 
MCIA comments in section 7 of this response on the role of PTWs within the Mayor’s plan to create a 
zero emissions city by 2040. 
 
MCIA is keen to engage TfL as these plans develop. 
 
CONSULTATION QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 4 – A GOOD PUBLIC TRANSPORT EXPERIENCE 
14) Policy 12 and proposals 51 and 52 set out the Mayor’s draft plans to improve the accessibility of the 
transport system, including an Accessibility Implementation Plan (see pages 127 to 129). 
– To what extent do you agree or disagree that these plans would improve accessibility of the transport 
system? Please also describe any other measures you think should be included. 
 
MCIA urges the Mayor to consider how improving and increasing PTW parking provision could help 
enable more ‘multi-modal’ journeys involving PTW and public transport. We would welcome the 
opportunity to discuss this matter further with TfL 
 
This is of particular relevance at key public transport hubs for those commuting from outside London. 
 
CONSULTATION QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 5 – NEW HOMES AND JOBS 
18) Policy 19 and proposals 75 to 77 set out the Mayor’s draft plans to ensure that new homes and jobs 
are delivered in line with the transport principles of ‘good growth’ (see pages 193 to 200). 
 
– To what extent do you agree or disagree that these plans would achieve this? Please also describe any 
other measures you think should be included. 
 
If the predicted growth of 1.2million additional people working in the capital by 2041 are realised, 
London’s transport system could be overwhelmed under the Mayor’s current proposals which are 
limited to walking, cycling and public transport. It is essential that the role of PTWs is considered as part 
of the strategy to manage the movement of such a growth in transport users.  
 
The table on page 199 should also include guiding principles for PTW parking. 
 
Proposal 77 on deliveries should also include small PTWs and ePTWs – in line with Proposal 9.  
 
19) Proposals 78 to 95 set out the Mayor’s draft plans to use transport to support and direct good 
growth, including delivering new rail links, extensions and new stations, improving existing public 
london.gov.uk/transportstrategy transport services, providing new river crossings, decking over roads 
and transport infrastructure and building homes on TfL land (see pages 202 to 246). 
– To what extent do you agree or disagree that these plans would ensure that transport is used to 
support and direct good growth? Please also describe any other measures you think should be included. 
 
With regard to Proposal 88 MCIA calls for the Mayor to exempt PTWs from the proposed user charges.  
 

Page 182



 

Proposal 94b should include measures for facilitating the safe use of PTWs, with plans for increasing 
accessibility and reducing vulnerability for PTW users, in line with existing PTW infrastructure guidelines 
(TfL and IHE) 
 
20) Policy 20 and proposal 96 set out the Mayor’s proposed position on the expansion of Heathrow 
Airport (see pages 248 to 249). 
– To what extent do you agree or disagree with this position? Is there anything else that the Mayor 
should consider when finalising his position? 
 
MCIA is working to develop plans for the inclusion of PTWs within the future transport planning 
framework for access to and from Heathrow Airport. We would be happy to discuss this further with TfL 
 
CONSULTATION QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 6 – DELIVERING THE VISION 
21) Policy 21 and proposals 97 to 101 set out the Mayor’s proposed approach to responding to changing 
technology, including new transport services, such connected and autonomous vehicles (see pages 258 
to 262). 
– To what extent do you agree or disagree with this proposed approach? Is there anything else that the 
Mayor should consider when finalising his approach? 
 
Policy 21 once again omits the specific role of PTWs and the need to create a less vulnerable 
environment and greater accessibility for users. MCIA calls for this policy to be amended accordingly. 
 
22) Policy 22 and proposal 102 set out the Mayor’s proposed approach to ensuring that London’s 
transport system is adequately and fairly funded to deliver the aims of the strategy (see pages 265 to 
269).  
– To what extent do you agree or disagree with this proposed approach? Is there anything else that the 
Mayor should consider when finalising his approach? 
 
Policy 22 should take account of the need for greater investment in PTW safety and accessibility, in 
order to realise the aims set out in Proposal 9.  
 
Despite TfL’s welcome and active interest in tactical PTW safety measures, Underinvestment in strategic 
PTW safety, particularly in accessibility measures and parking, is arguably contributing to a more 
vulnerable roads environment for PTW users than needs to be the case.  
 
The absence of PTWs in the Mayor’s overarching policy for transport in London as expressed in the draft 
MTS contributes towards this unfortunate situation.  
 
23) Policies 23 and 24 and proposal 103 set out the proposed approach the boroughs will take to deliver 
the strategy locally, and the Mayor’s approach to monitoring and reporting the outcomes of the strategy 
(see pages 275 to 283). 
 – To what extent do you agree or disagree with this proposed approach? Is there anything else that the 
Mayor should consider when finalising his approach? 
 
MCIA is concerned that PTW matters are not included in the MTS implementation plan. This is 
commented upon in Section 9 of this response above. 

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 184



Page 185

lpelling_4
Typewritten Text
Appendix 4



Page 186



 
 

Keith Prince AM, Chairman of the Transport Committee 

 
London Assembly 

City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 

London SE1 2AA 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Val, 
 
Local Implementation Plan and Taxicard funding 
 
I am sure that by now you will have received a letter sent by Cllr Julian Bell, Chair of London 
Councils’ Transport and Environment Committee, in which he protests strongly against any 
reduction in TfL’s funding of the Taxicard scheme or any reduction of Local Implementation Plan 
funding. 
 
Cllr Bell writes:  
 

“As you know we are concerned about the impact of budget cuts on vulnerable service users 
served by the Taxicard scheme. The proposed cut of 13% reduction in 2018/19 and a 1%, 0% 
and 3% increase in the level of Taxicard funding in subsequent years represent significant real 
terms cuts to services, taking account of inflationary fares increases. This will have a direct 
impact on service users, some of the most vulnerable and disadvantaged people in London. It 
will mean fewer journeys or a lower level of subsidy for disabled people using Taxicard. 
 
“I also understand that the proposal has not yet been the subject of an equalities impact 
assessment. Given that all Taxicard users have ‘protected characteristics’ as defined by the 
Equalities Act (2010), TfL has a legal duty to undertake an equalities impact assessment in 
respect of a change in service for such users. We would strongly suggest that TfL proceeds in a 
manner that does not leave it open to legal challenge. I also note that the Mayor, during his 
election campaign, offered his continued support for the Taxicard scheme. The scale of cut 
proposed would appear to undermine this statement of support.” 

 
He also writes: 
 

“TfL’s Business Plan in December 2016 committed to protecting LIP funding at the same levels 
as the previous Mayor for the next five years, which we welcomed. We were assured of the 

13 December 2017 

Val Shawcross CBE 
Deputy Mayor for Transport 
City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 
London SE1 2AA 

Page 187

lpelling_5
Typewritten Text
Appendix 5



 
 

2 
 

understanding by the Mayor and TfL of the critical delivery partner role that the London 
boroughs and City of London play in delivering the Mayor’s Transport Strategy on streets and 
neighbourhoods in particular. 
 
“According to our most recently received information from TfL colleagues, the headline funding 
cut for LIP is a 4.8 per cent total reduction over the next five years, but includes a 22 per cent 
reduction in 2018/19. This is compared to the 2016 Business Plan and stripping out the funding 
provided for Oxford Street. That is an important and transformational project but should not be 
used to obscure significant cuts to boroughs overall. 
 
“The in-year cuts to funding in this financial year (2016/17) are completely unacceptable. 
Boroughs have developed their programmes in consultation with TfL on the understanding that 
the funding for 2017/18 was confirmed. Likewise boroughs have just submitted their plans for 
2018/19 which now prove to have been a waste of time and resource, as the interim year 
settlement for 2018/19, the remaining year before the boroughs start to deliver the Mayor’s 
new transport strategy in earnest, has also changed and is the year with the most severe cuts. I 
expect TfL to provide considerable resource to the boroughs in renegotiating their programmes 
in the short timescales remaining before April 2018.” 

 
Would you please as a matter of urgency respond to this letter clarifying the precise proposed 
funding changes to both the Taxicard scheme and LIP funding over the next five years, including 
both annual and borough-by-borough breakdowns.  
 
Given that, as Cllr Bell makes clear, last year’s Business Plan “committed to protecting LIP funding 
at the same levels as the previous Mayor for the next five years,” the onus would very much be 
on you and the Mayor to justify any planned reductions. A drop in Taxicard funding would also 
lead to concerns about whether TfL is committed to improving the service and implementing the 
reforms first pledged in the action plan arising from the Social Needs Transport review. 
 
I look forward to hearing from you. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
Keith Prince AM 
Chairman, Transport Committee  

Page 188



Page 189

lpelling_6
Typewritten Text
Appendix 6



Page 190



Page 191

lpelling_7
Typewritten Text
Appendix 6a



Page 192



 
 

Keith Prince AM, Chairman of the Transport Committee 
 

London Assembly 
City Hall 

The Queen’s Walk 
London SE1 2AA 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Mr Streeting, 
 
I am writing on behalf of the London Assembly Transport Committee to thank you for your 
interest in our work on pedicabs and provide information you may find useful in your 
parliamentary activity on this topic.  
 
As you know, the Committee met with Transport for London, Westminster City Council and other 
stakeholders to discuss pedicabs on 6 December 2017. You can find the full transcript of our 
meeting on our website.1  
 
We noted your suggestion of proposing a Ten Minute Rule Bill to give TfL the power to regulate 
pedicabs. We would support TfL gaining this power and believe there is a strong consensus in 
favour of this reform, so we welcome your suggestion. In this letter I will provide a summary of 
the issues we have been considering. 
 
Scale of pedicabs in London 
Pedicabs or rickshaws are a feature of many cities around the world. They have been present in 
London since 1998, when one company Bugbugs began offering pedicab rides. Pedicabs were not 
considered to be covered by the Metropolitan Public Carriage Act 1869, which states that only 
Licensed Hackney Taxis can ply for hire in London. In 2015 it was estimated that there were 650 
pedicabs operating in London.2 However, estimates vary and as pedicabs are unregulated it is 
difficult to verify precise numbers. Pedicabs mainly operate in the West End, where there is a 
high concentration of tourists. 
 
Safety concerns 
There are concerns about the safety of pedicabs, both for passengers and other roads users. 
Although we are convinced that most pedicab riders are responsible and seek to offer a safe 

                                                 
1 https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=173&MId=6335&Ver=4  
2 https://www.standard.co.uk/news/university-student-unveils-designs-for-21st-century-rickshaws-to-ease-londons-
most-congested-streets-a2952221.html  

15 December 2017 

Wes Streeting MP 
Member of Parliament for Ilford North 
House of Commons 
London SW1A 0AA 

Page 193

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=173&MId=6335&Ver=4
https://www.standard.co.uk/news/university-student-unveils-designs-for-21st-century-rickshaws-to-ease-londons-most-congested-streets-a2952221.html
https://www.standard.co.uk/news/university-student-unveils-designs-for-21st-century-rickshaws-to-ease-londons-most-congested-streets-a2952221.html
lpelling_8
Typewritten Text
Appendix 7



 
 

2 
 

service, it remains the case that there are no enforceable safety standards for vehicles and no 
requirements for riders to be licensed or to undertake training. We heard from the London 
Pedicab Operators Association that vehicle specifications to ensure safety could be designed and 
applied in London, working with vehicle manufacturers. We also heard that at least one operator 
ensures its riders undertake safety training – this good practice is welcome, and should be a 
requirement for all riders. We have requested data from TfL on collisions involving pedicabs over 
the past two years and would be happy to share this with you. 
 
Parking and congestion 
We have heard that pedicabs can cause obstruction to other road users, allegedly contravening 
parking restrictions and contributing to congestion. At present, although pedicab riders can and 
have been subject to police enforcement activity, the lack of licensing makes it difficult to tackle 
offences as authorities lack the means of identifying vehicles and drivers. Pedicab operators have 
proposed that they be provided dedicated space for ranks. This may be a viable solution but 
depends on the available road capacity in areas where there is already competition for space. 
 
Pricing 
We have heard there is evidence of some pedicab drivers charging excessive fares to passengers. 
Although we do not have reason to suspect this is a widespread practice, it is important that it is 
not allowed to happen. At present, drivers should charge on a per person, per mile basis and 
specify the fare in advance. With regulation it may be possible to simplify fare structures and 
introduce requirements for fare notices to be posted. 
 
Regulation 
As you will know there have been a number of proposals over recent years to give TfL the power 
to regulate pedicabs. In other parts of the country pedicabs can be licensed as taxis, but this is 
not the case in London. Regulation should allow TfL to set requirements for driver and vehicle 
licensing, safety standards, training, pricing, and so on. A Law Commission report in 2014 
recommended new powers to regulate pedicabs.3 We were encouraged the Government making 
plans to bring forward new legislation, although to date this not yet happened.4 
 
I hope you find this information useful. I would be happy for us to arrange a meeting if you would 
like to discuss this further. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 
Keith Prince AM 
Chairman, Transport Committee  

                                                 
3 https://www.lawcom.gov.uk/project/taxi-and-private-hire-services/  
4 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/rip-off-pedicabs-to-be-driven-off-the-road-under-new-proposals  

Page 194

https://www.lawcom.gov.uk/project/taxi-and-private-hire-services/
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/rip-off-pedicabs-to-be-driven-off-the-road-under-new-proposals


 

                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority  
 

Report to: Transport Committee   
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 10 January 2018 
 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report sets out recent action taken by the Chairman under delegated authority. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Committee note the action taken by the Chairman under delegated authority, 

namely to: 

 

(a) Agree a letter to the Mayor of London in response to Transport for London’s (TfL) 

consultation on the transformation of Oxford Street set out at Appendix 1 to the 

report; and 

 
(b) Agree a further response to Transport for London on the Committee’s recent bus 

reports: Driven to distraction: Making London’s buses safer; and London’s bus 
network set out at Appendix 3 to the report. 

 
2.2 That the Committee note the response from the Mayor of London in response to the 

Committee’s submission to the transformation of Oxford Street consultation, attached at 
Appendix 2. 

 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 Under Standing Orders and the Assembly’s Scheme of Delegation, certain decisions by Members can 

be taken under delegated authority. This report details those actions.  

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
  

4.1 At the Transport Committee’s meeting on 15 June 2016, the Committee agreed to delegate 

authority to the then Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree a response to 

the forthcoming TfL consultation on Oxford Street pedestrianisation. The Committee responded to 

Page 195

Agenda Item 5



        

the first part of the consultation on 7 August 2017. This response was reported back to the 

Committee’s meeting on 12 September 2017.  

 

4.2 The second part of the consultation was launched on 6 November 2017, with a deadline for 

submissions by 3 January 2018. The Chairman used the delegation agreed at the June 2016 meeting 

to agree the Committee’s response to the second part of this consultation, in consultation with the 

Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members. The Committee’s response is attached at Appendix1.  
 

4.3 The Mayor of London responded to the Committee’s response on 13 December 2017, which is 

attached at Appendix 2. 

  

4.4 At the Transport Committee’s meeting on 6 December 2017, the Committee agreed to delegate 

authority to the Chairman, in consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members, to 

agree a further response to TfL on the Committee’s recent bus reports: Driven to distraction: Making 

London’s buses safer; and London’s bus network. Following consultation with the Deputy Chair and 

party Group Lead Members, the Chairman agreed the letter attached at Appendix 3. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 

 

 
 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

Appendix 1 – Letter to Mayor of London, dated 28 November 2017, re transformation of Oxford Street 

Appendix 2 – Response from Mayor of London, dated 13 December 2017, re transformation of Oxford 

Street 

Appendix 3 – Letter to TfL, dated 13 December 2017, re Committee’s Bus Reports  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
 

List of Background Papers: MDA 872 (Oxford Street Transformation), and 874 (Further response on 

Committee’s Bus reports) 

 

Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5526 

E-mail: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk 
 

Page 196

mailto:laura.pelling@london.gov.uk


 
 

Keith Prince AM, Chairman of the Transport Committee 

 
London Assembly 

City Hall 

The Queen’s Walk 

London SE1 2AA 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Mayor, 
 
Transformation of Oxford Street consultation 
 
I am writing on behalf of the Transport Committee in response to TfL’s consultation on the 
transformation of Oxford Street. 
 
We are pleased that you have now come forward with more detailed proposals for this scheme. 
First of all, however, I must express disappointment at the length of the consultation period. If 
implemented these proposals would represent one of the most significant changes to London’s 
public realm for a generation, with wide-ranging implications for traffic movements, residents 
and visitors, and businesses across the West End. It is clearly insufficient to consult for just six 
weeks.  
 
We appreciate you may now want to act quickly after a long delay bringing these proposals 
forward, but this cannot come at the expense of consulting people properly and getting the 
proposals right. We urge you to extend the consultation period into the new year in order to give 
as many stakeholders as possible the opportunity to participate. 
 
Pedestrianising Oxford Street West 
Regarding the details of the proposals, we are not expressing a single committee opinion on the 
pedestrianisation of Oxford Street West. As you will be aware there is a range of views on this 
matter both among Members and the wider transport sector. We appreciate the highly complex 
nature of the scheme and welcome the work that has gone in to preparing these proposals by 
TfL, Westminster Council and other partners.  
 
Should pedestrianisation be taken forward, we would support the plans you have made to 
maintain and improve north-south crossings, which will be particularly important for enabling 
deliveries to local business and access for disabled people. 

28 November 2017 

Sadiq Khan 
Mayor of London 
City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 
London SE1 2AA 

Page 197

lpelling_9
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1



 
 

For queries please contact Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager: Richard.Berry@london.gov.uk / 020 7983 4199 

Healthy Streets check 
In our response to your draft Transport Strategy, we welcomed your new focus on delivering 
Healthy Streets for London. Implementing this approach will help deliver improved public spaces 
across London and promote sustainable and active travel. We understand that a Healthy Streets 
check has been performed on these proposals. However, this assessment has not been published 
alongside the consultation. We urge you to release the results of the Healthy Streets check 
immediately and allow this to be considered during an extended consultation period. 
 
Buses 
We have welcomed the recent reduction of the number of buses using Oxford Street, and 
support further proposals to achieve this. As we argued in our recent report, London’s Bus 
Network, this must happen as part of a more wide-ranging reform of the bus network in order to 
provide more capacity in outer London.1 Your draft Transport Strategy supports this objective, 
and we were pleased to see further discussion in TfL’s response to our report. It is important that 
more detailed proposals are brought forward to deliver this. 
 
Cycling routes 
You will be aware that there is a relatively high rate of road traffic collisions involving cycling 
along Oxford Street. Despite this, it is still used by many cyclists. There was already a need, 
therefore, to provide safe east-west cycle routes in central London. With your proposal to 
pedestrianise Oxford Street West, this need has become more pressing.  
 
Your consultation states that plans for alternative cycle routes will be developed. This is welcome, 
but we believe this should already have been done as part of the current consultation. It is not 
possible for Londoners to share informed views on the plans to remove cyclists from Oxford 
Street unless they know what alternative is being proposed. 
 
Marble Arch 
It is currently difficult for pedestrians to get between Oxford Street and Hyde Park, not least 
because of a lack of safe crossings. This is a lost opportunity for improving the visitor experience. 
We note that you plan to make further changes to the Marble Arch area in the 2020s, which we 
hope will deliver a safer, more welcoming environment. We urge you and TfL to work with the 
Royal Parks, New West End Company and Westminster Council to achieve this. 
 
I hope you find these views useful as you work with partners to develop plans for Oxford Street. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
Keith Prince AM 
Chairman, Transport Committee  

                                                 
1 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/londons-bus-network  

Page 198

mailto:Richard.Berry@london.gov.uk
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/londons-bus-network


Page 199

lpelling_10
Typewritten Text
Appendix 2



Page 200



 
 

Keith Prince AM, Chairman of the Transport Committee 
 

London Assembly 
City Hall 

The Queen’s Walk 
London SE1 2AA 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

cc. Valerie Shawcross CBE, Deputy Mayor for Transport 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Mike, 
 
Responses to Transport Committee bus reports 
 
I would like to thank you for the responses from TfL and the Mayor’s Office to the Transport 
Committee’s recent reports on bus services. The responses addressed the findings and 
recommendations of our reports, and were on the whole very informative. 
 
I am writing now to request further information about some areas where you have decided not 
to take forward our recommendations. Your and the Mayor’s initial reactions to our bus safety 
report in particular were very supportive and suggested a clear plan of action to implement our 
recommendations would be put in place. Having reviewed the written response, however, we 
feel that TfL has not fulfilled this promise.1 Your new Business Plan also appears to undermine 
pledges made in response to our bus network report. 
 
I know that improving bus safety and tackling the wider issues facing the bus network are 
priorities for TfL. I hope you will therefore welcome this opportunity to continue the discussion. 
Committee Members are meeting with representatives of your bus safety team on 8 January 
2018 so I would be grateful if you were able to respond by this date, although I appreciate this is 
a short deadline you may not be able to meet. Please provide what information you can before 
this date. 
 

                                                 
1
 The Committee’s summaries of TfL’s responses can be found on our website: 

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=173&MId=6335&Ver=4  

13 December 2017 

Mike Brown MVO 
Commissioner 
Transport for London 
Windsor House 
42-50 Victoria Street 
London SW1H 0TL 

Appendix 3 

Page 201

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=173&MId=6335&Ver=4


 
 

2 
 

Bus safety 
 
Recommendation 1 – safety incentives for operators 
We are extremely disappointed with your argument that putting safety incentives into bus 
operator contracts is not possible because it would lead to under-reporting of incidents from 
operators. The operators we met during our investigation were very clear that they prioritise 
safety, and in any case TfL can put measures in place to ensure accurate reporting. You have 
provided no evidence to support your argument – if such evidence exists please share it with the 
Committee. 
 
Recommendation 4 – driver working conditions 
One of the key findings of our investigation was that bus drivers’ working conditions are 
increasing the risk of collisions. We believe that more evidence is required to confirm exactly how 
working conditions contribute to risk and how this can be addressed. TfL’s response on this point 
appears to be very complacent. You have said you will share existing evidence with bus operators 
on how to combat fatigue – if this is the case, please also share this evidence with the Committee 
so we can review whether it is adequate.2 
 
Recommendation 6 – safety training 
Your response indicates that TfL will not take direct responsibility for bus driver safety training. In 
light of this, we would like a full explanation of why you believe it was necessary for TfL to take 
responsibility for customer service training but not safety training. 
 
Recommendation 9 - Confidential Incident Reporting and Analysis Service 
We are disappointed with your stance that CIRAS should not be used as a first-line reporting tool 
for bus drivers to report incidents. While we agree operators and drivers should be able to work 
together on safety concerns, it is imperative that drivers have access to a service where they can 
report incidents in confidence if necessary. If drivers cannot access CIRAS without first speaking 
to their employer, confidentiality is compromised. In light of this, we would like a full explanation 
of how TfL is ensuring that drivers can report incidents in confidence, or why you believe this is 
unnecessary.  
 
Bus network 
 
Conclusion 2 – Outer London 
Our report found that bus service capacity needs to be increased in outer London. Your response 
suggests you agree with this conclusion and will be taking steps to redistribute service capacity 
from central to outer London. However, the new TfL Business Plan contradicts this, as you are 
planning an overall reduction in service volume from 486 million kilometres this year to 453 
million kilometres in 2022/23. You state that capacity in suburban areas is being improved to 
support housing growth – please confirm specifically how service volume will change in outer 
London as a whole over the Business Plan period. 
 
 
 

                                                 
2
 We note that the Mayor has also stated there will be an announcement about driver working conditions before 

Christmas and look forward to further details. Response to Caroline Russell AM [2017/4308], Mayor’s Question Time, 
16 November 2017 

Page 202



 
 

3 
 

Conclusion 4 – tendering process 
Your response provides an explanation of why TfL believes the current tendering process for bus 
routes is effective. However, on one key point you have made a contention that is unsupported 
by any evidence – specifically, that having one operator for all (or most) routes on a single 
corridor will reduce TfL’s flexibility to make wholesale changes to services on that corridor. Please 
explain further why you believe this is the case. 
 
Conclusion 5 – passenger experience 
We suggested that installing additional bus countdown boards in suburban areas and providing 
WiFi on board buses would improve the passenger experience and help increase usage. We note 
that you are not opposed to these proposals, but that funding is a barrier. You have suggested 
two funding sources in your response: Section 106 agreements for countdown boards, and 
sponsorship for WiFi. We would therefore like you to provide further detail on a) what specific 
steps you are currently taking to secure funding from developers for countdown boards, and  
b) what specific steps you are currently taking to secure a sponsorship agreement for on-board 
WiFi. 
 
I look forward to hearing from you. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
Keith Prince AM 
Chairman, Transport Committee  

Page 203



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 204



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Walking and Cycling at Outer London 
Junctions 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 10 January 2018 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This paper provides details of the Transport Committee’s recent report on walking and cycling at 

outer London junctions. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee agrees the report, Hostile streets: walking and cycling at outer 

London junctions. 

 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Committee appointed Caroline Russell AM as a rapporteur in 2017/18 to lead an investigation 

into walking and cycling at outer London junctions, with the following terms of reference: 

 To understand the experience of cyclists and pedestrians of all ages and backgrounds using 

busy junctions in outer London. 

 To consider how TfL and London boroughs can use junction works to unlock walking and 

cycling potential. 

 
3.2 The investigation included a call for views and information, site visits to outer London junctions, and 

meetings with Transport for London and other stakeholders. 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 A draft of the report, Hostile streets: walking and cycling in outer London, was published by the 

Committee on 4 December 2017.1 

                                                 
1 The report is available on our website at: https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/hostile_streets_-
_final_report_for_print.pdf  

Page 205

Agenda Item 6

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/hostile_streets_-_final_report_for_print.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/hostile_streets_-_final_report_for_print.pdf


        

4.2 The GLA Conservatives Group on the Committee has indicated that it does not approve of this 

report, with particular objections to recommendations 1 and 10. The reasons for this are set out in a 

minority report, which is included as an appendix to the report.  

 

4.3 David Kurten AM of the UKIP Group has indicated that he does not approve of recommendations 1, 

6 and 10. The reasons for this are set out at the relevant places in the report. 

 

4.4 The recommendations of the report are: 

Recommendation 1 

TfL should review the speed limits on all its roads, in line with the Healthy Streets check. We ask for 

TfL to report back to us on its review by May 2018.  

On 20mph limits, TfL should look to international best practice and carry out on-street trials in outer 

London to find ways that 20mph can be self-enforcing on main roads and at busy junctions. TfL 

should write to us with a list of places in outer London for on-street trials by May 2018.  

The Mayor should also carry out a public information campaign to promote the work that the 

Metropolitan Police Service is doing to enforce 20mph. It must be clear to people that they can be 

caught and prosecuted for breaking 20mph limits. 

Recommendation 2 

TfL should review its compliance with the Equalities Duty in respect of pavements, crossings and 

cycle lanes on the TfL Road Network. 

Recommendation 3 

TfL should identify outer London junctions that cause problems of community severance, and run an 

improvement programme to resolve high risk road danger issues for people walking and cycling (as 

set out in the Healthy Streets check). This programme should also ensure that there are safe 

crossings where people want to cross. TfL should share a list of junctions for improvements with us 

by May 2018. 

Recommendation 4 

While on site carrying out standard and major roadworks, TfL and its contractors should check the 

TfL Road Network within a 250m radius of where the main roadworks are taking place and resolve 

the following safety critical issues:  

 Side roads with no dropped kerbs  

 Major defects in the surface for walking  

 Major defects in the surface for cycling  

Other high risk road danger issues that can’t be fixed on the spot should be identified and reported 

for action. 

We would expect this to be cost-neutral or to save TfL money on remedial works. 

Recommendation 5 

TfL should review its key performance indicators (KPIs) to ensure they align with the Mayor’s 

Healthy Streets approach. For example, TfL might consider additional KPIs on:  

 Walking mode share  

Page 206



        

 Cycling mode share  

 Car dependency  

 Bus journey time reliability  

Recommendation 6 

TfL should look beyond collision data and consider the potential to increase walking and cycling 

when selecting junctions to improve. 

Recommendation 7 

TfL should collect “before and after” data on pedestrian and cycle movements when it builds new 

schemes and carries out major works at junctions, and encourage boroughs to do the same. As well 

as counts at the junction itself, this should include an assessment of pedestrian and cycle 

movements on neighbouring streets. TfL should then use this information to identify and spread 

examples of good practice. 

Recommendation 8 

TfL should publish information to show how much Healthy Streets funding it is spending on each 

borough. Information for 2017-18 should be available by the end of April, and we would expect 

annual data to be published thereafter as a matter of course. 

Recommendation 9 

TfL should be proactive in asking for changes to the Highway Code and other relevant legislation 

that could help people walking and cycling in London. It should publish a list of statutory requests 

and meet regularly with the Department for Transport to discuss these requests. 

Recommendation 10 

TfL should research and identify best practice from other countries. As an example, we recommend 

that TfL should consider further research on the changes set out in British Cycling’s Turning the 

Corner campaign. Initially this would involve a traffic modelling study and then off-street trials. If 

this project were to go ahead, we would also recommend that TfL sets up an advisory group made 

up of key stakeholders such as the Department for Transport, Living Streets, the RAC Foundation 

and the Disabled Person’s Transport Advisory Committee. 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 
 
5.2 Officers confirm that the report, Walking and Cycling at Outer London Junctions, falls within the 

Committee’s terms of reference. 
 
 

6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 207



        

 

List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1 - Hostile streets: walking and cycling at outer London junctions 

 

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Emily Hopkinson, Financial and Policy Analyst 

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 208

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Hostile Streets 
Walking and cycling at outer 
London junctions  

Transport Committee 
December 2017 

Page 209

lpelling_11
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1



 
 

 
 
 

Holding the Mayor to 
account and 
investigating issues that 
matter to Londoners 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 210



 
 

 
 
 

Transport Committee Members 

 
 
 
 
 
 
The Transport Committee holds the Mayor and Transport for London to 
account for their work delivering the capital’s transport network. The 
committee examines all aspects of the transport network and presses for 

improvements on behalf of Londoners. 
 

Contact 
Emily Hopkinson, Financial and Policy Analyst      
Email: TransportCommittee@london.gov.uk  
Contact: 020 7983 4000 

 

Follow us: 

@LondonAssembly  #AssemblyTransport 
facebook.com/london.assembly   

Florence 
Eshalomi AM 
Labour 

Steve O’Connell 
AM 
Conservative 

Navin Shah AM 
Labour 

Caroline Russell 
AM 
Green 

Tom Copley AM 
Labour 

David Kurten AM 
UKIP 
 

Joanne 
McCartney AM 
Labour 

Caroline Pidgeon  
MBE AM 
(Deputy Chair) 
Liberal Democrat 

Keith Prince AM 
(Chairman) 
Conservative 

Shaun Bailey AM 
Conservative 

Page 211

mailto:TransportCommittee@london.gov.uk
https://twitter.com/LondonAssembly
https://www.facebook.com/london.assembly


 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 3 
   

Contents 
 

Foreword ........................................................................... 4 

Summary ............................................................................ 6 

Recommendations ............................................................. 8 

1. Introduction ............................................................. 11 

2. Hostile Streets ......................................................... 14 

3. Creating the right culture at TfL ............................... 23 

4. Changing the rules ................................................... 34 

Our approach ................................................................... 39 

Appendix 1: Minority Report from the GLA Conservatives
 ......................................................................................... 41 

References ....................................................................... 43 

Other formats and languages .......................................... 45 

Page 212



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 4 
   

Foreword 

Caroline Russell AM  
Rapporteur and Member of the Transport 
Committee 

I want walking and cycling to be Londoners’ first 
choice for everyday journeys. Active travel improves 
people’s health, cuts air pollution, and when the 
streets are set up for it, is the quickest and easiest 
way to get around. 
 
However, many streets in outer London have been 
designed for cars, and not for people. Londoners who 

want to walk to school, cycle to work, or pop out to the shops face hostile 
streets that don’t meet their needs. Main roads and busy junctions disrupt 
journeys, and make walking and cycling less enjoyable, less convenient and 
less safe. 
 
I have campaigned for measures to enable walking and 
cycling for many years but I launched this investigation 
after talking to people who live near the North Circular. 
They told me that they would drive a few hundred 
yards from their homes on one side of this busy trunk 
road to the shops on the other, simply because it was 
not convenient for them to cross in any other way. 
 
The most striking example of a hostile street we saw 
was near Brentford, where primary schools are 
straddled by the A4 and M4 flyover. We walked the 
route with parents and children, who showed us how 
difficult it was for them to get to school. They were 
worried about fast-moving traffic, high levels of 
pollution, and getting stuck in the middle of the busy 
road waiting for ages for a green light to cross. 
 
I’m pleased to see walking and cycling at the forefront of the Mayor’s Healthy 
Streets approach and draft Transport Strategy. I welcome the target he has 
set to reduce London traffic and get 80 per cent of all trips completed by 
public transport, cycling or walking by 2041. The question now is how to start 
getting people out of their cars – especially at main roads and busy junctions 

 

“Many 
streets in 
outer 
London 
have been 
designed 
for cars 
and not for 
people” 

Page 213



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 5 
   

in outer London, which are some of the most difficult places to turn into 
Healthy Streets. 
 
I hope that the recommendations in this report will help the Mayor and 
Transport for London (TfL) to achieve their aims on Healthy Streets. We look 
at steps that the Mayor and TfL can take immediately to improve conditions 
for people walking and cycling, ways to embed a Healthy Streets culture at 
TfL, and legislative changes that the Mayor should pursue to make walking 
and cycling safer and more attractive in the long term. 
 
Finally, I would like to thank everyone who has contributed to this 
investigation, especially those who joined us on our site visits to Brentford, 
Walthamstow, Croydon, Havering and Bow. Seeing these junctions and 
hearing about people’s experience using them was especially valuable and 
highlighted to me the scale of the challenge we face. I would also like to thank 
scrutiny staff at City Hall, in particular Emily Hopkinson, who have supported 
me in this investigation. 
 
 
 

 
 

  

Page 214



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 6 
   

Summary 

The Mayor has said that he will prioritise walking, cycling and public transport 
when making decisions about London’s streets. This is part of his Healthy 
Streets approach, launched in February 2017, which looks to improve 
London’s health by designing physical activity back into everyday lives. 

We welcome the Mayor’s Healthy Streets approach and support his aim to get 
more Londoners walking and cycling. This report looks at what Transport for 

London (TfL) and the Mayor can do to improve conditions at some of the most 
difficult places to turn into Healthy Streets – main roads and busy junctions. 

We have chosen to focus on outer London because this is where the biggest 
opportunities lie.1 TfL has found that 64 per cent of London’s unmet potential 
for walking is in outer London, along with 61 per cent of its unmet potential 
for cycling. Despite this, successive Mayors have prioritised areas in inner 
London for walking and cycling investment.  

Hostile streets 

Main roads and busy junctions in outer London can feel like hostile places. 

And on any journey – to school, to work or to the shops – the route is only as 
good as its weakest link. While most of London’s streets are residential, main 
roads and busy junctions disrupt journeys, and make it more difficult for 
people to walk and cycle. 

While there are examples of good practice, some parts of outer London do 
not offer even a basic level of service. We came across crossings which were 
inaccessible to wheelchairs, and incomplete cycle lanes that threw people out 
into fast-moving motor traffic. In this report, we urge the Mayor to address 
these basic issues. 

Reducing motor traffic speeds could transform main roads and busy junctions 
so they feel safer for people walking and cycling. The safety evidence on this is 

stark. On urban roads, each mile per hour reduction in average speeds results 
in there being up to 6 per cent fewer collisions. And where collisions do occur, 
a fast-moving vehicle is far more likely to cause serious injury or death. 

Creating the right culture at TfL 

While the Mayor’s Healthy Streets approach makes it clear that TfL should 
prioritise people walking, cycling and using public transport, we found that 
this is not always how things work in practice. To date, TfL has prioritised 

Page 215



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 7 
   

motor traffic capacity. The Healthy Streets approach represents a big shift in 

emphasis, which will be a real challenge for TfL in terms of its culture change.  

TfL’s performance monitoring is still geared towards prioritising motor traffic. 
In this report, we urge TfL to update its key performance indicators for 2018-
19 such that they better reflect the Mayor’s aims to reduce car dependency 
and get more people walking and cycling. 

Some schemes are going ahead in outer London that don’t fit with the 
Mayor’s Healthy Streets approach. Changes consulted on at Croydon 
Fiveways, for instance, prioritise traffic flow and do not do enough to meet 
the needs of people walking and cycling. This is in part because TfL has only 
recently finalised its Healthy Streets check, which is an important tool to help 
it make investment decisions. We hope that the new check will help embed 

the Healthy Streets approach at TfL. 

We found that TfL does not always collect the right data to help it understand 
the impact of its spending on walking and cycling. It doesn’t consistently 
collect before and after data that would allow it to see what impact junction 
improvements have on the number of people walking and cycling. And it 
doesn’t know how much it is spending on each borough, so can’t assess 
whether it’s allocating funding equitably across London. TfL should collect and 
publish this data as a matter of course. 

In this report, we also ask TfL to reconsider its approach to selecting junctions 
for improvement works. It currently selects junctions based entirely on 
collision data, which prioritises places that already have lots of people walking 

and cycling. Dangerous junctions that have few collisions because people 
avoid using them will not be picked up for improvements, but could be worth 
investing in if they have high potential for walking and cycling. 

Changing the rules 

Being the most densely populated part of the UK, London faces unique 
challenges in terms of how its streets work for walking and cycling. It is 
important therefore that TfL is proactive in picking up on new road markings, 
signage and rules that could work for London and pushes for these to be 
included in the Highway Code and other relevant legislation.  

We encourage TfL to re-establish discussions with the Department for 

Transport, and put the case forward for relevant statutory changes. Details on 
the changes it is asking for should be published online to improve 
transparency. 

TfL also has a role to play in identifying international best practice and 
carrying out research on what could work for London. As an example, we 
recommend in this report that TfL should consider further research on 

pedestrian priority at turns. Earlier research, carried out by British Cycling, 
suggests that pedestrian priority at turns could shorten journey times not only 
for those walking, but also for those cycling, driving and travelling by bus. 

Page 216



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 8 
   

Recommendations 

Hostile Streets 

Recommendation 1  

TfL should review the speed limits on all its roads, in line with the Healthy 
Streets check. We ask for TfL to report back to us on its review by May 2018. 

On 20mph limits, TfL should look to international best practice and carry out 
on-street trials in outer London to find ways that 20mph can be self-
enforcing on main roads and at busy junctions. TfL should write to us with a 
list of places in outer London for on-street trials by May 2018.  

The Mayor should also carry out a public information campaign to promote 
the work that the Metropolitan Police Service is doing to enforce 20mph. It 
must be clear to people that they can be caught and prosecuted for breaking 
20mph limits. 

Recommendation 2 

TfL should review its compliance with the Equalities Duty in respect of 
pavements, crossings and cycle lanes on the TfL Road Network. 

Recommendation 3 

TfL should identify outer London junctions that cause problems of 
community severance, and run an improvement programme to resolve high 
risk road danger issues for people walking and cycling (as set out in the 
Healthy Streets check). This programme should also ensure that there are 
safe crossings where people want to cross. TfL should share a list of 
junctions for improvements with us by May 2018.  

Recommendation 4 

While on site carrying out standard and major roadworks, TfL and its 
contractors should check the TfL Road Network within a 250m radius of 
where the main roadworks are taking place and resolve the following safety 
critical issues: 

• Side roads with no dropped kerbs 

• Major defects in the surface for walking 

• Major defects in the surface for cycling 

Page 217



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 9 
   

Other high risk road danger issues that can’t be fixed on the spot should be 

identified and reported for action.  

We would expect this to be cost-neutral or to save TfL money on remedial 
works. 

Creating the right culture at TfL 

Recommendation 5 

TfL should review its key performance indicators (KPIs) to ensure they align 
with the Mayor’s Healthy Streets approach. For example, TfL might consider 
additional KPIs on: 

• Walking mode share 

• Cycling mode share 

• Car dependency 

• Bus journey time reliability  

Recommendation 6 

TfL should look beyond collision data and consider the potential to increase 
walking and cycling when selecting junctions to improve. 

Recommendation 7 

TfL should collect “before and after” data on pedestrian and cycle 
movements when it builds new schemes and carries out major works at 
junctions, and encourage boroughs to do the same. As well as counts at the 
junction itself, this should include an assessment of pedestrian and cycle 
movements on neighbouring streets. TfL should then use this information to 

identify and spread examples of good practice. 

Recommendation 8 

TfL should publish information to show how much Healthy Streets funding it is 
spending on each borough. Information for 2017-18 should be available by 
the end of April, and we would expect annual data to be published thereafter 
as a matter of course. 

Changing the rules 

Recommendation 9 

TfL should be proactive in asking for changes to the Highway Code and other 
relevant legislation that could help people walking and cycling in London. It 
should publish a list of statutory requests and meet regularly with the 
Department for Transport to discuss these requests. 

 

Page 218



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 10 
   

Recommendation 10 

TfL should research and identify best practice from other countries. As an 
example, we recommend that TfL should consider further research on the 
changes set out in British Cycling’s Turning the Corner campaign. Initially this 
would involve a traffic modelling study and then off-street trials. If this 
project were to go ahead, we would also recommend that TfL sets up an 
advisory group made up of key stakeholders such as the Department for 
Transport, Living Streets, the RAC Foundation and the Disabled Person’s 
Transport Advisory Committee. 

 
 

This report represents the view of a majority of the Committee.  

The GLA Conservatives’ dissenting views are set out in a minority opinion in 
Appendix 1 of this report (pages 41 and 42). In particular, they disagree with 
Recommendations 1 and 10.  

The UKIP Group disagrees with Recommendations 1, 6 and 10. Further details 
are included on pages 18, 27 and 38. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 219



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 11 
   

1. Introduction 
Key findings 

▪ We welcome the Mayor’s Healthy Streets approach 
and support his aim to get more Londoners walking 
and cycling 

▪ There is huge unmet potential for walking and 
cycling in outer London 

▪ Our investigation focuses on busy junctions that 
make it difficult for people to walk and cycle in 
outer London 

▪ We have gathered evidence from pedestrians, 
cyclists and other stakeholders to understand the 
key issues and explore what can be done to help 

  

Page 220



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 12 
   

Unmet potential for walking and cycling 

1.1 The Mayor has said that he will prioritise walking, cycling and public transport 
when making decisions about London’s streets. This is part of the Healthy 
Streets approach, launched in February 2017, which looks to improve 
London’s health by designing physical activity back into Londoners’ everyday 
lives.  

1.2 The greatest opportunities to get more people walking and cycling are in 
outer London. There is huge unmet potential in outer London: 5 million trips 
each day that could be walked or cycled are being made by motorised modes. 
64 per cent of London’s unmet potential for walking is in outer London, and 
61 per cent of its unmet potential for cycling is in outer London.2 

There is more unmet potential for walking in outer London than inner 
London 

 

Source: TfL, 2016 analysis of walking potential, March 2017  

1.3 Fewer walking and cycling trips are made in outer London, so fewer people 

get the benefits of active travel. There are therefore greater gains to be made 
in outer London, not only in terms of trip numbers, but also in terms of 
people’s health. A number of different factors make it less convenient for 
people living in outer London to walk and cycle. People living in outer London 
make, on average, just over four trips per week by active modes, compared to 
people in inner London who make just under seven.3  

1.4 The Mayor’s own draft Transport Strategy shows that outer London is the 
place that needs the biggest shift towards walking and cycling. By 2041, the 

Page 221



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 13 
   

Mayor hopes to see 80 per cent of London’s trips made on foot, by bike or by 

public transport, up from 64 per cent in 2015. To achieve this: 

• Central London would need to shift by 5 percentage points, so that 95 
per cent of its trips were made by walking, cycling and public 
transport, up from 90 per cent in 2015 

• Inner London would need to shift by 10 percentage points, from 80 to 
90 per cent 

• Outer London would need to shift by 15 percentage points, from 60 to 
75 per cent4 

1.5 We fully support the Mayor’s aim to get more people walking and cycling. 
That is why it is so important he instructs Transport for London (TfL) to 

improve main roads and busy junctions for pedestrians and cyclists, 
particularly in outer London.  

 

Our investigation 

1.6 The investigation was led by Caroline Russell AM as a rapporteur for the 
Transport Committee. It has looked at the experience of those travelling 
round outer London by bike and on foot, with a particular focus on main roads 
and busy junctions. We set out to consider how TfL could improve junctions in 
order to unlock walking and cycling potential. 

1.7 The rapporteur gathered evidence through a range of methods. A call for 
views and information attracted 40 written submissions from Londoners, 
campaign groups, boroughs and other organisations. An online forum, 
through Talk London, attracted a further 69 responses. We met with various 
stakeholders, and carried out site visits to: 

• Walthamstow Village, Waltham Forest 

• Gallows Corner, Havering 

• Bow Roundabout, Tower Hamlets 

• The A4 near Brentford, Hounslow 

• Croydon Fiveways, Croydon 

1.8 The report sets out the conclusions of our investigation and makes 
recommendations to the Mayor and TfL about how to improve people’s 
experience walking and cycling at main roads and busy junctions in outer 
London.  

  

Page 222



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 14 
   

2. Hostile Streets 

Key findings 

▪ Busy junctions in outer London can feel like hostile 
places, dangerous to people travelling on foot or by 
bike 

▪ A growing number of people live alongside main 
roads and busy junctions 

▪ Fast-moving traffic poses a particular danger to 
people walking and cycling 

▪ There are examples of good practice in outer 
London, but many places do not have even a basic 
level of service for people wanting to walk or cycle 

▪ Our recommendations focus on interventions that 
TfL can carry out immediately, and will quickly help 
to improve conditions for people walking and 
cycling  

 

  

Page 223



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 15 
   

2.1 Main roads and busy junctions in outer London can feel like hostile places for 

people walking and cycling. TfL’s annual survey on attitudes to cycling has 
consistently shown that safety concerns are the biggest barrier to people 
taking up cycling.5 And many of the people we spoke to said that they didn’t 
feel safe walking and cycling at main roads and busy junctions. We heard in 
our evidence that: 

“Busy junctions with lots of cars feel unsafe. If pavements are narrow 
then it feels like the environment is for cars, not for people.”6 

“As soon as it feels scary, people won’t do it. For example my wife 
won’t cycle 5 minutes to the shops because the junctions near 
Bromley South scare her. I cycle there most days and have got used to 
it but it’s intimidating. Doing it with my children is out of the question 

and there’s no alternative route.”7 

2.2 London’s junctions are some of the most dangerous places on the street 
network for people walking and cycling. These are the places where 
pedestrians are most likely to cross, and cyclists are at risk of a ‘left hook’ 
from turning vehicles. 76 per cent of the 9,718 pedestrians and cyclists who 
were injured on London’s roads in 2016 were involved in collisions at 
junctions. And 71 per cent of the 1,287 who were killed or seriously injured 
were injured at junctions.8 

2.3 On any journey – to school, to work, to the shops – the route is only as good 
as its weakest link. While the vast majority of London’s streets are residential, 
main roads and busy junctions can be dangerous and intimidating, and make 

it difficult for people to walk and cycle. 

Living alongside main roads and busy junctions  

2.4 As London grows, more people are living alongside main roads and busy 
junctions. It is increasingly important that these places work for people 
walking and cycling. If the Mayor is to achieve his aim that all Londoners 
should walk or cycle 20 minutes a day, he will have to address the challenges 
facing these growing communities.9 

2.5 TfL has found significant health inequalities between those living on main 
roads and those living on less heavily trafficked streets. So in many ways these 
are the most important places to target as Healthy Streets. Health inequalities 

affecting people who live at main roads and busy junctions include: 

• Air pollution and noise pollution 

• Physical inactivity and obesity 

• Curtailed independent mobility of children and young people 

• Road traffic collisions 

• Community severance, leading to social isolation 10 

Page 224



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 16 
   

2.6 On our site visits, we saw communities built near large junctions where it was 

not obvious to drivers that there were homes and schools nearby. The 
starkest example was in Brentford, where primary schools straddle the A4 and 
the M4 flyover. When communities are hidden, drivers do not expect to come 
across people walking and cycling and don’t know to drive with greater care 
and attention. 

The A4 near Brentford feels like a place for cars, not for people 

 

2.7 Many of the streets we came across had junction geometry to help motorised 
vehicles maintain their speed around corners – for example, side streets and 
roundabouts with wide, curved entrances and exits. Not only do these allow 

cars to drive faster, but they also widen the crossing distance, leaving 
pedestrians exposed to turning traffic for longer than necessary. 

The dangers of fast-moving traffic 

2.8 Many of the people we spoke to were particularly concerned about the 

dangers of fast-moving traffic. At Gallows Corner, cars accelerated rapidly 
when leaving the roundabout, and the speed limit along the A4 at Brentford 
was 40mph where children were crossing to get to school.11  

2.9 TfL, using evidence from the World Health Organisation, has previously 
identified speed as “the single most important determinant of safety”.12 

2.10 Fast-moving vehicles are more likely to be involved in collisions than slower-

moving vehicles. This is because they have greater stopping distances. On 
urban roads, each mile per hour reduction in average speeds can result in 
there being up to 6 per cent fewer collisions.13 

2.11 Where collisions do occur, they tend to be more dangerous the faster the 
vehicle is moving. A pedestrian who is hit at 33 miles per hour has a 50 per 
cent risk of being killed or seriously injured, while a pedestrian hit at 17.1 
miles per hour has only a 10 per cent risk.14 

Page 225



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 17 
   

Pedestrians hit at higher speeds have a much higher chance of being killed 

or seriously injured 

 

Source: Tefft, Impact of speed on a pedestrian’s risk of severe injury or death, 2015 

2.12 If motor traffic on the TfL road network drove slower, this could transform 
large roads and junctions so they feel much safer for people walking and 
cycling. TfL, the Mayor and the Metropolitan Police Service can reduce traffic 
speeds through a combination of speed limits, street design and traffic 
enforcement. 

2.13 The Healthy Streets check that TfL uses to assess new schemes suggests that 
traffic moving faster than 30mph could pose a serious danger to people 
walking and cycling. TfL classes it as a “high risk road danger issue” if more 
than 15 per cent of vehicles on any given street drive faster than 30mph.15 
Speed limits vary widely across the TfL road network in outer London, from 
30mph to 70mph.16 Given the dangers of fast-moving traffic, we urge TfL to 
review the speed limits across its roads.  

2.14 Reducing motor traffic speeds would fit with the Mayor’s Vision Zero aim that 
no-one is killed or seriously injured on London’s roads.17 It is worth noting that 
even in places with dedicated pedestrian facilities, formal crossings are not 
always enough to protect people. 377 people were killed or seriously injured 

at London’s light-controlled pedestrian crossings in 2016.18 Infrastructure 
alone is not enough, and it is hard to see how the Mayor can achieve his 
Vision Zero aim without reducing traffic speeds.  

2.15 TfL is supportive of 20mph limits, but aims that any 20mph limits on its road 
network are ‘self-enforcing’, meaning that drivers comply with the limits 
because the streets look and feel like they should be 20mph. It is currently 
piloting 20mph limits in parts of inner London.  

2.16 We believe that implementing further 20mph limits on the TfL road network 
could be an effective measure. We welcome the success of 20mph trials on 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

17.1 mph

24.9 mph

33.0 mph

40.8 mph

48.1 mph

Risk of pedestrian being killed or seriously injured

Im
p

ac
t 

sp
ee

d

Page 226



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 18 
   

the TfL Road Network in inner London, and would like TfL to build up the 

evidence base in outer London. We therefore ask that TfL carry out further 
research on how 20mph limits can be self-enforcing on main roads and at 
busy junctions in outer London, learning from international best practice and 
carrying out on-street trials. 

2.17 TfL and the Metropolitan Police Service are working to enforce speed limits 
but could do more to promote their work and raise public awareness. While 
there is a general perception that 20mph limits are not enforced, 12,251 
people received notices of intended prosecution for breaking a 20mph speed 
limit on London’s roads in 2016.19 The Mayor should run a public information 
campaign so that people are aware that they can be caught for breaking 
20mph speed limits.i ii 

 

Examples of good practice 

2.18 There are examples of good practice in outer London, for instance in Waltham 
Forest, which has seen recent improvements through the Mini Holland 
scheme introduced by the previous Mayor. 

2.19 At Walthamstow, we saw that improvement works had opened up large areas 

for walking and cycling. The London Borough of Waltham Forest cut down 
traffic by filtering the residential streets, blocking through-routes to cars but 
allowing people to get past on foot or by bike. This makes walking and cycling 

                                                      
i The UKIP Group has dissented from this recommendation, believing that speed limits higher 
than 30mph should remain on TfL roads, where statistics show there are few accidents, in 
order to maintain good traffic flow. There should not be self-enforcement on trunk roads or 
red routes at the 20mph level which is too low a speed for good traffic flow. 
ii The GLA Conservatives have dissented from this recommendation. Further details are on 
pages 41 and 42. 

Recommendation 1 

TfL should review the speed limits on all its roads in line with the 
Healthy Streets check. We ask for TfL to report back to us on its review 
by May 2018. 
 
On 20mph limits, TfL should look to international best practice and 
carry out on-street trials in outer London to find ways that 20mph can 
be self-enforcing on main roads and at busy junctions. TfL should write 
to us with a list of places in outer London for on-street trials by May 
2018.  
 
The Mayor should also carry out a public information campaign to 
promote the work that the Metropolitan Police Service is doing to 
enforce 20mph. It must be clear to people that they can be caught and 
prosecuted for breaking 20mph limits.i, ii 

Page 227



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 19 
   

feel much safer, and makes it the most efficient way to get around over short 

distances.  

2.20 The borough also tightened up the street geometry at junctions, slowing 
traffic and reducing the crossing distance for people walking. On top of this, 
they added over 40 ‘Copenhagen crossings’, where the pavement on the main 
road continues across side streets to give pedestrians priority. This means that 
people can quickly walk along the main road without having to keep stopping 
to cross. 

Copenhagen crossings require drivers to give way to people walking across 
side roads 

 

2.21 Having opened up large areas of residential space for walking and cycling, 
Waltham Forest is now looking to improve the main roads and busy junctions 
that link different parts of the borough.  

2.22 We support the work that is being carried out under the Mini Holland scheme, 
and hope that the Mayor’s more recently announced ‘Liveable 
Neighbourhoods’ programme will yield similar results. The Liveable 
Neighbourhoods programme offers smaller grants than the Mini Holland 
scheme, though it should provide funding to more boroughs. 

Failing to provide a basic level of service 

2.23 We came across many basic problems on the site visits. These left routes 
inaccessible to people in wheelchairs, pedestrians without safe crossings, and 
junctions unpassable for all except the most confident of cyclists. 

2.24 Improvements carried out under the Mini Holland scheme and Liveable 
Neighbourhoods programme can be relatively high cost, and would take a 
long time to roll out across the whole of outer London. In the meantime, the 
Mayor and TfL need to work out how to apply Healthy Streets principles on 
roads in the areas that haven’t benefitted from this funding. 

Page 228



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 20 
   

2.25 In just three locations – Gallows Corner in Havering, Croydon Fiveways and a 

stretch of the A4 near Brentford – we came across: 

• A signed cycle route which was not completed and ran out midway 
down a 50mph road 

• A pedestrian crossing with a dropped kerb for wheelchairs and 
buggies, and tactile paving for people with visual impairments, on only 
one side of the road 

• A cycle lane which directs bikes onto oncoming traffic 

• Pavements and traffic islands which are too narrow or have street 
clutter that makes it difficult for wheelchairs and buggies 

• Busy, signalised junctions with no pedestrian phase in the lights 

• Traffic islands where pedestrians wait to cross surrounded by high 
volumes of fast-moving traffic 

• A pavement and crossing which were closed following a collision, 
when the issue had been dealt with and the road reopened several 
days earlier20 

2.26 Some of these issues raise particular concerns in terms of TfL’s compliance 
with the Equalities Duty.21 London’s streets must be accessible to all – 
including those who are disabled or visually impaired.  

A cycle lane on the A4 directs bikes into three lanes of oncoming traffic 

 

 

 

Recommendation 2  

TfL should review its compliance with the Equalities Duty in respect of 
pavements, crossings and cycle lanes on the TfL Road Network. 
 
 
 

Page 229



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 21 
   

 
From hostile to healthy 

2.27 We recommend that TfL identifies outer London junctions which do not meet 
Healthy Streets principles, and runs a programme of improvement works to 
address these issues. As funding allows, we would suggest it prioritises 
junctions which cause problems of community severance, where roads cut 
people off from the services they want to use.  

2.28 There are many junctions which fail to provide even a basic level of service. As 
such we are asking for this programme to cover only the fundamentals – high 
risk road danger issues – so that more junctions can be improved. TfL 
identifies ten “high risk road danger issues” in the Healthy Streets check it 
uses to assess new schemes, which should act as a starting point.  

2.29 Crossings also need to be addressed in this programme. A lack of crossings is 
one of the key barriers to people walking. While TfL doesn’t identify it as a 
high risk road danger issue, we disagree. When there isn’t appropriate 
provision, people cross where it isn’t safe to do so. Crossings must be built 

where people want to cross, and pedestrian phases added to any signalised 
junctions which don’t have them already.  

2.30 Three of the high risk road danger issues that TfL has identified can be easily 
fixed by TfL teams already on site for other roadworks. Each team should 
check and resolve these issues within a 250m radius of where the main 
roadworks are taking place. Other Healthy Streets issues that can’t be easily 
fixed should be identified and reported for action. 

2.31 Issues we would expect to be picked up as part of this process include: 

• Side roads with no dropped kerbs for people to cross 

• Major defects in the cycling surface 

• Major defects in the surface for walking 

Page 230



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 22 
   

 

  

Recommendation 3  
TfL should identify outer London junctions that cause problems of 
community severance, and run an improvement programme to resolve 
high risk road danger issues for people walking and cycling (as set out in 
the Healthy Streets check). This programme should also ensure that 
there are safe crossings where people want to cross. TfL should share a 
list of junctions for improvements with us by May 2018. 
 

Recommendation 4 
While on site carrying out standard and major roadworks, TfL and its 
contractors should check the TfL Road Network within a 250m radius of 
where the main roadworks are taking place and resolve the following 
safety critical issues: 

• Side roads without dropped kerbs 

• Major defects in the surface for walking 

• Major defects in the surface for cycling  
 

Other high risk road danger issues that can’t be fixed on the spot 
should be identified and reported for action. 
 
We would expect this to be cost-neutral, or save TfL money on 
remedial works. 
 
 
 
 

Page 231



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 23 
   

3. Creating the right 
culture at TfL 

Key findings 

▪ The Healthy Streets approach is not yet fully 
embedded at TfL 

▪ TfL’s performance metrics don’t incentivise it to get 
more people walking and cycling in outer London 

▪ TfL is allowing schemes to proceed which don’t fit 
with the Healthy Streets approach 

▪ TfL does not pick up junctions which are so 
dangerous that people avoid using them for 
junction improvements 

▪ TfL doesn’t know how much it spends on each 
borough, so it cannot tell if its allocations are 
equitable across London 

▪ Our recommendations focus on ways to change the 
culture at TfL and direct attention towards Healthy 
Streets in outer London 

  

Page 232



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 24 
   

3.1 While the Mayor’s Healthy Streets approach makes it clear that TfL should 

prioritise people walking, cycling and using public transport, we found that 
this is not always how things work in practice.  

3.2 Since its creation, TfL has prioritised motor traffic when making decisions on 
the TfL road network. Engineers have to demonstrate that any changes they 
are proposing to the streets won’t delay cars or buses. The key measure they 
use is ‘journey time reliability’, which aims to make sure drivers aren’t too 
badly affected by congestion, and that their journeys take a consistent 
amount of time each day.  

3.3 Prioritising motor traffic has limited TfL’s ability to improve facilities for 
walking and cycling. Publica, an urban design company, explains that: 

“Junctions designed to prioritise and optimise the flow of motor traffic 
rather than the safe and efficient movement of those walking or 
travelling by bicycle currently dominate outer London. For this reason, 
the needs of pedestrians and cyclists have been neglected in favour of 
schemes that maintain or increase motor vehicle capacity.”22 

3.4 Healthy Streets and Vision Zero call for a fundamentally different approach. 
Motor traffic cannot be prioritised in the same way if the Mayor is to meet his 
aims to get more Londoners walking and cycling, and for there to be no-one 
killed or seriously injured on London’s streets. This is a big shift in emphasis, 
and will be a real challenge for TfL in terms of their working culture. 

3.5 We saw an early example in inner London where TfL was prepared to make 

changes that would benefit pedestrians and cyclists at the expense of motor 
traffic. TfL made junction improvements to Bow Roundabout, when traffic 
modelling showed that they would delay motor vehicles by up to two 
minutes.23 However, this approach has not yet been replicated at major 
junctions in outer London. 

Key performance indicators that contradict Healthy Streets 

3.6 TfL sets out its key performance indicators (KPIs) in its 2017-18 scorecard. It 
explains that the scorecard “will be used prominently inside TfL to drive 
business performance. It will be discussed throughout the year by senior 
staff… [and] have clear visibility at Board level”.24 

3.7 There is currently nothing in the scorecard to support the Healthy Streets 

agenda and incentivise TfL to increase levels of walking and cycling in outer 
London. The only KPI on walking and cycling numbers is on cycling trips in 
central London – there is nothing on cycling in outer London, and nothing at 
all on walking. 

3.8 KPIs are particularly important for walking and cycling because these modes 
make no money for TfL. Most of TfL’s projects, such as capacity upgrades on 
the Tube, help it to generate more revenue and do not require the incentive 
of a KPI. There is no such incentive for junction improvements or other 
walking and cycling infrastructure. 

Page 233



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 25 
   

3.9 There is some evidence that the KPIs may act as a disincentive for TfL to make 

changes that would boost active travel. On our site visits, senior members of 
TfL staff expressed concern that by enabling more people to walk and cycle, 
improving the facilities at big junctions could lead to an increase in the 
number of people killed and seriously injured. 

3.10 In the absence of KPIs on walking and cycling, KPIs on journey time reliability 
and bus speeds encourage TfL to prioritise motor traffic when making changes 
to the roads. We suggest that TfL should add a KPI to reduce London’s car 
dependency, as a way of improving journey time reliability while also freeing 
up space for pedestrians and cyclists. The Mayor set out in his draft Transport 
Strategy that “reducing car dependency is the only way to keep London 
moving”. 25 We would expect him to achieve this by making it more 

convenient for people to walk, cycle and use public transport. 

3.11 In light of the new priorities set out in the Mayor’s draft Transport Strategy, 
we also suggest that TfL could add an additional KPI on journey time reliability 
for buses. If the Mayor is focusing on walking, cycling and public transport, 
then it is important that TfL makes a distinction between buses and general 
traffic. This would also help to address concerns we raised in our July 2017 
report Driven to Distraction: Tackling safety on London’s buses – that bus 
drivers are having to work excessive hours, with inadequate time for breaks, 
due in part to delays caused by congestion.26 

 

TfL’s existing key performance 
indicators 

Commentary 

Reduction in killed and seriously 
injured (KSIs) on London’s roads 

The more people walk and cycle, the 
more difficult it is to meet this KPI 

Journey time reliability on the 
TfL road network (TLRN) 

Giving more time and space to people 
walking and cycling at junctions and on 
main roads can make it more difficult to 
meet these KPIs 

Excess wait time for buses 

Average bus speed 

Total public transport journeys 
and central London cycling trips 

The only KPI on cycling trips focuses 
attention on central London 

 

Page 234



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 26 
   

 

Selecting the right junctions for improvement works  

3.12 TfL has not considered walking and cycling potential when selecting which 

junctions to improve. It has selected 73 junctions for its Safer Junctions 
programme (previously Better Junctions) based entirely on collision data. 
These junctions saw the highest number of collisions involving pedestrians, 
cyclists and motorcyclists between 2012 and 2015.27  

3.13 This approach means that TfL is effectively prioritising junctions that already 
have high numbers of pedestrians, cyclists and motorcyclists. Junctions that 
are so dangerous that people avoid using them will not be picked up for 
improvements.  

3.14 The key distinction is between the number and rate of collisions. If people 
avoid using a junction, it may have a low number, but high rate of collisions 
per journey walked or cycled. If it also has high potential for walking and 

cycling, or cuts communities off from public transport, shops and places of 
work, then it may be a junction that is worth investing in. 

3.15 By prioritising junctions that already have high numbers of pedestrians, 
cyclists and motorcyclists, TfL is also prioritising inner London over outer 
London. Only three of the 73 Safer Junctions are in outer London. 

  

Recommendation 5 
TfL should review its key performance indicators (KPIs) to ensure they 
align with the Mayor’s Healthy Streets approach. For example, TfL 
might consider additional KPIs on: 

• Walking mode share 

• Cycling mode share 

• Car dependency 

• Bus journey time reliability  

Page 235



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 27 
   

Only three of the Safer Junctions that TfL is prioritising are in outer London 

 

Source: TfL, Safer Junctions map 2017 

3.16 TfL’s recent Strategic Cycling Analysis evaluates London’s streets in a different 
way, and does not target the places with the most collisions. It takes a 
combination measure, looking for places that have a lot of people already 
cycling, and that have good potential for more people to cycle. The analysis 

identified 25 routes for further attention, around half of which are in outer 
London, though TfL has not yet explained what work it expects to carry out on 
these routes.28 While the new analysis is a step in the right direction, it will 
not focus attention on those junctions which have high potential for walking 
and cycling, but are so dangerous that they’re not currently used.iii  

 

Schemes that don’t fit with the Healthy Streets approach 

3.17 We found during this investigation that some schemes are going ahead which 
do not fit with the Healthy Streets agenda. A recent example is the Croydon 
Fiveways scheme, which went out to consultation in July and prioritises traffic 
flow over the needs of people who want to walk and cycle. The first aim set 

                                                      
iii The UKIP Group has dissented from this recommendation, believing that the layout of 
junctions should consider walking, cycling and traffic flow. There should not be unnecessary 
cycle paths installed at junctions where there are hardly any cyclists. 

Recommendation 6 

TfL should look beyond collision data and consider the potential to 
increase walking and cycling when selecting junctions to improve.iii 

Page 236



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 28 
   

out in the consultation on this scheme relates to traffic capacity, and is in 

direct conflict with the Mayor’s aim to reduce car dependency: 

“Our proposals would make Fiveways junctions simpler and increase 
capacity to accommodate expected traffic growth arising from 
population and economic growth in the area.”29 

3.18 The Croydon Fiveways scheme is poorly designed for pedestrians and cyclists. 
This is despite Croydon Fiveways being an £83 million scheme in a place that 
has been identified as having high potential for walking and cycling.30 Cycle 
lanes are planned in some directions, but there is no provision for bikes at the 
most difficult parts of the junction. And pedestrians have to take slow, 
indirect routes around the junction, as shown on pages 29-30. 

3.19 Part of the problem at Croydon Fiveways was that TfL did not carry out a full 
Healthy Streets check. The Healthy Streets check is a key decision-making tool 
to help TfL ensure its projects are in line with the Healthy Streets agenda. 
Croydon Fiveways went out to consultation in July 2017, while the Healthy 
Streets check was not finalised until November. 

3.20 TfL said in response to an FOI request that it had tried to carry out a Healthy 
Streets check at Croydon Fiveways prior to consultation, but that at the time 
there were problems with the metrics. This meant the check returned 
“potentially misleading or unvalidated information which might over or 
understate the benefits of the project for pedestrians and cyclists”. 31 

  

Page 237



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 29 
   

 
Case study: Croydon Fiveways 

Croydon Fiveways is a large junction where the A232 meets the A23. It’s 
around a mile from the centre of Croydon, and is a key route for freight, as 
well as for people walking, cycling and driving. 

TfL is planning a major overhaul of this junction, which will cost around £83 
million. The plans do not meet the needs of people wanting to walk and cycle.  

Walking at Croydon Fiveways 

The crossings that TfL is planning are not always in convenient places. People 
walking have to take long, indirect routes around the junction. 

Most of the crossings TfL is planning are ‘staggered’ rather than ‘straight 

across’. People cross halfway at one set of lights, then have to wait on a traffic 
island to get all the way across at a second set of lights. This causes delay for 
people walking. 

 

Page 238



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 30 
   

 

Cycling at Croydon Fiveways 

The cycle lane planned for the main road is left-turn only, with cyclists who 
want to continue straight having to make a difficult merge into general traffic. 

 

TfL plans for a safe cycle path to be added in one direction along Epsom Road 
into Croydon. But in the other direction it is not planning for any cycle 
facilities at the most dangerous part of the route – where bikes have to cross 
fast-moving traffic coming down Duppas Hill Road. 

 

Source: TfL consultation on Croydon Fiveways 

Page 239



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 31 
   

Using the Healthy Streets check 

3.21 TfL published its new Healthy Streets check on 22 November 2017. The check 
has 31 metrics, which fall under the 10 Healthy Streets indicators set out in 
the diagram below. These are then combined to give an overall score for each 
indicator. Before and after figures show what effect each scheme could have, 
and the check also flags up high risk road danger issues. The high risk road 
danger element is crucial – TfL has to tackle these issues head on, and cannot 
make a street “healthy” just by adding benches or planting more trees. 

Example output from Healthy Streets check at Leonard Circus, Hackney 

 

Source: TfL, Introducing the Healthy Streets check, 2016 

3.22 The Healthy Streets check helps to make sure that TfL is properly prioritising 
people walking, cycling and using public transport. The way that TfL is now 
structuring its funding makes it especially important that the Healthy Streets 
check works as intended. All street funding has been brought together into a 
single Healthy Streets budget, with the idea that TfL should move away from 
looking at single transport modes, and instead take a wider view of how 
streets function to best deliver for people. TfL intends that the Healthy Streets 
check will help it direct spending towards this aim. 32 

3.23 Our understanding is that TfL will use the Healthy Streets check when 
assessing options for each project, and that it will publish results from the 

check alongside each of its consultations. We are yet to see the final check 
used in practice, but welcome this new approach. We hope that it will 
empower engineers to design healthy streets and to get their designs 
accepted by key decision makers at TfL. 

Collecting the right data 

3.24 Several people responding to our call for views and information told us that it 
is hard to tell what effect junction improvements have on the number of 
people walking and cycling because TfL does not collect the right data. 
“Before and after” data would help to show where junction improvements 

Page 240



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 32 
   

have worked to improve people’s perceptions of safety and enabled them to 

walk and cycle. The number of pedestrians and cyclists on neighbouring 
streets is important, as well as counts on the junction itself. 

3.25 We asked TfL for “before and after” data on pedestrian and cycle movements 
at Elephant & Castle and the Archway Gyratory – junctions which have 
recently undergone significant work. TfL was not able to provide data on 
either junction, arguing that it is too early to assess the Archway scheme, and 
that other factors, such as regeneration, would affect the numbers at 
Elephant & Castle. It does, however, collect equivalent data on motor traffic.33 

3.26 In general, TfL has better data on cycling than walking. It carries out annual 
cycle counts in 2,500 locations across the Cycle Superhighways, Quietways, 
Central London Grid and Mini Hollands – although most of these are in inner 

London. For pedestrians, it only counts the number of people crossing the 
river bridges and foot tunnels, and is piloting a pedestrian count at two inner 
London town centres.34  

3.27 While we accept that there are other factors at play which should be 
considered when assessing results, we think that before and after data on 
cycle and pedestrian counts at junctions would help TfL to identify some of its 
most successful schemes. These should then be spread as examples of good 
practice.  

 

Tracking spend on walking and cycling  

3.28 Looking at the schemes that are going ahead, it is clear that TfL spends more 
on walking and cycling in inner London than outer London. Only three of the 
73 Safer Junctions that TfL is prioritising are in outer London. And in terms of 
cycling infrastructure, Cycle Superhighways and Quietways are built mainly in 

inner London, best suiting the needs of those commuting into central 
London.35 With so much focus on inner London, we suspect outer London isn’t 
getting its fair share. 

3.29 Investing in Mini Hollands at three outer London boroughs was a good first 
step to address the imbalance in funding, but from what we’ve seen of the 
current Mayor’s plans for walking and cycling, it seems that the bulk of the 
funding will continue to be invested in central and inner London.  

 

Recommendation 7 
TfL should collect “before and after” data on pedestrian and cycle 
movements when it builds new schemes and carries out major works at 
junctions, and encourage boroughs to do the same. As well as counts at 
the junction itself, this should include an assessment of pedestrian and 
cycle movements on neighbouring streets. TfL should then use this 
information to identify and spread examples of good practice. 
 
  

Page 241



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 33 
   

Most of TfL’s spending on cycling is in inner London 

Cycle infrastructure 
(excluding cycle hire) 

2016-17 spend 
(Figures in £ millions) 

Inner/Outer London 

Cycle Superhighways 32 Mainly inner London 

Safer Junctions 16 Mainly inner London 

Mini Hollands 18 Outer London 

Quietways 14 Mainly inner London 

Central London Grid 12 Inner London 

Other roads 
infrastructure 

9 Mix of inner and 
outer London 

There is no data on walking infrastructure as TfL does not have a separate 
walking budget. Instead it looks to improve conditions for people walking 
whenever it makes changes to the TfL road network.  

Source: Correspondence from TfL to the Transport Committee, October 2017 

3.30 Precise figures are not available because TfL doesn’t collect data on spending 
by borough. We were surprised that TfL didn’t have this data, as it should be 
relatively easy to collect. TfL does not know how much it is spending in outer 
London compared to inner London, and without this data cannot demonstrate 
that it is allocating its resources equitably to meet the needs of all Londoners.  

3.31 TfL has told us that it is developing new processes to help it record which 

boroughs it is spending its Healthy Streets funding on. We would expect that 
these processes are up and running by the start of the next financial year, and 
that data is made public when it becomes available.  

 

 

  

Recommendation 8 
TfL should publish information to show how much Healthy Streets 
funding it is spending on each borough. Information for 2017-18 should 
be available by the end of April, and we would expect annual data to be 
published thereafter as a matter of course. 
 

Page 242



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 34 
   

4. Changing the rules 

Key findings 

▪ Changes to rules, road markings and signage can 
help make walking and cycling safer and more 
attractive 

▪ There are examples where TfL has successfully 
negotiated with the Department for Transport to 
trial new road markings and signage 

▪ TfL and the Mayor can do more to research changes 
that would work for London, and to lobby the 
government to update legislation to make those 
changes possible 

▪ Our recommendations focus on interventions which 
would require legislative changes that are beyond 
the power of the Mayor, but for which the Mayor 
can lobby 

 

  

Page 243



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 35 
   

4.1 London is the most densely populated part of the UK, and faces unique 

challenges in terms of how its streets works for walking and cycling. It is 
important therefore that TfL is proactive in picking up on new road markings, 
signage and rules and pushing for these to be included in the Highway Code 
and other relevant legislation.  

4.2 TfL has led the way with innovation on cycle traffic lights and pedestrian 
countdowns. It has trialled and promoted such measures to the Department 
for Transport so that they can be used more widely across the UK. 

4.3 We saw examples where TfL had successfully negotiated with the Department 
for Transport to use new road markings and signage. For instance, TfL is using 
more bus stop bypasses which take cycle lanes around the back of bus stops 
so that bikes aren’t forced out into general traffic. To help people access the 

bus stops, it secured permission from the Department for Transport to trial 
mini zebra crossings across the cycle lanes. These mini zebra crossings would 
not normally be allowed under the relevant legislation on zebra crossings.36 

TfL has secured special permission from the Department for Transport to 
trial mini zebra crossings on cycle lanes 

 

4.4 There are also examples of new road markings and signage that outer London 
boroughs have used, but don’t currently have any legal basis. For instance, we 
saw ‘elephant’s footprint’ markings used at Walthamstow to mark the edge of 

a cycle lane across a side road and signal to drivers that they should give way. 
While such markings could help people walking and cycling, they can confuse 
drivers if not used consistently across London and the rest of the UK. This is an 
area where TfL could help by asking the Department of Transport to change 
national legislation. 

 

 

Page 244



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 36 
   

‘Elephant’s footprint’ markings are used in Walthamstow to mark the edge 

of a cycle lane and give bikes priority over turning motor traffic, but don’t 
have any legal basis 

 

4.5 TfL used  to maintain a list of statutory requests and discuss them regularly 
with the Department for Transport. It no longer maintains this list, and since 
2015 discussions with the Department for Transport have slowed. We urge TfL 
to be more proactive in asking for changes to the Highway Code and other 
relevant legislation that could help people walking and cycling in London. 
Information about the statutory changes it is asking for and any progress 
should be published online. Where appropriate, the Mayor may also be able 
to use his meetings with the Secretary of State for Transport to push for 

regulatory change. 

 

Pedestrian priority at turns 

4.6 TfL and the boroughs have previously been held back in their efforts to 

improve conditions for people walking and cycling by the need to 
demonstrate that any changes won’t delay cars or buses. While the Healthy 
Streets approach should help, traffic capacity continues to affect decision 
making. A borough officer told us in their response to our call for views and 
information that: 

“Pedestrian and cycle improvements are often reduced/compromised 
to protect bus and general traffic journey times which inherently leads 
to a reduced benefit in pedestrian and cycle levels of service.”37 

Recommendation 9 
TfL should be proactive in asking for changes to the Highway Code and 
other relevant legislation that could help people walking and cycling in 
London. It should publish a list of statutory requests and meet regularly 
with the Department for Transport to discuss these requests.   
 

Page 245



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 37 
   

4.7 Recent research by British Cycling suggests a new way forward which could 

give people walking and cycling a better deal without causing delay for those 
on buses or in cars. This would be achieved through rule changes that meant 
vehicles had to give way to pedestrians and cyclists when turning.  

4.8 A rule change would save time because pedestrians, cyclists and general 
traffic travelling in the same direction could be given the green light to go at 
the same time. This means that junction designs are simpler and less time is 
lost while people wait their turn. These rules already apply in most other 
countries apart from the UK. 

In most other countries, pedestrians, cyclists and general traffic travelling in 
the same direction can be given the green light to go at the same time 
Turning traffic gives way to people crossing the road 

 

4.9 British Cycling modelled the rule change at an outer London junction to 
demonstrate the efficiency gains that could be made. It found the change 

would benefit all road users. It could result in some 38 per cent less delay for 
pedestrians, 21 per cent less delay for bikes, and 25 per cent less delay for 
motor vehicles.38 This would address one common complaint about initiatives 
designed to benefit people walking and cycling – that other road users must 
inevitably suffer as a result. 

4.10 While the British Cycling research shows that efficiency gains could be used at 
least in part to speed up motor journeys, they could equally be used to free 

up road space for pedestrian and cycle facilities, or to make way for bus 
priority measures. This would be more in line with the Mayor’s Healthy 
Streets approach and draft Transport Strategy. 

4.11 Early results from the research are promising, but more research is needed to 
assess the wider effects of such a change. TfL is well placed to lead this 
research, and could initially start by modelling changes over a larger section of 
the road network. It could set up an advisory group made up of key 
stakeholders such as the Department for Transport, Living Streets, the RAC 

Page 246



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 38 
   

Foundation and the Disabled Person’s Transport Advisory Committee, and if 

the initial research is successful, carry out off-street trials. 

4.12 This work would be done with the intention of lobbying central government 
for change. The better the evidence, the greater the chance of success in the 
long term. TfL is in a uniquely strong position among local transport 
authorities to lobby for change, due to its size and expertise.ivv 

  

                                                      
iv The UKIP Group has dissented from this recommendation, believing that giving a green light 
to turning vehicles at the same time as pedestrians crossing the road in the path of those 
turning vehicles is a recipe for disaster which will cause collisions and casualties. 
v The GLA Conservatives have dissented from this recommendation. Further details are on 
pages 41 and 42. 

Recommendation 10 
TfL should research and identify best practice from other countries. As 
an example, we recommend that TfL should consider further research 
on the changes set out in British Cycling’s Turning the Corner campaign. 
Initially this would involve a traffic modelling study and then off-street 
trials. If this project were to go ahead, we would also recommend that 
TfL sets up an advisory group made up of key stakeholders such as the 
Department for Transport, Living Streets, the RAC Foundation and the 
Disabled Person’s Transport Advisory Committee.iv, v  
 

Page 247



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 39 
   

Our approach 

The Transport Committee agreed the following terms and conditions for this 
investigation: 

• To understand the experience of cyclists and pedestrians of all ages 
and backgrounds using busy junctions in outer London. 

• To consider how TfL and London boroughs can use junction works to 
unlock walking and cycling potential. 

 
Meetings 

Caroline Russell and other committee members undertook the following 
activities during the investigation: 

• Site visit to Walthamstow village, Waltham Forest 

• Site visit to Gallows Corner, Havering 

• Site visit to Bow Roundabout, Tower Hamlets 

• Site visit to the A4/M4 near Brentford, Hounslow 

• Site visit to Croydon Fiveways, Croydon 

• Informal meetings with representatives of British Cycling 

• Informal meetings with representatives of Transport for London 

 
Submissions 

In addition to 19 submissions from individual Londoners, the committee 
received written submissions from the following organisations: 

• Campaign for Better Transport 

• Canal and River Trust 

• Elstree and Borehamwood Town Council 

• Harrow Cyclists 

• Hounslow Cycling Campaign 

• London Borough of Brent 

• London Borough of Croydon 

• London Borough of Waltham Forest 

Page 248



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 40 
   

• Living Streets 

• London Cycling Campaign 

• London Taxi Drivers Association 

• One-World Design Architects 

• Phil Jones Associates 

• Publica 

• Royal College of Physicians 

• SHaW Academy Action Group 

• Sustrans 

• Transport for London 

• Transport for Charlton 

• University of Westminster 

• Waltham Forest Cycling Campaign 

The committee also ran an online discussion forum through Talk London, 
which received 69 responses from individual Londoners.  

  

Page 249



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 41 
   

Appendix 1: Minority 
Report from the GLA 
Conservatives 

The GLA Conservatives have been unable to agree to this report. 

Due to significant time pressure outside of our control it is not possible for the 
Group to write a full minority report that would accurately reflect the way in 
which we believe the report should have been written. In addition, we 
strongly believe that the report has both exceeded its scope and produced a 
lack of real, costed, viable solutions to the problems that it was supposed to 
address. 

The focus of the report should have been on understanding the experience of 
cyclists and pedestrians using busy junctions in Outer London and a 
consideration of how those junctions might be changed to encourage walking 

and cycling. 

Indeed the initial scope had precisely that focus. It reads as follows: 

• “To understand the experience of cyclists and pedestrians of all ages 
and backgrounds using busy junctions in outer London.” 

• “To consider how TfL and London boroughs can use junction works to 
unlock walking and cycling potential.” 

It is regrettable that the report has gone so far beyond this remit. 

Recommendation 1 should have been struck out. The Transport for London 
Road Network (TLRN) or Red Routes are London’s arterial roads. Although 

they make up just five per cent of London’s roads they contain approximately 
30 per cent of London’s traffic. Their purpose – and the reason that they are 
run by TfL rather than London’s boroughs – is to keep London and Londoners 
moving. Any suggestion that some of these roads might see their speed limits 
reduced to 20mph is unacceptable. There are real problems with regard to 
crossings and junctions on these roads and these should have been the 
report’s focus. Instead the very fact that the first recommendation is on 
reducing the speed limits on roads on the TLRN underlines the extent to which 
we feel this report has gone astray. 

Page 250



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 42 
   

 

Recommendation 10 should also have been removed. It refers to the Turning 
the Corner campaign. This is a scheme that could make a lot of sense on roads 
with four or more lanes in each direction. However on London’s red routes – 
many of which are dual carriageways or even single carriageways – the 
scheme would not work. On a typical dual carriageway, if cars were waiting to 
turn left and right then under this scheme no cars would be able to drive 
straight across a junction. This would lead to significantly increased levels of 
congestion and pollution.  

Although these issues were discussed at length before the report was drafted 
and our objections were made repeatedly, the decision has been taken to 

continue to include both recommendations in this document. 

This report uses the Fiveways Scheme in Croydon as a case study. It should 
note that the Fiveways Scheme is happening because of the need for 
increased capacity for motorised traffic. There is cross-party support in 
Croydon for the scheme to go ahead as it is. There is, however, scope for 
more cycle capacity south of the bridge by purchasing a small part of 
Morrison’s car park. This is not mentioned in the report. 

In conclusion, there are a number of recommendations within the report that 
are reasonable and worthy of consideration. However the decision to include 
Recommendations 1 and 10 removed the possibility of the report receiving 

unanimous backing – setting it apart from the vast majority of London 
Assembly committee reports. 

  

Page 251



 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 43 
   

References

1 Outer London is made up of the boroughs of: Barking and Dagenham, 
Barnet, Bexley, Brent, Bromley, Croydon, Ealing, Enfield, Greenwich, Harrow, 
Havering, Hillingdon, Hounslow, Kingston upon Thames, Merton, Redbridge, 
Richmond upon Thames, Sutton, and Waltham Forest 

2 TfL, 2016 analysis of walking potential, March 2017; TfL, 2016 analysis of 
cycling potential, March 2017 

3 London Assembly calculation, using data from: TfL, 2016 analysis of walking 
potential, March 2017; TfL, 2016 analysis of cycling potential, March 2017; 
Greater London Authority, 2016 based population projections, July 2017 

4 Mayor of London, Draft Transport Strategy, June 2017, page 277  

5 TfL, Attitudes to Cycling, September 2016  

6 Comment on Talk London discussion forum, July 2017, in response to the 
question “Are there any particularly difficult junctions or crossings around you 
that make it difficult to walk and cycle?” 

7 Individual submission to London Assembly Transport Committee call for 
views and information 

8 Department for Transport, Road safety data (STATS 19 accident reporting), 
2016 

9 Aim set out in: Mayor of London and TfL, Healthy Streets for Londoners, 
February 2017  

10 TfL, Roads Task Force - technical note 20 (What are the main health impacts 
of roads in London?), 2013 

11 London Assembly Transport Committee site visits to Gallows Corner 
(Havering) and the A4 near Brentford (Hounslow) 

12 TfL, Roads Task Force - technical note 20 (What are the main health impacts 
of roads in London?), 2013 

13 Taylor, Lynam and Baruya, The effects of drivers’ speed on the frequency of 
road accidents, 2000 

14 Tefft, Impact of speed on a pedestrian’s risk of severe injury or death, 2015 

15 TfL, Healthy Streets Check for Designers, November 2017 

16 TfL, Digital speed limit map  

 

 

Page 252

http://content.tfl.gov.uk/analysis-of-walking-potential-2016.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/analysis-of-cycling-potential-2016.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/analysis-of-cycling-potential-2016.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/analysis-of-walking-potential-2016.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/analysis-of-walking-potential-2016.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/analysis-of-cycling-potential-2016.pdf
https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/2016-based-population-projections
https://consultations.tfl.gov.uk/policy/mayors-transport-strategy/user_uploads/pub16_001_mts_online-2.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/attitudes-to-cycling-2016.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/talk-london/transport/walking-and-cycling-outer-london
https://data.gov.uk/dataset/road-accidents-safety-data
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/healthy-streets-for-london.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/technical-note-20-what-are-the-main-health-impacts.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/technical-note-20-what-are-the-main-health-impacts.pdf
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/healthy-streets
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/digital-speed-limit-map.pdf


 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 44 
   

 
17 Under Vision Zero, the Mayor aims that all deaths and serious injuries 
from road collisions are eliminated from London’s streets by 2041 

18 Department for Transport, Road safety data (STATS 19 accident 
reporting), 2016 

19 TfL, Road policing enforcement statistics bulletin, 2016 

20 London Assembly Transport Committee site visits to Gallows Corner 
(Havering), Brentford (Hounslow) and Croydon Fiveways (Croydon) 

21 Equalities Act 2010 

22 Publica submission to London Assembly Transport Committee call for 
views and information 

23 TfL, Response to consultation on pedestrian improvements at Bow 
Interchange, July 2015  

24 TfL, Performance scorecard 2017-18, March 2017 

25 Mayor of London, Draft Transport Strategy, June 2017, page 20 

26 London Assembly Transport Committee, Driven to distraction, July 2017 

27 TfL, press release, New roads targeted in updated safer junctions 
programme, April 2017  

28 TfL, Strategic cycling analysis, June 2017, page 51 

29 TfL, Consultation on Croydon Fiveways, July 2017 

30 Mayor’s Question Time, Question 2017/3590, September 2017; TfL, 
2016 analysis of walking potential, March 2017; TfL, 2016 analysis of 
cycling potential, March 2017 

31 TfL, Response to FOI request on Croydon Fiveways consultation, July 
2017 

32 Mayor of London and TfL, Healthy Streets for Londoners, February 2017 

33 Correspondence from TfL, October 2017 

34 Correspondence from TfL, October 2017  

35 TfL, Strategic cycling analysis, June 2017, page 4 

36 Statutory Instrument 1997, no. 2400, The Zebra, Pelican and Puffin 
Pedestrian Crossings Regulations and General Directions 1997 

37 London Borough of Waltham Forest response to London Assembly 
Transport Committee call for views and information 

38 Phil Jones Associates, Technical note on Turning the Corner, May 2017  

Page 253

https://data.gov.uk/dataset/road-accidents-safety-data
https://consultations.tfl.gov.uk/roads/bow-vision/user_uploads/bv-interim-response-to-consultation.pdf
https://consultations.tfl.gov.uk/roads/bow-vision/user_uploads/bv-interim-response-to-consultation.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/board-20170329-item09-scorecard.pdf
https://consultations.tfl.gov.uk/policy/mayors-transport-strategy/user_uploads/pub16_001_mts_online-2.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/final_driven-to-distraction-17-07-17.pdf
https://tfl.gov.uk/info-for/media/press-releases/2017/april/new-roads-targeted-in-updated-safer-junctions-programme
https://tfl.gov.uk/info-for/media/press-releases/2017/april/new-roads-targeted-in-updated-safer-junctions-programme
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/strategic-cycling-analysis.pdf
https://consultations.tfl.gov.uk/roads/fiveways/?cid=fiveways-croydon
http://questions.london.gov.uk/QuestionSearch/searchclient/questions/question_295438
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/analysis-of-walking-potential-2016.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/analysis-of-cycling-potential-2016.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/analysis-of-cycling-potential-2016.pdf
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/transparency/freedom-of-information/foi-request-detail?referenceId=FOI-0869-1718
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/healthy-streets-for-london.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/strategic-cycling-analysis.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1997/2400/made/data.xht?wrap=true
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1997/2400/made/data.xht?wrap=true
https://www.britishcycling.org.uk/zuvvi/media/bc_files/campaigning/2017/Technical_note_on_Vissim_modelling.pdf


 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 45 
   

 
Other formats and 
languages 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of this report in large print or 

braille, or a copy of the summary and main findings in another language, then 
please call us on: 020 7983 4100 or email: 
assembly.translations@london.gov.uk. 
 

Chinese 

 

Hindi 

 
Vietnamese 

 

Bengali 

 
Greek 

 

Urdu 

 
Turkish 

 

Arabic 

 

Punjabi 

 

Gujarati 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 254

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 
 

 
London Assembly I Transport Committee 46 
   

 
 
 

Page 255



 
 

 

  
 

 

Greater London Authority 

City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 

More London 
London SE1 2AA 

Enquiries 020 7983 4100 
Minicom 020 7983 4458 

www.london.gov.uk  

 
 

 

 

©Greater London Authority 

Page 256



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Cycling Infrastructure 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 10 January 2018 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the background to a discussion on cycling infrastructure with expert guests. 

 

 

2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to invited 

guests on cycling infrastructure and notes the discussion. 

 

 

3. Background  
 

3.1  The Transport Committee has launched an investigation into London’s cycling infrastructure. This 

investigation will examine the Mayor’s and Transport for London’s (TfL) approach to cycling 

infrastructure. It will look back at the changes that have been introduced to infrastructure in recent 

years and consider how effective they have been at increasing cycling, and their effect on other road 

users. It will seek to clarify the current Mayor’s cycling priorities in the context of his Healthy Streets 

agenda, and recommend ways of using infrastructure to increase cycling take-up. 

 

3.2 The Committee is meeting with a range of experts and stakeholders during the investigation, 

including at Committee meetings and on a planned site visit. The terms of reference agreed by the 

Committee at its meeting on 8 November 2017 were: 

 

 To examine the Mayor’s strategy for London’s cycling infrastructure, considering how his 

Healthy Streets approach will differ from previous approaches; 

 To hold the Mayor to account on delivering his manifesto commitments on cycling; 

 To assess the effectiveness of existing infrastructure schemes, particularly Cycle 

Superhighways and Quietways; 

 To consider ways to improve public consultation about cycling infrastructure schemes; and 

 To recommend ways of using cycling infrastructure to increase cycling take-up. 

 

 

Page 257

Agenda Item 7



        

3.3 Previous work of the Transport Committee on cycling includes: 

 A major report on cycling in 2012, recommending increased segregation of cycling 

infrastructure.1 A follow-up report in 2014 recommended further work to make junctions 

safer2; 

 In 2009, Joanne McCartney AM led a rapporteurship for the Committee on cycle parking. 

This found that TfL’s delivery of additional parking spaces was not keeping pace with its 

ambitions for an increase in cycling3; 

 The Committee is currently undertaking an investigation on future transport, examining 

emerging technology in the transport sector. This is considering app-based services, 

including new ‘dockless’ cycle hire services; and 

 Caroline Russell AM has recently been undertaking a rapporteurship for the Committee on 

walking and cycling at outer London junctions. This has considering what improvements 

could be made to make these junctions safer and support modal shift to walking and cycling. 

3.4 A first meeting in this investigation was held with Andrew Gilligan on 6 December 2017. Andrew 

Gilligan worked under the previous Mayor, Rt. Hon Boris Johnson MP, as his Cycling Commissioner. 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  

 
4.1 The following guests have been invited to the meeting to discuss cycling infrastructure: 

 Dr Rachel Aldred, University of Westminster; 

 Dr Justin Spinney, University of Cardiff; 

 Chris Boardman, Cycling and Walking Commissioner for Greater Manchester;  

 Richard Dilks, London First; and 

 Other guests to be confirmed. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 

 

List of appendices to this report: None.  

                                                 
1 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/gearing  
2 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/cycling-report-update  
3 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/stand-and-deliver-cycle-parking-
london  

Page 258

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/gearing
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/cycling-report-update
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/stand-and-deliver-cycle-parking-london
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/stand-and-deliver-cycle-parking-london


        

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager  

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 259

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 260



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Transport Committee Work Programme 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 10 January 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report provides details of planned or ongoing scrutiny work by the Transport Committee and 

the schedule of Committee meetings for the remainder of the 2017/18 Assembly year.  

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the Committee agrees its work programme for the remainder of the 2017/18 

Assembly year, including the schedule of prospective topics for forthcoming meetings as 

set out at paragraph 4.19 of the report. 

 

2.2 That the Committee notes the record of its site visit to Clapham Junction station, as set 

out at Appendix 1. 

 

2.3 That the Committee agrees to hold an additional meeting on 19 February 2018, primarily 

to further discuss cycling infrastructure with invited guests. 

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 The Committee receives a report monitoring the progress of its work programme at each meeting.  

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The following is a list of topics that the Committee is planning to explore in this Assembly year: 

 Mayor’s Transport Strategy; 

 Car clubs; 

 Emerging transport technology (Future Transport); 

 Pedicabs; and 

 Motorcycle safety. 

 

Page 261

Agenda Item 8



        

 

4.2 In addition to the above, the Committee will also consider whether to undertake scrutiny of the 

following topics, with further decisions to be made later in 2017/18 about specific projects and 

meetings: 

 Demand management on public transport; 

 20mph speed limits; 

 Cycling infrastructure and the Cycle Hire scheme; 

 Crossrail 2; 

 Heathrow Airport surface transport access; and 

 River services. 

4.3 The Committee will also seek to hold a meeting with the Commissioner of Transport for London 

(TfL) towards the end of 2017/18. 

4.4 The exact scope and timings for work on any of these other possible topics will be determined in due 

course and more detailed work programme reports submitted to future meetings. The Committee 

seeks to maintain flexibility in its work programme to take account of any relevant developments 

when scheduling its work and has a rolling work programme so work on any topics may continue 

beyond each Assembly year.  

 

Cycling infrastructure 

4.5 The Committee has launched an investigation into London’s cycling infrastructure. This work is 

assessing the recent changes to infrastructure and will examine the Mayor’s vision for future 

investment. The Committee is planning to use its meetings in January and February 2018 to discuss 

this topic.  

 

4.6 The previous Mayor’s Cycling Commissioner appeared at the December meeting to discuss this topic. 

A range of other experts and stakeholders have bene invited to today’s meeting. Further detail is 

provided under another item on this agenda. 

 

4.7 It is also proposed that the Committee hold an additional formal meeting as part of this investigation 

on 19 February 2018. Guests the Committee wishes to speak to in public are not available for any 

currently scheduled meetings. It is anticipated that BBC presenter Jeremy Vine will appear at this 

meeting alongside other guests. 

 

Mayor’s Transport Strategy 

4.8 The Mayor is developing a new Transport Strategy, setting out the overarching transport policies for 

London. A draft for consultation was published in June. Formal meetings on 12 and 18 July 2017 

were used to discuss the strategy with the Mayor’s Office, Transport for London, experts and 

stakeholders. A further informal meeting was held with the Deputy Mayor for Transport on             

24 August 2017, discussing issues such as rail upgrades, cycling infrastructure and measures to 

tackle congestion. 

 

4.9 The Committee’s response to the Strategy, which was agreed by the Chairman under delegated 

authority in consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members, was noted at the 

meeting in October 2017. 

 

 

Page 262



        

Future transport: emerging transport technology 

4.10 There is a range of new technology being applied in the transport sector, including autonomous 

vehicles (also known as driverless cars), drones, and app-based services. These technologies may 

change the way people use the transport network, potentially transforming the user experience and 

the way traditional transport services are delivered. The Mayor is exploring how new technology can 

be applied through a new Smart London Board.  

 

4.11 The meetings on 12 September and 10 October 2017 were used to discuss this topic. Informal 

meetings and site visits to Starship Technologies (1 November) and the GATEway project (13 

November) were agreed by the Chairman under delegated authority, with a final report expected in 

February 2018.  

 

Car clubs 

4.12 Car clubs allow for members to book a shared car when they need one. They are seen as an 

alternative to car ownership, and may help reduce the number of private cars on the road overall. 

Transport for London has promoted car club membership, and the Deputy Mayor for Transport said 

this was one of her early priorities in 2016. The Committee discussed this topic with TfL, experts and 

stakeholders in June 2017. Findings from this work have informed the Committee’s Future Transport 

investigation and scrutiny of the draft Mayor’s Transport Strategy. 

 

Pedicabs 

4.13 The Government has proposed new legal powers for Transport for London to regulate pedicabs (also 

known as rickshaws) in London, although specific plans are yet to be confirmed. At present, pedicab 

operators do not require a license to take passengers on London’s roads, unlike taxi and private hire 

services. Concerns have been expressed over a number of years in relation to pedicabs about the 

passenger safety, traffic congestion and over-charging. The Committee considered this topic with 

experts and stakeholders at its meeting in December. 

 

Motorcycle Safety 

4.14 The Committee published a report on motorcycle safety in early 2016, recommending measures to 

increase the take-up of training and access to bus lanes. TfL’s previous Motorcycle Safety Action 

Plan has now reached the end of its timeframe for implementation and may need to be updated. The 

Committee is looking to follow-up its previous recommendations on this topic and plans to publish a 

report in 2018. 

 

Outer London junctions 

4.15 Caroline Russell AM is leading a rapporteurship on behalf of the Committee into outer London road 

junctions.  Members have undertaken a number of site visits for this investigation, including in 

Croydon, Walthamstow, Bow, and Gallows Corner. A draft report has been published and is 

recommended for formal agreement today. Further detail is provided under another item on this 

agenda. 

 

Site visits  

4.16 At recent meetings on the draft Mayor’s Transport Strategy the Committee discussed disabled 

people’s access to National Rail stations. On 24 November 2017, Members visited Clapham Junction 

station to learn more about the challenges disabled people face and how stations could be 

upgraded. A record of the visit is included at Appendix 1. The details of this site visit were agreed 

by the Chairman under delegated authority, in consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members. 

 

 

 

Page 263



        

Deputy Mayor for Transport  

4.17 The Committee has invited Val Shawcross CBE, Deputy Mayor for Transport, to attend its meeting in 

February 208 for a general discussion of her recent work and ongoing priorities.  
 

Responses to recent Transport Committee work  

4.18 The table below provides details of any responses due from the Mayor, TfL and/or others to 

Committee work.  

 

2017/18 schedule of meetings 

4.19 The schedule of the remaining Transport Committee meetings for 2017/18 is set out below with 

details of the main prospective topics identified to date: 

 Thursday 1 February 2018 – Cycling infrastructure and Deputy Mayor for Transport (tbc);  

 Monday 19 February 2018 – Cycling Infrastructure; and 

 Thursday 1 March 2018 – TfL Commissioner. 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 

 
6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1 - Clapham Junction Site Visit  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: MDA 855 (Rail accessibility site visit) 

 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

Email: scrutiny@london.gov.uk 

 

Transport Committee work Details of responses due 

Hostile streets: Walking and cycling at outer 

London junctions 

Response from Mayor and TfL due by the end of 

February. 

London’s bus network A response from the Mayor and TfL has been 

received, but the Committee has written to request 

further information and hopes to receive this in 

January. 

Driven to distraction: Tackling safety on 

London’s buses 

A response from the Mayor and TfL has been 

received, but the Committee has written to request 

further information and hopes to receive this in 

January. 

Page 264

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


  
 

Transport Committee 

 
 

Site Visit: Accessibility of National Rail stations 
 
Date  24 November 2017 
  
Location  Clapham Junction railway station 
 
Attendees Keith Prince AM 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Leonie Cooper AM 
Caroline Russell AM 

  Richard Berry, Scrutiny team 
Alison Bell, Scrutiny team 
Samira Islam, Scrutiny team 
Faryal Velmi, Director, Transport for All (TfA) 
Jamie McCormack, TfA Stakeholder 
Mohammed Mohsan Ali, TfA Stakeholder  
Chris Stapleton, TfA Stakeholder  
Alyson Warner, TfA Stakeholder   
Raphael Harfaux, Communications Officer, Transport for All  
Tariq Shabbeer, Head of Fundraising, Transport for All 
Chris Curtis, Head of Crossrail 2, Network Rail  
Veronika Krcalova, Stakeholder Support Manager, South Western Railway  
Tim Keen, Area Manager, South Western Railway  
Phil Dominey, Stakeholder Manager, South Western Railway 
 

 

Background  

The Transport Committee agreed to hold a site visit to a National Rail station in order to 
learn about accessibility issues for disabled people. After consulting with stakeholders, it was 
decided that Clapham Junction would be the station Members visit. The Committee has not 
undertaken to investigate Clapham Junction specifically, but rather use this station as an 
example in order to better understand accessibility issues generally. 

Officers worked with the charity Transport for All in order to arrange this visit. Transport for 
All invited a number of their members with a range of mobility support needs. This allowed 
Committee Members to learn first hand about accessibility from disabled passengers.  

Representatives from Network Rail and South Western Railway were also present on the 
visit and were able to answer questions from Members and passengers, and note issues that 
needed further attention. Clapham Junction Station is currently managed by South Western 
Railway but Network Rail will take over management from 1 April 2018. Clapham Junction is 
also set to be a Crossrail 2 Station if this scheme is approved.  

 

 

 

 

Appendix 1 

Page 265



  
 

Transport Committee 

 
 

 
 

 
Committee Members and stakeholders discussing accessibility issues 

 

Disabled toilet 

 The emergency cord hangs in the corner of the room where many people in 
wheelchair would be unable to reach it. It is short and does not go to the ground so 
would be out of reach if someone fell to the ground. This is a safeguarding issue.  

 The toilet has a manual door, which can be difficult to open and close for people in a 
wheelchair. 

 There is no mirror in the toilet (South Western Railway have agreed to fix this within 
a couple of months). 

 There is no sign on the outside of the door that says when the toilet is occupied, just 
two small circles. All passengers and staff with a RADAR key can unlock the toilet 

Page 266



  
 

Transport Committee 

 
 

door even when the toilet is occupied and it has been locked from the inside. This is 
for safety reasons, but does not allow people using the toilet privacy or dignity.  

 The large bin on the left-hand side is in the transfer area and gets in the way. 

 There are plans for the St John’s Hill ticket hall which include new toilets. 

 The toilet is not a ‘Changing Places’ – if it were, it would allow disabled people who 
have travelled a long way to change comfortably if they need to. 

 

 
Disabled toilet  

 

Signs  

 There are no external signs outside the station stating that lifts are available in the 
station. 

 A number of lifts do not have signs pointing to them in the middle of the overbridge 
so passengers cannot easily identify where the lifts are.   

 Some of the braille signs indicating platform numbers are placed high up on the wall 
and may be out of reach. Others were obstructed by objects such as bins. 

 The signs for the platforms do not state the distance to the platform.  

 The main doors to the station don’t have clearly marked ‘entrance’ and ‘exit’ signs, 
which would be helpful for people with dementia. 

Page 267



  
 

Transport Committee 

 
 

 On leaving a lift at platform level, there are no signs to show people where to go next 
to catch their train. 

 

Staff 

 A stakeholder recommended having an accessibility point where they could buzz for 
help. 

 At the St John’s Hill entrance on the upper level, staff are not always available at the 
gate-line. The stakeholders sometimes must ask other passengers to call staff out 
from the reception office room. 

 Sometimes when stakeholders have asked staff for help, the staff do not make eye-
contact or do not properly communicate that they have understood and are going to 
get help or get what has been asked for. 

 Staff are not always visible. It can take a long time to find someone to help with a 
ramp. 

 South Western Railway said they were disappointed to hear about staff visibility at 
the gate line as they added extra staff so more people could be around to help. 

 There is bad communications between stations regarding people arriving, wanting to 
alight, and needing someone to meet them with a ramp. There is a high risk of 
getting stuck on a train because no ramp person appears. 

 A blind stakeholder had booked assistance at Victoria but they were late so he had to 
ask a fellow passenger to help him push the button to get the door open. 

 There was previously a staff member stationed by the lift for platforms 9-10, but the 
station operator removed them 18 months ago (to make staff more mobile, rather 
than static). 

 Some staff are not trained in the use of ramps. 

 

Street access 

 On the approach to the station entrance at St John’s Hill, the dropped kerb at the 
road crossing does not have tactile paving on both sides of the road crossing.   

 There is a steep slope to access the main accessible entrance on St John’s Hill.  

 The cobbled high street off St John’s Hill is difficult to use and can cause damage to 
wheelchairs.  

 There could be a help point at the bottom of the slope so people having difficulty can 
alert staff and ask for assistance. 

 The closest bus stop for people travelling to the station is down a steep hill from the 
accessible entrance, making it difficult for some passengers to interchange between 
the two.  

Page 268



  
 

Transport Committee 

 
 

 
Street access at St John’s Hill 

 

Other  

 There is a lack of seating on the overbridge. There could be some retractable seating 
that is removed during exceptionally busy times.  

 At the Grant Road ticket hall, the pathway to the platforms is uphill. It starts at a 
steep gradient. The ramp is difficult to use for people with hand powered 
wheelchairs. Stakeholders raised concerns about feeling like their chair would topple 
back, and that they’d hit their heads.  

 There is a big drop from some of the trains to the platform.  

 At other stations, large columns are wider at head-level than at ground level which 
has led to a blind stakeholder walking with the aid of a walking stick to bump their 
heads on the columns as they only detected the narrower base of the column with 
their walking stick. 

 Three rail companies run services through Clapham Junction, and there are gaps in 
coordination between them – for instance staff from one company may not help a 
passenger access services run by another company. 

 The upper walkway at the station in uneven and sloped, making it difficult for some 
people to walk along. 

 

Page 269



  
 

Transport Committee 

 
 

 
Gap between platform and train 

Page 270


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	Appendix 1 - Minutes - Transcipt
	Appendix 2 - Minutes - Transcipt

	4 Summary List of Actions
	Appendix 1a - Pedicab Consultation
	Appendix 1b - PCO cons responses
	Appendix 1c - Pedicabs Sept 16
	Appendix 2 - cycling evidence
	Appendix 3 - MCIA Response
	Appendix 4 - letter from Val Shawcross - 30 November 2017
	Appendix 5 - Letter to Deputy Mayor LIP funding
	Appendix 6 - Deputy Mayor reply
	Appendix 6a Deputy Mayor reply to Cllr. Julian Bell
	Appendix 7 - Letter to Wes Streeting MP pedicabs

	5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority
	Appendix 1 - Transport Committee submission Nov 2017
	Appendix 2 - Mayor to Committee - Oxford St Dec 2017
	Appendix 3 - Letter to TfL on bus responses

	6 Walking and Cycling at Outer London Junctions
	Appendix 1 - hostile_streets

	7 Cycling Infrastructure
	8 Transport Committee Work Programme
	Appendix 1 - Clapham Junction site visit Nov 2017




